
By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £9.40 in 
printing costs

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services

Ein cyf / Our ref:      
Eich cyf / Your ref:      

Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 16 June 2021

Dear Councillor, 

CABINET

A  meeting of the Cabinet will be held remotely - via Microsoft Teams on Tuesday, 22 June 2021 at 
14:30.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence  
To receive apologies for absence from Members. 

2. Declarations of Interest  
To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 
accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 
1 September 2008.

3. Cross-Party Recovery Panel - Recommendations 3 - 8

4. School Modernisation Programme : Bridgend West Schools Modernisation 
Proposal - Draft Objections Report 

9 - 48

5. Corporate Safeguarding Policy 49 - 94

6. Development of Brynmenyn Childrens Hub 95 - 100

7. Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy 101 - 180

8. Welsh Public Library Standards 2019-2020 181 - 194

9. Caerau Heat Scheme 195 - 202

10. Traffic Signals Management 203 - 206

11. Bridgend Town Centre Regeneration Masterplan and Consultation Bridgend 
County Borough Council 

207 - 348

12. Proposed Purchase of Bridgend Town Centre Police Station 349 - 356

Public Document Pack



13. Objection and Representation to Proposed Active Travel Route - Cowbridge 
Road Active Travel Route 

357 - 384

14. Revenue Budget Outturn 2020-21 385 - 428

15. Capital Programme Update 429 - 440

16. Suspension of Contract Procedure Rules and Award of Contract for Financial 
Advice and Support Service 

441 - 448

17. Representation on Outside Bodies and Joint Committees 449 - 456

18. Forward Work Programmes 457 - 470

19. Urgent Items  
To consider any items of business that by reason of special circumstances the chairperson 
is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency in accordance 
with paragraph 2.4 (e) of the Cabinet Procedure Rules within the Constitution.

Note: Please note: Due to the current requirement for social distancing this meeting will not be held 
at its usual location. This will be a virtual meeting and Members and Officers will be attending 
remotely. The meeting will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site 
which will be available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you have any queries regarding 
this, please contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643147 / 643148.

Yours faithfully
K Watson
Chief Officer, Legal, HR & Regulatory Services 

Councillors: Councillors Councillors

HJ David
CE Smith

HM Williams
D Patel                                                                        

NA Burnett 
S Baldwin



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

22 JUNE 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

CROSS-PARTY RECOVERY PANEL - RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present Cabinet with the recommendations of the 

Cross-Party Recovery Panel attached at Appendix A which have been endorsed 
by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 On 23 March 2020 the UK Government imposed a nationwide lockdown in an effort 

to help minimise the spread of coronavirus.  The Council has undergone significant 
change during this period, in that some services have been created, some services 
stopped and some staff have been redeployed.     
 

3.2 The Chief Executive presented a report to the meeting of Cabinet on 30 June 2020 
for a proposed approach to recovery planning from Covid-19.  The recovery 
programme had the following 3 strands - Restart, Recover and Renew. 
 

3.3 It was agreed at the meeting of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(COSC) on 13 July 2020 to establish a Cross-Party Recovery Panel. Membership of 
the Recovery Panel comprises the 12 Members of the Corporate Overview and 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

Scrutiny Committee plus 4 additional Members: 2 Labour; 1 Independent Alliance 
and 1 Conservative, nominated by Group Leaders.  The Panel was established with 
the aim of shaping, informing and advising Cabinet on the Council’s recovery 
planning to form the basis of the recovery phase for the Covid-19 pandemic.    
 

3.4 The Cross-Party Recovery Panel selected key areas for examination in greater 
depth and made recommendations to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
for onward referral to Cabinet on 15 September 2020, noting the extremely short 
timescales in order to feed into the realignment of the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and Corporate Plan going forward. 
 

3.5 The Cross-Party Recovery Panel met on six occasions during August 2020 and 
were supported by the Senior Democratic Officer – Scrutiny, two Scrutiny Officers 
and the Group Manager Legal & Democratic Services.   
 

3.6 During its meetings, the Cross-Party Recovery Panel considered presentations from 
requested invitees including: Public Services Board (PSB) Team Officers; Bridgend 
Association of Voluntary Organisations (BAVO) Chief Executive, Operational 
Manager and a Community Navigator; the Corporate Director - Social Services and 
Wellbeing and the Head of Adult Services; the Director of Bridgend County Care 
and Repair, and the Head of Partnership Services and Group Manager – Housing. 
 

3.7 The Cross-Party Recovery Panel had taken a structured approach to the selection 
of key areas from those identified for priority to feed into the recovery process and 
had identified key issues following examination. 
 

3.8 On 7 September 2020 the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a 
report on the findings of the Cross-Party Recovery Panel and approved that the 
recommendations of the Panel should be forwarded to Cabinet as part of the 
recovery process, in order to feed into the realignment of the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy and the Corporate Plan.  

 

3.9 The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee also considered the next steps for 
the Recovery Panel and agreed that the Panel would meet following the Public 
Services Board Community Impact Assessment (CIA) being made available for 
consideration as an assessment of the current circumstances faced by 
communities, significant consequences and possibly disproportionate impacts on 
those who are already most disadvantaged.  It was noted that any further findings 
and recommendations will be referred to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, for onward reporting to Cabinet. 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 The Cross-Party Recovery Panel met on 7 December 2020, considered the PSB 

Community impact assessment, the Cabinet response to the Phase 1 
Recommendations and selected Housing and Homelessness as a key area for 
examination in greater depth. The Panel met on 11 March and 14 May 2021 and 
heard from invitees from: Community Housing Cymru; the Chartered Institute of 
Housing Cymru; the Authority’s Housing Team and the Shared Regulatory Service 
Neighbourhood Service Team. 
 
 

Page 4



 

4.2      The Cabinet’s response to the Recovery Panel’s Phase 1 recommendations was  
reported to the Panel and the meeting of COSC on 2 December 2020, and an 
updated progress report reported to the Panel and the meeting of COSC on 9 June 
2021.  
 

4.3      The Cross-Party Recovery Panel made its recommendations on Housing and  
Homelessness at its meeting on 14th May 2021.  The COSC endorsed the 
recommendations at its meeting on 9th June 2021, as attached in Appendix A. 
 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 This item relates to the role of Overview & Scrutiny Committees as consultees in 

respect of the recovery process. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales,  

with 5 ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for 
people. The following is a summary to show how the 5 ways of working to achieve 
the well-being goals have been used to formulate the recommendations within this 
report: 

 

 Long-term - The consideration and approval of this report will assist in the  
recovery process for both the short-term and in the long-term. 

 

 Prevention - The consideration and approval of this report will assist in the 
recovery process by approving and shaping preventative 
measures provided by Directorates to generate savings. 

 

 Integration - The report supports all the well-being objectives. 
 

 Collaboration - The consideration and approval of this report will assist in the     
recovery process by approving and shaping collaboration and 
integrated working. 
 

 Involvement -  Publication of the report ensures that the public and  
stakeholders can review the work that has been undertaken by 
Recovery Panel Members. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications directly associated with this report. 

 

Page 5



 

9. Recommendation 
 
9.1   Cabinet is requested to consider the recommendations of the Cross-Party Recovery 

Panel (Appendix A) which have been endorsed by the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee as part of the recovery process. 

 
 
 

Contact officer: Meryl Lawrence – Senior Democratic Services Officer - Scrutiny 
  

Telephone:   01656 643515 
 
Email:   scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address: Democratic Services - Scrutiny 

Bridgend County Borough Council, 
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend, 
CF31 4WB 

 
Background Documents: None 

Page 6

mailto:scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk


Appendix A 
 
 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CROSS - PARTY RECOVERY PANEL - COVID 19 PANDEMIC 
 

14 MAY 2021 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 
Housing and Homelessness: 
 
 
Recommendation 1 
 
That Cabinet seeks reassurance from Welsh Government that the Pods can be 
used as a last resort for certain identified individuals. 
 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
That Cabinet ensure, as far are as reasonably achievable, that the Local 
Development Plan addresses the need for housing in an equitable manner that 
does not polarise provision in the County Borough leading to inequality of 
opportunity and lack of access locally, to housing. 
 
 
Recommendation 3 
 
That the provision and resourcing of 1 bedroomed accommodation be 
prioritised due to the high demand and lack of supply.  
 
 
Recommendation 4 
 
That concern is expressed regarding the Welsh Government funding of 
Homelessness beyond September 2021 and any impact this will have upon 
pressure upon the Authority’s budget. 
 
 
Recommendation 5 
 
That the opportunities of office or commercial properties for conversion be 
investigated, to help with appropriate accommodation to help with the relief of 
homelessness. 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND FAMILY 
SUPPORT

SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME: BRIDGEND WEST SCHOOLS 
MODERNISATION PROPOSAL – DRAFT OBJECTIONS REPORT

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:

 inform Cabinet of the statutory objections received by the local authority 
during the objections period in respect of the proposal;

 seek Cabinet’s approval to publish the draft ‘Objections Report’ on BCBC’s 
website (Appendix A); and to 

 request that Cabinet determines the proposal.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 
priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015:

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to 
make the county borough a great place to do business, for people to 
live, work, study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed 
on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the 
county borough. 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, 
physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively 
and efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources 
throughout the community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-
being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 On 3 March 2015, Cabinet approval was received for the Council to adopt 
revised principles as a framework for school organisation in Bridgend.  Five key 
principles were set out to inform the organisation and modernisation of our 
schools.  These are:

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 commitment to high standards and excellence in provision;
 equality of opportunity, so that all pupils can access quality learning 

opportunities, regardless of which school they attend;
 inclusive schools, which cater for the learning needs of all their pupils;
 community-focused schools, where the school actively engages with its 

local community; and
 value for money.

3.2 The Policy and Planning Framework sets out 17 areas where these principles 
should be applied in practice. The principles which are particularly relevant in 
the context of Band B are:

 the size of primary schools (to ensure that “all Bridgend’s primary schools 
are large enough to make the full range of necessary provision”); and 

 value for money, efficiency and effectiveness (“narrowing the gap between 
the most and the least expensive provision currently”).

3.3 As Cabinet will be aware, the Band B Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) was 
submitted to Welsh Government (WG) in July 2017, for which Cabinet approval 
was subsequently sought in October 2017. Cabinet was presented with a report 
detailing the outcome of the Band B review and the revised SOP submission 
and gave approval to discontinue the original Band B schemes identified in the 
November 2010 Cabinet report, and approved the revised the following Band B 
schemes:

• Bridgend North East (primary);
• Bridgend South East (primary) - subsequently substituted by Mynydd 

Cynfig Primary;
• Bridgend West – Welsh-medium (primary);
• Bridgend West – English-medium (primary); and
• Bridgend Special School.

3.4 Cabinet, in its meeting on 21 January 2020, gave approval for the Bridgend 
West schemes to be taken forward via the Mutual Investment Model (MIM) 
funding arrangement. The preferred way forward for the Bridgend West 
schemes is:

 preferred education option of provision of a new-build, two form entry 
English-medium school on 'a' site - suitable for Afon y Felin and Corneli 
Primary Schools combined) and;

 provision of a new-build, two form entry Welsh-medium school on ‘a’ site  - 
suitable for an enlarged Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr

3.5 The preferred sites for the new schools were determined by Cabinet as the 
Valleys to Coast (V2C) owned Marlas Estate site and the existing Ysgol Y Ferch 
O’r Sgȇr/Cornelly Integrated Children’s Centre/Corneli Primary School site 
(new English-medium school on the Marlas site and new Welsh-medium school 
on the Corneli site).

Page 10



3.6 Cabinet, in its meeting of 19 January 2021, gave permission to formally consult 
on the Bridgend West proposal.

3.7 In order to progress the proposal, consultation exercises were carried out 
between 25 January 2021 and 7 March 2021 in accordance with the statutory 
School Organisation Code.  A copy of the consultation document was made 
available during this time on the Council’s website: 

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-
engagement/consultations/closed-consultations/bridgend-west-primary-
schools-consultation/

3.8 The consultation document invited views and opinions to be submitted in 
respect of the proposal. A summary of these views and opinions were then 
published in the form of a Consultation Report. The outcome of the consultation 
was reported to Cabinet on 6 April 2021 and it gave approval to issue a public 
notice.

3.9 A statutory notice outlining the proposals was subsequently published on 26 
April for a period of 28 days and formal written objections were invited during 
this time.  

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 Since a number of objections were received at this statutory notice stage, 
an objections report must now be published summarising the objections and 
the authority’s response to the objections.  Cabinet will need to consider the 
proposal in light of objections.  Cabinet can then accept, reject or modify the 
proposal.

4.2 The attached objections report (Appendix A) sets out in detail a summary of 
the objections received and the local authority’s responses to these.  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment was carried out as part of the consultation 
stage and has been further informed by responses to the proposal 
consultation papers.  The assessment has concluded that there is no 
disproportionate negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh 
language. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment provides 
a comprehensive summary of the outcomes expected from the implementation 
of the service.  

Page 11

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-engagement/consultations/closed-consultations/bridgend-west-primary-schools-consultation/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-engagement/consultations/closed-consultations/bridgend-west-primary-schools-consultation/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-engagement/consultations/closed-consultations/bridgend-west-primary-schools-consultation/


Long-term      Supports the statutory duty to provide sufficient pupil places and 
promote the Welsh language.

Prevention    Councils have a statutory duty to ensure there are a sufficient supply 
of school places, and these schemes will safeguards the Council’s 
position in terms of any potential legal challenge in this regard.

Integration Providing sufficient places ensures that the curriculum can be 
delivered and meets social, environmental and cultural objectives. 
 

Collaboration The local authority works effectively with schools, Estyn and with the 
Central South Consortium (CSC), health, community councils and 
many internal and external partners to ensure that the building 
meets the short-term and future needs of the users and the 
community which it will serve.

Involvement This area of work involves the engagement of all potential 
stakeholders including Cabinet, members, governors, staff, pupils, 
community, internal and external partners which will include third 
sector organisations.

8. Financial implications

8.1 If the proposal does go ahead and is implemented, then the cost of the new 
schools will be funded via an annual charge to the revenue budget, over a 25-
year period, which will need to be built into the MTFS as a budget pressure. 
Early estimates are that this could be in the region of £500k per annum, but this 
will be determined as the scheme progresses. The cost is based on a Welsh 
Government intervention rate for MIM schemes of 81%, with the authority 
funding 19% of the annual costs, plus 35% of any up-front capital investment 
for ICT and furniture and equipment. 

8.2 The running costs of the new school would be met from within the Delegated 
Schools’ Budget, as is currently the case. It is too early to say whether there 
will be efficiency savings or additional costs from the proposed new school, and 
future reports to Cabinet will outline the financial implications, as they are 
known, in more detail.

9. Recommendation(s)

9.1 Cabinet is therefore recommended to:

 note the statutory objections received as detailed in the attached draft  
objections report and appendices;

 approve the draft objections report for publication; and
 make a determination in respect of the proposal.

Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director - Education and Family Support

Page 12



Contact officer: Chris Lewis
Project Manager, School Modernisation

Telephone: (01656) 642645

E-mail: christopher.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal Address Civic Offices 
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background documents:

All relevant documents are already in the public domain.

Page 13

mailto:christopher.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME: BRIDGEND WEST PRIMARY 
SCHOOLS MODERNISATION PROPOSAL

(Proposal to discontinue Corneli Primary School and Afon y Felin Primary 
School and establish a new school with effect from 1 September 2023 and to 
make a regulated alteration to Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr in the form of an 
enlargement with effect from 2 September 2024)

DRAFT OBJECTIONS REPORT

1 Purpose of report

1.1 This report is to inform of the statutory objections received by the local 
authority during the objections period in respect of the ‘Bridgend West’ 
schools modernisation proposal to to discontinue Corneli Primary School and 
Afon y Felin Primary School and establish a new school with effect from 1 
September 2023 and to make a regulated alteration to Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr 
in the form of an enlargement with effect from 2 September 2024.

2. Background

2.1 Cabinet, in its meeting of 19 January 2021, gave permission to formally consult 
on the Bridgend West proposal.

2.2 In order to progress the proposal, consultation exercises were carried out 
between 25 January 2021 and 7 March 2021 in accordance with the statutory 
School Organisation Code.  A copy of the consultation document was made 
available during this time on the Council’s website: 

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-
engagement/consultations/closed-consultations/bridgend-west-primary-
schools-consultation/

2.3 The consultation document invited views and opinions to be submitted in 
respect of the proposal. A summary of these views and opinions were then 
published in the form of a Consultation Report. The outcome of the consultation 
was reported to Cabinet on 6 April and it gave approval to issue a public notice.

2.4 A statutory notice outlining the proposals was subsequently published on 26 
April for a period of 28 days and formal written objections were invited during 
this time. 

3. Summary of statutory objections

3.1 Since a number of objections were received at this statutory notice stage, 
an objections report must now be published summarising the objections and 
the local authority’s response to the objections.  Cabinet will need to consider 
the proposal in light of objections.  Cabinet can then accept, reject or modify 
the proposal.

Page 14

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-engagement/consultations/closed-consultations/bridgend-west-primary-schools-consultation/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-engagement/consultations/closed-consultations/bridgend-west-primary-schools-consultation/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-engagement/consultations/closed-consultations/bridgend-west-primary-schools-consultation/


3.2 Where a local authority’s proposals have received objections, and require 
determination under section 53 of the School Standards and Organisation 
(Wales) 2013 Act, the local authority is required to publish an Objections 
Report before the end of 7 days beginning with the day the determination 
decision is issued, which summarises the statutory objections. Appendix 1 of 
this report details objections raised. For ease of reference, the summary of 
statutory objections has been organised (below) by grouping the issues raised 
under broad subject category – the authority’s response/clarifications are 
included beneath each issue raised:

Small school moving to a larger school concerns

The local authority does not agree with the view put forward in a number of 
objection letters relating to Afon Y Felin Primary School that moving from a 
smaller school to a larger school would have a negative impact on education 
standards or would result in a large school with less personalised experience 
for pupils (where teachers were unable to get to know the children and 
families) or reduced pastoral care. It is likely that, with the possible exception 
of a headteacher, all the existing staff (from both Corneli Primary School and 
Afon Y Felin Primary School) would transfer to the new school, so pupils 
would not likely have new teachers. Ultimately, a new school governing body 
would make all staffing decisions for the proposed new English-medium 
school.

Although the proposed new school would have a greater number of classes ie 
two forms per year group, the individual classes would not be any bigger 
capacity than they are presently (there would just be more of them). The local 
authority would seek to maintain the current small school ‘ethos’ in the new 
school and would support the management of all affected schools and 
arrange close collaboration between the staff of the existing schools far in 
advance of transfer in order to achieve this. Her Majesty’s Inspectors of 
Education and Training in Wales (Estyn) is of the opinion that the current 
proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of education provision for 
pupils in the area.

Site size/facilities concerns 

The local authority does not agree with the view put forward in a number of 
objection letters in relation to the size of proposed site for the proposed new 
English-medium school being insufficient. Site ‘test-fit’ analysis undertaken by 
Welsh Government appointed project managers has demonstrated that the 
sites are large enough to accommodate the proposed new 21st century 
schools. Building Bulletin (Briefing Framework for Primary School Projects) 
recommended areas for new primary schools (including all types of space in 
primary schools eg teaching areas, circulation space, sports pitches, games 
courts, soft play areas, hard play areas and, importantly, habitat space) were 
compared to the land available on the sites to ensure that they are of 
sufficient size. Design of the proposed new schools would be in accordance 
with Building Bulletin design standards (and will take full account of eg aspect, 
fencing, planting, safety and security, privacy, environmental issues, energy, 
ventilation, acoustics and lighting). 

Page 15



Safety/security, parking, infrastructure concerns

The local authority does not agree with the views put forward in a number of 
objection letters regarding safety, security and traffic/access on the grounds 
that the proposed new schools would be built in full compliance with Building 
Regulations and would be built to Building Bulletin (Briefing Framework for 
Primary School Projects, which specifically references safety and security) 
design standards. In terms of privacy, the detailed design would take account 
of the proximity of houses and would orientate the facilities to maximise 
privacy and employ design solutions to aid privacy (such as screening, 
planting and fencing). 

The schools would be designed to the ‘secured by design’ standard and 
would include, for example, full CCTV coverage, full sprinkler system 
coverage, and full perimeter fencing with secure access controls. Entrances 
and drop-off points would be determined at detailed design stage, and would 
be safe and would informed by a full Transport Assessment (Transport 
Assessments consider the impact of the development on all transport modes, 
set out proposals to minimise the impact of the development on the transport 
network and promote measures to encourage sustainable and 
environmentally friendly transport). Any necessary transport network 
improvements (including crossing points, footpaths, cycle-ways) identified by 
the Transport Assessment would be provided to enable the proposed new 
build scheme.

As was explained in the published consultation document, the published 
consultation report and also in the ‘frequently asked questions’ published on 
the proposal web page - the proposed scheme is a revenue-funded Mutual 
Investment Model (MIM) scheme and as such, detailed design plans will not 
be worked up by WEPCo (ie the joint venture company established between a 
Private Sector Delivery Partner and a subsidiary of the Development Bank of 
Wales) until after the Stage 1 MIM submission has been made to Welsh 
Government. Should Cabinet determine to progress the proposal subsequent 
to consultation conclusion, it is anticipated that the Stage 1 submission would 
take place in June 2021. Consequently, detailed school designs do not exist 
at this stage. 

The only plans that currently exist are red-line boundary and phasing plans 
used by Welsh Government’s project managers to ‘test-fit’ the Building 
Bulletin recommended areas for schools against the land available on the 
sites. Since Welsh Government MIM regulations require that the statutory 
school organisation processes are completed prior to Stage 1 MIM 
submission being made, clearly, it would never be possible to provide detailed 
plans for any MIM scheme at consultation stage. The local authority can, 
however, explain at consultation stage the standards and regulations that the 
proposed new buildings would be designed to (as it has done) in order for 
stakeholders to come to a reasonably informed opinion regarding the 
proposal.

As already mentioned, entrances and drop-off points would be determined at 
detailed design stage, and would be informed by a full Transport Assessment. 

Page 16



Condition of the school building at Afon Y Felin

The local authority rejects the disagreement expressed in a number of 
objection letters regarding the condition of the school building at Afon Y Felin. 
The backlog maintenance figure of £525,450 was provided by professional 
surveyors appointed by BCBC’s Corporate Landlord Department and the 
school’s currently condition is graded category C+ (poor - exhibiting major 
defects and/ or not operating as intended).

Timing/process concerns

The local authority does not accept the criticism stated in a number of 
objection letters in relation to the timing of the consultation. The local authority 
has a statutory duty to ensure the required number of suitable pupil places in 
its area. The overall timescales involved in undertaking the necessary 
consultations in relation to school reorganisations, securing the necessary 
Welsh Government approvals, securing the necessary funding and designing 
and building new schools mean that in order to ensure the required number of 
suitable pupil places for when they become needed consultation had to be 
undertaken between January and March 2021. It was, nonetheless, 
unfortunate that the pandemic coincided with the consultation period. 

It has been suggested that some people may not appreciate that the proposal 
relates to primary schools in Cornelly due to the proposal being referred to as 
‘Bridgend West Primary Schools’. The proposal, as outlined in the 
consultation document, explains the options analysis undertaken for the wider 
Bridgend West geographical area which has resulted in the proposal being 
put forward. The proposal is therefore necessarily entitled ‘Bridgend West’. 
Additionally, the precise implications of the scheme have been articulated in 
full on each published document relating to it (eg that the proposal is to 
discontinue Corneli Primary School and Afon y Felin Primary School and 
establish a new school with effect from 1 September 2023 and to make a 
regulated alteration to Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr in the form of an enlargement 
with effect from 2 September 2024). The School Organisation Code defines 
the statutory stakeholders. These are set out on pages 41-42 of the 
consultation document, all of which have been made aware of the proposal. 
While the statutory stakeholders as defined by the Code were directly notified 
of the proposal (and public notices placed on display at the school gates), the 
council also undertook additional promotion of the public notice with a media 
release and via social media channels. The council also arranged a separate 
meeting to discuss the proposal with the Cornelly Community Council.

A number of objection letters received appear to indicate that the originators 
believe the statutory process is a simple voting exercise and that their 
responses have been given previously at consultation stage. The statutory 
process and the proposed timetable were explicitly set out on page 22-23 of 
the published consultation document, in particular, it was clearly stated, 

“*Please note that responses to consultation will not be counted as objections 
to the proposals. Objections can only be registered during the public notice 
period.” 

Page 17



It is important to appreciate that the statutory process is not a simple voting 
exercise, rather, it is a highly prescriptive legal process. The public notice only 
asks for formal written objections to the proposal (ie it does not, conversely, 
ask for formal written support) and the consultation document solicits 
stakeholder views (not ‘votes’ of all stakeholders) on the proposal. Cabinet will 
consider the entirety of views received on the proposal at their June meeting 
and will subsequently make a determination.

Area housebuilding

The local authority rejects the views expressed in some objection letters 
received that the proposal is ‘a money making exercise’ and is driven by a 
desire to build more houses in the area. The proposal is, as outlined in the 
consultation document, driven entirely by the need to provide suitable and 
sufficient pupil places. The proposed land swap with Valleys to Coast Housing 
will not generate any income for the local authority (it is purely a means to 
secure the site required for the school development). Any future proposals for 
housebuilding that Valleys to Coast Housing may put forward for the Afon Y 
Felin Primary School site would be subject to the necessary planning 
approvals (which would consider, amongst other things, impacts on local 
infrastructure).

Alternate options

A number of alternate options have been put forward in the objections 
received (eg leave the schools as they are, locate the Welsh-medium 
elsewhere, leave Afon y Felin Primary School and Corneli Primary School as 
two separate schools but update the existing buildings, spend to modernise 
the schools we have, leave Afon y felin Primary School out of the move and 
just upgrade). As explained in the consultation document, all three existing 
schools involved in the proposal are nearing the end of their design life, are in 
poor condition (exhibiting major defects and/ or not operating as intended) 
and have very significant backlog maintenance requirements. The existing 
buildings, in addition to being in poor condition, were not designed to 21st 
century school standards and do not lend themselves to adaptation to such. 

As stated in the consultation document, the option of leaving the existing 
schools as they are was discounted principally because this option is not 
sustainable, does not meet the strategy and aims of the authority and would 
disadvantage future generations of learners by not addressing the need for 
21st century pupil places.  It could potentially lead to a shortage in education 
places due to the anticipated future growth in housing in the area. Schools are 
currently in very poor condition and do not have appropriate facilities to 
maximally meet modern curriculum need.  Any option variation which involves 
leaving a particular school out of the proposal would obviously disadvantage 
the pupils of that school for the reasons outlined above. Realistically, the only 
sites in the area large enough to accommodate the proposed schools (other 
than North Cornelly Playing Fields, which the authority would not wish to use 
due to the extensive community use) are the existing Corneli Primary School 
site and the Valleys to Coast owned land.

Page 18



The local authority rejects the view expressed that the Bridgend West 
proposal has been proposed because the council has some obligation to 
develop a large Welsh-medium school in the area. The Bridgend West 
scheme as proposed is purely intended to meet the demand for pupil places 
(both English-medium and Welsh-medium) that would be created by potential 
future housing in the immediate area, to promote the Welsh language and to 
increase the numbers of non-maintained nursery children transitioning to 
Welsh-medium primary education. An entirely separate ‘Porthcawl’ area 
review has been undertaken and a future scheme for new Welsh-medium 
school in Porthcawl is being developed. Another entirely separate scheme for 
new Welsh-medium school in Brackla North East is also being developed. 

Legacy items of furniture and equipment from the existing schools identified 
by the schools as needed would be transferred to the new schools should the 
proposal go ahead. Any expenditure made to date, eg on outdoor classrooms, 
should not be considered as wasted therefore.

The options for the Bridgend West area presented in the consultation 
document were the culmination of an analysis of education options and site 
options by BCBC educationalists and technical officers. The options were set 
out in the council’s Strategic Outline Business Case submitted to Welsh 
Government, which has been approved. 

Page 19



APPENDIX 1

Direct correspondance received via email to edsu@bridgend.gov.uk:

Sent: 06 May 2021 14:31
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: 

To whom it may concern,

I am writing to say I am against the Bridgend West primary school merge with Afon y Felin 
Primary and Cornelly primary. My reasons being my daughter loves her school and all her 
teachers, I specifically chose AfonYFelin over Cornelly primary after meeting both 
headteachers, I like the fact that AfonYFelin is a small school, I don't want any of the 
teachers to loose their jobs, I think it'll interfere with and distupt children's learning. 

Sent: 26 April 2021 19:14
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: Afon-y-felin school 
 
I wish to strongly protest against the closure of afon-y-felin school and merger with North 
cornelly primary in order to make a new super school.
 
I'm extremely disappointed that this would happen and can't believe anyone would close 
afon-y-felin.
It is a fantastic school with amazing supportive staff. The head teacher is great she is fo 
engaging and knows every child and there parents by name she runs the school with greatest 
respect for all and its just a great small school which is why I chose it as a school for my 
children for all its quality's you wish to remove.
 
I myself went to two big primary and secondary schools and it damaged my education as I 
was a child who needed more teacher time, in these "super schools" you just get lost a small 
number in a huge class little fish big pond. I wanted different for my children which is why I 
picked afon-y-felin. 
I'm extremely angry at the proposal as are all the other parents. 
I don't know why you would want to take away such a valued school in our community.
 
I'm extremely against this and even more angry after a 56% majority vote against you are still 
pressing for more votes.
 
We all clearly don't want this to happen.
 
Please leave my children's school and education alone they have had enough change and 
disruption in the last year with the pandemic.
 
My son gets very upset at the thought of loosing his school.
 
Please leave afon-y-felin primary alone.
 
Kind regards 

Page 20

mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk


Sent: 14 May 2021 14:37
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: Bridgend West Modernisation Programme
 
Good afternoon, 

I would like to make the following comments with reference to the Bridgend West Modernisation 
Programme please:- 

I would like to object to this School Modernisation Programme.  

Afon Y Felin is a hugely successful school, which has achieved very high standards in so many areas 
over the last few years. Closing this school would be a terrible loss, for the pupils, staff and community. 
I feel the suggestion that all the awards and achievements, that Afon Y Felin currently hold, will end 
and simply end up in a “Trophy cabinet” in a new reception area to be very disappointing. 

I feel that the proposed site for the new school is not suitable, surrounded by back gardens on all sides 
with very poor road access. Afon Y Felin is in a far better location at present on a very beautiful site. 

While I do not disagree that Ysgol Ferch O Sger and Cornelli Primary buildings may need to be 
modernised, I do not consider Afon Y Felin to be in the poor standard that is described in the report. I 
would suggest that any planned development could take place to modernise the other two schools 
and leave Afon Y Felin alone. Also, on reading the report and knowing Afon Y Felin so well, it seems to 
me that the report was written to sway the reader in favour of the programme. I really cannot imagine 
how they consider there to be £525,450 of essential work to be carried out at Afon Y Felin. 

Many thanks

Sent: 21 May 2021 08:59
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: Afon-y-Felin school

Dear Sirs,

I would like to express my aversion for the school closure of Afon-y-Felin school.

It is my opinion that closing such a high achieving school with desirable Estyn 
reports will be at a disadvantage to the current and future pupils of Afon-Y-Felin.

Introducing larger classes by way of a super school will have an adverse affect on 
the pupils education where they currently have a niche and adept close contact 
correspondence between teacher pupil.

Please consider my vote against the school closure.

Do not hesitate to email me should you require additional information.

Yours faithfully

Sent: 20 May 2021 20:27
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: Afon-y-Felin

Page 21

mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk


I am not happy with the plans for the new school build. My child loves her school, all 
the teachers and her friends and I don’t want her being disrupted with moving to a 
new school. Afon-y-Felin is special to me and my child’s dad and we’d like our 
daughter to grow up in the school that we both did. I love the small classrooms 
where the class isn’t packed with children and the quiet kids get to have a chance to 
learn. Instead of building a school that the majority of parents aren’t happy about and 
would consider moving their child to a small school just like the one they’re currently 
in put the money to better use!

Sent: 18 May 2021 14:28
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: Afon-y-felin
 
To whom it may concern, 
 
I wish to write to you to protest against the closure and planned merging of schools for afon-
y-felin primary school.
 
I feel this would be damaging to the community and children attending the school. Afon-y-
felin primary is an exemplary school, the teachers are amazing and have very high 
achievements at the school with a high Estyn report. I feel closing the school would leave a 
hole in the community and in children's education, children have had enough changes in the 
past 18 months due to the pandemic and I feel any closure of the school now and changes 
would be damaging. 
I have friends of children that go here and the children are so happy at the school with the 
teachers and the resources there.
 
Therefore I strongly protest against this closure and hope you reconsider and leave afon-y-
felin primary school as it is now.
 
Kind regards

Sent: 18 May 2021 11:01
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: Vote against demolition of Afon-Y-Felin

Please accept this email as a vote against the demolition of Afon-Y-Felin school. Our 
children have had enough upheaval with the pandemic without having to 
change/merge schools. The first proposal was already won in our favour so to have 
to go through this again is very disappointing. It is unfair on both the parents and the 
children. Had the vote gone the other way, we would not be in this situation again.

Sent: 01 May 2021 13:18
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: Keep Afon Y Felin

Good afternoon

Page 22

mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk


Im emailing you because I am apposed to the closing of Afon Y Felin Primary 
School. I believe it should be left alone as it is a fantastic school. I chose it for my 
children because it was a small school. It's been part of our community for 45 years 
and myself and my siblings also at tented. I feel the teachers really make time for our 
children and know their parents too. This won't happen in a larger school

Kind Regards 

Sent: 15 May 2021 22:15
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: School Modernisation.

I am opposing the proposed merger of Corneli Primary with Afon~Y-Felin on the 
following grounds:
The intended site of the proposed enlarged 2FE English school is unsuitable and not 
fit for its intended purpose.
The consultation document did not reflect the true position of Afon-Y-Felin and was 
made to look as though all schools were performing the same is far from the truth.
No real traffic survey undertaken until the proposal is agreed yet all concern over 
Health and Safety not formally taken into consideration and  therefore discounts 
where drug paraphernalia may be of concern.
Closure of an effective green school because without  the land it occupies none of 
this can be undertaken.

Sent: 30 April 2021 14:31
To: EDSU <edsu@bridgend.gov.uk>
Subject: SAY NO TO SCHOOL CLOSURE - Afon Y Felin 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
I write in the hope you will reconsider the closing of Afon Y Felin School.
 
My eldest grandchildren attended this school and enjoyed their years here.  They were 
extremely happy, content and comfortable with the staff and headteacher as well as having 
a fabulous education.
 
My youngest grandson now attends and is extremely happy in this small community school 
which has such a warm and friendly environment .  All the children who attend love it here, 
as well as having a wonderful outdoor space for them and an excellent Estyn report.  My 
grandson is a very shy child but has settled in well,   I put it down to the hard work and 
friendliness of the staff and headteacher, Mrs Williams who treat every child with 
compassion.  This would be totally LOST in a 'super school' - I feel this would be detrimental 
to the children and parents.
 
It will be my granddaughters turn to join Afon Y Felin next year,  like her sibling and all I wish 
for, is for my two youngest grandchildren to enjoy the same experiences their cousins have 
had at this fantastic school with superb staff.
 

Page 23

mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk


I feel Afon Y Felin is an important part of the community of North Cornelly and in my 
opinion the merger with another school would NOT be beneficial to the school, community 
and especially the children.
 
SAY NO TO SCHOOL CLOSURE.
 
Yours faithfully 
 

‘Bulk’ objections received in a single pdf format email from Afon Y Felin 
Primary School following a letter written by a governor at the school which 
was sent out to all Governors/staff and parents on Friday 21 April (letters, 
many anonymous, were deposited in a box in the school reception area and 
subsequently collated by the school and emailed to edsu@bridgend.gov.uk on 
21 May):

Page 24

mailto:edsu@bridgend.gov.uk


Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Comments recived from Cornelly Community Council:

Dear Mr Harvey 
Proposals for Primary School Provision at Cornelly 
Cornelly Community Council’s Comments 

The Community Council are grateful to the members and officers of BCBC for meeting 
with them on 12th May, to discuss proposals for primary school provision within Cornelly. 
The community council accepts there is a need for a new school in Cornelly and have no 
issue with the amalgamation of the two existing primary schools. The reasons for 
building a new school and the economics involved are also acknowledged. However, the 
community council continue to have grave reservations about the suitability of the 
proposed site for the new school and the adequacy of the public consultation undertaken 
in relation to the proposals. Members feel that the heading of the consultation was 
ambiguous and it did not adequately alert the residents of Cornelly to the importance of 
this consultation. The ‘West Bridgend’ heading was extremely misleading, despite the 
reasons given at the recent meeting for its use. The members feel it did not allow proper 
consultation and participation by interested members of the community. This failure to 
ensure proper consultation is likely to result in residents living in the direct locality of the 
proposed school not having the opportunity to comment on the disruption they will have 
to endure during the building process, as well as the ongoing congestion/traffic (both 
motorised and pedestrian) they will have to live with during school opening/closing times 
and noise issues throughout the day. Members are personally aware of a large number 
of residents who have confirmed they were not aware of the consultation. 
Contd/….. 

Page 47



With regard the size of the site. The community council continue to have serious 
misgivings about the suitability of the site to accommodate a ‘fit for purpose’ 21st century 
primary school provision for Cornelly. Despite the information provided at the recent 
meeting. 
BCBC’s comments regarding the provision of green space at the proposed school site 
are acknowledged, however the community council continue to be concerned that the 
green area currently enjoyed by both schools will not be provided at the proposed site. 
The two schools currently sit on rural sites with extended green areas, the proposed site 
is in an area surrounded on all sides by houses within what could be considered an 
urban environment and may have a detrimental effect on mental health and wellbeing. 
Despite the assurances that there is a £3million pound budget available to take forward 
any highway adaptions required to ensure safe and adequate access and egress at the 
school, the community council do not feel the infrastructure around the proposed site 
would lend itself to the adaptations that would be necessary. The streets leading to the 
site are extremely narrow and they would not allow the type of highway adaptations that 
would be needed to accommodate the rise in vehicles that inevitably accompany areas 
where schools are sited. 
The community council would like to request information relating to the total acreage of 
the sites currently occupied by Corneli Primary School and Afon y Felin Primary School, 
along with the acreage of the site proposed for the new school. This information would 
allow the members to attempt a visualisation of the proposals, prior to a detailed plan 
becoming available. 
Finally, members feel that until a detailed plan of the proposed school in situ is available, 
it is not possible to adequately address the concerns detailed above and hence come to 
an informed opinion regarding the proposals. 
Regards

Page 48



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

CORPORATE SAFEGUARDING POLICY

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet a revised Corporate Safeguarding 
Policy for approval. The draft Corporate Safeguarding Policy is at Appendix 1.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the 
community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives

3. Background

3.1 The Council requires a Corporate Safeguarding Policy to set out how it fulfils its 
statutory responsibilities for safeguarding children and adults at risk in accordance 
with the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act (2014).

3.2 The policy provides a framework for safeguarding children and adults at risk that all 
policies and practices within the Council should operate consistently within.  The 
intention of the policy is to support quality service delivery, promote good practice 
and ensure services are delivered in a way that children, young people and adults 
at risk are safe from harm and are allowed to fulfil their potential and live the lives 
they want to live. 

3.3 The policy is intended to be enabling; to ensure that all parts of the Council 
understand how to put effective safeguards in place. This is a policy for a positive, 
preventative and proactive approach to safeguarding, as well as ensuring that 
people are protected when serious concerns arise. To be effective, the policy must 
be owned and implemented across the whole Council and promoted with partners 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



and in wider communities. The policy is intended as an enabler of a positive culture, 
of proactively identifying, mitigating, managing and minimising risks to safety and 
wellbeing, whilst ensuring decisive and timely action to address serious concerns.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The Corporate Safeguarding Policy was last revised in August 2020 to align with 
the implementation of Wales Safeguarding Procedures.

4.2 The draft Corporate Safeguarding Policy appended to this report at Appendix 1 has 
been developed further to expand policy requirements in the areas of governance, 
quality assurance, safe workforce, and safe services. Whilst the current policy is 
clear that safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility, the policy revisions, make 
explicit the specific accountabilities of each Councillor and member of the workforce 
(including volunteers, agency workers and consultants) to safeguard children and 
adults at risk. 

4.3 The draft policy includes a requirement for an annual report on the effectiveness of 
corporate safeguarding to be brought to Scrutiny and Council, alongside the annual 
report on the effectiveness of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding 
Board.

4.4 These strengthened areas of the policy reflect areas highlighted in the October 
2019 Audit Wales ‘’Follow-up review of corporate arrangements for the 
safeguarding of children – Bridgend County Borough Council’’.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure rules

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 
Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. The Corporate Safeguarding Policy will have a 
positive impact on the safety and protection of individuals with protected 
characteristics, therefore it is not necessary to carry out an EIA in the production of 
this report as it is considered that there will be no unacceptable equality impacts as 
a result of this report. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA) supports the promotion of two of the seven 
goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 within the County 
Borough of Bridgend.  By promoting an environment that maximises people’s physical 
and mental well-being and by supporting children, young people, adults and their 
carers and families to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, the 
wellbeing goals of a healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are supported. 

Page 50



7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people. The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report.

 Long Term – Social Services is demand led and the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 focusses on sustainable prevention and wellbeing 
outcomes for the future. Effective corporate safeguarding both addresses 
abuse and harm and prevents its occurrence. It therefore is critical to the long-
term well-being of people and communities of Bridgend. 

 Prevention – Effective corporate safeguarding prevents abuse and harm 
occurring through compliance with clear policy standards which ensure a safe 
workforce, safe services robust protection and good governance. 

 Integration – Safeguarding children and adults at risk is a multi-agency 
endeavour. The Corporate Safeguarding Policy is based on the Wales 
Safeguarding Procedures and safeguarding legislation which places statutory 
duties on the local authority and a number of other partners such as the police, 
NHS and probation to work together strategically and operationally to 
safeguard and protect people at risk of abuse or harm. The Council’s 
Corporate Safeguarding Policy reflects those integrated safeguarding 
arrangements through the strategic leadership of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
Regional Safeguarding Board and the multi-agency operational integration 
through the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).

 Collaboration – The Corporate Safeguarding Policy has been developed 
collaboratively with input from officers across the Council. It reflects good 
practice in corporate safeguarding from other Welsh Local Authorities and the 
necessity of collaboration with multi-agency partners, people and communities 
to ensure the most effective safeguarding arrangements for the people of the 
County Borough.

 Involvement – The key stakeholders are children and young people and 
adults at risk who are protected and safeguarded through compliance with this 
policy. The involvement of people in all stages of safeguarding procedures is 
an important quality standard and voice and control of people is essential in 
the quality assurance of the implementation of this policy.

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications in this report.

9. Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet are requested to approve the Corporate Safeguarding Policy.

Page 51



Claire Marchant
CORPORATE DIRECTOR, SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING
June 2021

Contact officer: Claire Marchant
Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing

Telephone: (01656) 642251

Email: claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend CF31 4WB

Background documents:

None

Page 52



APPENDIX 1

1

Bridgend County Borough Council 
Safeguarding Policy 

Keeping People Safe

May 2021

Page 53



APPENDIX 1

2

Content

1. Introduction
2. Scope
3. Policy Statement
4. Context
5. Objectives
6. Governance arrangements 
7. Recognising and raising concerns about an adult or child      

where abuse or neglect is suspected.
8. Adults at risk
9. Children and young people

10. Domestic abuse and employment
11. Information sharing and confidentiality
12. Quality assurance
13. Safe workforce
14. Safeguarding children in education
15. Safe services
16. Communication and Media
17. Review

Appendices

A. Definitions relevant to safeguarding adults at risk including categories 
and indicators of abuse

B. Definitions relevant to safeguarding children at risk including categories 
and indicators of abuse

C. Other causes of harm:
 Child sexual exploitation (CSE) 
 Child criminal exploitation (CCE)
 Radicalisation
 Female Genital Mutilation (FGM)
 Forced Marriage
 Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking 
 Hate Crime

D. Domestic violence and abuse 

E. Safeguarding report – children

F. Adult at risk referral form

Page 54



APPENDIX 1

3

1. Introduction

“Safeguarding means preventing and protecting children and adults at risk from abuse 

or neglect and educating those around them to recognise the signs and dangers”    

(Wales Safeguarding Procedures).

Safeguarding children and adults at risk is everyone’s responsibility whether 
they work for, with, or on behalf of the Council. Bridgend County Borough Council 

(the Council) is committed to ensuring that people living in the county borough are safe 

and protected and that its statutory duties to safeguard and protect children, young 

people and adults at risk are effectively discharged. 

The Council’s workforce shares a responsibility, both collectively and individually, to 

ensure that children and adults at risk are protected from harm. Council employees, 

Councillors, volunteers, contractors and partners who come into contact with children 

or adults at risk in the course of their duties are expected to understand their 

responsibility and where necessary take action to safeguard and promote the welfare 

of people so everyone can live their life free from harm, abuse and neglect.

2. Scope

This policy is in respect of the Council’s responsibility towards children and adults at 

risk.  

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 states that: 

An adult at risk is an adult (aged 18 or over) who is experiencing or is at risk of abuse 

or neglect, has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting 

any of those needs); and as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or 

herself against the abuse or neglect or the risk of it. 

A child at risk is a child (aged under 18) who is experiencing or is at risk of abuse, 

neglect or other kinds of harm; and has needs for care and support (whether or not 

the local authority is meeting any of those needs).

Page 55



APPENDIX 1

4

For the purposes of this policy ‘workforce’ is defined as those engaged by the Council, 

including permanent and temporary employees (including school based staff), 

students, volunteers, workers employed by employment agencies, contractors and 

consultants. This policy covers the whole Council workforce and also applies to 

Councillors, foster carers and connected person carers. Whilst all have varied levels 

of contact with children and adults at risk everybody should be aware of potential 

indicators of neglect and abuse and be clear about what to do if they have concerns. 

This policy makes explicit the expectation that all settings require their own 

safeguarding policies and procedures which are in keeping with this Council policy 

and other local, regional and national procedures and guidance. This includes all 

school governing bodies. The Council has a duty to ensure that other organisations 

commissioned to provide services on their behalf have regard to the need to safeguard 

and promote the wellbeing of adults and children.

Whilst the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate lead the Council’s safeguarding 

services, working with partners to respond to concerns regarding people who may be 

at risk of harm. The whole Council workforce has a responsibility to understand their 

specific role and personal accountability for safeguarding the wellbeing of children and 

adults at risk.  

3. Policy Statement

Bridgend County Borough Council is committed to promoting equality and valuing 

diversity through all of our services and dedicated to treating all citizens, employees 

and visitors with respect, while providing services which respond to people’s individual 

needs.

The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan 2020 to 2024 ensures that equality and fairness 

remain firmly at the heart of how the council plans, provides and delivers important 

services to the people of Bridgend County Borough.  

To ensure that people within our communities have access to services that support 

them to live without fear of violence or abuse, and to be treated with respect is one of 

our equality objectives.

Page 56

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/equalities-and-engagement/equality-and-diversity/strategic-equality-plan-2020-to-2024/


APPENDIX 1

5

The Council is committed to embedding the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 

Act 2015 into all its service delivery and activities making sure that when we make 

decisions we take into account the impact they could have on people living their lives 

in Wales in the future.

The Council`s Corporate Plan represents our ambitions and commitments to our 

citizens and our contribution to Wales’s seven well-being goals as outlined in the Act.

Bridgend County Borough Council Corporate Plan 2018-2022

4. Context

This policy incorporates regulation and guidance from the Social Services and Well-

being (Wales) Act 2014. The policy reflects the overarching responsibilities placed on 

the Local Authority within the Act as they relate to contributing towards preventing 

people from suffering abuse or neglect (Part 2) and to making enquires where an adult 

or child may at risk of harm (Part 7).   

And:

The Wales Safeguarding Procedures.   The national safeguarding procedures detail 

the essential roles and responsibilities for practitioners to ensure that they safeguard 

adults and children who are at risk of abuse and neglect.

Page 57

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/8471/corporate-plan-english-version.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
https://www.safeguarding.wales/index.html


APPENDIX 1

6

The Corporate Safeguarding Policy incorporates responsibilities set out in applicable 

legislation, policy and guidance pertaining to safeguarding.

5. Objectives

The policy provides a framework for safeguarding that all policies and practices within 

the Council operate consistently within.  The intention of this policy is to support quality 

service delivery, promote good practice and ensure services are delivered in a way 

that children, young people and adults at risk are safe from harm and are allowed to 

fulfil their potential and live the lives they want to live. 

This policy is intended to be enabling; to ensure that all parts of the Council understand 

how to put effective safeguards in place. This is a policy for a positive, preventative 

and proactive approach to safeguarding. The policy must be owned and implemented 

across the Council and promoted with partners and in wider communities. The policy 

is intended as an enabler of a positive culture of proactively identifying, mitigating, 

managing and minimising risks to safety and wellbeing, whilst ensuing decisive and 

timely action to address serious concerns.

 

There is an expectation that all of the workforce, commissioned services, Councillors 

and partners share an objective to help keep children, young people and adults at risk 

safe by contributing to: 

 Creating and maintaining a safe environment 

 Identifying where there are concerns and taking action to address them in 

partnership with other agencies 

 Prevent unsuitable people from working with children, young people and adults 

at risk 

 Ensure the whole workforce understands safeguarding and their 

accountabilities and responsibilities 

 Promote safe practice and challenge poor and unsafe practice 

The policy requires effective partnership working between all those involved with 

providing services for children, young people and adults at risk.

Page 58



APPENDIX 1

7

6. Governance Arrangements

The Council has clear lines of accountability in relation to its work in safeguarding 

children and adults at risk.

This following describes the governance arrangements, accountabilities and 

responsibilities:

(a) The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board has the statutory 

responsibility to provide the strategic lead in the region in relation to the 

safeguarding citizens and the promotion of their well-being. The Board’s purpose 

is to lead, co-ordinate and ensure the effectiveness of multi-agency safeguarding 

adult practice in the region. BCBC is accountable to the Regional Safeguarding 

Board as a statutory partner and as such must contribute fully to Board’s sub-

groups and the work streams of the Board, and ensure good alignment with the 

Council’s work programmes. 

 

(b) The Corporate Director for Social Services and Wellbeing 

The postholder fulfils the role of Statutory Director of Social Services and is 

accountable for ensuring the Council has effective safeguarding measures in place 

to protect children and adults at risk. The Corporate Director must establish 

effective arrangements across the Council to ensure that safeguarding is robust, 

at a local and regional partnership level. This includes ensuring there is co-

operation regarding safeguarding children and adults at risk. The role of the 

Statutory Director of Social Services in this regard is set out in legislation -  Social 

Services & Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Part 8 Code of Practice on the Role of the 

Director of Social Services (Social Services Functions).  The postholder is 

responsible for ensuring appropriate action is taken including reporting to the Chief 

Executive and Lead Cabinet Member as necessary. 

(c) The Chief Executive 

The Chief Executive has responsibility for ensuring arrangements for safeguarding 

of children and adults at risk are effective across the Council, integrated into the 

overall strategic planning of the authority, and for providing leadership in 

developing, monitoring and reviewing partnership arrangements for improving 

Page 59

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160322part8en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160322part8en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160322part8en.pdf


APPENDIX 1

8

outcomes for adults and children. Through one to one meetings with the Corporate 

Director for Social Services and Well-being, the Chief Executive is kept informed 

of all relevant safeguarding issues. 

(d) The Leader 

The Leader of the Council is overall responsible for providing political leadership 

to ensure the Council fulfils its duties and responsibilities for safeguarding. 

(e) Lead Cabinet Member for Safeguarding 

The Lead Cabinet Member for Safeguarding will have regular one to one meetings 

with the Corporate Director for Social Services and Wellbeing and be kept informed 

and updated on relevant safeguarding matters. The Lead Member will be briefed 

on any sensitive cases that may be considered for Child or Adult Practice Reviews. 

The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help is the Lead Member for 

safeguarding.

(f) Cabinet and Corporate Management Board (CCMB) 

All Cabinet Members and Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring there are 

effective safeguarding arrangements in the areas for which they are accountable 

which meet the standards set out in this policy. Chief Officers are responsible for 

ensuring that the safeguarding implications, positive or negative, of any policy 

recommended are fully understood and explained in reports brought forward for 

decision to Cabinet and Council. Safeguarding is a standard agenda item at CCMB 

meetings and all members of CCMB are responsible for bringing forward 

safeguarding matters for consideration at CCMB meetings.

(g) Chief Officers 

Chief Officers comprise the Chief Executive, Corporate Directors and Chief 

Officers who are members of the CCMB. Chief Officers are responsible for 

reporting any serious safeguarding concerns that may arise in their service area to 

the CCMB. Chief Officers will brief their respective Cabinet Members on any 

safeguarding issues and on the general effectiveness of safeguarding 

arrangements in their area of responsibilities. Chief Officers are responsible for 

ensuring the workforce within their directorates are appropriately trained to identify 

Page 60



APPENDIX 1

9

and respond to safeguarding concerns and that safeguarding matters are regularly 

discussed in their senior management teams. 

Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that they have safeguarding operational 

procedures in place. Chief Officers will ensure that Directorate Safeguarding Leads 

(DSLs) are nominated for any service areas where there is direct contact with the 

public and the DSL has a direct link to them to ensure that a robust reporting 

mechanism is in place for reporting any safeguarding concerns.

 

(h) Councillors 

All Councillors must familiarise themselves with this Policy and seek advice from 

the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing if they are unclear about 

their responsibility for safeguarding. The Corporate Safeguarding Policy will be 

communicated as part of the induction and ongoing training programme for all 

Councillors. All Councillors will be expected to undertake safeguarding training.

 

(i) Scrutiny Committees 

The role of Scrutiny Committees is to review and scrutinise decisions and make 

reports or recommendations in connection with the discharge of any of the 

Council’s functions whether by the Cabinet or another part of the Council. The role 

is to provide constructive challenge to the Council about its safeguarding activity in 

an impartial and independent manner.

 

(j)  Workforce 

Every service area of the Council has a role to play and must take full ownership 

of their safeguarding responsibilities. The Council expects every member of the 

workforce to take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of any child or adult at 

risk involved in Council activity. 

Managers must proactively analyse where risks to safeguarding are most likely to 

arise in their particular service(s) and ensure they have appropriate operational 

procedures and supporting systems in place to manage these well. They are 

accountable for understanding the training needs of their workforce and ensuring 

Page 61



APPENDIX 1

10

there are appropriate operational arrangements for people to access the right 

training. 

Any person responsible for, or working with, children or adults at risk in any 

capacity, whether paid or unpaid, is considered to have a duty of care towards 

them both legally and contractually and as a responsible moral citizen. This is an 

essential requirement in every job description.  This includes a duty to behave in a 

manner that does not threaten, harm or put people at risk of harm from others. 

Every member of the workforce has a responsibility to conduct themselves in their 

private lives in a manner that does not compromise their position in the workplace 

or call into question their suitability to work with children or adults at risk. 

All members of the workforce should: 

 Be alert to the possibility of harm, abuse and neglect 

 Participate in relevant safeguarding training and multi-agency working to 

safeguard children and adults at risk 

 Be familiar with local procedures and protocols for safeguarding and follow the 

Council’s Code of Conduct and other professional codes relevant to them 

 Report any concerns about the safety or welfare of a child or adult at risk. The 

duty to report is a legal requirement.

(k) Heads of Service 

All Heads of Service are responsible, through their Management Teams for 

ensuring that the workforce is aware of the Corporate Safeguarding Policy and 

service operational procedures and that people receive training at a level 

appropriate to their role and responsibility

All Heads of Service must ensure that safe recruitment practices are adopted 

particularly in relation to reference checks and where relevant, checks through the 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). 

(l) Line Managers and Supervisors 

Page 62



APPENDIX 1

11

Every line manager / supervisor is responsible for ensuring that the workforce for 

whom they are responsible (including agency, consultants and volunteers) receive 

the training they need, proportionate to their role and responsibilities. 

7. Recognising and raising concerns about an adult or child where abuse or 
neglect is suspected.

Everyone should be alert to the possibility of abuse. An individual may become 

concerned about the safety or wellbeing of an individual in a number of ways: 

• The person may tell you. 

• The person may say something that worries you. 

• A third party may voice concerns. 

• You may see something – an incident or an injury or other sign.

Whilst BCBC Councillors and workforce will have varied levels of contact with adults 

and children at risk as part of their engagement with the Council, everyone should be 

aware of the potential indicators of abuse and neglect and be clear about what to do 

if they have any concerns.  

It is not the responsibility of any one individual to determine whether abuse has taken 

place or if an individual is at risk of harm; however they do have a responsibility to act 

if they have any concerns. 

The Corporate Safeguarding webpages provides information on how to report a 

concern about a child or adult at risk.  As well as general information and resources 

on safeguarding.

8. Adults at risk

Immediate action should be taken to protect the adult at risk if required, which could 

involve contacting the emergency services.  If no immediate action is required to 

protect the adult, the employee should inform their line manager or other designated 

Page 63

https://www.bridgenders.net/wellbeing/Pages/Corporate-Safeguarding.aspx


APPENDIX 1

12

person and also, complete an Adult at Risk Referral Form (Appendix E).  Referrals 

should be emailed to adultsafeguardingmash@bridgend.gov.uk

The Adult Safeguarding Team can be contacted to discuss concerns with individuals 

and will give advice on any actions that should then be taken.

Phone: 01656 642477

9. Children and Young People

Immediate action should be taken to protect the child if required, which could involve 

contacting the emergency services Any concerns about the safety and wellbeing of 

children and young people should be referred to the Initial Assessment and Advice 
(IAA) Team (Childrens Safeguarding) MASH

Phone: 01656 642320

Email: mashcentra@bridgend.gov.uk

The information can be passed verbally and must be followed up in writing using the 

request for help referral form contained in Appendix D.   

10.Domestic abuse and employment 

Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence can include all kinds of 

physical, sexual and emotional abuse, and can occur within intimate relationships. 

Page 64

mailto:adultsafeguardingmash@bridgend.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

13

Domestic abuse is not a private matter and can impact greatly on an individual’s 

working life.  

The Council’s protocol on violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual 

violence details its commitment to providing a workplace response to domestic abuse 

and violence.   

This protocol together with the Domestic Abuse, Violence against Women and Sexual 

Violence - Manager and Employer Guidelines set out the actions that can be taken in 

the workplace to support employees and help them feel safe at work. It also raises 

awareness and understanding of risks and consequences in the workplace.

The Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015  

places duties Local Authorities and Local Health Boards to prepare and publish 

strategies aimed at ending violence against women, gender-based violence, domestic 

abuse and sexual violence.

Accompanying the Act is a national training framework, which requires that all local 

authority employees receive training (appropriate to their role) that meets the 

requirements specified within the framework.  For most staff this will mean the 

completion of an e-learning awareness level module. 

References: 

Domestic Abuse, Violence against Women and Sexual Violence Protocol
Domestic Abuse, Violence against Women and Sexual Violence Manager and 
Employee Guidelines

11.   Information sharing and confidentiality
 
Information sharing is vital to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of adults and 

children at risk.  

Page 65

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/3/section/5
http://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Documents/Managing/General/Domestic%20Abuse%20Protocol.doc
http://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Documents/Managing/General/Manager%20and%20staff%20guidelines%20on%20Domestic%20Abuse.doc
http://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Documents/Managing/General/Manager%20and%20staff%20guidelines%20on%20Domestic%20Abuse.doc


APPENDIX 1

14

Employees should seek advice from their line manager if they are in any doubt, without 

disclosing the identity of the person where possible.

There are seven golden rules for sharing information developed by HM Government, 

2018. These are

1. The UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR), Data Protection Act 

2018 and human rights law are not barriers to justified information sharing but 

provide a framework to ensure that personal information about living individuals 

is shared appropriately and lawfully. 

2. Be open and honest with the individual (and/or their family where appropriate) 

from the outset about why, what, how and with whom information will, or could 

be shared, and seek their agreement, unless it is unsafe or inappropriate to do 

so.

3. Seek advice from other practitioners, or your information governance lead, if 

you are in any doubt about sharing the information concerned, without 

disclosing the identity of the individual where possible.

4. Where possible, share information with consent, and where possible, respect 

the wishes of those who do not consent to having their information shared. 

Under the UK GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018 you may share information 

without consent if, in your judgement, there is a lawful basis to do so, such as 

where an individual’s safety may be at risk. You will need to base your 

judgement on the facts of the case. When you are sharing or requesting 

personal information from someone, be clear of the basis upon which you are 

doing so. Where you do not have consent, be mindful that an individual might 

not expect information to be shared.

5. Consider safety and well-being: base your information sharing decisions on 

considerations of the safety and well-being of the individual and others who 

may be affected by their actions.

6. Necessary, proportionate, relevant, adequate, accurate, timely and secure: 

ensure that the information you share is necessary for the purpose for which 

you are sharing it, is shared only with those individuals who need to have it, is 

accurate and up-to-date, is shared in a timely fashion, and is shared securely 

(see principles).

Page 66

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/


APPENDIX 1

15

7. Keep a record of your decision and the reasons for it – whether it is to share 

information or not. If you decide to share, then record.

Extracted from Wales Safeguarding Procedures

12. Quality Assurance 

(a) Reporting and Monitoring 

The Council has comprehensive mechanisms in place for officers and Councillors 

which provide a governance framework supported by a performance reporting system 

that is transparent, on line and capable of providing information for challenging scrutiny 

by Officers, Councillors and Regulators. 

At a corporate level, the responsibility for monitoring the effectiveness of corporate 

safeguarding arrangements across the Council is undertaken by the Corporate 

Management Board (CMB) which reports to CCMB. 

A report on the effectiveness of corporate safeguarding will be produced at least 

annually for Cabinet and Scrutiny. This report will provide an overview of the Council’s 

safeguarding performance. This will provide an opportunity for councillors to scrutinise 

and challenge the Council’s safeguarding activity.

 

Any safeguarding implications of reports prepared for Members should be clear in 

reports to Scrutiny, Cabinet, Cabinet Committees and Council. 

There will also be a report at least annually to Cabinet and Scrutiny on the 

effectiveness of safeguarding leadership across the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional 

Safeguarding Board.

.

(b) Internal Audit / External Regulators 

Internal Audit will review safeguarding on a cyclical basis in accordance with their 

normal planning and risk assessment process along with all other services of the 

Council which could be subject to an audit review. 

Page 67



APPENDIX 1

16

Where there are matters of concern in service provision, allegation of fraud, theft or 

corruption or significant non-compliance with Council policy, discussions will take 

place with Internal Audit to assess whether they are the appropriate mechanism to 

investigate the matter further. If both parties confirm that this is appropriate Internal 

Audit will undertake a special investigation.

The Council will address any issues identified by respective external regulators and it 

is incumbent on CMB to ensure that coherent and comprehensive self-evaluation and 

consequential action is taken where required to oversee improvements. 

13. Safe workforce 

(a) Recruitment, selection and management of the workforce 

The Council is committed to safe recruitment practices and recognises that this fits 

into an overall corporate approach to safeguarding across a range of functions that 

need to operate together in order to be effective.

The Recruitment and Selection Protocol and Managers’ Guidelines set out the 

principles and procedures that should be followed when undertaking any recruitment 

and selection activity.  This includes pre-employment vetting which involves 

establishing full employment histories; proof of identity; satisfactory references; health 

assessment; checks of qualifications; asylum and immigration checks; and criminal 

record checks with the Disclosure and Barring Service.

(b) Training

The Council recognises that it has a commitment to ensure that all members of staff 

have an understanding of their roles and responsibilities when working with adults or 

children at risk and the requirement for reporting concerns.  

All line mangers are responsible for ensuring that their staff, volunteers and individuals 

undertaking work placements have appropriate safeguarding training. All members of 

the workforce, whether permanent or temporary, 

Page 68

http://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Documents/Recruitment%20and%20Selection%20Protocol.doc
http://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Documents/Recruitment%20and%20Selection%20Guidelines.doc


APPENDIX 1

17

All of the workforce will be expected to undertake all training relevant to the position 

that they hold and to renew their qualifications or professional registrations as required 

by their role. The Council will ensure training is accessible to the whole workforce. 

All members of the workforce are responsible for their own Continuous Professional

Development and to ensure that their safeguarding training is current and up to date.

Compliance with safeguarding training standards will be monitored by CMB. 

More specialist single and inter-agency training opportunities are available for those 

who work routinely with children or adults at risk at a level appropriate to their role and 

responsibilities.  Information on training can be found on the Social Care Workforce 

Development Pages (SCWDP) of the Corporate Learning and Development Website.  

http://bridgend.learningpool.com/

(c) Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) Checks 

The Council is committed to safeguarding the welfare of those accessing our services 

through the effective use of the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) and has a 

statutory duty of care towards vulnerable members of society.  Criminal record checks 

are one part of robust recruitment practice and undertaken with other pre – 

employment checks, to assess the suitability of an individual.  

The DBS Policy applies to employees, volunteers, work placements and elected 

members.  In addition, foster carers and prospective adoptive parents, student 

placements, licencing and school transport arrangements and any other regulated 

positions also come under the provisions of this policy.  Additionally it applies to those 

directly employed by governing bodies.  

The DBS policy provides information with regard to arrangements that apply to those 

who are not directly employed or engaged by the Council the following arrangements 

apply:

(d) Allegations or concerns about employees

Page 69

http://bridgend.learningpool.com/
http://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Documents/DBS%20Policy.docx


APPENDIX 1

18

There are a range of policies and guidance in place that encourage and support staff 

to raise concerns about the safety and wellbeing of adults and children at risk. These 

include:

 Wales Safeguarding Procedures 

 The Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy and Whistle Blowing Policy for (Schools)

provides guidance for staff to report concerns about other employees/contractors 

or about the way the Council operates.

The Council’s Disciplinary Policy (Disciplinary Managers’ Guidelines) recognises that 

in certain situations the breach in discipline may require the implementation of specific 

departmental procedures to deal with issues of a specific nature e.g. safeguarding 

adults and children at risk etc. 

Under the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act (2006) there is a legal duty to refer 

information to the DBS if an individual  is dismissed or removed from working with 

children and/or adults (in what is legally defined as Regulated Activity) because they 

meet the referral criteria. The Council has a duty to refer information to the DBS as 

both a regulated activity provider and as a local authority.  Equally, the Council has an 

obligation to refer certain information about employees’ conduct and matters relating 

to safeguarding to professional regulatory bodies such as Social Care Wales and the 

General Teaching Council for Wales.

(e) Safeguarding Allegations/ Concerns about Practitioners and Those in Positions of 

Trust 

The Wales Safeguarding Procedures set out arrangements for responding to 

safeguarding concerns about those whose work, either in a paid or voluntary capacity, 

which brings them into contact with children or adults at risk.  It also includes 

individuals who have caring responsibilities for adults or children in need of care and 

support and their employment or voluntary work brings them into contact with adults 

or children at risk.

Page 70

http://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Documents/Managing/General/Disciplinary%20Policy%20-%20Managers%20Guidelines.rtf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents


APPENDIX 1

19

The Wales Safeguarding Procedures support internal disciplinary procedures and 

provide guidance to deal appropriately with any concerns or allegations of professional 

abuse, neglect or harm. The procedures aim to ensure that all allegations of abuse 

made against staff or volunteers working with children, young people and adults at risk 

are dealt with in a fair, consistent and timely manner.

The main factor that is considered when applying these procedures is whether the 

individual subject to the allegation or concern, occupies a position of trust; this is where 

a member of the workforce is in a position of power or influence over a child or adult 

at risk by virtue of the work or nature of activity being undertaken.

The Council has a duty to manage allegations and concerns about any person who 

works with children and young people and adults at risk in the Council area. This 

includes Council workforce and workforce of partner agencies and volunteers. The 

Council must appoint a senior manager who is accountable for allegations against 

professionals and those in position of trust, the Local Authority Designated Officer 

(LADO).

Managing cases under these procedures applies to a wider range of allegations than 

those in which there is reasonable cause to believe a child or adult at risk is suffering, 

or is likely to suffer harm. It also applies to concerns that might indicate that a person 

is unsuitable to continue to work with children or adults at risk in their present position 

or in any capacity. It should be used in all cases in which it is alleged that a person 

who works with children or adults at risk has:

 Behaved in a way that has harmed or may have harmed a child or adult at risk

 May have committed a criminal offence against a child or adult at risk or that 

has a direct impact on the child or adult at risk

 Behaved towards a child, children or adults at risk in a way that indicates they 

are unsuitable to work with both children and adults

14.   Safeguarding children in education 

Section 175 of the Education Act  2002 requires Local Authorities and Governing 

Bodies of maintained schools to have arrangements in place to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children.

Page 71



APPENDIX 1

20

Governing Bodies and school staff must comply  with the guidance when fulfilling their 

responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children.

As included in the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 there is a duty to 

report all safeguarding concerns to the designated Lead Officer for Safeguarding in 

the Local Authority.

Schools must  have a Safeguarding Policy which is formally adopted by the school’s 

governing body.  A model policy has been developed for use by schools across the 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg region CTM Schools Safeguarding Policy.

A school’s safeguarding policy must  comply with the Welsh Government Guidance 

no. 272/2021, Keeping Learners Safe, which sets out the role of local authorities, 

governing bodies and proprietors of independent schools under the Education Act 

(2002).

15. Safe Services

(a) Commissioning Arrangements

Service providers commissioned to provide services to children or adults at risk will be 

required to provide details of their safeguarding policy and procedures to ensure that 

the service is fit for purpose and has the necessary arrangements in place to safeguard 

people.

Contract monitoring activity, either planned or unplanned, will include satisfying the

Council that the provider is managing their responsibilities in regard to safeguarding

and are operating in line with legislation, policy and procedures. Where required,

confirmation will be sought of the services performance regarding safe recruitment

practices, DBS checking and safeguarding referrals.

(b) Lettings and Hiring

With almost all casual lettings the Council will not be contracting the services of hirers. 

The Council nonetheless will allow its premises to be used for activities that may 

involve children, young people or adults at risk. Therefore building managers have a 

duty to ensure, as far as is reasonable, that these activities also comply with 

Page 72

https://www.cwmtafmorgannwgsafeguardingboard.co.uk/En/Professionals/ChildrenPoliciesAndProcedures/SchoolsSafeguardingPolicy280720.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-10/keeping-learners-safe-the-role-of-local-authorities-governing-bodies-and-proprietors-of-independent-schools-under-the-education-act.pdf


APPENDIX 1

21

safeguarding responsibilities. Members of the public may reasonably assume that 

because an activity is taking place within a Council setting, the Council has had due 

regard to safeguarding in entering into the arrangement. In allowing use of Council 

premises, the onus must remain upon the hirer to ensure that safeguarding measures 

are maintained throughout. This is something that organisations are made aware of 

under safeguarding legislation and through their own organisational governing body, 

if applicable.

.

16.   Communication and media

Decisions about the release of information relating to safeguarding matters for 

example messages to staff, press statements etc. will be taken by CCMB and the 

communications team should be involved.    No member of staff should contact the 

press directly or post information via the internet.

Use of social media

Employees have a responsibility to conduct themselves in their private lives in a 

manner that does not compromise their position in the workplace or call into question 

their suitability to work with children, young people or adults at risk.  The Council has 

in place a protocol, which covers employee responsibilities when using social media 

either for personal or professional use.   Reference:  Protocol for the use of social 

media

17. Review

This policy will be subject to review to ensure that it takes account of any changes to 

/ or the introduction of new relevant regulation, guidance and legislation, and guidance 

and procedures adopted by the Disclosure and Barring Service. 

Page 73

http://www.bridgenders.net/ict/Documents/Policies/Social%20Media%20Protocol%20for%20Staff.doc
http://www.bridgenders.net/ict/Documents/Policies/Social%20Media%20Protocol%20for%20Staff.doc


APPENDIX 1

22

Appendix A

Key definitions relevant to safeguarding adults at risk

An Adult 

A person who is aged 18 or over (s3 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 

2014) .

An Adult at risk

An adult who is experiencing or is at risk of abuse or neglect and has needs for care 

and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of those needs), and as a 

result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or 

neglect or the risk of it (s126 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014).

At Risk:

The use of this term means that actual abuse or neglect does not need to have 

occurred, rather, early interventions to protect an adult at risk of abuse should be 

considered to prevent actual abuse and neglect.

Abuse:

 Can be physical, sexual, psychological, emotional or financial (includes theft, 

fraud, pressure about money, misuse of money)

 Can take place in any setting, whether in a private dwelling, an institution or any 

other place.

Neglect:

 This describes a failure to meet a person’s basic needs physical, emotional, 

social or psychological needs, which is likely to result in an impairment of the 

person’s well-being (for example, an impairment of the person’s health).It can 

Page 74



APPENDIX 1

23

take place in a range of settings, such as a private dwelling, residential or day 

care provision.

It is important to note that these are not exhaustive lists, but they are provided to 

offer some indicators that may alert a person to possible abuse or neglect in an 

adult (Wales Safeguarding Procedures)

Please see the Wales Safeguarding Procedures for ‘Signs and Indicators of Possible 

Abuse and Neglect in an Adult at risk’.

Statutory duty to report

For the purposes of the Wales Safeguarding Procedures , a duty to report to the local 

authority will be taken to mean a referral to social services who, alongside the police, 

have statutory powers to investigate suspected abuse or neglect.

A report should be made whenever there are concerns for an adult at risk, (an adult at 

risk being defined above (s126 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014).

If any person has knowledge, concerns or suspicions that an adult is suffering, has 

suffered or is likely to be at risk of abuse, it is their responsibility to ensure that the 

concerns are referred to social services or the police (Wales Safeguarding 

Procedures).

Page 75

https://safeguarding.wales/adu/ap/a1p.p2.html
https://safeguarding.wales/adu/ap/a1p.p2.html


APPENDIX 1

24

Appendix B

Key definitions relevant to safeguarding children at risk

A child

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and accompanying Guidance 

define a ‘child’ as a person who is aged under 18.

A child at risk

S.130 (4) of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 defines a child at 

risk as a child who:

1. Is experiencing or is at risk of abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm;

2. Has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of 

those needs).

It is important to note:

 The use of the term ‘at risk’ means that actual abuse or neglect does not need 

to occur, rather early interventions to protect a child at risk should be considered 

to prevent actual harm, abuse and neglect;

 The two conditions necessary to demonstrate a child is at risk of abuse or 

neglect ensures that protection is provided to those with care and support 

needs who also require actions to secure their safety in the future;

 Risk of abuse or neglect may be the consequence of one concern or a result of 

cumulative factors.

Harm

Harm is defined as:

Page 76



APPENDIX 1

25

 ill treatment this includes sexual abuse, neglect, emotional abuse and 

psychological abuse 

 the impairment of physical or mental health (including that suffered from seeing 

or hearing another person suffer ill treatment).

 the impairment of physical intellectual, emotional, social or behavioural 

development (including that suffered from seeing or hearing another person 

suffer ill treatment).

Types of harm

The following is a non-exhaustive list of examples for each of the categories of harm, 

abuse and neglect included in vol 5 Working Together to Safeguard People: Volume 

5 – Handling Individual Cases to Protect Children at Risk

 Physical abuse  - hitting, slapping, over or misuse of medication, undue 

restraint, or inappropriate sanctions;

 Emotional/psychological abuse - threats of harm or abandonment, coercive 

control, humiliation, verbal or racial abuse, isolation or withdrawal from services 

or supportive networks, witnessing abuse of others

 Sexual abuse - forcing or enticing a child or young person to take part in sexual 

activities, whether or not the child is aware of what is happening, including: 

physical contact, including penetrative or non-penetrative acts; non-contact 

activities, such as involving children in looking at, or in the production of, 

pornographic material or watching sexual activities or encouraging children to 

behave in sexually inappropriate ways;

 Financial abuse - this category will be less prevalent for a child but indicators 

could be:

 not meeting their needs for care and support which are provided through direct 

payments; or

 complaints that personal property is missing.

 Neglect - failure to meet basic physical, emotional or psychological needs 

which is likely to result in impairment of health or development.

Page 77

https://socialcare.wales/hub/statutory-guidance
https://socialcare.wales/hub/statutory-guidance


APPENDIX 1

26

Significant harm

Concerns about likely or actual significant harm to a child is the threshold for initiating 

[s47 enquiries under the Children Act 1989]

There is no statutory definition of significant harm. Therefore, practitioners must:

‘Where the question of whether harm is significant turns on the child’s health or 

development, the child’s health or development is to be compared with that which 

could reasonably be expected of a similar child Children Act 1989  (Section 31(9)

Statutory duty to report

For the purposes of the statutory guidance, a duty to report to the local authority will 

be taken to mean a referral to social services who, alongside the police, have statutory 

powers to investigate suspected abuse or neglect.

The term practitioner is used as a blanket term to describe anyone who is in paid 

employment as well as unpaid volunteers.

A report must be made whenever a practitioner has concerns about a child under the 

age of 18 years who:

 is experiencing or is at risk of abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm and

 has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of 

those needs).

If any person has knowledge, concerns or suspicions that a child is suffering, has 

suffered or is likely to be at risk of harm, it is their responsibility to ensure that the 

concerns are referred to social services or the police who have statutory duties and 

powers to make enquiries and intervene when necessary.

Page 78

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents


APPENDIX 1

27

Appendix C

Other types of harm 

Risk from other actual or potential harm to child or adult may also result from:

Child Sexual exploitation (CSE)

CSE is a form of sexual abuse that can include sex or any form of sexual activity with 

a child; the production of indecent images and/or any other indecent material involving 

children up to the age of 18 years old.

It involves some form of exchange. The exchange can include the giving or withdrawal 

of something; such as the withdrawal of violence or threats to abuse another person.

There may be a facilitator who receives something in addition to or instead of the child 

who is exploited.

Children may not recognise the exploitative nature of the relationship or exchange. 

Children may feel that they have given consent.

Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) 

CCE is a form of child abuse, which involves criminal exploitation and requires a 

safeguarding response

Children (those up to the age of 18 years of age) are involved in criminal activities 

including the movement of drugs or money, which results in personal gain for an 

individual, group or organised criminal gang

It involves enticement and/or force.  Involving an element of exchange and can still be 

exploitation even if the activity appears consensual.  Can involve force and/or 

enticement-based methods of compliance and is often accompanied by violence or 

threats of violence.  CCE is typified by some form of power imbalance in favour of 

those perpetrating the exploitation.

Page 79



APPENDIX 1

28

Radicalisation

Children

Children can be exposed to different views and receive information from various 

sources. Some of these views may be considered radical or extreme.

Radicalisation is the process through which people come to support increasingly 

extreme political, religious or other ideals. This can lead them to support violent 

extremism and terrorism.

Anyone can be radicalised, but factors such as being easily influenced and 

impressionable make children and young people particularly vulnerable.

Children who are at risk of radicalisation may have low self-esteem or be victims of 

bullying or discrimination. They may feel:

 isolated and lonely or wanting to belong

 unhappy about themselves and what others might think of them

 embarrassed or judged about their culture, gender, religion or race

 stressed or depressed

 fed up of being bullied or treated badly by other people or by society

 angry at other people or the government

 confused about what they are doing

 pressured to stand up for other people who are being oppressed

Radicalisation does not happen overnight. It is a gradual process, so young people 

who are affected may not realise what is happening.

Adults 

Adults can be vulnerable to radicalisation.  A common feature of radicalisation is that 

the adult does not recognise the exploitative nature of what is happening and does 

not see themselves as a victim of grooming or exploitation.

Page 80



APPENDIX 1

29

People can ‘self-radicalise’, by reading or listening to extremist literature or speakers. 

More commonly, there may be an individual or group actively seeking to persuade 

others to adopt their views.

The internet and social media are also used by individuals or groups to promote their 

ideology and recruit or radicalise people. The internet creates more opportunities to 

become radicalised, with both internet and face-to-face communications working in 

tandem in the process of radicalisation, with online activity allowing a continuous 

dialogue to take place.

The radicalisation process is unique to each person who undergoes it, and in most 

cases, will not cause serious harm. 

Prevent

Section 26 of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 (the Act) places a duty on 

the Local Authority in the exercise of its functions, to have “due regard to the need to 

prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”. 

Prevent is part of the UK Government’s counter-terrorism strategy, CONTEST, which 

aims to reduce the risk to the UK and its citizens and interests overseas from terrorism.  

At the heart of Prevent is safeguarding children and adults and providing early 

intervention to protect and divert people away from being drawn into terrorist activity

The focus of Prevent is on the significant threat posed by international terrorism and 

those in the UK who are inspired by it. It is also concerned with reducing threats, risks, 

and vulnerabilities posed by domestic extremists. 

Prevent has three objectives:

1. to tackle the causes of radicalisation and respond to the ideological 

challenge of terrorism

2. to safeguard and support those most at risk of radicalisation through early 

intervention, identifying them and offering support

3. to enable those who have already engaged in terrorism to disengage and 

rehabilitate

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-strategy-contest-2018


APPENDIX 1

30

You can find information on Prevent and anti-terrorism on the Community safety 

partnership - Bridgend CBC website

Female genital mutilation

Female genital mutilation (FGM) is a procedure where the female genitals are 

deliberately cut, injured or changed, but there is no medical reason for this to be done, 

rather it is a traditional, cultural practice.  Further information can be found on the NHS 

website:

Female genital mutilation (FGM) - NHS

The Female Genital Mutilation Act (2003) made FGM a criminal offence in England, 

Wales and Northern Ireland (Scotland has its own law on FGM); to perform FGM either 

inside the UK or to take a girl abroad to have it performed. The law was amended by 

the Serious Crime Act (2015), which added extra powers to the 2003 Act.

Health and social care professionals, teachers and lecturers, have a legal obligation 

to report to the police if they are informed by a child that FGM has been carried out on 

them, or they observe physical signs of FGM. The duty is a personal duty and cannot 

be transferred to another person. This is a legal requirement under the Act and should 

be carried out alongside safeguarding procedure

Mandatory Reporting of Female Genital Mutilation – procedural information  

Forced Marriage

The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 made it a criminal offence in 

England, Wales and Scotland to force someone to marry. (It is a criminal offence in 

Northern Ireland under separate legislation).

Forced marriage is one which occurs without the full and free consent of one or both 

parties and can involve both females and males being coerced into marriage.

Page 82

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/female-genital-mutilation-fgm/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/573782/FGM_Mandatory_Reporting_-_procedural_information_nov16_FINAL.pdf


APPENDIX 1

31

This includes:

 taking someone overseas to force them to marry (whether or not the forced 

marriage takes place)

 marrying someone who lacks the mental capacity to consent to the marriage 

(whether they’re pressured to or not)

Forced marriage is a hidden crime, where families and communities collude, believing 

that they are upholding the cultural traditions and preserving family and community 

‘honour’. Families believe they are protecting their children from ‘unsuitable’ 

relationships or that they are building stronger families and preserving cultural or 

religious beliefs.

In 2007, the UK Government brought in Forced Marriage Civil Protection Orders 

through the Forced Marriage (Civil Protection) Act, 2007. Under this Act, a person 

threatened with forced marriage can apply to court for a Forced Marriage Protection 

Order (FMPO) which can contain whatever provisions the court finds would be 

appropriate to prevent the forced marriage from taking place, or to protect a victim of 

forced marriage from its effects, and may include such measures as confiscation of a 

passport or restrictions on contact with the victim.

Any person threatened with forced marriage can apply or any practitioner can apply 

for an FMPO, on their behalf.More information on forced marriage and forced marriage 

protection orders can be found on the Forced marriage - GOV.UK website.

Modern Slavery / Human Trafficking 

Modern slavery is the illegal exploitation of people for personal or commercial gain. It 

covers a wide range of abuse and exploitation including but not limited to sexual 

exploitation, domestic servitude, forced labour, criminal exploitation and organ 

harvesting.

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/stop-forced-marriage


APPENDIX 1

32

Victims of modern slavery can be any age, gender, nationality and ethnicity. They 

are tricked or threatened into work and may feel unable to leave or report the crime 

through fear or intimidation. They may not recognise themselves as a victim.

Modern slavery in the UK can take many forms, including forced sexual exploitation, 

domestic slavery or forced labour on farms, in construction, shops, bars, nail bars, 

car washes or manufacturing.

Forced labour is the most common form of slavery in the UK.   A growing form of 

slavery is trafficking into crime, such as ‘county lines’ drug trafficking or enforced 

work in cannabis production. 

Signs of slavery.   Someone in slavery might:

 appear to be under the control of someone else and reluctant to interact with others

 not have personal identification on them

 have few personal belongings, wear the same clothes every day or wear unsuitable 

clothes for work

 not be able to move around freely

 be reluctant to talk to strangers or the authorities

 appear frightened, withdrawn, or show signs of physical or psychological abuse

 dropped off and collected for work always in the same way, especially at unusual 

times, i.e. very early or late at night.

The Local Authority has a duty to notify where any person in Wales and England is 

identified as a suspected victim of slavery or human trafficking. The “duty to notify” is 

set out in Section 52 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015

Further information on modern slavery can be found on the Government website 

Modern slavery - GOV.UK

Hate Crime/ Hate incident

Page 84

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/modern-slavery


APPENDIX 1

33

The term hate crime can be used to describe a range of criminal behaviour where the 

perpetrator is motivated by hostility or demonstrates hostility towards the victim's 

disability, race, religion, sexual orientation or transgender identity.

These aspects of a person's identity are known as 'protected characteristics'. A hate 

crime can include verbal abuse, intimidation, threats, harassment, assault and 

bullying, as well as damage to property. The perpetrator can also be a friend, carer or 

acquaintance who exploits their relationship with the victim for financial gain or some 

other criminal purpose.

A hate incident is any non-criminal incident which the victim, or anyone else, thinks 

is based on someone’s prejudice towards them because of their race, religion, sexual 

orientation, disability or because they are transgender.

Further information on Hate Crime (including how to report a hate crime) can be found 

on the Bridgend Community safety partnership - Bridgend CBC

Domestic violence and abuse

The cross-government definition of domestic violence and abuse is:

Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, 

violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate 

partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality. The abuse can 

encompass, but is not limited to:

 psychological

 physical

 sexual

 financial

 emotional

Domestic abuse and young people

Page 85

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/community-safety-partnership/


APPENDIX 1

34

 Young people in the 16 to 17 age group can also be victims of domestic 

violence and abuse.

Controlling behaviour

Controlling behaviour is a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or 

dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and 

capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, 

resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.

Coercive behaviour

Coercive behaviour is an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and 

intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim.

The offence of Controlling or Coercive Behaviour is contained within Section 76 of The 

Serious Crime Act 2015.It carries a maximum 5 years’ imprisonment, a fine or both. 

Victims who experience coercive and controlling behaviour that stops short of serious 

physical violence, but amounts to extreme psychological and emotional abuse, are 

able to bring their perpetrators to justice.

You can find out what support the council can offer people experiencing domestic abuse on 
the BCBC website.

Page 86

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/prevention-and-wellbeing/domestic-abuse/


APPENDIX 1

35

Appendix E 

Safeguarding report (referral) Children 

  Safeguarding Report

If you require a Welsh language copy of the Request for Help form, or would prefer for the Assessment to be 
carried out through the medium of Welsh, please contact the Early Help mailbox

Please note where there are safeguarding concerns this form will be shared with Children’s Services without 
consent, in line with Statutory Obligations. For Early Help referrals consent is required and the form will not 
be accepted without consent. Please complete the form as fully as possible.

1. Details of Practitioner/Individual Making the Referral

Name: Job Title Agency/Team:

Date of 
Referral 

Time Telephone/

Email 

2. Child/Young Person’s Details (add any additional names on separate sheet)

First Name Last Name Age DOB/EDD Address Gender Ethnicity 1st Language Religion

3. Reason for Referral 

Outline your concerns for this child/ren and what is your evidence 

(Wales Safeguarding Procedures) 

(Please provide details)

Do you feel the child is at risk of harm and needs protecting i.e. 
Physical, sexual emotional or neglect. 

(Wales Safeguarding Procedures)

(Please provide details) 

Are there concerns for their carers parenting capabilities? (Please provide details)

Page 87

https://safeguarding.wales/
https://safeguarding.wales/


APPENDIX 1

36

Provide details of any support that has been that is currently being 
provided. E.g. family, agencies, Early Help, Health or Children 
Services etc…

(Please provide details)

What’s going well for the child / young person? e.g. positive adult 
relationships, what’s going well (family, school, community), peer 
friendships, engaged in learning, interests, hopes, ambitions, 
positive outlook and sense of self, good problem solver, etc.

(Please provide details)

What do you feel this family needs in order to change? i.e behaviour 
support, financial support  

(Please provide details)

Are there any barriers / risks to achieving the desired outcomes (Please provide details)

Is the carer/ Child aware of this referral?   Yes/No
Has consent been sought?   Yes/No

If No Why? 

Parent / Childs views (have you discussed this referral with the parent/ 
child), if so what outcomes do they wish to achieve? 

Please specify ……

4. Child(ren)/Young Person(s)’ Principal Carers

Carer Last 
Name

Carer First 
Name

Relations
hip to 
child

Parental 
Responsibility?  

Gender DOB/Age Ethnicity  if 
known

Religion

Give carer address(es) here if different from the 
child(ren)’s :

Post 
Code(s)

Tel/Mobile

5. Other Household Members or Significant People in the Child/Young Person’s Life (where known)

 First Name Last Name DoB/Age Address Gender Ethnicity  if known Relation
ship to 
child

Religion 

Page 88



APPENDIX 1

37

Are there any communication/interpreting needs for the 
child and /or family?

(Please give details) 

Does the child and/or family have a disability or specific 
health needs?

(Please give details) 

Page 89



APPENDIX 1

38

Adult at Risk Referral Form (April 2016) – Confidential   

Date alert / concern raised:
Date of incident(s):
Date received by DLM:

1. Details of Adult at 
Risk

Client / Patient ID No:

Last Name: First Name:
Date of Birth: Age:
Gender: Male □   Female  □
Address: Postcode

Tel Number: Ethnicity:
Interpreter required? Yes □    No   □ Preferred 

Language:
GP’s Name & Address GP Tel 

Number:

Does the adult at risk 
have an illness / 
disability or specific 
needs?

□  Physical Disability/Frail Elderly 
□  Learning Disability
□  Functional Mental Health
□  Organic Mental Health (Dementia)
□  Visual Loss/Blind/Partially Sighted
□  Hearing Loss/Deaf
□  Substance Misuse problems

Is the adult at risk 
subject to any legislative 
powers? E.g. DoLS, 
Mental Health Act, 
Power of Attorney
Next of Kin: Relationship:
Address:
Telephone Number:
Are there any other 
persons at risk living at 
the property?
Please give details of 
any other professionals 
involved in their care.

Appendix F

Page 90



APPENDIX 1

39

What action has been 
taken to safeguard the 
adult at risk?

2. Consent  / Capacity of 
Adult of Risk

Please include details of any recent capacity 
assessments.

Does the adult at risk have any 
difficulty in communicating? 
(Please explain)
Is there any evidence to 
suggest that the adult at risk 
lacks mental capacity to 
consent to this referral?
Has the adult at risk consented 
to this referral? If no, please 
explain the reasons why.
If the adult at risk has capacity, 
do they consent to their 
information being shared with 
other agencies? 

□ Police 

□ Health  

□ Probation  
What are the views and wishes 
of the adult at risk?

Is there an overriding public 
interest reason to share this 
concern without consent?  
Please explain.

3. About the 
alleged    abuse
Type of alleged 
abuse:

□  Physical        
□  Sexual    
□  Emotional/Psychological
□  Financial        
□  Neglect

Location of 
alleged abuse

□  Own Home                              □  Relatives Home          
□  Care Home Residential           □  Care Home Nursing   
□  Supported Tenancy                 □  Perpetrators Home    
□  Hospital                                   □  Day Care
□  Public Place                            □  Sheltered Accommodation
□  Shared Lives Scheme            □  Educational Establishment
□  Other    

*Specific location E.g. Ward/Care 
Home…………………..…….

Is the abuse Current  □   Historical  □

Page 91



APPENDIX 1

40

Description of 
alleged abuse / 
injuries:
(Please complete 
body map if 
relevant)
Are there any 
further risks?
If yes, please 
explain.

4. Details of 
suspected 
perpetrator(s)
Last Name: First Name:
Date of Birth: Age:
Address: Post Code:
Telephone Number:
Relationship to adult 
at risk
Is the perpetrator an 
adult at risk? If yes, 
explain why
If the perpetrator is 
an adult at risk, do 
they have capacity to 
understand their 
actions?
Occupation: Employer
Is alleged perpetrator 
aware of the referral?

Yes □  No  □

Additional perpetrator □ (please open up new perpetrator box)

5. Details of 
Witness(es)
Last Name: First name:
Date of Birth: Age:
Address: Post Code:
Telephone Number:
Occupation:
Relationship to adult 
at risk:
Is witness an adult at 
risk? If yes, explain 
why.

Additional witness □ (please open up new witness box)

6. Who has raised 
the concern?

This is the first person to whom the disclosure was first 
made – it may be a family member, witness, or a 
professional working with the adult at risk

Page 92



APPENDIX 1

41

Name:
Date of Birth: Age:
Address: Post Code:
Telephone Number:
Occupation: Employer:
Relationship to adult 
at risk:
Does the reporter 
wish to remain 
anonymous?  
If yes, explain why.
(excludes 
professionals)

7. Who is submitting 
the VA1?
Name:
Occupation / Employer 
details:
Address: Post Code:
Telephone Number:
Date / Time submitted 

8. Additional 
Information

Page 93



APPENDIX 1

42

Please provide details of any injuries, marks, bruising, wounds etc.:

Please use this section to identify the position of any marks, bruising, wounds etc.

                                          

Page 94



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING

DEVELOPMENT OF BRYNMENYN CHILDRENS HUB

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:-

 update Cabinet on developments at Maple Tree House (children’s emergency and 
assessment unit/Children’s Placement Hub”) in respect of the plans to relocate 
the service; and

 request Cabinet approval for the Head of Children’s Social Care (in their capacity 
as Responsible Individual for the service) to oversee and monitor the 
implementation of the plans as set out in this report.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 Reducing Children Looked After (CLA) numbers in a safe and appropriate manner is 
a national priority for Welsh Government, which has had a significant focus recently. 
Safely reducing CLA numbers is also a key corporate priority for BCBC, when 
achieved safely this enables positive outcomes for children and young people. The 
best outcome for children and young people is also the most cost effective, as 
commissioning suitable quality residential care home placements results in 
escalating costs and poor value for money.

3.2 The Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate has reviewed its residential and 
accommodation services in recent years, which has included the development of two 

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



new Extra Care schemes for older people to replace the residential homes that were 
in place, as well as a review of BCBC-run children’s homes.

3.3 The Remodelling Children’s Residential Services project was formed in 2017/18 as 
part of the Remodelling Children’s Services Programme. The remit of the project was 
to review current residential provision (to include residential homes and out-of-county 
placements) and to develop a new residential and accommodation model which could 
provide the right quality of assessment, accommodation, care and support withn 
Bridgend County Borough. 

3.4 A significant amount of engagement took place to inform the proposed new model, 
which included:

 Research into innovation and best practice across the UK;
 Reviewing of feedback from Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) reports for the 

residential homes;
 A multi-agency workshop involving colleagues from Children’s Services, health, 

Police, Education and other key stakeholders;
 Engagement with current and former residents of the residential homes;
 In-depth engagement with residential staff members;
 Engagement with current and former residents of the residential homes; 
 Targeted engagement with all pertinent stakeholders on the final proposed model.

3.5 In November 2017, a report was presented to Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(OVSC) outlining the proposed new model. OVSC requested that another report be 
submitted to OVSC to allow pre-decision scrutiny, prior to the final model being 
presented to Cabinet for approval in February 2018.

3.6 In January 2018, a more detailed report was submitted to OVSC alongside a 
presentation, which provided further detail on the proposed model. OVSC were also 
asked to note that a report would be presented to Cabinet in February 2018, 
requesting approval to implement the proposed new model.

3.7 In February 2018, Cabinet approved the implementation of the new model for 
Children’s Residential Services, a fundamental component of which was the 
development of a Childrens Placement Hub. The aim of the Hub is to provide high 
quality assessment and support in a timely way in order to facilitate move-on to one 
of the other placement options within the model. This model is essential to really 
understanding children / young people’s needs and planning services which meet 
those needs as well as meeting the MTFS savings requirements as highlighted later 
in this report. 

3.8 When the new model was approved by Cabinet in February 2018, it was reported to 
Cabinet that the Hub would initially be developed by re-designing the existing 
children’s residential ‘estate’ and would therefore be based initially at Newbridge 
House – with alternative longer-term options for the Hub being considered in the 
future. This was based on the feedback received from key stakeholders during the 
engagement and consultation undertaken at the time, which had raised concerns in 
respect of the layout of Newbridge House itself, as well as the location of the home, 
which is in an urban and residential area of Bridgend.

Page 96



4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 In February 2020, a report was presented to Cabinet/Corporate Management Board 
(CCMB), to provide an update in relation to the service remodelling proposals, which 
included a proposed new site for the Children’s Placement Hub at the Brynmenyn 
Primary School site. The report detailed the work that had been undertaken alongside 
colleagues in Corporate Landlord and Housing in determining this site, which was 
found to be the only viable option for the new Children’s Placement Hub, based on 
the specific  requirements of the children and young people, and also recognising the 
feedback received from the earlier consultation and engagement. CCMB approved 
that Brynmenyn Primary School should be pursued as the preferred site for the 
Children’s Placement Hub (which will include the Emergency and Assessment Unit 
currently based at Maple Tree House as well as the Fostering and Placements 
Team), although more information was requested in respect of the potential for 
maximizing any capital receipts, before the old site Maple Tree House on Merthyr 
Mawr Road is disposed of.

Designs and plans

4.2 The proposed new development on the former Brynmenyn School site will provide a 
specially designed and purpose-built Children’s Placement Hub, from which the 
newly implemented service model can be effectively delivered. The new provision will 
allow for more teams to be located within the Hub (including Bridgend Fostering 
services), which will  enable more seamless working and better outcomes for children 
and young people, which cannot currently be delivered to maximum effect from the 
existing site. The new site is also in a much more favourable setting (close to 
amenities, but not in a built-up residential area) which will also support  the best 
possible outcomes for children and young people.

4.3 The ‘voice of the child’ has also been a really important part of the process and design 
stage, where officers met with young people in receipt of services to understand what 
was important to them, in order to make the service a real home. Really important  
feedback was taken from this exercise (such as having a bath, as well as showers) 
to inform the final build plans, and officers are also looking to involve children and 
young people in deciding room colours and furnishing options later on in the process.

4.4 During 2019/20, progress on this work was unfortunately delayed for a significant 
period of time due to a Common Land issue, which was outside of BCBC’s control. 
The Common Land issue has since been resolved (in November 2019), and officers 
were able to carry out the required planning application processes, following which a 
procurement exercise was undertaken to seek a contractor to carry out the required 
works – scheduled to commence in the summer of 2021 and be completed in early 
2022.

Funding

4.5 Capital funding totalling £2.25 million has been secured for the development of the 
new Hub, broken down as below:

 A BCBC Capital Bid of £600k has been approved, which was originally included 
in the Capital Programme for 2018/19, and subsequently rolled forward as a result 
of the delays outlined above; 

Page 97



 £750k has been ringfenced from BCBC earmarked reserves; and
 BCBC have also been allocated ICF (Integrated Care Fund) Capital Funding of 

£900k, made up of £164k in 2020/21 and £736k in 2021/22.

Governance

4.6 A Children’s Residential Hub Project Board has been established to monitor plans 
and milestones. The Board is supported by the Corporate Project Team and is 
represented by; Children’s Services, Commissioning, Finance, Corporate Landlord, 
regional partners (ICF), and other areas (such as ICT) as required. This Board reports 
into the Improving Outcomes Board, which is chaired by the Corporate Director for 
Social Services and Wellbeing, to ensure sufficient oversight.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 The tender process in order to select a contractor to carry out the required building 
work has been undertaken in accordance with BCBC’s Contract Procedure Rules.

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has been undertaken which 
identified that there would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the 
protected characteristics or the use of the Welsh language. 

6.2 The Screening also gave consideration to any potential socio-economic 
disadvantage resulting from the proposed new development on the former  
Brynmenyn School site and identified that this would have a positive impact as  
having access to improved facilities in the newly built children’s home will potentially 
increase young people’s engagement with services such as health, social care, 
education and the local community.

6.3 As no negative impacts were identified during the screening there is no requirement 
for a full Equality Impact Assessment to be undertaken. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people. The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report:

Long Term – Social Services is demand led and the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 focusses on sustainable prevention and wellbeing 
outcomes for the future. The new build will support the development of a 
psychologically informed environment which will enable children and young 
people to recover from traumatic experiences during their early years.  This 
will be achieved through a more structurally suitable environment in a location 
that can support opportunities to develop positive relationships between staff 
and young people.

Page 98



 Prevention – This development is key to Childrens Social Care’s aspirations 
in respect of the “No Wrong Door” model, which at its heart has a Residential 
Hub providing short-term placements and outreach support.  The goal is to 
reduce the number of young people coming into care, and to support those in 
care to find permanence in a family setting through long-term foster care, 
reunification with their families or independence.  The Hub will also provides 
the opportunity to  prevent (where possible and appropriate to do so) the need 
for Out-of-County Residential placements – which are both costly and do not 
always enable the best possible outcomes for children and young people.

 Integration – the implementation of the SSWBA requires local authorities to 
work with partners, to ensure care and support for people and support for 
carers is provided. The development of the new Hub brings a variety of internal 
services, such as Outreach Workers, Placement Support Workers and Re-
unification Workers, together and will also include the fostering and placement 
team who will be based on-site.

 Collaboration – Elements of the strategic planning and (partial) funding of the 
new development has been undertaken on a regional basis where best 
practice and learning can be shared with regional partners and others.

 Involvement – The key stakeholders are the young people who use social 
care. Children and Young People were consulted during the intial stages of the 
design and planning stage and where possible their views have been 
incorporated into the new hub (including having a “games room”).  We remain 
committed to engaging with children who are looked after throughout the 
construction stage to ensure their wishes and feelings are central in trying to 
create a homely environment and that they are able to provide feedback in 
respect of proposed plans and options.

8. Financial implications

8.1 As described in the funding section of paragraph 4, capital funding of £2.25 million 
has been secured – which is sufficient funding in order to cover the building costs 
and associated professional fees.

8.2 BCBC officers have also submitted a Discretionary Capital Bid to secure additional 
funding from regional ICF Capital in 2021/22, in order to fund the furnishings required 
for the new scheme – estimated to cost in the region of £40k. The regional 
Transformation Leadership Programme Board (TLPB) approved the application for 
funding, but Welsh Government have requested that the overall project cost for the 
total scheme be amended to reflect the additional funds needed, with a case to be 
made as to why additional funds are needed and justifying the additional costs. BCBC 
officers are working with the regional team in order to make the necessary changes. 
Should this additional funding not be forthcoming the service will manage this through 
seeking alternative sources of funding for furnishings and maximising the capital 
funding currently available.

8.3 Implementing the new model has already resulted in recurrent MTFS savings of 
£245k, and the service is fully committed to the new model in the expectation that 
additional savings can be made in the future, as well as enabling a reduction in the 
dependence on high-cost Out-of-County placements. 

Page 99



8.4 Developing the new Hub will also increase capacity by creating an additional 
emergency bed. This placement type currently results in a high-cost/out-of-county 
placement being made – costing in the region of £180k per annum. With each bed in 
the new Hub costing in the region of £100k per annum, there is now the potential for 
cost avoidance in the region of £80k per annum.

8.5 As this is a new location for an existing (budgeted) service which will be in a better 
condition than the existing building, and as there are no changes being proposed to 
the staffing establishment, it is not envisaged that there will be any additional revenue 
cost implications associated with the new development.

9. Recommendations

9.1 Cabinet is requested to:

 Note the contents of this report; and
 Approve for the Head of Children’s Social Care (in their capacity as Responsible 

Individual for the service) to oversee and monitor the implementation of the plans as 
set out in this report

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing 
June 2021

Contact Officer: Laura Kinsey
Head of Children’s Social Care

Telephone: (01656) 642314
E-mail: laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk  
Postal Address Bridgend County Borough Council, Civic Offices, Bridgend, 

CF31 4WR

Background documents

 Equality Impact Assessment Screening document

Page 100

mailto:laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING

SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP ORDER FINANCIAL POLICY

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:-

 Provide Cabinet with details of the proposed Special Guardianship Order (SGO) 
Financial Policy (which will support the updated Special Guardianship Order 
Policy).

 Request Cabinet approval of the policy and delegate authority to the Head of 
Children’s Services to implement the new policy.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 Whilst developing the Placement Comissioning Strategy for Bridgend Children’s 
Social Care one of the key themes that was identified was that there were low 
numbers of children achieving permanence through the granting of a Special 
Guardianship Order, leading to children spending a longer period of time within the 
Care system.  During 2014, 21 children ceased to be looked after, as an SGO was 
made by the Court.  Since this time the numbers of children where an SGO has been 
made has declined with just 6 SGOs being made in 2017/18, 4 in 2018/19 and 8 in 

Page 101

Agenda Item 7



2019/20.  In 2020/21 a further 10 children ceased to be looked after as an SGO was 
granted and, whilst it is positive that the number has increased, it seems 
disproportionately low when you consider that there are 95 children who are living 
with Connected Persons Foster Carers.

3.2 There are a number reasons why some children are unable to live with their birth 
parent(s) and at these times, arrangements need to be made for children to be cared 
for by others. Some children may live with other members of their family, with foster 
parents, adoptive parents or in care homes. It is a priority for children to be given a 
permanent home when it is not safe for them to return to their parent’s care. A Special 
Guardianship Order (SGO) is a Court Order which appoints a specific person(s) to 
become a child’s Guardian until they reach 18. An SGO offers greater security than 
long-term fostering but does not entail the absolute legal severance from the birth 
family that stems from an adoption order. It is therefore a good and stable outcome 
for an increasing number of children and young people.

3.3 Reducing Children Looked After (CLA) numbers in a safe and appropriate manner is 
a national priority for Welsh Government, which has had a significant focus recently. 
Safely reducing CLA numbers is also a key corporate priority for BCBC, as, when 
safe, this enables positive outcomes for children and young people. The best 
outcome for children and young people is to live in a permanent home, where 
possible within their own birth family, or where this is not possible, in a permanent 
family home.

3.4 SGOs were introduced by the Adoption and Children Act 2002. The Special 
Guardianship (Wales) Regulations 2005, were subsequently introduced and 
amended by The Special Guardianship (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 and 
Special Guardianship Code of Practice on the exercise of social services functions in 
relation to Special Guardianship orders 2018.

3.5 Bridgend County Borough Council have in place a Special Guardianship Policy 
(Appendix 1), which sets out eligibility to become a Special Guardian, the application 
process and the Local Authority’s responsibilities in terms of reporting to the Court, 
Support available to Special Guardians etc.  This Policy was reviewed and updated 
in November 2020 in line with the the “Guide for The Offer of Special Guardianship 
Support in Wales 2020 (AFA)” which drew together all relevant statutory guidance.

 3.6 This review identified that greater clarification was required in relation to the Financial 
Support that is available to Special Guardians and, in order to do this, a stand alone 
“Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy” (Appendix 2)  was required.  The aim 
of this policy is to reduce the potential delay in achieveing permanence for children 
and young people, when Prospective Guardians are uncertain of the Financial 
Support that is available to them.

4. Current situation/proposal

Page 102



4.1 In November 2020 The Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy was drafted, 
which would sit alongside the updated Special Guardianship Order Policy for the 
reasons outlined above.

4.2 A public consultation on the Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy was 
undertaken over a twelve-week period from 15 February to 9 May 2021 and the full 
Consultation Report is available (Appendix 3).  In total there were 32 questions that 
required a reply from respondents who could choose to answer all or some of the 
questions and who were offered the option of anonymity. The council’s standard set 
of equalities monitoring questions were also included with the survey in line with 
recommended good practice for all public-facing surveys carried out by the council.   
The consultation received a total of two interactions from survey completions. 

4.3 The Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy Consultation was posted 
bilingually to the council’s corporate Facebook and Twitter channels throughout the 
consultation period to raise awareness of the consultation and to encourage citizens 
to share their views on the proposals.

4.4 The Headline figures highlighted within the Consultation report are:

 50% of respondents stated that the policy makes it clear what financial support is 
available and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines the financial assessment 
process and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 100% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines how the means test is 
applied. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines how supplementary 
allowances could be granted for a child previously fostered by the applicant and 50% of 
respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines when supplementary 
payments may be paid in exceptional circumstances and 50% of respondents stated it 
did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines what responsibilities Special 
Guardians have with regard to informing the Permanence Team of any changes and 
50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines the review process for financial 
assessments and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy is 
accessible i.e. written in plain language that is clear and easy to understand and 50% of 
respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that something is missing from the Special Guardianship 
Orders Financial Policy that they would like to see included and 50% of respondents 
stated it did not. 

Page 103



4.5 A detailed analysis of the individual responses is available within the consultation report 
at section 7.2 onwards.  In considering the responses it is worth again reflecting that 
there were only two respondents.  The negative responses received are focussed on an 
individual’s previous poor experiences and lack of clarification regarding any entitlement 
to financial support.  This supports the view that a detailed stand alone policy of this 
nature is required, to ensure that prospective Special Guardians have a clear 
understanding of the support that is available to them, in order to look after a child who 
is in their care. 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 The Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy is a new policy that seeks to clarify 
the financial aspects of the support that is available and as such does not have an 
impact on the current policy framework and operating procedure. 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

6.1 An Equality Impact Screening exercise was undertaken in relation to this Policy, 
which identified that in respect of the protected characteristics there was no negative 
impact as all potential Special Guardians are entitled to a Financial Assessment and 
support where this is required.

6.2 The Screening also gave consideration to any potential socio-economic 
disadvantage as resulting from this Policy, but again identified that there was no 
negative impact as Special Guardians provide children and young people in their care 
a secure safe living environment that provides them with the support they require to 
achieve better outcomes and higher social and educational achievement which could 
improve any impact of socio-economic disadvantage.

6.3 Given the outcome of the screening exercise there is no requirement for a full Equality 
Impact Assessment to be undertaken.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people. The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report:

 Long Term –  A Special Guardianship Order (SGO) is a Court Order which 
appoints a specific person(s) to become a child’s Guardian until they reach 18. 
An SGO offers greater security and permanence for a child/young person than 
long-term fostering and supports both Welsh Government and Bridgend 
County Borough Council’s priority to reduce the number of children who are 
looked after.  Alongside the update to the Special Guardianship Order Policy, 

Page 104



the SGO Financial Policy will provide greater clarification to prospective 
Special Guardians as to the support that is available to them in order to meet 
the needs of a child for whom they are caring.

 Prevention – Achieveing Permanence for children and yopung people through 
the making of a Special Guardianship Order not only provides greater security 
and permanence for a child/young person, but prevents the need for them to 
become “Looked After”.  Barriers to achieveing this include a lack of 
understanding regarding the support that is available to Special Guardians, a 
belief that the Local Authority only provides on-going support to (Connected 
Persons) Foster Carers and that prospective Special Guardians would be 
financially advantaged if they were approved as a Foster Carer for a 
child/young person.  This can be further complicated by a lack of clarity for 
Social Workers, Children’s Guardians and the Courts in relation to the support 
provided by Bridgend County Borough Council to prospective Special 
Guardians.  In implementing the SGO Financial Policy (alongside the updated 
SGO Policy) it is anticipated that there will be opportunity to prevent the need 
for children/young people to remain within the care system for an extended 
period.  

 Integration – A key component of the support that is available to Special 
Guardians is any financial allowance that they receive.  The SGO Financial 
Policy details how the permanence team work alongside corporate finance 
colleagues and prospective Special Guardians to ensure all information 
required is available to facilitate an accurate assessment as to whether an 
SGO allowance is payable.

 Collaboration – Members of the Permanence Team attend the AFA (Cymru) 
National  interest group in relation to Connected Person Foster Carers and 
Special Guardians.  This Group provides team members with an opportunity 
to learn about and share practive developments and best practice with 
colleagues across Wales.

 Involvement – A 12 week public consultation has been undertaken in relation 
to the proposed SGO Financial Policy.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 It is envisaged that by providing greater clarity in respect of the financial support 
available to prospective Special Guardians there is likely to be an increase in the 
overall number of Special Guardianship Allowances being paid by the Local Authority.  
However, any increase in SGO Allowances will be offset in part by a reduction in the 
Allowances being paid to Connected Persons Foster Carers.

8.2 SGO Allowances are means tested and reviewed on an annual basis.  The amount 
that a Special Guardian receives from the Local Authority will take into consideration 

Page 105



any Child Benefit and Child Tax Credits that a Special Guardian is able to claim.  The 
amount payable by the Local Authority would be lower than payment of the Fostering 
Allowance. 

8.3 In addition to any direct savings made as set out above, there is also an indirect 
saving made in relation to Social Work and Independent Reviewing Officer time (as 
well as partner agency time) as there would be no requirement for Statutory Visits  or 
Looked After Children Reviews to be undertaken. 

9. Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is requested to approve the Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy and 
to delegate authority to the Head of Children’s Services to implement the new policy. 

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing 
July 2021

Contact Officer: Laura Kinsey
Head of Children’s Social Care

Telephone: (01656) 642314
E-mail: laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk  
Postal Address Bridgend County Borough Council, Civic Offices, Bridgend, 

CF31 4WR

Background documents

 Equality Impact Screening Document

Page 106

mailto:laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP
POLICY

November 2020

Wellbeing Directorate

Page 107



2

Document Name 
and Location

Special Guardianship Order

Author
Alex Davies
Team Manager Placements
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles l Social 
Services and Wellbeing Directorate
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Penybont ar Ogwr l  Bridgend County 
Borough Council
Ffôn / Phone: (01656) 642367
E-bost / Email: Alex.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk
Gwefan / Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk

Document Owner
Laura Kinsey
Pennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol I Blant l Head of Children’s Social 
Care
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Penybont ar Ogwr l  Bridgend County 
Borough Council
Ffôn / Phone: (01656) 642314
E-bost / Email: Laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk
Gwefan / Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk      

Review Date
This document is to be reviewed a minimum of every 3 years after 
its approval date, the next review to occur no later than December 
2023. Incremental reviews may take place as required.

Accessibility This document can be made available in Welsh.

Updates, Revisions and Amendments 
Version Details of Change Date 

 
 
  
   
   
   

Page 108

mailto:Alex.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


3

Table of Contents

Section Details Page

1 Background 4

2 Eligibility 5

3 Applications 6

4 Reports to the Court 6

5 Special guardianship applications in the context 

of permanence planning for children looked after

8

6 Special guardianship applications in the context 

of permanence planning for children not looked 

after

9

7 Special Guardianship Support Services 9

8 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 13

9 Local authority responsibility for Special 

Guardianship allowances

14

10 Special Guardianship Orders and Leaving Care 15

11 Complaints and Representations 17

12 Appendices:

Appendix 1 – Blank SGO Support Plan 

Appendix 2 – Blank SGO Support Plan Review

18

25

Page 109



4

1. Special Guardianship Policy  

1.1 Background 

1.1 Special Guardianship Orders were introduced by the Adoption and 

Children Act 2002. The Special Guardianship (Wales) Regulations 2005, were 

subsequently introduced and amended by The Special Guardianship (Wales) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2018 and Special Guardianship Code of Practice on 

the exercise of social services functions in relation to Special Guardianship 

orders 2018.

    

1.2 Special Guardianship offers greater security than long-term fostering but does 

not entail the absolute legal severance from the birth family that stems from an 

adoption order. 

 A Special Guardianship Order gives the Special Guardian, subject to any 

other order in force with respect to the child under the Children Act 1989, the 

right to exercise parental responsibility to the exclusion of any other person 

with parental responsibility for the child (apart from another Special 

Guardian). 

 Unlike adoption, under a Special Guardianship Order, the birth parents 

remain the child’s legal parents and retain parental responsibility, though 

their ability to exercise this is extremely limited. 

 The intention is that the Special Guardian will have clear responsibility for all 

the day-to-day decisions about caring for the child or young person and for 

taking any other decisions about their upbringing, for example, their 

education. 

Page 110

https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/enhRunRemoteLink.do?linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23num%251989_41a_Title%25&A=0.6040583579595417&backKey=20_T95187471&service=citation&ersKey=23_T95187453&langcountry=GB


5

 A Special Guardian may exercise parental responsibility to the exclusion of 

others with parental responsibility, such as the parents, and without needing 

to consult them in all but a few circumstances. 

 One major purpose of Special Guardianship is to meet the child’s need for a 

legally secure relationship with their carer. To this end, where a Special 

Guardianship Order is made, the child will no longer be considered to be 

looked after by a local authority.

1.3 Accompanying the arrangements for the Special Guardianship Order are 

additional responsibilities for local authorities in relation to the assessment, 

planning, provision and review of Special Guardianship support services, 

including financial support.  A child who was looked after immediately before 

the making of a Special Guardianship Order, who would be regarded as a 

category 3 young person in accordance with the Social Services and 

Wellbeing Act (Wales) (2014) remains eligible for support as care leaver. 

2. Eligibility 

2.1 Before the local authority takes any steps to support an application for Special 

Guardianship, it must first ensure that the person(s) wishing to become Special 

Guardian(s) are eligible.  A court may make a Special Guardianship Order in 

respect of a child on the application of the following persons: 

 Any guardian of the child

 A local authority foster carer with whom the child has lived for one year 

immediately preceding the application

 Anyone who is named in a Residence or Child Arrangements Order as a 

person with whom the child is to live, or who has the consent of all those in 

whose favour a Residence or Child Arrangements Order is in force

 Anyone with whom the child has lived for three out of the last five years

Page 111



6

 A relative of the child with whom the child has lived for a period of at least one 

year immediately preceding the application

 Where the child is in the care of a local authority, any person who has the 

consent of the local authority

 Anyone who has the consent of all those with parental responsibility for the 

child

 Any person, including the child, who has the leave of the court to apply

2.2 The court may also make a Special Guardianship Order in any family 

proceedings concerning the welfare of the child if they consider an order should 

be made.  This applies even when no application has been made and includes 

adoption proceedings.

2.3 Applications for a Special Guardianship order may be made by an individual or 

jointly by two or more people. Joint applicants do not need to be married or in a 

civil partnership with each other. Special guardians must be 18 or over. The 

parents or step-parent of a child may not become that child’s Special Guardian.

2.4 In all circumstances, the local authority will need to provide a report for the court.  

The court and local authority must consider the whole range of options available. 

3. Applications

3.1 An applicant must give three months written notice to the local authority that is 

looking after the child, (in the case of a child who is fostered) or to the local 

authority where the applicant is ordinarily resident (if the child is not looked after) 

of their intention to apply for a Special Guardianship Order.

3.2 The only exception to this is where a person has the leave of the court to make a 

competing application for a Special Guardianship Order where an application for 

Page 112



7

an Adoption Order has already been made. This is in order to prevent the 

competing application delaying the adoption order hearing.

4. Local authority reports to the court

4.1 In the three month notice period, the local authority must complete a report as 

prescribed or arrange for someone else to do this on its behalf.  The schedule to 

the Special Guardianship (Wales) Regulations 2005, The Special Guardianship 

(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 and Special Guardianship Code of 

Practice detail what the report should include. 

4.2 A report must be prepared for the court by the local authority for both looked 

after and other children.  The report covers all the necessary information about 

the child, the child’s family, the wishes and feelings of the child, the prospective 

Special Guardian, information about the local authority that completed the 

report and recommendations about whether an order should be made, contact 

arrangements and support services proposed, including financial support.

4.3 There is a statutory duty to undertake Enhanced Criminal Record Bureau checks 

on prospective Special Guardians and any adult members of their household in 

accordance with The Special Guardianship (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 

2018.

4.4 In order to ensure that the service complies with the standards of good practice 

set out in the statutory guidance, which should be referred to, the social worker 

who prepares the report for the court should be suitably qualified and 

experienced.  However, where this cannot be achieved, social workers who do 

not have suitable experience will be supervised by someone who has.

Page 113



8

4.5 When the local authority receives notice from either the applicant or court it must 

send written information to the prospective Special Guardian and the parents of 

the child, setting out the steps it proposes to take in preparing the report.

4.6 Where an application for SGO is received for a child who has an allocated Social 

Worker within the local authority, there must be regular meetings between the 

Social Workers to ensure accuracy of information and a robust analysis.

5. Special guardianship applications in the context of permanence planning 
for children looked after

5.1 When the local authority receives a notification of intention to apply for a Special 

Guardianship Order in relation to a child who is looked after, the Independent 

Reviewing Officer (IRO) should be informed at the earliest opportunity and the 

application discussed within the child’s Looked After Review. 

5.2 The local authority will consider notifications from eligible carers who may wish 

to apply for a Special Guardianship Order in the light of the welfare checklist in 

the Adoption and Children Act 2002.  The child's welfare will be the paramount 

consideration.  The views and wishes of the child and the carers, and the 

carers’ suitability, including whether they fully understand their roles as Special 

Guardians, will be fully considered.  Where a child will cease to be looked after 

as a result of a Special Guardianship Order being made, the applicants must 

fully understand how they will take responsibility for the child’s upbringing, 

perhaps without the same level of involvement of the local authority. 

Permanency planning documentation and or case recordings should reflect any 

discussions/ agreements with the relevant Principal Officer or Group Manager 

where independent legal advice has been provided to the foster parents.

Page 114



9

5.4 The prospective applicants will be advised of the role of the local authority in 

reporting and making recommendations to the court, including their duty to 

consider and report on what other options the court may wish to consider. 

5.5 For information relating to financial support for Special Guardians, please see 

the BCBC SGO Financial Support Policy.

6. Special guardianship applications in the context of permanence planning 
for children not looked after

6.1 Where the child is not looked after, the local authority has the same responsibility 

for reporting to the court and carefully assessing its recommendations.  As for a 

looked after child, every effort will be made to consider fully with the prospective 

applicants and the child the reasons for making an application, whether it is 

advisable to do so, and what the other options might be.  The prospective 

applicants will be advised of the role of the local authority in reporting and making 

recommendations to the court, including their duty to consider and report on what 

other options the court may wish to consider.

7. Special Guardianship Support Services

7.1 The Local Authority has a duty to assess the need for and provide support 

services to support Special Guardianship arrangements. An assessment of need 

for a particular service (both financial and non-financial) does not automatically 

result in the provision of that service. 

7.2 A Guide for The Offer of Special Guardianship Support in Wales 2020 (AFA) 

draws together statutory guidance relating to support service requirements as 

outlined within The Children Act 1989, the Special Guardianship (Wales) 

Page 115



10

Regulations 2005 (as amended in 2018) and the Special Guardianship Code of 

Practice on the exercise of social services functions in relation to Special 

Guardianship orders 2018. The Local Authority is required to make arrangements 

for the provision of the following services:

 Information, Advice and Assistance (including web-based information for child/ 

young person; prospective Special Guardians)

 Financial support 

 Peer support 

 Contact 

 Therapeutic services 

 Assistance to promote relationship stability 

 Mediation

7.3 The assessment may be limited to the need for a particular Special Guardianship 

support service if the person requesting the assessment has requested a 

particular service, or, it appears to the local authority that the needs of the person 

may be adequately assessed by reference to a particular support service. 

However, the assessment should be widened should it become apparent that 

there are additional support needs. The local authority does not need to prepare 

a support services plan where special guardianship support services are being 

provided on a single occasion, as in this case notice will be provided will include 

all the necessary information.

7.4 It is important to acknowledge that housing, education and health may play a 

large part when assessing the needs of Special Guardianship families, but needs 

identified under these headings may not, of themselves, lead to a Special 

Guardianship support service.

Page 116



11

7.5 The support plan for a Special Guardian is developed by the child’s social 

worker, who knows the child, in conjunction with the assessing social worker 

from the Fostering and/or Placement Team who knows the prospective Special 

Guardians and has expertise in identifying the factors which promote 

permanence. 

7.6 In preparing the plan, the Social Workers will consult with the intended recipient 

of the support services, or if the recipient is a child who is not of sufficient age 

and understanding, with the Special Guardian or other appropriate adult. If it is 

necessary for services to be provided by the Local Health Board or other partner 

agencies, they will also be consulted. If the recipient lives in another local 

authority area, that local authority may also be consulted as appropriate.

7.7 The completed support plan must be agreed by the social workers and team 

managers within both the relevant Safeguarding and Fostering or Permanence 

Teams. The prospective Guardian must be provided with the Support Plan in 

writing, along with a copy of their completed assessment and given opportunity to 

make representation to the local authority if there are areas of disagreement. If 

no representations are received within 28 days (unless particular circumstance 

require a shorter or longer period) it will be assumed the contents are agreed. 

The prospective Guardian must also be provided with the opportunity to obtain 

independent legal advice on the assessment and support plan before any 

application is made.  

7.8 Where the subject of the assessment is a child of sufficient age and 

understanding, they must be notified of the outcome of the assessment, unless 

the specific circumstances of the case mean that it would be inappropriate to do 

so – for example, because it would be potentially harmful to the wellbeing of the 

child.

Page 117



12

7.9 Where the person to whom the plan relates lives in the area of another local 

authority, the local authority that prepared the plan must provide a copy of the 

plan to the area local authority, unless the authority considers it unnecessary.

7.10 Regulation 5 of The Special Guardianship (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 

2018 sets out the list of people who are entitled to request an assessment for 

Special Guardianship support services. Local authorities do not have to provide 

these services directly, but can arrange for them to be delivered in partnership 

with other agencies, as appropriate. 

7.11 The code of practice imposes additional duties on the local authority to make 

those identified below aware of their entitlement to request an assessment for 

SGO support services at every appropriate stage i.e. when an application is 

made and again once the SGO is in place following the first three years. This list 

includes:

 a child subject to a Special Guardianship order or a parent of such a child;

 a child in respect of whom a person has given notice to a local authority of his or 

her intention to apply for a Special Guardianship order or a parent of such a 

child;

 a child in respect of whom the court has required a local authority report or a 

parent of such a child;

 a child who is the subject of, or is named in, a local authority report for the court;

 a Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian;

 a child of a Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian;

 a relative of a child falling within the first three bullet points providing contact 

arrangements were in place before the request for an assessment.

7.12 The Local Authority must have in place arrangements to keep in touch with 

children where a SGO has been made, both the original Local Authority and the 

Page 118



13

Local Authority where the Special Guardian and child(ren) live following the first 

three years. As a minimum, contact must be made with the Special Guardians at 

least once a year- the financial assessment review does not count as the 
contact.  The Special Guardian can choose not to engage with the contact, 

however, the LA must evidence that the annual contact has been offered and 

that the Special Guardian has either accepted/declined to engage for the three 

years post the order being granted.

7.13 Reviews of the SGO support plan are undertaken by the Fostering and/or 

Placements Team, who will then coordinate with the appropriate teams, agencies 

or services to meet the assessed needs of the family,

7.14 Where the Special Guardianship support is provided as part of a Care and 

Support Plan this Review will be subject to the reviewing requirements under 

SSWB (Wales) Act 2014

8. Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014

8.1 In accordance with the Part 6 Revised Code of Practice, achieving ‘permanence’ 

will be a key consideration from the time a child becomes looked after, and the 

Part 6 care and support plan should set out from the outset how this is to be 

achieved. One of the key functions of the care and support plan is to ensure that 

each young person has a plan for permanence by the time of the second looked 

after child review.

8.2 The Code of Practice links Special Guardianship in with the UN Convention on 

the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 

Act 2014.  A table setting out the links between UNCRC articles, national well-

being outcomes and “welfare of the child” Children Act Principles is included 

within the code of practice.

Page 119



14

8.3 Professionals must ensure advocacy duties have been met in relation to looked 

after children who are entering a Special Guardianship arrangement. The local 

authority must also ensure that the Special Guardian/s are referred to sources of

independent advice and advocacy, as appropriate.

8.4 Where a child in a Special Guardianship arrangement has needs being assessed 

under Part 3 of the Act the Local Authority should also assess the need for 

Special Guardianship support services at the same time. Where the child has a 

care and support plan under Part 4 of the Act any Special Guardian support 

services should be included within this plan. 

9. Local authority responsibility for Special Guardianship allowances

9.1 For looked after children, the local authority who last looked after them retains 

responsibility for the assessment and provision of Special Guardianship support 

services for three years from the date of the making of the order.  In all other 

situations, including where the initial three year period has expired, responsibility 

for assessing and providing support services is with the local authority where the 

Special Guardian lives.

9.2 The provision of an allowance agreed before the Special Guardianship Order is 

made remains the responsibility of the authority who originally agreed it, 

indefinitely, regardless of where the family live.

9.3 When the three year period, which starts from the time of the making of the SGO, 

is about to expire, the original LA must, not later than three months before the 

expiry of the three years, undertake a review, notify the relevant local authority of 

any continuing need for services and refer the Special Guardian to relevant local 

information, advice and assistance. The code of practice (chapter 11) also 

Page 120



15

imposes some additional duties/ guidelines in relation to the three year ruling 

relating to case management:

- If the child is to live in another Local Authority area from the date of the 

order the original Local Authority must inform that Local Authority that the 

SGO has been made (11.3)

- Local Authorities should co-operate to establish which services are to be 

provided locally (although the original Local Authority will finance for three 

years) (11.4)

- There will need to be agreement on who provides any Part 4 SSWB 

service (it is expected that the original Local Authority will continue to meet 

any ongoing needs, including those over and above prescribed Special 

Guardian support services for the three years) (11.5) 

10.  Special Guardianship Orders and Leaving Care

10.1 Children who were looked after by a local authority immediately before the 

making of a Special Guardianship Order may qualify for advice, guidance and 

assistance under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  Section 

104 of the 2014 Act defines six categories of young people in respect of leaving 

care, and a ‘category 5 young person’ is defined as a person between 16 and 21 

who is subject to a special guardianship order (or was when he or she turned 18), 

and who was looked after immediately before the Special Guardianship Order 

was made. 

10.2 The full duties of a local authority towards a ‘category 5 young person’ are 

set out in section 114 of the 2014 Act. Further details are set out in the Code of 

Practice relating to Part 6 of the Act (Looked After and Accommodated Children), 

chapter 5 (‘Leaving care’).       

10.3 The local authority must consider whether the young person needs 

Page 121



16

support of the kind set out in section 114. If the local authority is satisfied that the 

person who was looking after the young person (the special guardian or former 

special guardian) does not have the necessary facilities for advising or 

befriending him or her, the local authority must advise and befriend the young 

person, and support him or her as necessary in the following ways:  

• in kind 

• contributing to expenses incurred by the young person in living near the 

place where he or she will be employed or seeking employment  

• contributing to expenses incurred by the young person in living near the 

place where he or she will be receiving education or training 

• making a grant to enable him or her to meet expenses connected with 

education or training 

• providing accommodation if support may not be given in the above ways 

• in cash.   

 

10.4 Where appropriate, the local authority should provide the young person 

with a personal adviser. 

10.5 The local authority may also give support in certain circumstances up to 

the age of 25, where the young person is completing a course of education or 

training as set out in the plan agreed with the young person. 

10.6 These provisions recognise that some young people who left care under a 

Special Guardianship Order may be as vulnerable, and have very similar needs 

to, young people who left care at 16 or 18. This is particularly important because 

the Special Guardianship Order comes to an end when the young person turns 

18. They place a duty upon local authorities to respond adequately to these 

young people’s individual needs.   

10.7 Where a local authority is satisfied that a ‘category 5 young person’ has a 

need for advice and support, it must assess his or her needs and decide how 

Page 122



17

best to meet them. Where the authority concludes that the young person will 

need support over a period of time, it should draw up a plan in partnership with 

the young person, outlining the care and support to be provided. The plan should 

follow the same format as a ‘pathway plan’ for a young person preparing to leave 

care (as set out in chapter 5 of the Part 6 Code of Practice).   

10.8 The local authority must inform young people who have left care under a 

Special Guardianship Order of their entitlement to an assessment for care leaver 

support. It is good practice to do this when the child is about to turn 16.   

10.9 It should be noted that young people in special guardianship 

arrangements are not eligible to enter into post-18 living arrangements under 

section 108 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (the ‘When I 

am Ready’ scheme), even if they are living with their former foster parents. Local 

authorities must ensure that foster parents who are considering becoming special 

guardians, and the children and young people placed with them, are fully aware 

of this before a special guardianship order is made. Where appropriate, local 

authorities should consider alternative ways of supporting former looked after 

children who wish to continue living with their special guardians once they turn 

18, such as supported lodgings.   

10.10 Regulation 13 of The Special Guardianship (Wales) Regulations 2005 

provides that the relevant local authority in relation to the provision of advice and 

assistance is the one that last looked after the child.  

 

10.11 There may be times when it is not clear which authority is responsible for 

giving advice and assistance regarding special guardianship – for example, 

where the child moved between placements in different local authority areas.  

Regulation 13 of The Special Guardianship (Wales) Regulations 2005 states that 

the relevant authority shall be the local authority which last looked after the 

person. Similar arrangements apply to young people who were formerly looked 

Page 123



18

after by a local authority in England, where the relevant authority for the purposes 

of providing advice and assistance will be the local authority in England which 

last looked after them. 

11.Complaints and Representations

11.1 Complaints and representations about special guardianship support 

services must be handled in accordance with the local authority’s complaints 

procedures.  

11.2 Regulation 14 of The Special Guardianship (Wales) Regulations 2005 

specifies that complaints and representations may particularly be made in 

relation to the following services:  

 

• financial support for special guardians 

• support groups for children 

• assistance in relation to contact 

• therapeutic services for children  

• assistance to ensure the continuation of the relationship between the child 

and their special guardian or prospective special guardian. 

11.3 Local authorities must ensure that children subject to special guardianship 

arrangements, special guardians and potential special guardianships, and 

parents, receive information on how to make complaints and representations.   

Page 124



19

Bridgend County Borough Council 
Children’s Services 

SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP SUPPORT PLAN

Child’s Name:    

Date of Birth:    
 
Placing Local Authority:     Bridgend County Borough Council 

Name of Family:   

Local Authority:    Bridgend County Borough Council 

Local Authority where the Family lives:    

The Special Guardianship support plan is based on the assessed support needs of the child, the 
Special Guardians and of the birth relatives.

Date Plan Completed:   

INDIVIDUAL WORKER RESPONSIBLE FOR CO-ORDINATING and 
MONITORING THE DELIVERY OF THE SERVICES IN THE PLAN
Name:          
   
Agency:          Bridgend County Borough Council

           Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend CF31 4WB

Telephone:    01656 

E-mail:   

Page 125



20

HEALTH (to include any special needs which a disabled child may have)
Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardian
Services to be Provided
Person / Agency responsible
Has an agreement been given locally 
to provide the required services?
Frequency, Duration & Start 
Date
Planned Outcome & Plans for 
Review

EDUCATION
Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardian
Services to be Provided
Person / Agency responsible
Has the local Education Department 
agreed to provide the required 
services?
Frequency, Duration & Start 
Date
Planned Outcome & Plans for 
Review

EMOTIONAL and BEHAVIOURAL DEVELOPMENT
Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardian
Please detail any need for therapy or 
counselling. 
Services to be Provided
Person / Agency responsible
Has an agreement been given locally 
to provide the required services?
Frequency, Duration & Start 
Date
Planned Outcome & Plans for 
Review

Page 126



21

IDENTITY
Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardian

 

Services to be Provided       
Person / Agency responsible
Frequency, Duration & Start 
Date
Planned Outcome & Plans for 
Review

FAMILY and SOCIAL RELATIONSHIPS
Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardians
Services to be Provided
Person / Agency responsible
Frequency, Duration & Start 
Date
Planned Outcome & Plans for 
Review

SOCIAL PRESENTATION
Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardian
Services to be Provided
Person / Agency responsible
Frequency, Duration & Start 
Date
Planned Outcome & Plans for 
Review

SELFCARE SKILLS
Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardian
Services to be Provided
Person / Agency responsible
Frequency, Duration & Start 
Date
Planned Outcome & Plans for 
Review

Page 127



22

CONTACT: Arrangements planned after Special Guardianship Order 
is granted.

Person : name & relationship 
to child
Type
e.g. letterbox, face-to-face
Frequency, Duration, Venue 
& Starting Date
Will contact need to be 
supervised?

Who will do this?
Purpose of this contact.

Person : name & relationship 
to child
Type
e.g. letterbox, face-to-face
Frequency, Duration, Venue 
& Starting Date
Will contact need to be 
supervised?

Who will do this?
Purpose of this contact.

SUPPORT ARRANGEMENTS: please detail this in relation to each contact arrangement if  
necessary

Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardian
Services to be Provided

Person / Agency responsible

Plans for Review
Is there a written contact agreement?  
How will this be reviewed?

Please add further family members as necessary.

Page 128



23

FINANCIAL and PRACTICAL
Support Needs of Child & 
Special Guardian
(eg. to get to contact sessions, to fund 
therapy sessions, etc)
Services to be Provided
these could include:

 a single lump sum
 a series of lump sums
 a regular ongoing payment or 

home adaptations
Person / Agency responsible
Has an agreement been given locally 
to provide the required services?

 

Frequency, Duration & Start 
Date

 

Planned Outcome & Plans for 
Review

          
  

BASIC SUPPORT SERVICES
Other

Point of contact available long 
term for advice and information 
and onward referral as 
necessary
Group meetings with other 
Guardians

Regular workshops/training eg.  
managing difficult behaviour, 
etc.

Page 129



24

SIGNATURES
Signature Print name Date

Child / Young 
Person (where 
appropriate)
Safeguarding 
Social Worker

Safeguarding 
Team Manager

Fostering Team 
Manager

Special 
Guardian

Special 
Guardian

Co-ordinating 
Worker (listed on 
front page if not one of 
above)

Page 130



25

CARER’S DETAILS
Full Name

Address

Home Phone

Mobile

CHILD/YOUNG PERSON’S DETAILS

First Name Surname DOB Gender

Carers own Children (living at home)

Date Order Granted

DD MM YYYY

Date of this Review

DD MM YYYY

Date of Last Review

DD MM YYYY

GUIDANCE FOR COMPLETING THIS FORM

Safeguarding & Family Support Services

Children’s Directorate 

CCIS NO

CS SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP ORDER 
SUPPORT PLAN REVIEW

52077

Page 131



26

The sections below are intended for you to consider worries, concerns or difficulties 
you may have experienced over the past year. It may be the issues have been 
resolved, but you may wish to consider making a brief note of the issue in order for us 
to consider if there is anything we could possibly do to help should issues arise in the 
future. The individual sections in the form are intended for you to refer directly to the 
care you provide to the child(ren). 

This is your opportunity to contribute to your annual review. There is no expectation to 
complete the review form, however if we do not receive the completed, or part 
completed form, we can only assume you do not require support at this time. This 
does not however, mean you cannot contact the Permanence team at any time on:
(01656) 642524 or (01656) 662238

Health

Growth and development as well as physical and mental wellbeing - diet, exercise, 
immunisations (where appropriate), dental and opticians, and with older children, 
appropriate advice and information on issues such as sex education, substance 
misuse.

Education

Considers education from birth and includes opportunities for play, access to books, 
progress and achievements in school, any special educational needs.

Emotional and Behavioural Development

To include quality of attachments and relationships to family members and other 
outside of the family. To consider also are: presenting behaviours, child/young 
persons' responses to stress and degrees of self-control, and how the child 
demonstrates feelings and actions eg. Anger, aggression, becoming withdrawn, quiet, 
upset etc.

Identity

How the child/young person considers him/herself as a valued person including their 
view of self and abilities, self-esteem, and feeling of belonging in the family and wider 
community.

Family and Social Relationships

Has the child/young person established a stable and affectionate relationship with 

Page 132



27

yourselves, their parents and siblings? Has the child/young person developed age 
appropriate friendships with peers?

Self Care Skills

To include early practical skills such as dressing/feeding, has the child/young person 
acquired confidence and skills to undertake activities away from the family. For older 
children, the ability to learn skills ready for independence.

Contact Arrangements

Any issues arising from contact, e.g. frequency of contact, with whom the child/young 
person has contact, to consider behaviour before and after contact etc.

Support

Do you feel as special guardians you have the support you require to care for the 
child /young person. Have you considered what practical or emotional support you 
feel you would benefit from in your role?

FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

Are financial payments protected for 
two years

Date of the last financial review

DD MM YYYY

Outcome of financial review

Additional Information

LOCAL AUTHORITY SUPPORT

Page 133



28

Date of LA Support Plan

DD MM YYYY

Attached

If not, where can the Support Plan be located

Has there been any LA support/intervention or advice sought since the last 
annual review

Nature of the contact with the LA

ANY ADDITIONAL NEEDS

Training/concerns/apprehensions/health/education etc

VIEWS OF OTHERS WITHIN THE HOME (Inc. Guardians own children)

HOME VISIT REQUESTED

Attendees (who would you like to attend the review)  Eg. Teacher, Health Visitor, 
family member, young person.

Name Signature Date

Social Worker

Page 134



29

Special 
Guardian(s)

Team Manager

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 

Bridgend County 
Borough Council

Special Guardianship 
Orders

Financial Policy

November 2020

Wellbeing Directorate

Page 137



2

Document Name and Location Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy

Author
Alex Fitzpatrick
Team Manager Placements
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol a Lles l Social Services and 
Wellbeing Directorate
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Penybont ar Ogwr l  
Bridgend County Borough Council
Ffôn / Phone: (01656) 642367
E-bost / Email: Alex.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk
Gwefan / Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk

Document Owner
Laura Kinsey
Pennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol I Blant l Head 
of Children’s Social Care
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Penybont ar Ogwr l  
Bridgend County Borough Council
Ffôn / Phone: (01656) 642314
E-bost / Email: Laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk
Gwefan / Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk

Review Date
This document is to be reviewed a minimum of 
every 3 years after its approval date, the next 
review to occur no later than December 2023. 
Incremental reviews may take place as 
required.

Accessibility This document can be made available in Welsh.

Updates, Revisions and Amendments 
Version Details of Change Date 

 
 
  

   

Page 138

mailto:Alex.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


3

Table of Contents

Section Details Page

1 Introduction 4

2 Financial Support for prospective Special 
Guardians

5

3 Overview of the financial assessment process 6

4 Required documentation 10

5 Applying the means test 12

6 Supplementary allowance 16

7 Special Guardian (s) responsibilities 20

8 Review 21

9 Terminations of payments 23

10 Appendices:
Appendix 1 – Declaration of Financial 
Circumstances

25

Page 139



4

1. Introduction 

This policy should be read in conjunction with the BCBC Special Guardianship Policy 

which outlines the legislative framework of Special Guardianship Orders. This policy 

relates only to financial support and reviews of financial support for Special Guardians. 

Support to Special Guardians, including financial provision is outlined in the Special 

Guardianship (Wales) Regulations 2005, amended by The Special Guardianship 

(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 and Special Guardianship Code of Practice 

on the exercise of social services functions in relation to Special Guardianship orders 

2018.

In accordance with, a Guide for The Offer of Special Guardianship Support in Wales 

2020 (AFA), which draws together statutory guidance relating to support service 

requirements as outlined within The Children Act 1989, the Special Guardianship 

(Wales) Regulations 2005 (as amended in 2018) and the Special Guardianship Code 

of Practice on the exercise of social services functions in relation to Special 

Guardianship orders 2018. The Local Authority is required to make arrangements for 

the provision of financial support to Special Guardians. 

In order for special guardians to receive a financial allowance, they must fulfil the 

requirements for assessment and review, in line with the financial procedure outlined 

in this document.

Page 140



5

2. Financial Support for Prospective Special Guardians 

2.1 The Special Guardianship Order (SGO) regulations state that financial support 

should be provided where it is necessary to ensure that the arrangements for a 

Special Guardianship Order can be secured.  Financial support should not be 

the sole reason for a Special Guardianship arrangement failing to survive.  This 

applies to both looked after and non-looked after children.

2.2 Financial support can be provided as: 

• a single lump sum payment to meet a specific assessed need

• a series of lump sum payments to meet a specific assessed need

• a periodic or regular payment payable at intervals to be determined by 

the local authority to meet a specific assessed ongoing need.

2.3 In accordance with the Special Guardianship Code of Practice on the exercise 

of social services functions in relation to Special Guardianship orders (2018), the local 

authority may begin providing financial support in the following circumstances:

(a) A child subject to a special guardianship order is living with the special guardian 

and the local authority consider that financial support is necessary to ensure 

the guardian can continue to look after the child.

(b) A child in respect of whom a special guardianship order is sought, or in respect 

of whom a court has required a report, lives with a prospective special guardian 

and the local authority considers that:

i. it would be beneficial for the child for a special guardianship order to be 

made

ii. that financial support is necessary to ensure the prospective special 

guardian can continue to look after the child pending the court’s decision.

Page 141



6

This provision allows for financial support where the local authority supports the 

making of a special guardianship order, but considers that the long-term success of 

the child’s relationship with the prospective special guardian is in doubt without the 

provision of such support while the application is still being considered.

2.4 In all cases, financial support can only be provided after an SGO financial 

assessment has been undertaken to determine the amount to be paid and to 

ensure that the applicant is making an informed decision regarding SGO. 

2.5 In accordance with SGO Regulations financial support to Special Guardians 

must complement and not duplicate financial support available through the 

benefits and tax credits systems. All Special Guardians are therefore obliged to 

apply for child benefit and child tax credit to which they are entitled. This sum 

will be deducted from the overall SGO allowance payment to be made. 

2.6 Financial support must not include any element of remuneration for the care of 

the child, however, Regulation 7(4) (The Special Guardianship (Wales) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2018) allows Local Authorities to provide financial 

support above the usual level to a previous foster carer. This is not an automatic 

entitlement.

Page 142



7

3.  Overview of the financial assessment process 

3.1 Financial assessments will be conducted either:

• Following a decision that a full assessment for a SGO will proceed,

• As part of a Connected Persons Assessment or 

• Where a potential eligible applicant requests a provisional assessment 

to inform their decision making.

3.2 In order to complete the financial assessment, the allocated Assessing Social 

Worker will submit a SGO financial request form on the applicants file on 

WCCIS. Once marked ‘complete’, an alert will be received by the BCBC 

Financial Assessment Team, who will make contact with the applicant to collect 

and verify the required financial information and documentation for the 

assessment. Should any issues relating to the above process arise, they will be 

shared with the Assessing Social Worker.

3.3 It will be the responsibility of the Assessing Social Worker to ensure any 

allocated Social Worker for the child and Childcare Solicitor are updated where 

there are any delays in this process and the case is within proceedings.

3.4 Copies of the verified documents will be passed to and retained by the BCBC 

Financial Assessment Team who will develop a mechanism for ensuring that 

all information required is collected, seen and stored in accordance with the 

General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 2016. 

Page 143



8

3.5 The BCBC Financial Assessment Team will apply the means test (as detailed 

in section 5) to assess if any SGO allowance is payable. The calculation will 

then be sent via e-mail to the Assessing Social Worker to share and discuss 

with the applicant(s). The e-mail will confirm if all documents required have 

been received in line with this policy. The assessment remains provisional until 

they are. 

3.6 Where the decision is to proceed, the amount payable, duration and timescale 

for review will be included in the SGO support plan and recorded on WCCIS.

3.7 Special guardians should be asked by the Assessing Social Worker to provide 

details of their bank account (bank, branch, sort code, account number and 

name of account holder/s) for payments to be set up at the earliest opportunity. 

3.8 The Assessing Social Worker is responsible for ensuring the SGO or 

Connected Persons Assessment, support plan and financial assessment are 

recorded on the EDRM Live Application (or equivalent) for future reference 

should any queries arise in relation to the original assessment and agreement.

3.9 Following the granting of the SGO, a member of the Permanence Team will be 

responsible for ensuring a letter is sent to the Special Guardian/s confirming: 

• the outcome of the financial assessment 

• the amount, start date and frequency of payments 

• the requirement to apply for Child Benefit and Child Tax Credit

• any additional conditions in respect of the allowance and the 

consequences of not meeting them 

Page 144



9

3.10 If the prospective special guardian refuses to cooperate with the financial 

assessment process, no allowance will be payable.

3.11 If, in the process of completing the assessment it is found that the prospective 

special guardian(s) is/are not claiming their welfare benefit entitlements in line 

with central government guidance and there are concerns about fraudulent 

claims, the matter will be referred back to the Assessing Social Worker or 

Permanence Team (in the case of a financial review) to address.

3.12 The local authority will provide support for prospective guardians to obtain 2 

hours legal advice upon completion of an assessment and support plan to 

facilitate the applicant(s) to make an informed decision and submit an 

application to the court.

Page 145



10

4. Required documentation 

4.1 If one or both of the special guardian applicants are: 

• Employed, Payslips for 3 months or 12 weeks are required as part of the 

verification process.

• For self-employed applicants, a copy of their tax return and/or business 

accounts are required.

• For those not working, verification of all benefit income is required (either 

via a DWP award letter or in some exceptional circumstances, copy of a 

bank statement).

• For those in receipt of child/working tax credit and pension credit, copies 

of the award notices are required and our letter that we send out with the 

financial form asks specifically for ‘all pages’ of the letters to be included.

• Bank statements are also required for all accounts for the last 3 months.

4.2 Verification of any other income is required. If an undeclared income is 

identified on a bank statement, Finance will query this with the applicant.

4.3 An allowance can be made within the financial assessment for costs such as 

mortgage, rent, council tax, etc. Verification of these costs is requested and 

required.

Page 146



11

4.4 Where an entitlement to adult benefits is identified but not taken up by the 

applicant(s), the applicant(s) would be advised that an additional benefit could 

be claimed and given an opportunity to submit a claim. Finance would then 

follow up on this claim in due course. If the claim is not submitted, Finance will 

seek the advice of the Assessing Social Worker regarding whether the amount 

of the benefit ordinarily payable will be taken into account as income, as part of 

the assessment procedure.

4.5 Where an entitlement to child benefit and/or child tax credit is identified and 

applied for by the applicants but they are awaiting award, this income will be 

included in the allowance and reclaimed either from the backdated award, or 

through an adjustment of the allowance.

4.6 Special guardians must notify the Kinship Care business support team when 

they become in receipt of the benefit and must provide a copy of the statement 

of award. This is intended to avoid unnecessary delay in making the correct 

payments, and to arrange repayment options if necessary.

Page 147



12

5. Applying the means test 

Income 

5.1 The total weekly net income of the special guardian(s) (after deducting tax, 

national insurance and pension contributions) is taken into account. Any 

deductions taken at source for items such as monthly season ticket, travel 

allowance, loans, gym membership etc. will be added back into the total net 

income. 

5.2 All other income of a regular kind will need to be included for the purpose of the 

means test, i.e. from non-dependants, own children, relatives, lettings of 

property and accommodation, income from savings and investments, pensions, 

court orders, child maintenance payments, all benefit income including working 

tax credits and child tax credits, all child benefit payments. 

5.3 Furthermore, as part of the application for an SGO allowance, the disclosure of 

any other income not listed above is required. These may include, but are not 

restricted to, any payments received in respect of Adoption, Residence Orders, 

existing Special Guardianship Orders and Disability Living Allowance(s). 

Income from such payments are not included within the means test but are 

required to verify the information within bank statements.

5.4 Where the young person (subject of the SGO application), or another young 

person in the household, is in receipt of the Education Maintenance Allowance 

Page 148



13

(EMA) or income associated with government employment training schemes, 

these will not be included in the household income assessment. 

5.5 Those in receipt of Job Seeker’s Allowance or Employment and Support 

Allowance will be subject to a full financial assessment.

5.6 Any fostering allowances and fostering remuneration fees received by the 

special guardians for any child looked after in their care, not solely the subject 

of the application, are not taken into consideration as income for assessment 

purposes.

5.7 Income for self-employed applicants will be based on their drawings. Profit will 

also be included as income and averaged out over 52 weeks (in order to 

determine a weekly income figure).

5.8 Rental income is included in full. However, where the rental is arranged through 

a letting agency, only the final rental income figure is included (after making an 

allowance for rental fees).

5.9 Only the interest from income generated from capital investments and savings 

is taken into consideration within the financial assessment.

5.10 Where an applicant has submitted a self-assessment tax return to HMRC within 

the last year, a copy is required. 

5.11 Payments from Criminal Injuries Compensation Awards should not be included 

in the financial assessment, however, a copy of the award documentation 

Page 149



14

should be provided to the Financial Assessment Team to verify the information 

provided. 

5.12 Interest on capital belonging to the child is disregarded. Only interest on the 

applicant’s capital is taken into consideration.

5.13 General household expenditure on items such as food, transport, clothes, 

utilities (gas, electricity and water), recreation etc. will be calculated using the 

Income Support allowance rates and increased by 25%.

Calculation

5.14 The maximum rate of Special Guardianship Allowance is the equivalent to level 

1 BCBC fostering allowance rates unless there are exceptional circumstances 

that require a supplementary allowance.

5.15 The family’s disposal income will be calculated by adding together the 

accommodation expenses and the general household expenditure/personal 

allowance figures and offsetting this against the assessable income. This will 

provide an amount equating to the disposable income. The outcome of the 

assessment is determined by the amount of the disposable income:

• If the outcome of the financial assessment is ‘nil’, then no payment will 

be made to the applicant/s.

• If the outcome of the financial assessment (a) is less than the applicable 

fostering rate less child benefit (b), then the lower figure will be paid (a).

Page 150



15

• If the outcome of the financial assessment (a) is greater than the 

applicable fostering rate less child benefit (b), then the maximum weekly 

amount will be payable (b ).

• If an applicant is in receipt of Income Support or Pension Credit 

(Guarantee Credit) a means test is not required. The person would be 

paid the applicable fostering allowance/rate less child benefit less child 

tax credit (subject to proof of the qualifying benefit being in payment and 

proof of child tax credit).

5.16 Once the financial assessment is authorised, an email is sent to the  

Permanence Team detailing the outcome of the financial assessment. A copy 

of the financial assessment is also enclosed along with a copy of an 

assessment outcome form that can be forwarded to the applicants.

5.17 Payments of SGO allowance are made on a weekly basis in advance. 

Page 151



16

6. Supplementary Allowance

6.1 There may be exceptional cases where financial support over and above the 

SGO allowance rate is required to support a Special Guardianship 

arrangement. 

6.2 Local authorities may impose conditions that they consider to be appropriate 

when providing financial support. This could include the timescale and purpose 

that the financial support should be used for. 

6.3 The supplementary allowance is not subject to the financial assessment 

process for the SGO allowance or means test as previously described, and will 

be paid in addition to the SGO allowance.

6.4 A supplementary allowance could be granted to cover one-off costs or regular 

costs relating to a specific need and can be time limited. It may be awarded in 

the following circumstances: 

Child Previously Fostered by Applicant

6.5 If a Special Guardianship Order is granted to an applicant who previously 

provided foster care to the child for whom the Order is granted, the Special 

Guardian will receive an SGO allowance that is equal to level 1 BCBC fostering 

Page 152



17

allowance, minus child tax credit and child benefit for 2 years regardless of the 

outcome of the means test assessment. 

6.6 If a Special Guardianship Order is granted to an applicant who previously 

provided foster care to the child for whom the Order is granted, who was in 

receipt of a foster carer fee, a supplementary allowance equal to the 

appropriate BCBC skill based fee element may be paid for a maximum of two 

years at the discretion of the Head of Children’s Services. This is in accordance 

with Regulation 7(4) (SGO Regulations Wales 2005).

6.7 The above applies to BCBC foster carers and Independent Fostering Agency 

carers. The maximum supplementary allowance paid to aid a Special 

Guardian`s transition from being a foster carer to being a Special Guardian for 

a child, is the BCBC fee element applicable at the time the SGO is granted, 

unless it can be evidenced, with supporting written evidence that this would 

result in a significant detriment. These rates will not increase in line with inflation 

or any other changes, and will remain at that base level for the duration of the 

order

6.8 In exceptional circumstances the local authority may agree to extend the period 

of supplementary allowance beyond 2 years.

Exceptional Circumstances

6.9 In exceptional circumstances, a supplementary allowance can be granted for a 

specific purpose. These supplementary payments can be one-off payment or 

regular payments of an ongoing nature and must be included in the support 

plan. There must be an assessed need and appropriate evidence provided.  

Page 153



18

The following are provided as examples of such circumstances but are not 

intended to be an exhaustive list: 

• Setting up costs – e.g. furniture or equipment for any special educational 

needs, alterations/ adaptations to the home to support a child with a 

disability; 

• Placing the child in a boarding school – e.g. where assessed necessary 

to meet the child’s special educational needs.

• Court/legal fees – e.g. where there is evidence to support this is an 

ongoing risk to the stability of the SGO arrangement. 

• Facilitating contact – e.g. contact centre fee, travel expenses. The costs 

associated would be calculated on an annual basis and averaged into a 

weekly allowance.  

• Mediation – e.g. where there a complex family dynamics that will have a 

detrimental impact on the wellbeing of the child if not addressed.

• Therapeutic services – e.g. for the child, Special Guardian or both 

• Financial hardship – e.g. where a Special Guardian has ended their 

employment in order to care for the child and the child’s needs require 

that the carer continues to remain at home to provide support. The local 

authority may agree to extend the period of supplementary allowance 

until the child is engaged in full time education. 

6.10 A child who has an illness, disability, emotional or behavioural difficulties, or 

who is suffering from the continuing consequences of past abuse or neglect, 

may require a degree of care and support which necessitates additional 

expenditure. In these cases, medical and other professionals will have a role in 

evaluating the effect of the child’s condition and in providing advice to the local 

authority. The local authority is expected to seek specialist medical advice 

where appropriate and consider this expert advice when considering the need 

to providing any supplementary allowance payment above the basic allowance 

rate to support the special guardian.  This payment will be regularly reviewed 

Page 154



19

and time-limited.  The circumstances for the supplementary allowance in these 

circumstances will require authorisation from a Group Manager for a fixed 

period to assist the family.  

6.11 Should the supplementary financial support identified in the support plan (either 

initially or subsequently) exceed £500 in any single financial year then the 

support plan will also need authorisation from the Head of Children’s Services 

before being submitted to the court.

6.12 The need for ongoing additional expenditure will be re-assessed on an annual 

basis as part of the SGO allowance review procedure or where there is a 

significant change of circumstance. This would include the Special Guardian 

advising if contact has not taken place, where supplementary allowance is paid 

to facilitate contact.

6.13 Any agreements for supplementary allowance to be paid must be outlined in 

writing within the SGO Support Plan, to include specifics as to the amount 

agreed, for what purpose and the duration. 

6.14 Failure on the part of the Special Guardian to adhere to financial review 

arrangements will result in any supplementary allowance ceasing. The local 

authority will also seek to recoup any overpayment of supplementary 

allowance, including where a Special Guardian has failed to notify the local 

authority of a change in circumstance. 

6.15 Payment of the child related SGO allowance or supplementary allowance, if 

applicable, will not increase during the term of the order, unless the Guardian/s 

were previously foster carers and entitled to protected allowances under the 

policy, or following a financial assessment review. 

Page 155



20

7. Special Guardian(s) responsibilities 

7.1 If the special guardian(s) qualifies for financial support following the means test, 

they must inform the Permanence Team of the following within 14 days: 

• any change of address/ telephone number or additional contact details 

such as an email address 

• if there is a significant change in theirs and/or the child’s financial 

circumstances 

• if there is a change in family relationships (such as a new partner or the 

separation of the special guardians), that affects household 

income/expenditure 

• the child ceases full time education i.e. between 16 and 18 years and 

commences employment  

• the young person qualifies for Income Support or jobseekers allowance 

in his/her own right 

7.2 The Permanence Team must be notified immediately if:

• the child no longer permanently resides with them 

• if the child dies 

• the SGO has ceased to have effect (the child has turned 18 or the Order 

revoked by the Court)

Page 156



21

7.3 Special guardians are required to inform the local authority of the progress of 

their claims for Child Benefit and Child Tax Credit within 4 weeks of the SGO 

being granted. Failure to do so will result in the suspension of payments 

pending receipt of the required information. 

8.  Review 

8.1 Annual re-assessment of each case will take place on the anniversary of the 

date that the SGO is granted, however, a change in the applicant’s financial 

circumstances would prompt a further financial assessment within a 12 month 

period. In order to ensure this, the review documentation will be sent to the 

Special Guardian(s) 2 months prior to the due date. 

8.2 The Permanence Team will be responsible for diarising reviews in conjunction 

with finance. However, any changes that may be identified in the support 

package as a whole prior to the date of the annual financial review, which would 

have an impact on any financial support offered, should be forwarded to 

Permanence Team in order for a review to be undertaken if necessary prior to 

the annual anniversary date.

8.3 Failure to submit a completed assessment or review may result in allowances 

being suspended. Special guardians will be notified of this writing. Payments 

will not be reinstated until the required documentation has been received by the 

Finance Assessment Team, the financial assessment has been completed and 

a positive outcome determined. A reasonable number of attempts will be made 

to establish contact with the carer to arrange for the assessment/ financial 

evidence to be provided by the carer in person or via email/ post before the 

payment is ceased.  ALL correspondence attempts MUST be clearly recorded 

on WCCIS with the required response by date expected by the carer.

Page 157



22

8.4 It is possible that the child related SGO allowance may reduce or cease 

following review or re-assessment.

8.5 The review of the allowance may also be undertaken at any time when the 

authority is notified by the special guardians of any significant change in their 

own, or the child’s, financial circumstances. 

8.6 Where changes are made by central government to benefits, this may require 

a review of this policy and procedure. No changes will be made to individual 

payments unless it is in accordance with updated policy and procedure and 

following a financial assessment review. 

Page 158



23

9. Termination of payments

9.1 Payment of all allowances terminate on the occurrence of the earliest of the 

following events: 

• The Special Guardianship Order has ceased to have effect (e.g. 

because the child has attained the age of 18) or has been discharged or 

varied by the court. 

• The child ceases to permanently reside with the Special Guardian\s (or, 

in a case where there are two or more Special Guardians, the child 

ceases to live with any of them). 

• The death of the child about whom the Order relates.

• The child ceases full time education i.e. between 16 and 18 years and 

commences employment. The education maintenance allowance and 

government training schemes for young people between the ages of 16 

and 18 will not be included as income for the SGO allowance. The 

Permanence Team will contact the applicant(s) during August each year 

following the child’s 16th birthday to obtain confirmation of the child’s 

educational status, the evidence will need to be provided within a stated 

number of weeks of the young person commencing their education/ 

placement in the September term (copies of their college I.D, etc. or 

written letter can be emailed/ posted/ shown to the allocated worker).

• The young person qualifies for Income Support or jobseekers allowance 

in his/her own right 

• The applicant(s) refusing to submit the information that is required for a 

financial re-assessment to be undertaken

Page 159



24

9.2 As a single financial assessment is undertaken, incorporating all children 

placed with the applicant(s) under any Court Order, the termination of any 

single Order will terminate the payment of all allowances and will require a re-

assessment in respect of the remaining children placed with the applicant(s). 

This re-assessment will initially be based on information provided during the 

most recent reassessment until a full re-assessment can be undertaken for the 

remaining children.

9.3 Where a supplementary allowance has been granted to aid the transition from 

foster carer to Special Guardian, any such payment will terminate after two 

years, unless exceptional circumstances have been agreed by the Head of 

Service. In these cases, the payment will cease on the predetermined date 

outlined in the SGO Support Plan. Unless any of the above apply (9.1).

Page 160



25

Declaration of
Financial Circumstances
      Special Guardianship

Reference:

Name of 1st Applicant: ________________________________________ (Mr/Mrs/Miss/Other) 

Date of birth: _________________________

Name of 2nd Applicant: ________________________________________ (Mr/Mrs/Miss/Other) 
                                                                                                          
Date of birth: _________________________

Home Address: 
_________________________________________________________________

Home Telephone Number: 
________________________________________________________

Daytime Telephone Number: 
______________________________________________________

1. Other Occupants in the Household

Name Date of Birth
Relationship to 

Applicant/s
(Birth child, foster 

child, adopted, etc)

Full Time 
Education
Yes / No

SA_FINDEC

Page 161



26

2a. Details of Earnings (Employment)

1st Applicant 2nd Applicant

Name: Name:

Nature of 
Employment:

Nature of 
Employment:

Name of 
Employer:

Name of 
Employer:

Address of 
Employer:

Address of 
Employer:

Average Gross 
Earnings:

Average Gross 
Earnings:

Average Net 
Earnings:
(after deductions)

Average Net 
Earnings:
(after 
deductions)

You will need to provide copies of payslips for 3 months 
(or 12 weeks if paid weekly)

2b. Details of Earnings (Self Employed)

Applicant 
Name:
Nature of 
Business:
Business 
Address:
Postcode:

You will need to supply a copy of the figures submitted to the Tax Office for Tax 
Assessment together with any confirmation that these have been accepted

Page 162



27

3. Allowances, Pensions and Benefits

1st Applicant 2nd Applicant
Amount

£
* Delete as 

Appropriate
Amount

£
 *Delete as 

Appropriate

Income Support Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Jobseekers 
Allowance

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Working Tax 
Credit

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Child Tax Credit Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Pension Credit:
  Guarantee Credit 
–

      Savings Credit 
–

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly 

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly 

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Retirement 
Pension

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Occupational 
Pension 
(former 
employment)

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

DLA Care Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

DLA Mobility Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Attendance 
Allowance

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Incapacity Benefit Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Industrial Injuries Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Child Benefit
(own children)

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Child Maintenance 
Payments 
Received

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Other (please 
state)
_______________

_______________

_______________

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Wkly/fortnightly/4 
wkly

Page 163



28

4a. Interest/Income from savings and investments

Type of Income Received Amount
£

Frequency

Please provide copies of bank statements for the last 3 months 
for all accounts

4b. Any other income (fostering allowances are disregarded)

Type of Income Received Amount
£

Frequency

 
5. Any other income received from occupants in your home (e.g. children, other 

relatives, lodgers, children placed by other agencies for fostering or adoption)?

Name Date of Birth Relationship to 
Applicant

Amount
£

Frequency

Page 164



29

6. Your child’s income* (this could be your own or adopted children)

Child’s Name

Amount
£

Child’s Name

Amount
£

Child’s Name

Amount
£

Child’s Name

Amount
£

Child Benefit
DLA Care
DLA Mobility
Other 
(please state)

7. Expenses and Outgoings

Frequency Amount
£

Mortgage Payable

Mortgage Endowment

Rent (less any Housing Benefit received)

Council Tax (less any Council Tax Benefit 
received)

8a. Other Outgoings

Details Weekly Amount
£

Maintenance payments / 
Court Orders

Private pension contributions

National Insurance 
(if self employed)

Reasonable child care costs
(not included in the childcare 
element of Working Tax Credit)

Page 165



30

8b. Loan Repayments 

Lender (Bank, 
Building 

Society, etc)
Purpose of Loan Start 

Date
Loan Duration Amount

£

You will need to provide proof of any costs listed in section 7 & 8

9. Additional Information

10. Please read this declaration carefully before you sign and date it.

 I declare that the information I have given on this form is correct and complete.

 I understand that you will use the information I have given to work out if I am 
entitled to financial support. You can check some of the information with other 
council departments within Bridgend County Borough Council and with other 
councils. You may give some information to other council departments and 
government organisations as required by law.

 I know that I must let the Finance Non Residential Team of the council know 
immediately in writing about any changes in my circumstances which might affect 
the amount of support I receive.

 I understand that if I knowingly give false information, action may be taken 
against me to recover all of part of the financial support I have been paid.

Signature of 1st Applicant: ______________________________________ Date: 
____________

Signature of 2nd Applicant: ______________________________________ Date: 
____________

Page 166



31

How we collect and use information

 We will use the information we collect, both on this form and from supporting 
evidence you give us, to process your claim for a support allowance. Once we 
collect your information we may share it with other council departments to help 
provide a complete service to you.

 We may check information you (or anybody else) have provided with other 
information we hold. We may also get information from other bodies and 
organisations, or give information to them to check the accuracy of your 
information, to prevent or detect crime, to protect public funds in other ways or for 
reasons allowed by law.

 We will use your information in line with the General Data Protection Regulations 
2016 and the Data Protection Act 2018. We (Bridgend County Borough Council) 
are the data controller for the purposes of the Data Protection Act 2018.

 If you want to know more about what happens to the information that we hold 
about you and your rights and our obligations to you, the councils Fair Processing 
statement is available on the data protection pages of our website.

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Date of issue: 17 May 2021  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Special Guardianship 
Order Financial Policy  

 
 

 

 

 

Bridgend County Borough Council 

Consultation report 

 

Page 169

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


2 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Contents 

Contents .......................................................................................................................... 2 

1. Overview ...................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Introduction .................................................................................................................. 3 

3. Promotional tools and engagement methods ............................................................... 3 

4. Response rate .............................................................................................................. 4 

5. How effective was the consultation? ............................................................................ 4 

6. Headline figures ........................................................................................................... 4 

7. Question and analysis - consultation survey ................................................................ 5 

7.2 Survey questions........................................................................................................ 5 

7.2.1 Section one: Financial Support for Prospective Special Guardians ......................... 5 

7.2.2 Section two: The financial assessment process ...................................................... 6 

7.2.3 Section three: Required documentation for Prospective Special Guardians to apply 
for financial support .......................................................................................................... 7 

7.2.4 Section four: Applying the means test ..................................................................... 7 

7.2.5 Section five: Supplementary Allowance and exceptional circumstances ................. 8 

7.2.6 Exceptional Circumstances ..................................................................................... 8 

7.2.7 Section six: Special Guardian(s) responsibilities ..................................................... 9 

7.2.8 Section seven: Review .......................................................................................... 10 

7.2.9 Section eight: Termination of payments ................................................................ 10 

7.2.10 Section nine: Additional comments...................................................................... 11 

7.2.11 Equalities monitoring ........................................................................................... 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


3 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

1. Overview 

A public consultation on the Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy was undertaken 
over a twelve-week period from 15 February to 9 May 2021.   
 
The consultation received a total of two interactions from survey completions. This paper 
details the analysis associated with the consultation. 

2. Introduction 

The public survey was available to complete online through a link on the consultation page 
of the council’s website. Paper copies of the consultation were also made available which 
could be sent directly to residents upon request.  Surveys were available in standard and 
large print formats. Both were available in Welsh and English. The content of the page 
remains available online. 
 
In total, there were 32 questions that required a reply from respondents. Respondents could 
choose to answer all or some of the questions. All survey responses offered the option of 
anonymity. The council’s standard set of equalities monitoring questions were also included 
with the survey in line with recommended good practice for all public-facing surveys carried 
out by the council.   
 
Comments regarding the consultation were also invited via social media, letter, email and 
phone call.  

3. Promotional tools and engagement methods 

3.1 Promotional tools 
 
This section details the methods used to raise the profile of the consultation and encourage 
participation. 
 
3.1.1 Social media 

 

In December 2017 the council committed to managing its social media accounts bilingually. 
In addition to introducing Welsh language corporate Twitter and Facebook accounts at that 
time, it started posting bilingually across the remainder of its social media channels. 
 
The Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy Consultation was posted bilingually to 
the council’s corporate Facebook and Twitter channels throughout the consultation period 
to raise awareness of the consultation and to encourage citizens to share their views on the 
proposals. 
 
The council currently has 13,486 followers on its corporate Twitter accounts and 16,138 
followers on its Facebook pages. While content is most likely to be seen by these users, it 
is also displayed to users who are not connected to the accounts. 
 
During the consultation period, the local authority posted 14 times (7 English and 7 
Welsh) 2 Facebook post and 12 tweets.  This content reached 85,151 people 
generating 0 comments, 3 shares, 4 reactions and 149 clicks through to the 
consultation page on the local authority website. 
 

Page 171

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


4 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

3.1.2 govDelivery 

 

govDelivery is a new digital communications tool that has been implemented by the local 
authority in 2020 to send messages directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of 
their choice.  
 
There are currently 37,360 English language subscribers and 220 Welsh language 
subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Covid-19 update emails. The 
Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy Consultation was included in a Gov Delivery 
bulletin on 25-02-2021 this was opened 37,559 times with 16,667 unique opens, 30 
unique links clicks and 35 total link clicks. 
 
3.1.3 Media and publicity 
 
One main media release was issued to coincide with the start of the consultation in order to 
raise awareness and encourage participation. This was issued on 24 February. 
The consultation was also incorporated into a news round-up media release issued on 24 
February. 
The media release was featured at the media centre of the council’s website. 
 

4. Response rate  

In total, there were two interactions during the consultation. Both responses were received 
from the online survey.  

5. How effective was the consultation? 

The Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy consultation was conducted over a twelve 
week period during which time the consultation was promoted via press release, council 
social media and govDelivery. 

6. Headline figures 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy makes it clear what financial support is 
available and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines the financial assessment 
process and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 100% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines how the means test is 
applied. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines how supplementary 
allowances could be granted for a child previously fostered by the applicant and 50% 
of respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines when supplementary 
payments may be paid in exceptional circumstances and 50% of respondents stated 
it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines what responsibilities 
Special Guardians have with regard to informing the Permanence Team of any 
changes and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines the review process for 
financial assessments and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 

Page 172

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


5 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines why and when payments 
would end and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that the Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy is 
accessible i.e. written in plain language that is clear and easy to understand and 
50% of respondents stated it did not. 

 50% of respondents stated that something is missing from the Special Guardianship 
Orders Financial Policy that they would like to see included and 50% of respondents 
stated it did not. 

 

7. Question and analysis - consultation survey 

The consultation contained 32 questions covering the following sections: 

 

 Financial Support for Prospective Special Guardians 

 The financial assessment process 

 Required documentation for Prospective Special Guardians to apply for financial 
support 

 Applying the means test 

 Supplementary Allowance and exceptional circumstances 

 Exceptional circumstances  

 Special Guardian(s) responsibilities 

 Review 

 Termination of payments 

 Additional comments 
 

7.2 Survey questions  

7.2.1 Section one: Financial Support for Prospective Special Guardians 

7.2.1.1 Does the policy make it clear what financial support is available? 
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  
 

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the policy makes it clear what financial support is available 
and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 
 
7.2.1.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 
One comment was received to this question and is detailed in the table below. 

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

Page 173

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


6 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 

Comment Number 

I have been granted special guardianship for my granddaughter from a 
baby and she is now 9, I was told there was no financial help for me 
apart from child benefit. 

1 

 
 
7.2.1.3 Do you have any other comments on this section? 
One comment was received to this question and is detailed in the table below. 
 

Comment Number 

I really struggled and ending up in a divorce 1 

 

7.2.2 Section two: The financial assessment process 

7.2.2.1 Does the policy clearly outline the financial assessment process? 
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  
 

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines the financial assessment process 
and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 
 
7.2.2.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 
 
One comment was received to this question and is detailed in the table below. 
 

Comment Number 

Never had one 1 

 
 
7.2.2.3 Do you have any comments on the financial assessment process? 
One comment was received to this question and is detailed in the table below. 
 

Comment Number 

All I was asked how much I earn. 1 

 

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

Page 174

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


7 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

7.2.3 Section three: Required documentation for Prospective Special Guardians to 

apply for financial support 

7.2.3.1 Does the policy clearly outline the required documentation for different 
circumstances? 
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  
 

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines the required documentation for 
different circumstances and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 
 
7.2.3.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 
 
7.2.3.3 Do you have any comments on the required documentation for the financial 
assessment process? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 

7.2.4 Section four: Applying the means test 

7.2.4.1 Does the policy clearly outline how the means test is applied? 
 
A total of one respondent answered this question.  
 

 
 
100% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines how the means test is applied. 
 
7.2.4.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

1

0
0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (100%) No (0%)

Page 175

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


8 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

No comments were made in response to this question. 
 
7.2.4.3 Do you have any comments on how the means test is applied? 
 
One comment was received to this question and is detailed in the table below. 
 

Comment Number 

Cannot remember 1 

 

7.2.5 Section five: Supplementary Allowance and exceptional circumstances 

7.2.5.1 Does the policy clearly outline how supplementary allowances could be granted 
for a child previously fostered by the applicant?  
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  
 

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines how supplementary allowances 
could be granted for a child previously fostered by the applicant and 50% of respondents 
stated it did not. 
 
7.2.5.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 
 
One comment was received to this question and is detailed in the table below. 
 

Comment Number 

Like I said I never had any financial help after I was granted FG 1 

 
 
7.2.5.3 Do you have any comments on how supplementary allowances could be 
granted for a child previously fostered by the applicant? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question 

7.2.6 Exceptional Circumstances 

7.2.6.1 Does the policy clearly outline when supplementary payments may be paid in 
exceptional circumstances?  
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

Page 176

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


9 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines when supplementary payments 
may be paid in exceptional circumstances and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 
 
7.2.6.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question 
 
7.2.6.3 Do you have any comments on supplementary payments which may be paid 
in exceptional circumstances? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question 
 

7.2.7 Section six: Special Guardian(s) responsibilities 

7.2.7.1 Does the policy clearly outline what responsibilities Special Guardians have 
with regard to informing the Permanence Team of any changes?  
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  
 

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines what responsibilities Special 
Guardians have with regard to informing the Permanence Team of any changes and 50% 
of respondents stated it did not. 
 
7.2.7.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 
7.2.7.3 Do you have any comments on the responsibilities of Special Guardians on 
informing the Permanence Team of any changes? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

1 1

0

0.5

1

1.5

Yes (50%) No (50%)

Page 177

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


10 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

7.2.8 Section seven: Review 

7.2.8.1 Does the policy clearly outline the review process for financial assessments?  
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines the review process for financial 
assessments and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 
 
7.2.8.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 
7.2.8.3 Do you have any comments on the review process for financial assessments? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 

7.2.9 Section eight: Termination of payments 

7.2.9.1 Does the policy clearly outline why and when payments would end?  
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the policy clearly outlines why and when payments would 
end and 50% of respondents stated it did not. 
 
7.2.9.2 If you answered ‘no’, what information do you think is missing? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 
 
7.2.9.3 Do you have any comments on the termination of payments? 

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

Page 178

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


11 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

No comments were made in response to this question. 
 

7.2.10 Section nine: Additional comments 

7.2.10.1 Is the Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy accessible i.e. written in 
plain language that is clear and easy to understand? 
 
A total of two respondents answered this question.  

 
 
50% of respondents stated that the Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy is 
accessible i.e. written in plain language that is clear and easy to understand and 50% of 
respondents stated it did not. 
 
7.2.10.2 If you answered ‘no’, please tell what would improve the accessibility of the 
policy. 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 
7.2.10.3 Is there anything missing from the Special Guardianship Orders Financial 
Policy that you would like to see included? 
 

 
 
50% of respondents stated that something is missing from the Special Guardianship Orders 
Financial Policy that they would like to see included and 50% of respondents stated it did 
not. 
 
7.2.10.4 If you answered ‘yes’, please tell us what you think is missing. 
 
One comment was received to this question and is detailed in the table below. 
 

Comment Number 

Clear understanding, someone to make it all clear to people is needed. 1 
 
 

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

1 1

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Yes (50%) No (50%)

Page 179

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


12 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

7.2.10.5 Do you have any further comments on the Special Guardianship Orders 
Financial Policy? 
 
One comment was received to this question and is detailed in the table below. 
 

Comment Number 

No help for my granddaughter at all. 1 

 

7.2.11 Equalities monitoring 

7.2.11.1 How would these proposals affect you because of your: 
Gender, Age, Ethnicity, Disability, Sexuality, Religion / belief, Gender identity, 
Relationship status, Pregnancy, Preferred language? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 
7.2.11.2 We would like to know your views on the effects that the guidance would 
have on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for people to use Welsh 
and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than English. What effects do 
you think there would be? How could positive effects be increased, or negative 
effects be mitigated? 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 
7.2.11.3 Please also explain how you believe the guidance could be formulated or 
changed so as to have positive effects or increased positive effects on opportunities 
for people to use the Welsh language, and on treating the Welsh language no less 
favourably than the English language, and ensure there are no adverse effects on 
opportunities for people to use the Welsh language. 
 
No comments were made in response to this question. 
 

 
11.8  Summary  
 
Information from this consultation will be used to inform the development of the Special 
Guardianship Order Financial Policy. This report is to be shared with Cabinet in order to 
inform the SGO financial policy development.   
 

Page 180

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

WELSH PUBLIC LIBRARY STANDARDS 2019-2020

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet the Council’s performance against 
the Welsh Public Library Standards (WPLS) sixth framework for the period 2019-20.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county borough.

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

2.2 The Council has a statutory duty to provide a ‘comprehensive and efficient’ library 
service for the benefit of all residents of the County Borough.

3. Background

3.1 The provision of public library services in the United Kingdom was made a statutory 
service for local government as a result of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 
1964.  The legislation requires local authorities to provide a ‘comprehensive and 
efficient library service for persons desiring to make use thereof’.

3.2 The responsibility for overseeing the terms of the 1964 Act and how it is applied within 
Wales currently rests with the Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism who 
has a duty under section 1 of the Act “to superintend and promote the improvement 
of the public library services provided by local authorities, and to secure the proper 

Page 181

Agenda Item 8



discharge by local authorities of the functions in relation to libraries conferred upon 
them as library authorities by or under the 1964 Act”.

3.3 In order to assist discharging this responsibility, in 2002 the Welsh Government 
established a framework of standards for the management of local authority library 
services, by local authorities, the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) and 
other relevant bodies.  As part of this framework, new targets relating to library 
provision and performance are reviewed and set every three years.  One of the 
overall objectives of the standards is that libraries offer all the services and facilities 
listed as core entitlements within the framework with quality also being measured via 
a range of performance indicators and impact measures.

3.4 Since 2017 local authorities have commenced recording their performance against 
the sixth quality framework for Welsh libraries entitled ‘Connected and Ambitious 
Libraries’ and for the period 2017-2020.  Welsh Government in their publication ‘How 
good is your public library service?’ states “Libraries will not necessarily be able to 
achieve the top levels of performance in all areas, but are expected to achieve as 
many of the targets as possible and to seek improvements in those areas where 
performances are weaker.  Authorities should also compare their performances with 
others in Wales and share best practice in order to bring about improvements.”

3.5 On an annual basis, Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC), as the public library 
authority, is required to submit an annual Welsh Public Library Standards (WPLS) 
return for consideration by assessors.  A report is issued in turn by the Museums, 
Archives and Libraries Division (MALD) of the Welsh Government, who have 
responsibility for administering the framework.  The report produced represents the 
considered view of the assessors on the Council performance for the given year.

3.6 On 1st October 2015, BCBC transferred the operational management of a range of 
cultural services, including the library service, to the Awen Cultural Trust.  The 
statutory duty to provide the library service and report on its performance remains 
with the Council, but Awen, under the terms of the management agreement, provides 
the Council with the information required on performance in relation to the standards 
to satisfy itself that the service is meeting the desired outcomes. MALD identify that 
”The strategic vision of the Trust to; improve the literacy of people of all ages; support 
reading for pleasure and to enhance wellbeing is noted as reflecting the priorities and 
goals set out in several Welsh Government strategies including the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations Act”.  It should be noted that two libraries are operated by Halo 
Leisure at Ogmore Vale and Garw Valley with two others co-located in Halo run 
facilities at Bridgend Life Centre and Maesteg Sports Centre.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 Appendix 1 is the 2019-20 report from MALD in response to the library self-
assessment return against the sixth framework of Welsh Public Library Standards 
(2017-20). 

4.2 The overall assessment underlines the quality of the library service being delivered 
to the citizens of Bridgend County Borough by Awen as part of the partnership 
agreement with BCBC. ”Whilst Covid-19 restrictions remain challenging to all library 
services in Wales, staff resilience, professionalism and care for the community they 

Page 182



serve has been outstanding….The importance of the library as a physical place and 
the impact on the wellbeing of their customers through interaction with library staff 
cannot be underestimated”.

4.3 The 2019-20 report highlights that the service has continued to perform well, in 
particular relating to reducing barriers to access, investing in staff development and 
training and also partnership working with the community.  The short term impact of 
the temporary relocation of the Ty’r Ardd reference library is noted but also the 
forthcoming opportunities afforded by the redevelopment of Maesteg Town Hall. 
”Continued investment in library spaces is identified as central to the delivery of the 
strategy, with plans to continue to develop the layout and character of Maesteg Town 
Hall Library. The authority will continue to build on the home library service which 
should have a positive impact on isolated individuals and families”.

4.4 Where concerns have been raised they have been in relation to reductions relating 
to investment into book stock and materials per head of population although library 
usage is becoming more diverse including on-line resources, digital engagement and 
mobile provision and this has been highlighted during the Covid-19 pandemic.  MALD 
have recognised that Bridgend is one of 18 local authorities not meeting acquisition 
targets but that budgets are carefully planned and targeted to deliver on agreed 
strategic outcomes. ”There were no reported unstaffed opening hours, unplanned 
service closures, or missed library stops. The service reports that the home delivery 
service has been expanded and has resulted in additional capacity due to removing 
the mobile van and improving the house service to include carers and other 
vulnerable people”.

4.5 The MALD report explains that the library service in Bridgend now meets all of the 12 
core citizen entitlements in full. ”All service points provide a full range of support for 
well-being and social inclusion”.  During 2017-18 the public accountability measures 
for libraries in Wales changed from estimated library visits to levels of achievement 
in relation to quality indicators with quantifiable targets.

4.6 The evaluation by MALD identifies that of the 9 quality indicators which have targets 
Bridgend has achieved 6 quality indicators in full, 1 in part and failed to achieve 2 of 
the indicators.

4.7 The quality indicators not met relate to acquisitions or materials spend per capita 
(QI9) and also the amount of material budget or spend on Welsh language resources 
per capita (QI10) although the amounts invested are noted as having grown. ”There 
has been an increase in the expenditure on Welsh Language materials …there is a 
pleasing increase in Welsh book loans” Further details can be seen in section 2.2 of 
Appendix 1.

4.8 Although the reports provided by MALD have recognised the careful planning of 
resources by Awen, the availability of resources in future years could have a more 
negative impact if the overall position on making best use of resources is not fully 
considered. The partnership with Awen has delivered significant financial efficiencies 
since commencing in 2015 and in recent years.

4.9 The report identifies a series of positives, including an increase in library membership 
per 1000 residents, and a notable 25% increase in library book issues since 2018 for 
children and adults. ”A children’s survey, undertaken in March 2020 clearly 

Page 183



demonstrates the positive impact of the library service on the lives of children in the 
area. Bridgend have invested heavily in their IT facilities and continue to perform well 
in this area”.  The service is also one of only 4 in Wales to meet standards relating to 
levels of qualified staff. “Library staff have supported a number of different 
generations within the same family in obtaining information for their hobbies and 
pursuits. The important role that libraries play in the lives of their communities is 
emphasised and through this, the role of librarians as navigators through the world of 
information”.  The investment into ICT is noted as helping to meet community needs 
whilst the removal of library fines is helping to further reduce barriers to engagement. 
“Their innovative approach is praised, along with the high scores for customer 
satisfaction”.  Awen are identified as the lead regional partner for the ‘Books 4 U’ 
scheme with excellent evidence of impact demonstrated.

4.10 The aggregate annual opening hours of Bridgend libraries remain the highest in 
Wales and similarly for mobile stops which is positive. It is important that the means 
for accessing library services is kept under review given the diverse ways people 
want to access services including digital. The services rank first for customer 
satisfaction including choice of books, customer care and IT facilities but within a 
context where Bridgend is 17th for total expenditure, 14th for virtual visits, but 4th for 
active borrowers.  There is an opportunity as we emerge from the pandemic to review 
the best use of resources to provide a modern library service. “Bridgend has 
continued to see an increase in the number of active borrowers, alongside an 
increase in library membership. The positive impact of a variety of partnerships and 
the pro-active use of social media to engage new members has resulted in an 
increased level of children’s book issues which are now above the median level.”

4.11 It has previously been reported to Cabinet; in January 2018, that to meet the 
outcomes required by the Council, whilst reducing the Council management fee, the 
Awen Cultural Trust may need to review the methods of delivering the library service 
in a way that might not meet the short term requirements of the standards but will 
improve impact and support what customers want. This approach, established in 
2016/17 and approved by Cabinet, continues to provide a strategic focus for the 
development of the library service and to encourage an innovative response.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty
and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA) supports the promotion of two of the seven 
goals of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 within the County 

Page 184



Borough of Bridgend.  By promoting an environment that maximises people’s physical 
and mental wellbeing and by supporting children, young people, adults and their 
carers and families, to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, the 
wellbeing goals of a ‘healthier and more equal Bridgend’ and Wales are supported.

7.2 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people.

7.3 The Future Generations Commissioner for Wales has identified the importance of 
ensuring continued free access to libraries and museums to support local 
communities to access the variety of cultural opportunities and activities on offer to 
them in these spaces.  Awen have introduced the removal of library fines to support 
the building of better relationships with service users.

7.4 In the ‘Art of the Possible’ (2019) the Commissioner’s Office identifies that libraries 
are now acting as community hubs, hosting choirs, family activities, compare classes 
and social events.  They identify the opportunities that exist to implement simple 
changes such as encouraging staff to make use of their free library card and providing 
accessible information on what libraries offer.

8. Financial implications

8.1 There have been additional savings of £150,000 applicable to the management fee 
payable to Awen since 2019 which may impact on availability of services and 
accessibility for the public to library and related services.

8.2 The impact of the pandemic on future library operations and implications for service 
costs is yet to be fully known and it is important that the learning from the pandemic 
is captured to inform future planning and delivery.

9. Recommendations

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to:

 Consider and note the content of the report and Appendix 1 recognising a positive 
year of progress against the Welsh Public Library Standards;

 Note that a further report will be submitted to Cabinet on making best use of 
resources to support library operations linked to Covid-19 recovery planning, 
including future venue availability and alternative approaches to delivering services.

Claire Marchant
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING
June 2021

Contact officer: Andrew Thomas
Group Manager, Prevention and Wellbeing

Telephone: (01656) 642692

Page 185



Email: andrew.r.thomas@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Level 2, Angel Street, Bridgend. CF31 4WB

Background documents:

None

Page 186



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 1 Bridgend County Borough Council 

Welsh Public Library Standards 2017-2020:  
Bridgend (Awen Cultural Trust) 
 
Annual Assessment Report 2019/20  

This report has been prepared based on information provided in Bridgend’s annual return, 

case studies and narrative report submitted to the Culture and Sport Division of the Welsh 

Government.  

1 Executive summary  

Bridgend met all of the 12 core entitlements in full. 

Of the 9 quality indicators which have targets, Bridgend achieved 6 in full, 1 in part and did 

not achieve 2. 

Library services in Bridgend are delivered by Awen Cultural Trust on behalf of the local 

authority.  The service has continued to perform well in this final year of the sixth 

framework, particularly in reducing barriers to access for the community. A strong 

emphasis on library programmes, alongside staff development and training and continued 

partnership working with the local community has ensured that the service remains 

resilient and continues to meet the needs of the community.  

The opening of the new Maesteg Library offers an opportunity for further community 

engagement and the impact of this will be reported in 2021-22.  

 All service points provide a full range of support for well-being and social inclusion. 

Five case studies demonstrate the positive impact on a range of individuals from the 

community.  

 Bridgend has seen a substantial increase in new members this year, increasing from 

346 per 1000 population in 2018/19 to 377 in 2019/20. 

 Overall staff numbers have decreased slightly in 2019/20; while the target for staff per 

capita is not achieved, the service continues to meet the requirements in terms of 

numbers of qualified staff (one of only four services to do so).   

 Usage levels, in terms of adult and children’s book issues have increased with 

children’s book issues increasing by 25% since 2017/18.   

 Although PC provision has fallen, the upgraded software on public PCs and addition to 

Wi-Fi printing facilities ensures that community needs are met, resulting in a pleasing 

increase in customer satisfaction levels with the ICT provision. 

 Total revenue expenditure has fallen again and is below the median level.  However, 

aggregate annual opening hours remain the highest in Wales. 

2 Performance against the standards  

The standards framework comprises of core entitlements, quality indicators with targets, 

quality indicators with benchmarks and impact measures.  Section 2 summarises 

achievements against these areas.  A narrative assessment of the authority’s performance 

is provided in Section 3.  The assessment has been limited to some degree by the fact that 

local authorities were only asked to comment on any changes to the previous year’s 

return, alongside additional commentary on of partially/not met core entitlements.   

Page 187



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 2 Bridgend County Borough Council 

 

2.1 Core entitlements 

Bridgend continues to meet all 12 of the Core Entitlements in full.  There is a clear 

emphasis on accessibility and breaking down barriers, and a continued commitment to 

staff training, with a variety of staff receiving disability awareness training in a number of 

areas. Barriers have also been removed for library members with the removal of fines and 

the introduction of automatic renewals on materials.  Library membership has increased 

10% in 2019-20. There continues to be a strong emphasis on partnership working which 

shapes the training offered throughout the year.  There continues to be a strong emphasis 

on IT provision and tackling social exclusion.  The Service continues to be the lead partner 

for the regional Books4U Scheme. The return provided excellent evidence of impact with 

quotes from their user survey. 

2.2 Quality indicators with targets 

There are 16 quality indicators (QIs), of which ten have constituent targets. Due to the 

impact of Covid-19, three quality indicators have been removed for the 2019/20 reporting 

year, five, six and fifteen, of which number six had a constituent target. Of the nine 

remaining targets for 2019-20, Bridgend achieved 6 in full, 1 in part and did not achieve 2 

of the indicators. 

Page 188



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 3 Bridgend County Borough Council 

Quality Indicator Met?  

QI 3 Support for individual development:  Met in full 

a)     ICT support √  

b)     Information literacy and skills training √  

c)     E-government support √  

d)     Reader development √  

QI  4 (a) Support for health and well-being  Met in full 

i) Book Prescription Wales scheme √  

ii) Better with Books scheme √  

iii) Designated health & well-being collection √  

iv) Information about healthy lifestyles and 
behaviours 

√  

v) Signposting to health & well-being services √  

QI 7 Location of service points √ Met in full 

QI 9 Up-to-date and appropriate reading material  Not met 

Acquisitions per capita x  

or Materials spend per capita x  

QI 10 Welsh Language Resources  Not met 

% of material budget spent on Welsh x  

or Spend on Welsh per capita x  

QI 11 Online access:  Met in full 

a) i)     Public access to Internet √  

    ii)     Wi-Fi provision √  

QI 12 Supply of requests  Met in full 

a)     % of requests satisfied within 7 days √  

b)     % of requests satisfied within 15 days √  

QI 13 Staffing levels and qualifications:  Partially Met 

i)     Staff per capita x  

ii)     Qualified staff per capita √  

iii)     Head of service qualification/training √  

QI 16 Opening hours per capita √ Met in full 

 

Bridgend has maintained its performance in this third year of the sixth framework, with no 

significant change. 

2.3 Impact measures 

The framework includes three indicators aimed at assessing the impact of library use on 

people’s lives.  These indicators do not have targets, and authorities are only required to 

carry out user surveys for QI 1 once over the three-year period of the framework. 

However, this measure has been affected by Covid-19 and some authority plans to 

undertake a survey in the first quarter of 2020 were cancelled. The summary figures 

(lowest, median and highest) are therefore based on those authorities indicating they 

completed their user survey during framework 6.  Rankings reflect the numbers of 

authorities, where 1 is the highest scoring authority.  

Bridgend completed its adult and children’s user surveys in March, 2020. 

Page 189



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 4 Bridgend County Borough Council 

Performance indicator  Rank Lowest Median Highest 

QI 1 Making a difference      

b) % of young people who think that the library helps 

them learn and find things out:  
90% =11/19 60% 90% 97% 

e) % of adults who think that the library has made a 

difference to their lives: 
89% 9/19 41% 85% 99% 

 

Authorities are also asked to provide up to four case studies describing the impact which 

the library service has had on an individual or on a group of individuals during the year.    

Bridgend provided five such case studies, alongside wider feedback from users: 

 Booklink – Bridgend’s home delivery service.  This is a service which supports those 

individuals who are unable to visit the library.  This is a free service to members and 

provides a lifeline to those with a disability, health condition or illness. 

 Bounce and Rhyme – these sessions encourage children and families of all ages to 

join in a story and rhyme time session in the libraries.  These sessions help foster a 

love of books and reading.  These free sessions also have a positive effect on the 

mental health and wellbeing of children and parents. 

 Safe Space – library staff have supported a number of different generations within the 

same family in obtaining information for their hobbies and pursuits.  The important role 

that libraries play in the lives of their communities is emphasized and through this, the 

role of librarians as navigators through the world of information. 

 Mindfulness – this programme began in May 2019.  For one adult the mindfulness 

sessions have enabled her to restore her wellbeing, reduce stress and sleep better.   

 Dungeons and Dragons – library staff support table top role playing games.  This club 

is supporting social learning amongst young adults.  For one individual, attending 

these sessions has become a key part of her life, helping her to meet new people and 

develop new skills. 

2.4 Quality indicators and benchmarks 

Whilst Covid-19 restrictions remain challenging to all library services in Wales, staff 

resilience, professionalism and care for the community they serve has been outstanding. 

Although digital services have increased, we know from evidence provided that customers 

are missing their library services. They are missing the staff, browsing the shelves, IT 

provision, community spaces and groups such as knit and natter.  The importance of the 

library as a physical place and the impact on the wellbeing of their customers through 

interaction with library staff cannot be underestimated.  

The remaining indicators do not have targets, but allow services to monitor and benchmark 

their performance over time, in comparison with other authorities.  The following table 

summarises Bridgend’s position for 2019/20.  Ranks are included out of 22, where 1 is the 

highest, and 22 the lowest scoring authority, unless stated otherwise.  Indicators where 

fewer than 22 authorities supplied data are those where relevant data was not available to 

some authorities.  Figures from the second year of the sixth framework or relevant 

previous surveys have also been included for comparison. Indicators ‘per capita’ are 

calculated per 1,000 population unless otherwise noted. 

 

Page 190



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 5 Bridgend County Borough Council 

Performance indicator  Rank Lowest Median Highest 2018/19 

QI 1 Making a difference       [Framework 6] 

a) % of adults who think that using the 
library has helped them develop new skills 

66%  =13/18 25% 75% 94% 84% 

c) health and well-being 55%  16/19 38% 69% 96% 87% 

d) enjoyable, safe and inclusive 97%  =7/19 10% 92% 100% 99% 

QI 2 Customer satisfaction       [Framework 6] 

a) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ choice of books 99%  =1/18 78% 91% 99% n/a 

b) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ customer care 100%  =1/18 88% 97% 100% n/a 

c) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ IT facilities 99%  1/17 65% 85% 99% n/a 

d) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ overall 100%  1/18 85% 96% 100% n/a 

e) users aged 16 & under rating out of ten 9.3  =7/19 8.0 9.1 9.5 n/a 

QI 8 Library use1        

a) visits per capita 3546  16/22 2429 3987 6874 3637 

b) virtual visits per capita 677  14/22 239 909 2131 714 

c) active borrowers per capita 198  4/22 78 145 244 193 

QI 10 Welsh issues per capita2 660  11/22 311 680 1468 567 

QI 11 Online access        

b) Computers per 10,000 6  20/22 5 10 14 8 

c) % of available time used by the public 14%  22/22 14% 30% 64% 19% 

QI 14 Operational expenditure        

a) total expenditure per capita £9,311  17/22 £7,260 £12,448 £23,333 £9715 

b) % on staff, 70%  5/22 48% 61% 76% 69% 

% on information resources 16%  5/22 5% 13% 22% 20% 

% on equipment and buildings 1%  =20/22 0% 8% 21% 2% 

% on other operational costs 13%  =16/22 1% 18% 35% 9% 

c) capital expenditure per capita £184  12/22 £0 £1,597 £13,027 £486 

QI 16 Opening hours3        

(iii) a) % hours unplanned closure of static 
service points 

0.00% =1/22  0.00% 0.23% 3.96% 0.00% 

b) % mobile stops / home deliveries 
missed 

0.00% =1/22  0.00% 1.07% 5.41% 0.00% 

1 figures for co-located services are marked with an asterisk; performances for these services are likely to reflect higher footfall, and 

will not therefore be directly comparable with stand-alone library provision   2per 1,000 Welsh speaking resident population  

 3 Rankings here have been reversed, so that 1 is the lowest scoring (best performing) authority 

3 Analysis of performance 

The core entitlements and quality indicators can be divided into four key areas.  This 

section of the report outlines performance under these areas, and compares this 

performance with the first and second year of the sixth framework (2017/18 and 2018/19). 

3.1 Meeting customer needs (QI 1-5) i 

Bridgend completed its adult user survey for QI 1 and QI 2 in March 2020. Although there 

has been a decrease in the ratings for skills development, health and wellbeing and 

making a difference to people’s lives, an online only survey was piloted, which may have 

impacted on the results  as it made it more visible to a wider base of customers, and 

results tend to be lower than on paper/ in-person. Their innovative approach is praised, 

along with the high scores for elements of customer satisfaction.  Although 2019 saw the 

Page 191



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 6 Bridgend County Borough Council 

relocation of Ty’r Ardd in Bridgend a full range of support for individual development, and 

for health and well-being is evidenced through user comments. A children’s survey, 

undertaken in March 2020 clearly demonstrates the positive impact of the library service 

on the lives of children in the area.  Bridgend have invested heavily in their IT facilities and 

continue to perform well in this area.   

3.2 Access and use (QI 6-8) ii 

Library usage has also been impacted by the closure of all libraries on March 20th 2020 

due to Covid-19.  The relocation of Ty’r Ardd in October 2019 has also impacted visitor 

figures, which have seen a decrease of just under 2% since the last reporting year.  

Bridgend continues to meet the target for easy access to service points.  Bridgend has 

continued to see an increase in the number of active borrowers, alongside an increase in 

library membership. The positive impact of a variety of partnerships and the pro-active use 

of social media to engage new members has resulted in an increased level of children’s 

book issues, which are now above the median level. Children’s book issues have 

increased by 44% since 2017/18 and adult book issues are also up. There has continued 

to be a strong increase in e-resources usage.   

3.3 Facilities and services (QI 9-12)iii 

The materials budget has decreased by just over 25% in 2019/20 20 compared with the 

previous year, however, the figure for overall acquisitions has risen, although neither target 

for acquisitions is met.  Bridgend is one of seventeen authorities who have not met the 

acquisitions target (QI 9) in 2019/20. The Service notes that due to the impact of Covid-19, 

stock ordered in February and March did not arrive before Libraries closed and as a result, 

this stock, is not included. The percentage of materials expenditure for children has 

remained the same at 15%, which is line with Bridgend’s Library Strategy. There has been 

an increase in the expenditure on Welsh language materials, and although this remains 

below target levels there is a pleasing increase in Welsh book loans. The closure of Ty'r 

Ardd and its IT Suite has impacted on the number of PCs and PC provision has fallen, but 

this has not impacted negatively on the service.  All public PCs have been upgraded to 

Windows 10, alongside WiFi/Bluetooth printers.  Performance in relation to supply of 

requests continues to improve, with both targets met. 

3.4 Expertise and capacity (QI 13-16) iv 

Due to Covid-19, QI 15 was removed for the 2019/20 reporting year, alongside training 

and volunteer hours.  Overall staff numbers have decreased slightly in 2019/20 and it is 

noted that this is as a result of the closure of Ty’r Ardd and a re-structure at management 

level. The overall target for staff per capita is not achieved, although is now at the median 

level. The total number of staff identified as holding recognised qualifications has remained 

the same and is one of the highest in Wales.  

Total revenue expenditure has fallen slightly on 2018/19 and has decreased by 7% since 

2017/18.  Expenditure per capita remains below the median level. Aggregate annual 

opening hours have broadly been maintained and the average per capita is still the highest 

in Wales. There were no reported unstaffed opening hours, unplanned service closures, or 

missed mobile library stops.  The service reports that the home delivery service has been 

Page 192



Annual Assessment Report 2019/20 7 Bridgend County Borough Council 

expanded and has resulted in additional capacity due to removing the mobile van and 

improving the house service to include carers and other vulnerable people.  

4 Strategic context  

As part of the return authorities are asked to report on how the library service is 

contributing to wider Welsh Government priorities and strategic goals.  The strategic vision 

of the Trust to: improve the literacy of people of all ages; support reading for pleasure and 

to enhance wellbeing is noted as reflecting the priorities and goals set out in several Welsh 

Government strategies including The Well-being of Future Generations Act.  

The service engages with local communities to ensure that its activity and engagement 

programme successfully aligns with the needs of the community. Specific examples are 

given of how service priorities align with wider strategic policies, notably in promoting well-

being, education and social inclusion.  

5 Future direction 

Reporting on the authority’s future direction and plans for the library service over the 

following year, it is noted that the wider vision for the service is laid out in the Library Plan 

(2017-22) which has now been published. 

 

Continued investment in library spaces is identified as central to the delivery of the 

strategy, with plans to continue to develop the layout and character of Maesteg Town Hall 

Library.  The authority will continue to build on the home library service which should have 

a positive impact on isolated individuals and families.  

 

The service intends to build on its successful programme of collaboration with local 

schools, alongside the continued investment in the winter and summer reading challenges.   

6 Conclusion 

Library services in Bridgend are delivered by Awen Cultural Trust on behalf of the local 

authority.  The service has continued to perform well in this final year of the sixth 

framework, particularly in reducing barriers to access for the community. A strong 

emphasis on library programmes, alongside staff development and training and continued  

partnership working with the local community has ensured that the service remains 

resilient and continues to meet the needs of the community. The opening of the new 

Maesteg Library offers an opportunity for further community engagement and the impact of 

this will be reported in 2021-22.  

 

i Due to Covid-19, local authorities were only asked to report any change in provision since the last reporting year for QI 3&4. 
ii Due to Covid-19, QI 5&6 were removed for the 2019/20 reporting year.   
iii E-resources purchased through centrally-funded subscriptions have been included in the acquisitions figures for QI 9 in 2019/20.  
Each authority has added 201 to their total acquisitions from centrally funded subscriptions. CIPFA Statistics Returns continue to 
include figures for centrally-procured resources. 
iv Due to Covid-19, QI 15 was removed for the 2019/20 reporting year, alongside training and volunteer hours.   

  

                                                           

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES  

CAERAU HEAT SCHEME

1. Purpose of report

1.1. The purpose of this report is update Cabinet on recent activity in relation to the 
Caerau Heat Scheme, to seek a decision on the way forward and seek authority 
to submit a re-profiled scheme to the Welsh European Funding Office (WEFO).

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 
priorities 

2.1. This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to 
make the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, 
work, study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on 
raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county 
borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, 
physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively 
and efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources 
throughout the community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-
being objectives.

3. Background 

3.1. The Caerau Heat Scheme was established as a highly innovative project that 
proposed to extract heat from water contained within flooded former coal mine 
workings, to provide an energy resource for properties within Caerau.  The 
water would be transported via a network of pipes to the properties with the 
temperature being boosted to the residents’ required level by a ground source 
heat pump.

3.2 A report to Cabinet in January 2021 provided an update on the progress made 
in 2020 and the challenges (particularly financial), faced by the scheme at that 
time. 

3.3 It was agreed that an Options Appraisal would be undertaken to determine the 
viability and suitability of alternative delivery methods for delivering a low 

Page 195

Agenda Item 9



carbon heat scheme in Caerau that meets the requirements of the approved 
ERDF funding.  The recommendations of the Options Appraisal would then be 
reported back to Cabinet.

3.4 The scheme has a series of decision gateways, which form critical points where 
research undertaken to that point is used to determine whether the proposed 
method of delivery can, and should, proceed. At each stage the technical 
feasibility and financial viability are considered. 

3.5 Table 1 below shows these decision gateways, with their original estimated and 
revised dates.  It also shows scheme outputs and outcomes that will be 
available in the event of the project being closed down at any one of the 
decision gates. 

Table 1 – Decision Gateways

Decision 
Gateway

Original 
date

Revised 
dates

Project outputs/outcomes

1 Mine water 
investigations do 
not show sufficient 
mine water 
available for the 
scheme to 
proceed.

Early 
2020

Late 2021
Reason - Cost 
uncertainty 
and 
announcement 
by Coal 
Authority 
caused delay.

 Developed techno-
economic model for a 
district heating scheme 
using heat pumps and 
mine water.

 Experience of consumer 
consultation for a 
domestic district heating 
scheme.

 Learning about the use 
of mine water as a heat 
source.

2 Detailed Project 
Development and 
Outline Business 
Case do not 
demonstrate that 
the project is 
viable.

Early 
2020

Mid /late 2021
Reason -
Process 
lengthened 
due to further 
techno-
economic 
modelling, 
scrutiny of the 
model by a 
third party and 
alternative 
options 
appraisal.

As above, and:
 Detailed Project 

Development for a 
district heating scheme 
using heat pumps and 
mine water.

Page 196



3 It is not possible to 
award a contract to 
a DBOM 
contractor (e.g. 
due to the tenders 
not being credible, 
or no tenders 
being received or 
negotiations with 
contractors being 
unsuccessful).

Early 
2021

Late 2021
Reason – 
Sequencing 
impacted by 
delays 
outlined 
above.

As above, and:
 Learnings from the 

tendering process

4 Insufficient 
households sign 
up to the scheme 
despite having 
previously 
indicated a 
willingness to do 
so.

2022 2022 As above, and:
Learnings from the marketing of 
heat contracts to homes 
exercise. 

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1.    An Options Appraisal of the proposed alternative approaches to delivery has 
been completed based on information available at the time and reported to the 
BCBC Decarbonisation 2030 Programme Board which oversees the scheme in 
March 2021. 

4.2 The options appraisal reviewed the following options:

(a) Continue with the original scope of the project, seeking funder agreement to 
incur higher than anticipated costs relating to borehole investigation work and 
work to identify further funding to increase the overall budget of the project.  

(b) Continue with investigations into the delivery of a smaller mine water led 
scheme that would serve only the primary school as a demonstrator and not 
serve homes

(c) Seek an alternative source of heat for a scheme to serve homes, ceasing 
investigations into the use of mine water

(d) Deliver a blended solution of a demonstrator mine water scheme, serving the 
school, and a heat network with an alternative heat source serving homes

(e) Seek to provide home energy improvements on a home by home basis with no 
on-going supply arrangements

(f) End the scheme and cease all project development work.

4.3 Each of these options was then considered against the following criteria:

- Project cost - The degree to which options are considered affordable within the 
overall budget currently remaining available for the project.  

- Financial viability - The degree to which options deliver revenue sufficient 
enough to cover operating and replacement costs in the long-term

Page 197



- Timescale - The degree to which options are considered to be deliverable within 
the current agreed end date of the ERDF funded project, June 2023.  

- Compliance - The degree to which options are considered to comply with all 
current relevant regulations, policies and procedures

- Funder requirements - The degree to which options are considered to be within 
the scope of ‘community energy’ as required by WEFO and state aid 
compliance.

4.4 A high level review was undertaken based on the information available as the 
basis for consideration by the Decarbonisation 2030 Programme Board.  Based 
on the options appraisal, it is recommended to Cabinet that option (d) under 
section 4.2 above should be pursued and presented via a re-profile to WEFO. 
Option (d) is a ‘blended option’, comprising a set of small-scale low-carbon heat 
demonstrator projects, each developed to suit a different setting based on 
variables such as type of customer, housing density and proximity to resources.  
The package is proposed to be made up of the following elements:

 Caerau Primary School - delivering a small mine water led scheme serving 
Caerau Primary School as a demonstrator and not including connections to 
homes.

 Tudor Estate - connecting homes at the Tudor Estate to a small-scale heat 
pump based District Heat Network (DHN).

 A private wire power supply (electricity) from Llynfi Afan Renewable Energy 
Park - providing low-cost, low-carbon power. 

4.5 This approach has been discussed with WEFO and it was well received with 
the view that this way forward remains within the spirit of community energy, as 
originally approved and would be considered as a suitable basis for a re-profile 
proposal from BCBC for WEFO consideration.

4.6 A summary of the headline financial information for the re-profile project delivery 
budget exercise is outlined below in section 8 of this report.  

4.7 Subject to Cabinet’s approval, the essential next steps in relation to the delivery 
of the small-scale mine water heat demonstrator are to secure the necessary 
agreements from the Coal Authority to progress with mine water exploration at 
the demonstrator site and to put in place all necessary licenses, permissions 
and consents to do so within the target timeframe of Autumn 2021.  The scheme 
will also be subject to a ‘design freeze’ in June 2021, in order to deliver the 
scheme by the ERDF deadline of June 2023. Therefore, any future changes in 
relation to the delivery model of the scheme will be restricted due to time and 
certain options may not be deliverable if insufficient time remains.

4.8 Should the proposed way forward in section 4.4 be approved by Cabinet and 
then agreed by WEFO, it will enable further, more detailed information to 
determine any further changes that may be required to the delivery model, the 
delivery budget, the future financial model and the overall risk profile of the 
scheme.  If significant future changes are required then as considered 
appropriate further reports will be presented to Cabinet.  

Page 198



5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1. There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure 
rules.

6.  Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1. An initial EIA screening has identified that there would be no negative impact 
on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-economic 
disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not necessary to 
carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template 
has been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment 
relating to the five ways of working is below: 

Long Term: The project will provide a key opportunity to deliver decarbonised 
heat system that support efforts through an innovation project to meet the UK 
decarbonisation targets.

Prevention: The project will provide an opportunity for those impacted in the 
community of Caerau to benefit from the decarbonisation transition and ensure 
that solutions are designed and available for everyone and not just the ability 
to pay market.

Integration: The project will offer carbon reductions, reduced fuel bills and 
create economic opportunities through a clearly identified value chain.

Collaboration: BCBC is working with both UK Government and Welsh 
Government as well as private sector partners to deliver the decarbonisation 
agenda.

Involvement: The project involves working with a variety of stakeholders to 
deliver sustainable solutions around the delivery of decarbonised heat for 
residents.

8. Financial Implications 

8.1. The development of the Caerau Mine Water Heat Scheme is currently a fully 
funded innovation and demonstrator scheme up to the point of commencement 
of heat and power delivery. The total scheme cost, as approved by the Welsh 
European Funding Office (WEFO), is currently £9,732,922, split between 
capital and revenue as set out in the table below.  This also shows the funding 
sources for the scheme.

Page 199



Caerau Heat 
Scheme

Total cost

£

ERDF grant 
approved

£

Other 
grants & 

service 
charges

£

BCBC 
contribution

£
Capital 7,827,791 6,293,463 366,218 1,168,110
Revenue 1,905,131 1,002,782 529,308 373,041
Total 9,732,922 7,296,245 895,526 1,541,151

8.2 The current proposed revised scheme costs for the 2021 re-profile are outlined 
below:

Caerau Heat 
Scheme

Total cost

£

ERDF grant 
approved

£

Other 
grants & 

service 
charges

£

BCBC 
contribution

£
Capital 7,660,179 6,125,850 366,219 1,168,110
Revenue 2,064,074 1,118,813 576,652 368,609

Total 9,724,253 7,244,663 942,871 1,536,719

8.3 Other external funding to the scheme includes Welsh Government (WG) grant 
of £301,265 and DECC/Scottish Power grants of £141,605. The approved 
scheme also included anticipated charges for the supply of heat of £452,656.  
It is proposed that this be replaced with £500,000 revenue funding from Welsh 
Government under the Small Business Research Initiative (SBRI).  Despite 
receiving informal email communication from WG indicating that the SBRI 
funding might be used for the Caerau Heat Scheme, the Council still awaits 
final formal written approval from WG along with advice from Pinsent Masons 
that we can accept and use this funding for the Careau Heat Scheme. This will 
need to be sought before the proposed re-profile is submitted to WEFO and the 
final decision about its eligibility will be made by WEFO.  If WEFO do not 
consider it acceptable then there will be a shortfall in match funding which will 
reduce the grant available and thereby the overall project budget.  If this 
situation arises then a further review of delivery options would be required and 
a further report to Cabinet should an alternative way forward be required.  

8.4 The £1,168,110 BCBC capital contribution relates to expenditure already 
incurred and funded and retrospectively agreed by WEFO as part of the 
scheme.  WEFO reimbursed these costs and, as a result, the Council was able 
to put aside this funding to contribute towards the future capital costs of the 
scheme.  The £368,609 BCBC revenue contribution relates to existing budgets 
already secured and allocated towards the support of the scheme.

8.5 In addition to the costs incurred to date, the project currently has a number of 
live contracts, with remaining costs outstanding of £569,542.  These are:

o Detailed Project Design (Nordic Heat) £211,109
o Legal Advisor (Pinsent Mason) £21,274

Page 200



o Private Wire Study (Challoch Energy) £7,596
o Strategic Advisor (Adwill Assoc.) £29,720
o Comfort as a Service (Energy Systems Catapult) £299,843

8.6 If Cabinet approves pursuing option (d) and WEFO accept the re-profile 
proposal as outlined in section 4.4, this will require a review of the contracts 
outlined in section 8.5 to determine whether any variation may be required, 
which may change the contract values.  This will not be known until such time 
as the outcome of the reprofile to WEFO is completed.

8.7 Acceptance of the re-profile by WEFO will provide BCBC with confirmation that 
costs to develop the scheme further are considered as eligible, such as the 
specific mine water investigations linked to the demonstrator.  As the proposal 
in section 4.4 is recommending a blended approach, this additional work needs 
to take place before the revenue implications of the scheme on an ongoing 
basis are finalised and available for consideration.  The results of these 
investigations and detailed financial modelling that will result will provide greater 
certainty in relation to capital costs, deliverability by June 2023 and on-going 
revenue implications post-completion. 

8.8 Whilst certainty as regards on-going revenue implications post-completion 
requires further analysis, the current models are suggesting that the schemes 
will run at a shortfall.  Careful consideration of the ongoing revenue implications 
will need to be undertaken to identify whether the operational aspect of the 
scheme can at least deliver at a breakeven position.  The delivery model and 
in particular the financial implications of this will be subject of a further report to 
Cabinet.

9. Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 Approves pursuing the recommended way forward for the Caerau Heat 
Scheme as outlined in section 4.4 of this Report, being the delivery of a blended 
solution of a demonstrator mine water scheme, serving Caerau Primary school, 
a district heat network with an alternative heat source serving homes on the 
Tudor Estate and a private wire power supply from Llynfi Afan Renewable 
Energy Park;

 Delegates authority to the Corporate Director Communities, in consultation with 
the Chief Officer - Legal, HR & Regulatory Services and the Interim Chief 
Officer, Finance, Performance and Change, to submit the 2021 Scheme re-
profile to WEFO based on the recommended way forward outlined in section 
4.4 and the financial information in section 8.2; and,

 If the 2021 Scheme re-profile is accepted by WEFO, delegates authority to the 
Interim Chief Officer, Finance, Performance and Change to sign and accept the 
revised ERDF grant offer and funding letter from WEFO in consultation with the 
Corporate Director Communities and the Chief Officer - Legal, HR & Regulatory 
Services .

Page 201



Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director, Communities 
22nd June 2021

Contact Officer: Ieuan Sherwood
Group Manager: Economy, Natural Resources and 
Sustainability  

Telephone: (01656) 815334

E-mail: Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, 
Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:

None

Page 202

mailto:Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

      22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES 

TRAFFIC SIGNALS MANAGEMENT

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek cabinet approval to suspend the relevant 
Contract Procurement Rules and to enter into a service level agreement with 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (RCTCBC) for the management of 
the council’s traffic signals. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

3. Background

3.1 The monitoring and management of traffic signals has previously been managed 
through the Joint Venture consultancy arrangement between Capita Redstart, 
Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC), Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council (RCTCBC) and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC). 

3.2   The service monitors traffic signals and, if faults/failures are detected, arranges for 
attendance by a separately procured maintenance contractor. 

3.3 RCTCBC have taken ‘in-house’ the management of traffic signals, which resulted 
in a TUPE of staff from the Joint Venture to RCTCBC from March 2021. As a 
result the Joint Venture no longer has the capability to continue to provide this 
monitoring service for BCBC.  

 3.4 RCTCBC have offered BCBC the opportunity, via a service level agreement, to 
have BCBC traffic signals monitored by RCTCBC with no detriment in service 
level or cost of service which is circa £35,000 per annum.  

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 Traffic signals provide measures for both the expeditious and safe movement of 
vehicles and pedestrians. Provision of a service to monitor and adjust the 

Page 203

Agenda Item 10



operation of our traffic signals is prudent for both public safety and effective 
management of the road network.  

4.2 Consideration has been given to our own in-house provision and this suggested 
that apart from the requisite monitoring software and equipment there would also 
be the requirement for additional staffing to carry out the monitoring and technical 
expertise in the adjustment of traffic signals. These factors alone suggest costs in 
excess of £35,000.  

4.3 Thus an arrangement with RCTCBC appears appropriate and one which provides 
benefits of both working with a local authority whose road network adjoins with 
ours as well as the shared benefit of the existing local knowledge of traffic signals 
and the safety implications of such systems within our valley communities.  An 
alternative provider would not have this existing local knowledge of our traffic 
signals and a level of increased risk that may be inherent to public safety.  It is the 
professional opinion of officers that the proposed agreement with RCTCBC offers 
excellent value for money that would be unlikely to be improved upon by going out 
to tender and due to the inherent familiarity with our traffic systems is optimal with 
regards to public safety. Given both the financial and safe working advantages this 
is considered the best option available.

 

4.4 It is therefore proposed that the council’s contract procedure rules are suspended 
and the Council enter into a service level agreement with RCTCBC for Traffic 
Signals Management. The current consideration is for a service level agreement 
which whilst not having a specific end date can be terminated without cause on 
31st March in any year by giving at least 12 months written notice.

4.5 Under the council’s Contract Procedure Rules, provision of services would 
normally be procured through a tendering process or obtaining of quotations and 
deviation from this procedure requires Cabinet approval to suspend the Contract 
Procedure Rules.   

4.7 Cabinet needs to be aware that by not complying with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules the Council is exposed to the risk of potential challenge from 
other providers of such specialist monitoring as we would be entering into an 
agreement without any competition which breaches the requirements of 
procurement legislation. 

4.8 Officers have considered the benefits of joint working with RCTCBC against the 
risks of not complying with the council’s Contract Procedure Rules, and believe on 
balance that a collaborative working arrangement with RCTCBC represents both 
good value, maximises public safety and is proposed as the preferential way 
forward. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 This report is requesting a suspension of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

Page 204



6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh 
Language. It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or 
proposal. 

7. Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template 
has been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment 
relating to the five ways of working is outlined below in respect of the proposal:

 Long-term
The intention is to provide monitoring of BCBC traffic signals that will 
benefit the travelling public. 

 Prevention
The provision of monitoring addresses risk on the highway network as the 
effective operation ensures safety for the travelling public which may 
otherwise see an adverse impact on communities. 

 Integration
The effective management of traffic signals benefits all modes of highway 
use including safety of pedestrians as well as the effective management of 
traffic such as cyclists, bus and motor vehicles  that provides benefit to the 
wellbeing and economy of the community.  

 Collaboration
The agreement is sought with another public body.

 Involvement
Issues surrounding use of traffic signals operation may arise from time to 
time from stakeholders, which would be considered through the monitoring 
provision.   

8. Financial implications

8.1 The costs of the traffic signal monitoring will be met from the highways direct 
services existing core revenue budget. 

9. Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 suspends the relevant parts of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules in 
respect of the requirements relating to the procurement of the provision of 
traffic signal monitoring which RCTCBC shall fulfil;

 delegate authority to the Corporate Director – Communities to approve the 
final terms of the service level agreement with RCTCBC and arrange  
execution  of the collaboration agreement on behalf of the Council, subject 

Page 205



to such delegated authority being exercised in consultation with the Chief 
Officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services and Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change. 

 

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director – Communities
June  2021

Contact Officer: Kevin Mulcahy 
Group Manager: Highways and Green Spaces

Telephone: (01656) 642535

E-mail: kevin.mulcahy@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, Angel
Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 206



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES

BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION MASTERPLAN AND CONSULTATION 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the development of the Bridgend 
Town Centre Masterplan and of the outcome of the public consultation process which 
concluded on 1st March 2021. 

1.2 Cabinet is also requested to agree the proposed next steps in approving the final 
plan.  

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives:-

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the county 
borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to 
ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions 
for all people in the county borough. 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – taking steps 
to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on BCBC and 
its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and enable 
them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help deliver to BCBC’s well-being objectives. 

3. Background

3.1     The Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan was commissioned in February 2020 with  
the purpose of it being a key strategic document to create a coherent basis for 
attracting investors and investment, delivering a comprehensive range of economic 
and regeneration projects and to support the Authority’s ability to secure future 
funding for the Town. 

Page 207

Agenda Item 11



3.2 Following a competitive tender process, BDP Consultants and a wider sub-consultant 
team consisting of Asbri Planning, Cooke and Arkwright and Phil Jones Associates 
were appointed by Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) to prepare a 
Regeneration Masterplan for, and on behalf of, BCBC for the Bridgend Town Centre.  

3.3 The previous Masterplan for the Town Centre was commissioned over 10 years ago, 
with the focus on the development of key retail sites. The landscape for towns has 
changed dramatically in the interim and continues to change at pace. Therefore the 
need for BCBC to identify new and sustainable ways to encourage and retain footfall, 
and how to direct investment in the Town, is vital.   

3.4 The Masterplan purpose is to be a dynamic long-term planning document that offers 
a theoretical layout, building on the Town’s many strengths, to guide future 
regeneration and growth. It also provides analysis, recommendations, and proposals 
for the Town Centre. It complements the Local Development Plan (LDP) and work 
within the LDP review, and also ensures that it accounts for national Planning Policy 
in its recommendations. 

3.5 As part of the development of the Masterplan, BCBC conducted an extensive 
stakeholder engagement process during the early stages of the project, the findings 
of which are represented / incorporated into the Masterplan. An invite was extended 
to numerous external stakeholders including traders, local organisations, landowners, 
Bridgend Town Council, other governmental authorities and relevant working groups. 
BDP subsequently conducted a visioning workshop with a range of external 
stakeholders.

3.6 Within BCBC there are many departments delivering or working on specific proposals 
impacting the Town. Equally there are government policies which guide and influence 
how development should take place. They both equally have to be brought together 
to understand how they can best positively impact on the Town. 

3.7 In December 2020 a draft Masterplan was finalised for public consultation.  The 
consultation started on 7th December 2020 and finished on 1st March 2021. 

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The Masterplan will remain draft until it is presented to Cabinet for final endorsement. 
The Executive Summary, shared as part of the consultation process can be found in 
Appendix A.

4.2 Officers will need to ensure that the policy section of the Masterplan aligns with the  
of the review of the new LDP.

4.3    The Masterplan vision brings together enterprise, employment, education, in-town 
living, shopping, culture, tourism and well-being within a historic setting. 

4.4     The Masterplan is deliberately ambitious, and sets out a series of deliverable and 
aspirational projects over the short, medium and long term. To achieve the overall 
vision and to regenerate Bridgend Town Centre over the next ten years, four broad 
themes have been identified:
 Growth;
 Resilience;

Page 208



 Well-being;
 Identity.

  4.5  Bridgend Town Centre is used for a variety of purposes which have enabled eight 
development zones to be formed, within which 23 relevant projects have been 
identified, plus a number of site wide projects. A map of the development zones can 
be seen in Appendix B. 

     
 The development zones (Zones A to H) include:
 The Railway Station Area (Zone A); 
 Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle (Zone B);
 The Retail Core (Zone C);
 Café and Cultural Quarter (Zone D);
 The Northern Gateway (Zone E);
 Riverside (Zone F);
 Newcastle (Zone G);
 Sunnyside (Zone H).

4.6     The Key overarching projects in the Masterplan are:

 A new entrance to the Railway Station from Tremains Road and Llynfi Lane;
 Improvements to the Northern Gateway - to create a legible and attractive 

gateway to the Town Centre;
 The relocation of Bridgend College to the Town Centre;
 The creation of a culture hub as an indoor event space;
 A new Town Square;
 More in-town living;
 Better access to the Town Centre
 Strengthening the retail core;
 Improvements in and along the Ogmore River.

4.7 The Masterplan also sets out the key drivers, partners and financial tools that are 
available to be able to bring many of the projects and aims to fruition. 

4.8 The consultation survey aimed to gain views from as many different people and 
businesses about what their preferred projects, options and priorities are. 

4.9 The consultation took place over a 12 week period from 7th December 2020 to 1st  
March 2021. 1402 interactions were received from a combination of survey 
completions, social media engagements, emails and letters and engagement 
sessions. Specific sessions were held with the Bridgend Youth Council, Penybont 
Primary School, the Town and Community Council Forum and local members. 

4.10 The consultation survey was available to complete through a variety of formats and 
was coordinated by the Consultation and Engagement Team. The primary electronic 
link was on the BCBC website. Paper copies of the consultation were made available 
via request, also including large print, standard, easy read and a youth version. All 
were available in both English and in Welsh. An explainer video was designed to help 
people understand what was being asked of them, with examples of questions that 
were included in the consultation. The video was featured on the BCBC webpage 
and BCBC’s social media channels, including Facebook, Twitter and Instagram.

Page 209



4.11 In total, there were 51 questions. All questions were optional, so participants could 
choose to answer all or some of the questions. However, comments and opinions 
were also welcomed via social media. The webpage received 1,549 total link clicks, 
with the explainer video being viewed 10,673 times. Appendix C is the full 
Consultation Report, detailing all responses to all questions. It also records all 
comments and themes of engagement from social media and the engagement 
sessions.  

4.12 Headline responses are as follows: 

 84% of respondents agreed with the overall vision for the Town Centre;
 76% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development Zone A – the 

Railway Station area;
 83% of respondents agreed with the proposal to make a new entrance to the station 

from Tremains road;
 71% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development Zone B – Brackla, 

Nolton and Oldcastle;
 65% of respondents agreed that moving part of the Bridgend College Campus and 

other educational institutions to the Town Centre would help to improve Town Centre 
footfall and improve its growth;

 75% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development Zone C – the retail 
core;

 79% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development Zone D – the café 
and cultural quarter;

 74% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development Zone E – the 
Northern Gateway;

 69% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development Zone F – 
Riverside;

 71% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development Zone G – 
Newcastle;

 77% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development Zone H – 
Sunnyside;

 61% of respondents stated that they would like to see Bridgend Town Centre as a 
place with more in-town living opportunities;

 44% of respondents selected partial reopening to traffic as the best option for access 
to Bridgend Town Centre, 35% selected for  the existing access to remain unchanged 
and 21% selected to reopen all roads to traffic;

 41% of respondents stated that the current provision for public transport to Bridgend 
Town Centre is adequate;

 75% of respondents stated that the Town Centre would benefit from improved active 
travel links;

 87% of respondents stated that they supported the creation of a new Town Square 
and more green space in the Town Centre;

 81% of respondents stated that they thought the Town suffered from anti-social 
behaviour;

 60% of respondents felt that there were aspects of the Masterplan that could help 
young people have a greater connection with their Town Centre;

 78% of respondents felt that the Town would benefit from a heritage trail linking up 
all the historic assets of the Town Centre.

Page 210



4.13 Officers have thoroughly reviewed the report and are confident in progressing to 
deliver against the projects and themes within the Masterplan. 

4.14 The vast majority of responses were positive and saw the opportunities presented as 
constructive for the Town Centre. Notable additional comments included the need to 
incorporate greater support to business and retail; the desire for greater information 
on the financing of proposals and the need to incorporate greater improvements 
around travel, highway infrastructure and parking. 

4.15 Officers are already delivering a variety of projects identified within the Masterplan  
and where relevant have begun work on bringing together key partners required to 
deliver against the plan. The first transformational project being driven by officers is 
the relocation of Bridgend College’s Learning and Skills Campus to Cheapside. This 
project will act as an anchor project for investment in the town, supporting further 
investment, redevelopment and driving footfall.  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

6.1 A full EIA has been carried out as part of the development of this strategy, policy or 
proposal. The full EIA considers the impact of the strategy, policy or proposal on the 
nine protected characteristics, the Socio-economic Duty and the use of the Welsh 
language. 

6.2 In summary the EIA assessment has determined that; 

 There would be would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the 
protected characteristics, no socio-economic disadvantage or negative impact on the 
use or promotion of the Welsh language.

 The projects emerging from the masterplan will provide the opportunity to ensure that 
all new development is designed to be better integrated into the environment and 
have been highlighted to ensure they are designed in line with the Equality Act 2010.

 For the first time the Masterplan has engaged with children and young people in its 
development, and will ensure that projects positively encourage their engagement in 
the detail development and design.

6.3 The full EIA is attached as Appendix D. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Wellbeing and Future Generations Act Assessment is attached in Appendix E. 

Page 211



7.2 The following is a summary of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
Assessment:  

 Long-term
The Masterplan provides a framework as to what opportunities there are to deliver 
meaningful short, medium and long term projects in the Town Centre. Whilst there is 
an imperative to support town centre activity in the short term when investing 
significant time and money in the infrastructure and redevelopment of sites and 
premises it has to be done with a long term vision and in collaboration with partners 
to ensure the investment is supporting future needs of those, living in, working in, and 
visiting the Town. 

 Prevention
Bridgend Town Centre has an economic, social and environmental role to play for the 
residents of Bridgend. It is BCBC’s responsibility to safeguard and enhance those 
roles and ensure that services, buildings and public realm are fit for purpose and 
inspiring. The decline in both the offer and infrastructure will continue to deteriorate if 
BCBC doesn’t intervene by setting out its ambitions and intentions for how to invest 
and revive the Town.  

 Integration
The overarching themes for the Masterplan have been set out as Growth, Resilience, 
Well-being and Identity. There are 10 key objectives which bring together economic, 
educational, social, environmental & cultural projects to create an integrated 
community within the Town. 

 Collaboration
The Masterplan has been developed in collaboration with strategic partners operating 
within the Town, including Police, Bridgend Town Council, local organisations, 
Bridgend College, social landlords and major landowners. Its objectives will need to 
be delivered in partnership with both the public and private sector.

 Involvement
The collaborative process of developing the Masterplan and the thorough 
consultation process has ensured that a diverse cross section of the population have 
been involved in putting it together and have considered its potential impact on the 
Town and the outcomes promoted. BCBC will require the leadership and engagement 
of all partners and stakeholders to deliver the various projects within the Masterplan.

8. Financial implications
 
8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising for BCBC from this report. All 

financial considerations will need to be considered on a project by project basis and 
further reports will be brought back to Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate.  

9. Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 Endorses the consultation results and confirms these results can be fed into the 
Consultation Note within the Masterplan document.  

Page 212



 Approves a review of the policy section within the Masterplan to ensure alignment 
with the new LDP. 

 Welcomes a future report to sign off the final document and receive an update of 
progress made on key projects. 

 
Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director – Communities  
11 June 2021

Contact officer: Delyth Webb 
Group Manager Strategic Regeneration 

Telephone: 01656 815207

Email: delyth.webb@bridgend.gov.uk
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 3WB

Background papers:

Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan full version

Page 213

file:///L:/Nicola%20Lewis/Bridgend%20Town%20Centre%20Master%20Plan/Work%20Programme/Final%20Draft/Final%20Draft%20January%202021%20-%205th%20draft/Bridgend%20Town%20Centre%20Masterplan-Final%20Draft%20Version.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
Execut ive  Summary 
October 2020

P
age 215



Picture Credits:

Bridgend County Borough Council

BDP

PJA

Whilst every effort has been made to contact copyright 
holders for their permission to reprint material, the publishers 
would be grateful to hear from any copyright holder who 
is not acknowledge here and will undertake to rectify any 
errors or omissions in future editions.

Document number: BTCM-BDP-XX-XX-RP-T-0005

P
age 216



This page is left blank intentionally.

P
age 217



Cabinet Member’s Foreword 

I am delighted to welcome you to the Bridgend Town Centre 

Masterplan.  

All across the UK, town centres are facing up to the 

considerable and complex challenges posed by the 

coronavirus pandemic, Brexit and ongoing changes in 

shopping patterns and how people now choose to use their 

local town centre areas.

This ambitious, exciting strategy seeks to ensure that 

Bridgend town centre is capable of meeting these 

challenges, and can develop and adapt to a rapidly changing 

environment as well as uncertain markets and emerging 

economic conditions. 

We want the masterplan to act as a catalyst for sustainable 

future growth while meeting the requirements and aspirations 

of the private, public and third sectors.

To support this, the plan offers a theoretical layout which 

helps guide development and regeneration, and uses a 

zoned approach to support applications for specific types 

of funding as well as the aims and objectives of the county 

borough’s new Local Development Plan. 

The masterplan encapsulates an informative and 

comprehensive strategy for increasing the number of people 

who shop, work, live, visit and enjoy the town centre, and 

seeks to improve retail opportunities, create new commercial 

office space, introduce new public realm works, and provide 

better transport facilities.

As a guiding document, it is designed to enable us to 

deliver our vision of a vibrant town centre community, one 

which reflects the goals and aspirations of the Well-Being 

of Future Generations (Wales) Act, and which harnesses 

the potential inherent within Bridgend for supporting an 

innovative, productive and sustainable community – one 

that ultimately contributes towards the long-term aims of a 

globally responsible and prosperous Wales.Councillor Charles Smith

Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration

4

P
age 218



Foreword from the Association of 
Town and City Management

Town centres and high streets everywhere are probably 

facing their most difficult period since the Second World 

War. 

 

The digital revolution means we are seeing innovation and 

change happen at a level unprecedented in human history.  

And the impact on consumer behaviour and business 

practices is there for all to see, with the digital economy 

producing a conveyer belt of new business models

 

To add to this disruption is a pandemic which means, for 

now, the traditional ways of trading face-to-face are not 

always possible meaning uncertainty in many sectors.

 

I recently participated in a global conference on high streets 

where the challenges for towns and cities across the world 

are same. It did not matter if it was a retailer in Sweden, a 

café in New Zealand, a restaurant in Canada, or a property 

owner in the US. The challenges were similar, and town 

centres are struggling to adapt.

 

But there is hope. Shared problems mean the potential for 

shared solutions. And the one solution which was universal 

to revitalising town centres was collaboration. Across the 

world there is the growing recognition for businesses, 

landlords, local government, educationalists and the civic 

community to come together. The willingness to engage in 

open dialogue and map a route forward together is often 

rewarded with the building blocks of a better future for the 

town centre. And this must be a starting point for Bridgend.

It is, like so many other town centres, the heart of the 

community and the foundation of the economy. The health of 

Bridgend town centre has implications for the wider region. 

Its worth the effort, especially as we all adapt to cope with a 

rapidly changing world. 

 

I encourage you all to work together, engage with this 

masterplan and begin a dialogue with colleagues across 

the town. It’s been sometime since my last trip to the town 

but, pandemic permitting, I hope to return soon to be part 

of the debate of creating a better tomorrow for the town of 

Bridgend.  

Ojay McDonald

Chief Executive Officer

Association of Town & City Management

5

P
age 219



Newbridge 
Fields

A473

A473

A40
61

to  M4 motorway

Swansea to Paddington 
railway line

Plan showing the town centre study area boundary and major transport 
infrastructure around Bridgend town centre.

Introduction
Bridgend (Pen-y-bont) is a historic town in South Wales, 

located equidistant between Cardiff and Swansea, Wales’ 

two biggest cities. Bridgend, situated on the Ogmore River, 

is approximately 5 kilometres upstream from the Bristol 

Channel and gets its name from the bridge built at a fording 

point of the river. The town itself benefits from excellent 

access by a variety of forms of transport. The M4 motorway 

runs close to Bridgend town with the A473 and A4061 

connecting the former to the town centre. The railway and 

bus stations are both within the town centre. The Office for 

National Statistics (ONS) estimates a population of 143,400 

in 2015 for Bridgend County Borough. Bridgend town centre 

accounts for approximately 33% of the County Borough’s 

population (around 47,000 people). 

The regeneration masterplan for Bridgend town centre 

outlines a vision for a liveable and vibrant community. It 

identifies a series of ambitious and deliverable projects for 

the next 10 years that will support future economic growth, 

and secure more benefits and opportunities for the County 

Borough. The projects are complemented by a robust 

action plan and delivery mechanism which provide strategic 

direction to town centre development. 

The masterplan will be used as a dynamic long-term 

planning document that will offer a theoretical layout to 

guide future regeneration and growth. It will provide analysis, 

recommendations, and proposals for the town centre. It 

will complement the BCBC Local Development Plan. It 

is a priority that the masterplan will be adopted as future 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG).  

Town Centre Study 
Area Boundary

Conservation Areas

Green Spaces

Main Roads 1

1

2

2

3

3

Bridgend Town Centre 
Conservation Area

Merthyr Mawr Road 
Conservation Area       

Newcastle Hill Conservation 
Area

A4063

Bridgend Town Centre Study Area
The town centre study area, which comprises the town centre, 

is less than 1 sqkm in area and contains three conservation 

areas. Large open spaces, including Newbridge Fields are 

located on the periphery of the town centre. The railway 

station and its adjacent area to the east is seen as a strategic 

site for development. The ‘A’ roads and the Ogmore River 

separate the town centre from its surroundings to the north 

and the west.

Bridgend railway station, a key transport hub and gateway to the town 
centre

O
gm

ore
 R

iv
er

6

P
age 220



Developing a Collaborative 
Masterplan with Stakeholders
As part of the development of the regeneration masterplan 

for Bridgend town centre, BCBC conducted an extensive 

stakeholder engagement process during the early stages 

of the project and the findings are represented within 

the masterplan. BCBC extended an invite to all external 

stakeholders, including local organisations, landowners, the 

Town Council, other governmental authorities and relevant 

working groups. 

Several key themes emerged from the stakeholder 

engagement and these are summarised below:

Placemaking & Identity 

The town should not try to compete with the neighbouring 

retail offer of Cardiff or Swansea and instead offer something 

different, building on the cultural offer of Bridgend and 

developing related leisure activities. Properties flanking the 

river should be redeveloped so that they open on to the river 

as well as the streetscape within the town centre.

Heritage & Conservation

Heritage is important to local people and could become the 

town centre’s unique selling point (USP). A focus on heritage 

would increase town centre footfall through tourism. This 

would strengthen Bridgend’s sense of identity and fit in with 

a desire to build on a cultural offering.

Regeneration & Development

Several sites around the town centre were identified 

as being in need of redevelopment. Some of these 

include:-

• Railway station and the surrounding area

• Wyndham Street 

• Cheapside (including the police station site and potential 

relocation of Bridgend College)  

• Brackla House

• Former Lorne Stewart site

• YMCA, Bridgend Driving Test Centre and Jobcentre Plus

• Wyndham House (key central location at heart of the 

town)

• Former post office site on Derwen Road  

• Llynfi Lane area to the north of the railway station

Shrinking Town Centre Retail

The problems facing the retail sector in Bridgend attracted 

many comments. The town centre is perceived as too big 

and lacking a focal point. There are a large number of empty 

retail units and some of the Rhiw Shopping centre units 

have been vacant for 18-20 years. To counter the falling 

demand retail units should be converted to residential use 

or alternative leisure use.

Increased Residential Living

People moving into the town centre needs to be central 

to the masterplan, enabling a more mixed economy Dunraven Place and the War Memorial, a listed structure, within the 
Bridgend Town Centre Conservation Area.

Image showing stakeholder feedback from the Visioning Workshop for 
Bridgend town centre masterplan, conducted on 11th March 2020 in 
the Civic Offices, Bridgend.

7

P
age 221



comprising retail and leisure. Living opportunities in the town 

centre should be increased to improve vibrancy. The Rhiw 

development is seen as a positive example of affordable 

housing in the town centre. 

improved especially between the two public transport 

nodes of the bus and railway station and better pedestrian 

links generally from the railway station.

Transport & Infrastructure

Access to the railway station from both sides of the track 

can be improved by prioritising non-car modes and 

implementing active travel routes, linking the surrounding 

residential areas to the town centre and its transport hubs. 

Improvements should include:

• Allow the station to be accessed from both sides of the  

 track

• Link the town centre to the Bridgend Industrial Estate

• Ensure that the station offers high-quality facilities to 

encourage access by active and sustainable travel 

including appropriate cycle storage facilities

• Some pedestrianisation not seen as successful such as 

Market Street, Dunraven Place and Queen Street

Flood Risk

The latest TAN 15 guidance on Development and Flood Risk  

is under review and should inform the masterplan when 

adopted. Potential development in Flood Zone C2 should 

proceed with caution and flood risk mitigation measures  for 

the development should be reviewed.

Bridgend bus station is a key transport hub and gateway to the town 
centre. Anti-social behaviour has been reported in its vicinity.

The Rhiw housing development on Rhiw Hill.

Safety 

Although serious crime is low, the town centre struggles 

with a perception of safety in terms of anti-social behaviour 

(ASB). Improving the perception of safety and mitigating any 

anti-social behaviour is necessary. Options for improvement 

that should be considered include:

• Improvements to multi-storey car parks.

• Night time crime, in terms of anti-social behaviour, is 

particularly an issue around the bus station.

• It is highly recommended to include the Designing 

out Crime officer early on in the design and planning 

process and ensure ‘Secure by Design’ measures are 

incorporated within town centre developments. 

• Flexible vehicular access within some streets of the town 

centre could help reduce ASB. Natural surveillance could 

be improved on some town centre streets.

• Elder Lane has had positive improvements in terms of 

safety on the street and the immediate area.

• Secure cycle storage is necessary in the town centre.

Increased Open Space & Public Realm

The perceived lack of a focal centre for activities is 

evident in the town centre. This is linked to the opinions 

that Bridgend lacks any large outdoor event space or 

congregation area in the town centre. The town centre needs 

green pockets / open spaces and trees which incorporate 

seating to sit and enjoy the surroundings. The railway station 

is seen as an unwelcome entrance to the town with buildings 

that ‘turn their back’ on the station. Further improvements 

could be made to enhance and promote walks along the 

river. 

Access, Permeability & Legibility

There were several comments that more could be done 

to improve the entrances to the town with permeable, 

legible and welcoming gateways. Legibility could be 

8

P
age 222



• The town centre primarily has low-rise buildings of 2-3 

storeys, providing an opportunity to create a landmark 

building. The Civic Offices, Rhiw housing development 

and Brackla House extend up-to 4-6 storeys forming a 

key part of the town centre skyline. 

Town Centre Study -  Key Findings 
and Considerations
A number of key findings from the town centre study 

conducted by BDP and the wider consultant team during 

March 2020 found that: 

• The elegant 2-3 storey, Georgian and the mid-Victorian 

buildings contribute to the positive architectural 

character of the town centre, but infill redevelopment, 

particularly on Market Street, Wyndham Street, Queen 

Street, Caroline Street and Derwen Road, detracts from 

the historic character of the area.

• The town centre comprises in-town living opportunities, 

such as the Rhiw housing development; key employment 

space at Tremains Business Park; amenities and 

community facilities; and the dominance of retail 

including two shopping centres: Rhiw Shopping Centre 

and Bridgend Shopping Centre. 

• The town centre also has a significant number of vacant 

properties in poor condition on Wyndham Street, Market 

Street and within the shopping centres. 

• The town centre has a range of quality office space 

provision, but availability is limited. Headline rents - 

£9.50-£12.50 are lower than out of town office space, 

which have a good supply of modern SME space. 

Existing office occupiers focused on car use with current 

road infrastructure and parking more relevant to public 

transport. Rents can be as high as £5- £6 per sq. ft. for 

smaller industrial stock which is market leading.

• There is a lack of open space in the town centre, with 

large open spaces such as Newbridge Fields outside the 

core, to the south-west of the town centre.

• Strategic highway routes, such as the A4061 and the 

A473 connect Bridgend to the M4 corridor. 

• The railway station is the fifth busiest station in Wales 

and is on a line that serves Cardiff, Swansea and London. 

• The town centre has a bus station, and Derwen Road/

Nolton Street function as the key bus route within the 

town centre. 

• Off street car parks are generally quite small and are 

dispersed around the town centre and may be difficult 

to find for unfamiliar visitors. Many of the car parks have 

open frontages and interrupt the historic grain of the 

town centre. 

• The town centre streets are pedestrianised between 

10am-6pm and can be only used for loading and 

servicing outside of these times.

Pedestrianised Market Street which can be only used for loading and 
servicing from 6pm to 10am.

• The core of the town retail area has been pedestrianised, 

however there is lack of tree planting or other urban 

greening measures. In addition to the presence of street 

lighting, amenity lighting highlighting historic features in 

the area would be beneficial. 

• Investment in public art is also noted at Cheapside Plaza 

along with other public realm improvements in the town 

centre. 

• The Ogmore River is a key element of the town centre 

and riverside improvements have been undertaken in the 

recent years through the implementation of the Angel 

Walkway. 

Jobcentre Plus building and Civic Offices are one of the tall buildings 
along the Ogmore River in the town centre.

9

P
age 223



Recommendations for Vehicular 
Access in the Town Centre
Discussions with BCBC and stakeholder feedback have 

indicated that there is a strong desire to consider partial 

de-pedestrianisation of the town centre. The stakeholder 

consultation indicated that the pedestrianisation of Adare 

Street and Caroline Street was seen as a positive. However, 

de-pedestrianisation of Market Street, Dunraven Place 

and Queen Street would be preferable. Previous studies 

have been undertaken by Capita and WSP to assess the 

introduction of vehicular traffic to these streets.

The town centre streets considered for partial de-

pedestrianisation have a defined 20mm kerb upstand, 

tactile paving at crossing points, and a vehicular path which 

is clearly delineated by a change of material. In addition, 

they also currently carry loading traffic from 6pm - 10am. 

Allowing general traffic to use these streets in Bridgend does 

not run counter to the Department for Transport’s ‘pause’ 

on level surface schemes. However, it is recommended 

that detailed consultation with local disability groups, 

businesses, residents and Designing out Crime Officer is 

undertaken to understand any implications of the change 

in traffic arrangements on the usability of the street. It is 

imperative that any changes should meet the requirements 

of all users, so that an inclusive and accessible environment 

can be created. 

Furthermore, the Covid-19 pandemic has once again 

shifted the focus back onto town centres. Although there 

is uncertainty over the lasting impact of Covid-19 on town 

centres, the shift to online retailing has forced retailers to 

embrace change. This in turn means that town centres 

need to facilitate click & collect provision as well as allowing 

retailers, both multiples and independents, to offer delivery 

options as part of a multi-channel retail offer. The conflicting 

pressure of maintaining vehicle access, whilst at the same 

time allowing more space for social distancing will require 

balanced and pragmatic management.

• There are cycle routes and controlled crossing locations 

within the town centre, and is connected by national 

cycle route 885. 

• Existing flood defences within the town centre have been 

proven to provide protection against a 1 in 100 year flood 

event, including an allowance for climate change, and  

development in the town centre will comply with TAN 15 

requirement A1.14 – frequency threshold of flooding.

In the previous years, several grants have been facilitated 

by BCBC for the town centre improvement, which include: 

• Town Improvement Grant (TIG) to improve and conserve 

town centre buildings.

• Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) programme, including 

grant funding for Rhiw Housing development.

• Townscape Hertiage Initiative (THI) Programme, as part 

of the VVP programme, for sensitive repair restoration 

and reuse of historic buildings. 

• Convergence Programme projects delivering 1.87 ha of 

public realm improvement works in the town centre.

• Targeted Regeneration Investment (TRI) programme to 

fund projects which boost economic regeneration and 

community well-being.

Flexible Vehicular Access to pedestrianised Dunraven Place would need 
to be thoroughly assessed and suitable changes could be implemented.

Building Character Improvements to 3-11 Elder Street as part of the 
THI Programme.

10

P
age 224



Vision, 
Masterplan and 

Proposals  

P
age 225



Vision and Themes

The vision for the Bridgend 
Town Centre is to establish 
itself as a ‘County Town’ 
where it connects people 
with opportunities by 
contributing to the regional 
economy, and acting as a 
key hub in the Cardiff Capital 
Region and South Wales.

The vision further establishes 
Bridgend town centre 
as a liveable and vibrant 
place that binds together 
enterprise, employment, 
education, in-town living, 
culture, tourism and well-
being with commerce within 
a historic setting.

To achieve the overall vision and to steer the regeneration 

of Bridgend town centre over the next ten years, four broad 

themes have been identified. They are:

1. Growth

2. Resilience

3. Well-being

4. Identity

1. Growth

Consolidation of retail, housing intensification and 

diversification of town centre uses through the introduction 

of focused employment and education uses to achieve 

diverse, well curated and managed town centre growth.

2. Resilience

Future-proofing solutions for the town centre by creating a 

sustainable community and mixed economy through energy 

conservation, a mix of land uses and demographics, as well 

as sustainable travel solutions.

3. Well-being

Enhancing health and well-being through good quality public 

spaces and natural landscape to create a more attractive 

town centre, new leisure and recreation opportunities and  

richer biodiversity.

4. Identity

Building on from the achievements of the Townscape 

Heritage Initiative to best utilise heritage assets and the 

positive characteristics of the town to establish a ‘County 

Town’ with a strong sense of place, cultural identity and 

attractive appearance. 

Diagram showing key themes to help achieve the vision and guide the 
regeneration of the town centre.

Fo
st

er
in
g 
gr
ow

th th
roug

h invest
ment in enterprise, learning and living

Cr
ea

ti
ng

 re
si
lie

nc
e t

hr
oug

h in
tegrate

d mobility, infrastructure & circular econom
y

Lo
ca

l 
an

d 
re

gi
on

al
 we

ll-b
eing through social cohesion and li nkages

Re-establishing an iden
tit

y

1

2

3

4

12

P
age 226



Urban living & 
intergenerational 

communities

Enterprise 
Space

Learning Hub Energy and 
Renewables

Mixed economy Integrated and 
sustainable 

mobility

Green Blue 
Infrastructure

Open Space 
and Community 

hotspots

Heritage based 
placemaking

Events and 
Culture

growth resilience well-being identity

1. Urban Living and Intergenerational 
Communities: Creating in-town living that caters 

to different age and income groups and increases 

social housing through the redevelopment of 

strategic vacant sites and repurposing of vacant 

buildings.

2. Enterprise Space: Creating a satellite hub 

for businesses with room for office spaces, co-

working hubs and light industrial units  connecting 

South Wales and the Cardiff Capital Region 

through robust transport links.

3. Learning Hub: Utilising education as a catalyst 

for town centre regeneration to spur on the 

development of a mixed economy that caters for 

all demographics. 

4. Energy and Renewables: To progress 

towards a low carbon economy through low 

energy buildings, combined energy networks, 

sustainable waste strategies and the strategic 

use of available land.

5. Mixed Economy: Fostering a mixed 

economy to ensure a thriving town centre in 

the ever-changing economic climate through 

a combination of business, education, retail, 

leisure and cultural uses.

6. Integrated and Sustainable Mobility: 
A robust transport strategy that creates a 

cohesive, accessible and legible network of 

pedestrian, cycle, public and private transport 

routes.

7. Green Blue Infrastructure: 
Creating a robust network of 

streets and spaces that are clearly 

defined, accessible to all, safe and 

resilient, incorporating greening 

measures and sustainable 

drainage.

8. Open Space and Community 
Hotspots: Encouraging positive 

social interaction through planned 

open space and community areas 

of activity that are well planned 

and designed.

9. H e r i t a g e - b a s e d 
Placemaking: Highlighting 

and reinforcing the existing 

heritage of Bridgend and 

utilising it to create a legible 

town centre with a strong 

sense of place.

10. Events and Culture: 
Diversification of the town 

centre offer to provide  a  

wider cultural, social and civic 

experience that brings added 

vitality and vibrancy. 

growth resilience well-being identity

Masterplan Objectives
These key themes are further linked to the ten masterplan objectives which are as stated below:

13

P
age 227



Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan 2021 - 2030
The following diagram showcases the strategic masterplan for Bridgend town centre that identifies a set of regeneration 

projects and site-wide development schemes.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

11

12 9
10

13
14

17

1918

16

15

21

20

23

22

S

A473

N
olton S

t

Caroline St

Glan-Y-Parc

Park St

A
d

are S
t

Bra
ck

la
 S

t

D
unraven Place

Trem
ains Rd

A4061

Proposed Public Open Space

Proposed Vehicular Routes with 
Improved Pedestrian Environment

Improved Green Infrastructure

Proposed Heritage Trail

Proposed Residential

Proposed Community & Leisure Use

Proposed Mixed Use

Existing Leisure Use

Proposed Employment/ Business Use

Proposed Educational and Civic Use

Proposed Hotel

Key Existing Buildings

Existing Vehicular Roads

Pedestrianised Routes

Proposed Demolition 

Proposed Lower Carbon District Heat 
Network - Phase 1

Proposed Lower Carbon District Heat 
Network - Phase 2

14

P
age 228



Rhiw Shopping Centre

Police Centre

New Railway Station Entrance and Llynfi 

Lane

Tremains Business Park

Station Court

Station Link

Station Hill and Court Road Development

Derwen Road Residential

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

11

12

9

10

13

14

17

19

18

16

15

21

20

23

22

S

The Nolton

Cheapside - Bridgend College Relocation

Cheapside East

Brackla Street

Nolton Club

A

B

C

D

F

G

HRailway Station Area

Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle

Retail Core

Cafe and Cultural Quarter

Riverside

Newcastle

Sunnyside

Site-wide Schemes

Reconfiguration of Weir 1 in Ogmore River

Wyndham Street

Dunraven Arms Apartments 

Gateway Hotel

Cultural Hub

Cambrian House Site

Town Square

E Northern Gateway

Riverside Terraces

Angel Housing

Park Place

Sunnyside Wellness Village (planning 

permission received)

Minor Housing Conversions in vacant 

properties (multiple) 

Flexible Vehicular Access to Queen Street, 

Market Street and Dunraven Place

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 

including active travel links 

Heritage Trail with integrated Wayfinding 

and Signage Strategy

Building Character and Street Art 

Improvement (multiple)

Lower Carbon District Heat Network

15

P
age 229



A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

Proposed Development Zones
The town centre consists of variations in urban form and 

use, which has formed the basis for the categorisation of 

eight development zones, within which relevant regeneration 

projects have been identified. This approach facilitates 

the development of various parts of the town centre 

simultaneously over the next 10 years.

A473

A40
61

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

Railway Station Area

Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle

Retail Core

Cafe and Cultural Quarter

Northern Gateway

Riverside

Newcastle

Sunnyside

16

P
age 230



Transit-oriented Development
The Railway Station Area is one of the key transport 

gateways, and helps to connect Bridgend county and town 

with South Wales and further afield to England. This area 

has been identified as a development zone to maximise the 

development potential around the railway station through 

improving existing properties and developing underutilised 

sites. 

Location: Bridgend railway station, Station Hill, southern 

part of Derwen Road, Court Road, Tremains Road, Ogmore 

Terrace and Llynfi Lane.

The proposed regeneration projects are:

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

1

2

3

4

5

6

New Railway Station Entrance and Llynfi Lane: 

Medium density development including station car 

park, taxi rank and bus stop integrated with the new 

station forecourt, and potential mixed use development; 

delivered in the short to medium term (1-6 years).

Tremains Business Park: Redevelopment and 

extension of employment space to include offices, 

light industrial uses, workshops and co-working space; 

delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

Station Court: Redevelopment of the station entrance 

with active uses, employment and improved landscape 

along the railway line to the west; delivered in the 

medium term (4-6 years).

Station Link: Active travel connection to the town 

centre with a vibrant open space and active frontage 

along Brackla Street; delivered in the short term (1-3 

years).

Station Hill & Court Road Development: 

Redevelopment of vacant buildings to office use/ co-

working space, mixed use development; delivered in 

the short term (1-3 years).

Derwen Road Residential: Medium density residential 

development with active non-residential use at street 

level; delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement,     

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and   

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Rai lway Stat ion Area:

• 160 Resident ial  units ( including social 
and af fordable housing)

• 7,300 sqm Of f ice use ( including 
reconf igurat ion and refurbishment of 
approximately 4,500 sqm exist ing space)

• 1,810 sqm Retai l  and Food & Drink

• 1,900 sqm Community and Leisure Use

• 7,245 sqm Publ ic Open Space

Court Road properties largely house employment spaces. Vacant 
properties, such as Old Post Office building, could be potentially 
repurposed as employment space.

Bridgend railway station is one of the key transport gateways to the 
town centre. The station building and surroundings would be improved 
to make the area legible, accessible, attractive and vibrant.

A 
Railway 
Station 

Area

17

P
age 231



Aspirational street scene showing a new vibrant entrance to Bridgend railway station from Tremains Road, which includes cycle hub, 
car drop-off zones, taxi rank, shuttle bus services, station retail facilities and new entrance to Tremains Business Park.

18

P
age 232



Aspirational street scene showing potential active and pedestrian friendly town centre entrance of 
Bridgend railway station from Station Hill/ Court Road.

19

P
age 233



Living and Learning Hub
Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle is located to the south 

of Bridgend town centre, and has been identified as a 

development zone due to its potential to be developed as 

an activity hub close to the railway station and primary retail 

area.

Location: Brackla Street, Nolton Street, Merthyr Mawr 

Road, Cheapside and Edward Street.

7

8

11

9

10

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Brackla,  Nolton and Oldcast le:

• 240 Resident ial  units ( including social 
and af fordable housing)

• 1,800 sqm Of f ice use

• 10,000 sqm+ Educat ional use

• Reprovis ion of 9,990 sqm exist ing Retai l 
and Food & Drink space

• 2 ,660 sqm Community and Leisure Use

• 3,640 sqm improved Publ ic Open Space

The Nolton: Medium density residential development 

with street level retail and community facilities; delivered 

in the medium term (4-6 years).

Cheapside - Bridgend College Relocation: Bridgend 

College relocation and Cheapside developed as a 

pedestrian and cycle priority area with vehicular access; 

delivered in the short to medium term (1-6 years).

Cheapside East: Medium-high density mixed use and 

residential development based on the principles of 

transit-oriented development on Cheapside; delivered 

in the long term (7-10 years).

Brackla Street: Active street frontage with potential 

co-working space and reprovision of existing parking 

spaces with deck car park to the rear; delivered in the 

medium to term (4-10 years).

Nolton Club: Community centre with ancillary facilities 

for all age groups to provide an active space for meet 

and greet; delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

The proposed regeneration projects are: The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Minor Housing conversions in vacant buildings; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement,     

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Cheapside has received public ream improvement in the past decade. 
Underutilised sites on Cheapside, such as the Police Station, have 
tremendous potential for development.

Bridgend Shopping Centre on Brackla Street is one of the key sites in 
the town centre and has tremendous potential for development.

B 
Brackla, 
Nolton & 
Oldcastle

20

P
age 234



12

13

Rhiw Shopping Centre: Redevelopment of the Rhiw 

Shopping Centre as a mixed use block containing retail 

as a core function and housing development on the 

upper floor; delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

Police Centre: Relocation of Police Station as a town 

centre shopfront in the heart of Bridgend town; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Consolidated High Street
The Retail Core is a development zone within the town 

centre identified to facilitate the consolidation of the primary 

retail area. 

Location: Adare Street, Caroline Street, Queen Street, Rhiw 

Hill, Rhiw Shopping Centre and northern part of Nolton 

Street.

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Retai l  Core:

• 50 Resident ial  units

• Reconf igurat ion and refurbishment of 
9,272 sqm exist ing Retai l ,  Food & Drink  
and Recreat ional space

• 500 sqm for Pol ice Centre

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Flexible Vehicular Access to Queen Street; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement,     

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Redevelopment of the Rhiw Shopping Centre will aid the consolidation 
of the retail stock in the town centre.

Caroline Street and Queen Street, along with Adare Street, will serve as 
primary shopping area within the town centre.

C 
Retail 
Core

21

P
age 235



Hear t of Bridgend
The Café and Cultural Quarter area has been identified as 

a development zone to strengthen the heart of the town 

centre. 

Location: Dunraven Place, western part of Wyndham Street, 

Elder Street and surroundings.

14

16

15

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Cultural Hub: Development of a Cultural Hub to 

provide an indoor event space in Bridgend town centre; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Cambrian House Site: Medium density residential 

block with active frontage on the street level; delivered 

in the medium term (4-6 years).

Town Square: Creating a new square in the heart of 

the Bridgend town centre that would act as a multi-

functional open space, with moveable street furniture, 

for  gatherings, events and food markets; delivered in 

the short to medium term (1-6 years).

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Café and Cultural  Quar ter:

• 20 Resident ial  units

• 424 sqm Retai l  and Food & Drink

• 2 ,500 sqm Community and Leisure use

• 1,865 sqm Publ ic Open Space

Flexible Vehicular Access to Dunraven Place   

and Market Street; potential quick win, delivered in 

the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement,     

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Capitalising and boosting the food and drink offer in the town centre 
would contribute to the day and night time economy.

Improving the heart of the town centre around Dunraven Place, 
through increasing public open space within the historic setting, would 
make the town centre vibrant and liveable. An illustration showing the 
aspirational development is shown on pg.23.

D 
Cafe & 

Cultural 
Quar ter

22

P
age 236



Aspirational street scene showing the heart of the town centre with potential Town Square at Dunraven Place.

23

P
age 237



Creat ing a Gateway to 
Bridgend Town Centre
The Northern Gateway is a key priority area and has been 

identified as a development zone to create a legible and 

attractive gateway from the A4061 and A4063 to the town 

centre. 

Location: Bridgend bus station, Quarella Road Private car 

park, northern end of Dunraven Place, Market Street and 

eastern part of Wyndham Street.

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Nor thern Gateway:

• 45 Resident ial  units

• Reconf igurat ion and refurbishment of 
1,500 sqm exist ing Retai l  and Food & 
Drink space

• A budget Hotel .

• 755 sqm improved Publ ic Open Space

17

19

18

20

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Reconfiguration of Weir 1 in Ogmore River; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Wyndham Street: Redevelopment of the urban block 

on the eastern part of Wyndham Street and Market 

Street through collaborative retail and in-town living; 

delivered in the short to medium term (1-6 years).

Dunraven Arms Apartments: Repurposing Dunraven 

Arms Hotel into apartments; delivered in the medium 

term (4-6 years).

Gateway Hotel: Budget Hotel at the northern entrance 

to the town centre from the A4061 to Derwen Road; 

delivered in the long term (7-10 years).

Flexible Vehicular Access to Market Street; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement,     

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Lower Carbon District Heat Network - Phase 2; 

delivered in the long term (7-10 years).

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

The northern entrance of the town centre as seen from the A4061 is  
unattractive and has limitations in terms of accessibility for pedestrians 
and cyclists, thus providing a crucial opportunity for development.

The building stock and townscape on the eastern part of Wyndham 
Street, as seen from Derwen Road, would be enhanced to create a 
legible and vibrant entrance to the town centre. An illustration showing 
the aspirational development is shown on pg.25.

E 
Nor thern 
Gateway

24

P
age 238



Aspirational street scene showing the transformed Northern Gateway of Bridgend town centre, as seen from the A4061 and Derwen road 
junction, where the Dunraven Arms Hotel building acts as a focal point, building stock on Wyndham Street and Market Street is improved, 
and public realm is enhanced.

25

P
age 239



Optimising the River front
The Riverside is one of the overlooked areas within the 

town centre development and has been identified as a 

development zone to improve the town centre skyline and 

townscape character along the riverfront.

Location: the Ogmore River and the rear of properties 

on Dunraven Place and Queen Street, Old Bridge, Angel 

Walkway, Civic Offices and Angel Street.

21

22

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Riverside Terraces: High quality residential terraces 

with active frontage at street level; delivered in the 

medium to long term (4-10 years).

Angel Housing: High-density riverfront housing; 

delivered in the medium to long term (4-10 years).

Substantial private sector investment and initiative are 

required for the projects to be realised. 

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Riverside:

• 140 Resident ial  units

• 710 sqm Community and Leisure Use

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement,     

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Angel Walkway and the modernist buildings along the Ogmore River 
as seen from Water Street. Potential public realm improvements on the 
western bank would improve the frontage along the river.

Potential opportunity to repurpose the historic riverfront properties to 
create more interaction with the Ogmore River. The Old Bridge, one of 
the oldest remaining historic structures and the most instagrammed 
spots of Bridgend town, contributes to the attractive setting.

F 
Riverside

26

P
age 240



Maximum Development Proposal for 
Newcast le:

• Social  housing

• 218 sqm improved Publ ic Open Space

Town Centre Extension
Newcastle is one the key historic areas of Bridgend 

town centre, dating back to the 12th Century when the 

Norman Castle was built. The area has been identified as 

a development zone to strengthen its accessibility to the 

town centre and further support the regeneration of the 

town centre through improvements to existing buildings and 

historic structures. 

Location: Newcastle Hill, eastern part of Park Street and 

surroundings.

23

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Park Place: Public Realm improvements to existing 

public space at the bottom of Newcastle Hill; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Minor Housing conversions in vacant buildings; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Ancient Newcastle Castle ruins and its surrounding grounds are one of 
key historic attractions in the town. Accessibility to the landmark would 
be improved and form a part of the proposed heritage trail.

2-3 storey terraced houses, some of them being Victorian and 
Georgian terraces, render positive architectural character to the inner 
town suburb of Newcastle. Some of the vacant properties in the area 
could be repurposed as housing.

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement,     

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

G 
Newcastle

  

27

P
age 241



Intergenerat ional Community 
and Well-being Campus
Sunnyside is one of the inner suburbs around the town 

centre and has been identified as a development zone to 

improve the accessibility of Newbridge Fields and planned 

Sunnyside Wellness Village to the town centre. 

Location: Newbridge Fields, Glan-Y-Parc and Sunnyside 

Road and surroundings.

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement,     

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Wayfinding and Signage Strategy as part of the 

Heritage Trail; delivered in the short to medium term 

(1-6 years).

Lower Carbon District Heat Network - Phase 1; 

delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

Sunnyside Wellness Village: A well-being campus 

which will provide 59 homes and healthcare centre on 

Glan-Y-Parc to the west of the town centre.

S

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

The planned and approved scheme within the development 

zone is:

The multi-purpose hall in the leisure centre on Glan-Y-Parc could be 
potentially used as an indoor event space and is within 10 minutes walk 
from the town centre. 

Site of the future Sunnyside Wellness Village currently under 
development.

Similar to Newcastle, Sunnyside is an inner town suburb of Bridgend 
town centre comprising 2 storey terraced houses of positive 
architectural character on Sunnyside Road.

Maximum Development Proposal for 
Sunnyside:

• Planned Sunnyside Wel lness Vi l lage

• Mult i-purpose hal l  in the leisure centre 
could be ut i l ised as an indoor event 
space

H 
Sunnyside

28

P
age 242



Implementation and Delivery
The regeneration projects identified in the Bridgend Town 

Centre Masterplan will be implemented in various phases 

over the next 10 years. In order to take a planned to approach 

to delivery, an action plan has been developed to assist 

with formulating a project timeline, prioritising and planning 

projects and furthermore, identifying what resources or 

inputs are needed to do deliver individual projects. 

The successful delivery of the masterplan will be dependent 

on an active partnership approach between key stakeholders 

from the public, private and third sectors. A strategic 

approach to project delivery will be taken, with BCBC acting 

as a key facilitator to bring together key project enablers to 

deliver projects that form part of the overall vision for the 

regeneration of the Bridgend town centre. 

There will be a number of delivery mechanisms that will 

need to be considered, depending on the project. These 

may include:

• Collaborative partnerships between government 

agencies (e.g. Transport for Wales, Cardiff Capital 

Region), landowners, private developers and investors 

to deliver projects.

• Working proactively with the private sector and 

landowners to encourage investment.

• Preparation of detailed project briefs for each project. 

• Formation of dedicated project teams comprising 

relevant built environment experts. 

• Extensive consultation with all key stakeholders on high 

complexity projects.

• Effective utilisation of public sector land, assets and 

resources.

• Effective utilisation of funding streams to deliver projects. 

• Strategic land acquisition by the public and private 

sectors to deliver key projects, including compulsory 

purchase to facilitate comprehensive development and 

to provide strategic infrastructure.

• The aligning of statutory and non-statutory planning 

documents to project delivery in order to ensure a 

strategic approach – eg. BCBC Local Development Plan, 

Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan, local, regional and 

national strategies, supplementary planning guidance, 

best practice guides and design briefs. 

Image showing the discussion boards and maps used to engage 
stakeholders during the Visioning Workshop for Bridgend town centre 
masterplan, conducted on 11th March 2020 in the Civic Offices, 
Bridgend. The delivery of the masterplan would benefit from similar 
face-to-face or digital engagement events in the future.

29

P
age 243



N ATION A L & REG ION A L 

GOV E RNME NTA L ORG A NI SATION S

• We l s h G ove r n m e nt

•  Ca r d i f f  Ca p i t a l  Reg ion (CCR)

•  Des ig n Commi s s ion fo r  Wa l es

E N V IRONME NT A ND HE RITAG E

• N atu r a l  Resou r c es Wa l es (NRW )

•  Cad w

INFR ASTRUCTURE AUTHORIT IES

• Tr a n s por t  fo r  Wa l es  ( T f W )

•  Tr a n s por t  fo r  Wa l es  Ra i l  S e r v ic es

•  N et work Ra i l

LOCA L / REG ION A L BODIES

• B r i dg e n d Tow n Cou nc i l

•  S ou t h Wa l es  Po l i c e

•  S ou t h Wa l es F i r e  & Resc u e S e r v ic e

•  Pos t  O f f i c e  Ltd .

•  B r i dg e n d Co l l eg e

• Reg i s te r e d S oc i a l  L a n d lo r d s (RS L s)

OTHE R PRI VATE E NTIT IES

• L a n dow n e r s

•  Bu s i n es s O p e r a to r s

•  Pr i va te  Deve lop e r s

•  Pr op e r t y  Ag e nt s

COMMUNIT Y

• Res i d e nt s  o f  B r i dg e n d

• B r i dge n d C iv ic  Tr u s t

•  A r t s  a n d Cu l t u r e  G r ou ps/

As soc i a t ion s

Br idgend Count y 
Borough Counc i l 

(BCBC)

High-level framework indicating the key development partners in the delivery 
of Bridgend town centre masterplan

30

P
age 244



For more information, please contact:

Bridgend County Borough Council 

Regeneration Team  

regeneration@bridgend.gov.uk 

Phone: (01656) 643643 

Footfall Link

The council collects footfall data in Bridgend town centre 

at Adare Street and Caroline Street, in Porthcawl town 

centre at John Street and in Talbot Street in Maesteg town 

centre. 

This footfall data is available each week on the Council’s 

web site and can be accessed by following the link:

www.bridgend.gov.uk/footfall 

Town Centre Property Index

The councils Town Centre Property Index lists the 

properties for sale or to let within the three town centres of 

Bridgend, Porthcawl and Maesteg. The Index shows the 

agents contact details and lists some information about the 

properties which the agents have supplied. There is also a 

photo for each property and a map showing its location. 

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/business/  

click on the ‘Town Centre Property Index’ box.

31

P
age 245



Publishing Information 
and Copyright

This report has been produced by 
BDP limited for and on behalf of 

Bridgend County Borough Council.

P
age 246



P
age 247



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Date of issue: 11 March 2021   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridgend Town Centre 

Masterplan  
 
 

 

 

 

Bridgend County Borough Council 

Consultation report 

 

Page 249

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


2 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Contents 

Contents ...................................................................................................... 2 

1. Overview .................................................................................................. 3 

2. Introduction .............................................................................................. 3 

3. Promotional tools and engagement methods ........................................... 3 

4. Response rate ......................................................................................... 6 

5. How effective was the consultation? ........................................................ 6 

6. Headline figures ....................................................................................... 6 

7. Question and analysis - consultation survey ............................................ 7 

8. Social media responses ......................................................................... 60 

9. Engagement with Bridgend Youth Council ............................................. 61 

10. Engagement with Town and Community Council Forum. ..................... 62 

11. Letters and emails ................................................................................ 63 

12. Conclusion ........................................................................................... 64 

13. Appendix one. ...................................................................................... 64 

14. Appendix two. ...................................................................................... 69 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 250

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


3 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

1. Overview 

A public consultation asking for views on the draft Bridgend Town centre masterplan was 
undertaken over a 12 week period from 7 December 2020 to 1 March 2021. The 
consultation received 1402 interactions from a combination of survey completions, social 
media engagements, emails and letters, engagement with the Town and Community 
Council forum, engagement with Bridgend Youth Council and engagement work that took 
place in Penybont Primary School. This paper details the analysis associated with the 
consultation. 

2. Introduction 

The public survey was available to complete online through a link on the consultation page 
of the council’s website. Paper copies of the consultation were made available via request 
to the Consultation and Engagement Team. Surveys were available in several formats, 
including large print, standard, easy read and a youth version. All were available in English 
and Welsh. The content of the page remains available online. 
 
In total, there were 51 questions (within all survey formats) that required a reply from 
respondents. These were made up of questions about eight proposed development zones 
within which 23 relevant projects were identified plus a number of site wide projects. The 
council’s standard set of equalities monitoring questions were also included with the survey 
in line with recommended good practice for all public-facing surveys carried out by the 
council.   
 
Comments regarding the consultation were also invited via social media, letter, email and 
phone call.  

3. Promotional tools and engagement methods 

Details of the consultation were shared with:  
 

 Town and Community Councils 

 Secondary schools 

 Bridgend College 

 Town centre Primary schools and Heronsbridge 

 Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum 

 Bridgend Youth Council 

 All BCBC members  
 
3.1 Promotional tools 
 
This section details the methods used to raise the profile of the consultation and encourage 
participation. 
 
3.1.1 Social media 
 

In December 2017 the council committed to managing its social media accounts bilingually. 
In addition to introducing Welsh language corporate Twitter and Facebook accounts at that 
time, it started posting bilingually across the remainder of its social media channels. 
  

Page 251

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


4 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan consultation information was posted bilingually to the 
council’s corporate Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn channels throughout the 
consultation period to raise awareness of the consultation and to encourage citizens to 
share their views on the proposals. 
  
The council currently has 13,687 followers on its corporate Twitter accounts, 16,670 
followers on Facebook pages, 2,793 followers on Instagram and 4,643 followers on 
LinkedIn. While content is most likely to be seen by these users, it is also displayed to users 
who are not connected to the accounts. 
   
During the consultation period, the local authority posted 69 times across social media. This 
content reached 512,768 people generating 697 comments, 187 shares, 513 reactions, 
7,062 explainer video views and 2,228 link clicks through to the town centre masterplan 
webpage on the local authority website.  
 

3.1.2 govDelivery 
 
govDelivery is a new digital communications tool that has been implemented by the local 
authority in 2020 to send messages directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of 
their choice.  
  
There are currently 37,360 English language subscribers and 220 Welsh language 
subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Covid-19 update emails. 
Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan consultation was included in the following bulletins: 
  

Date Total email opens Unique link clicks Total link clicks 

10/12/2020 33,629 opens 225 252 

31/12/2020 28,674 opens 98 115 

07/01/2021 35,886 opens 151 176 

14/01/2021 28,325 opens 101 119 

21/01/2021 24,537 opens 86 103 

28/01/2021 38,931  

opens 

131 158 

04/02/2021  25,052 opens 62 69 

11/01/2021 26,049 opens 90 109 

18/02/2021 33,534 opens 238 277 

25/02/2021 36,703 opens 148 171 

  
The Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan consultation articles were included in 10 weekly 
Welsh and English language bulletins. Overall, this generated 1,549 total link clicks 
through to the Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan webpage. 
 
3.1.3 Media and publicity 
 

Three main media releases were issued to raise awareness and encourage participation in 
the consultation. The first was issued on August 21, introducing the masterplan and a 
planned public consultation later in the year. The second was on December 3 announcing 
the launch and encouraging people to participate, and the third was on February 22 urging 
people not to miss their final opportunity to take part in the consultation.   
 

Page 252

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


5 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Between December 3 and March 1, the masterplan consultation was also incorporated into 
11 news round-up media releases. These were issued at a rate of two a week.  
 
The media releases were featured at the media centre on the council’s website where they 
were hyperlinked with associated social media publicity, including the video on the 
consultation.  
 
The media releases were picked up and reported by the likes of Bridge FM radio, 
newspapers such as the Glamorgan Gazette and South Wales Echo, and the News From 
Wales, Wales Online and In Your Area news websites.  
 

3.1.4 Internal promotion  
 
Staff who live and work in Bridgend County Borough were encouraged to participate by 
promoting the consultation as part of the regular internal Bridgenders emails. 
 
3.1.5 Promotional materials 
 
The Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan consultation featured on the homepage of BCBC 
website with a graphic. Further images and graphics were used to promote the consultation 
on our social media and email marketing channels. 
 
An explainer video was designed to help people understand what was being asked of them, 
with examples of questions that were included in the consultation. The video was featured on 
the webpage for the consultation and also posted on the council’s social media channels, 
including Facebook, Twitter and Instagram. 
   
The explainer video received 7,062 views on social media and 3,611 views on YouTube.  
 
3.2 Engagement methods 
 
This section details the mechanisms available for stakeholders to engage with the council 
and share their views. 
 
3.2.1 The Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan survey 
  
A standard survey, large print, easy read and youth version of the survey were all made 
available in Welsh and English. All were available online and in paper format on request. The 
consultation feedback is contained in section seven.  
 
3.2.2 Bridgend Youth Council   
 
Members of the Regeneration Team and the Consultation and Engagement Team attended 
Bridgend Youth Council on 23 February 2021.  The Youth Council were given an overview of 
the proposals and were invited to give views and comments which were recorded by the 
Consultation and Engagement Team and are themed in section nine.  
 
3.2.3 Town and Community Council Forum    
 
Members of the Regeneration Team and the Consultation and Engagement Team attended 
the Town and Community Council Forum on 15 February. Attendees were given an 

Page 253

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


6 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

overview of the consultation and the proposals and were invited to give views and 
comments which were recorded by the Consultation and Engagement Team and are 
themed in section ten.  
 
3.2.4 Penybont primary school engagement  
 
Penybont Primary School adapted the questionnaire and shared it with their pupils via 

Google Forms. 75 learners engaged in the survey.  

There were 16 questions for respondents to answer. 

The feedback from young people is detailed in appendix two.   

4. Response rate  

In total, there were 1402 interactions during the consultation. The response rate has been 
segregated into several areas: consultation survey responses, engagement event attendees, 
social media interactions emails and letters.  
 

Interactions Number 

Survey completions 849 

Penybont Primary School  engagement 75 

Bridgend Youth Council engagement  6 

Town and Community Council Forum engagement  39 

Emails 21 

Letters 2 

Social media comments 410 

Total interactions 1402 
 

5. How effective was the consultation? 

The Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan consultation was conducted over 12 week period. 
The data collection methods, which include the online survey and paper survey were 
developed using plain English to maximise understanding.  
 

6. Headline figures 

6.1 84% of respondents agreed with the overall vision for the town centre; 
  
6.2 76% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone A – the 

railway station area; 
 

6.3 83% of respondents agreed with the proposal to make a new entrance to the station 
from Tremains road; 

 
6.4 71% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone B – 

Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle;  
 

6.5 65% of respondents agreed that moving part of the Bridgend College Campus and 
other educational institutions to the town centre would help improve town centre 
footfall and improve its growth; 

Page 254

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


7 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
6.6 75% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone C – the 

retail core; 
 

6.7 79% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone D – the 
café and cultural quarter; 

 
6.8 74% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone E – the 

Northern Gateway; 
 

6.9 69% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone F – 
Riverside; 

 
6.10 71% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone G – 

Newcastle; 
 

6.11 77% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone H – 
Sunnyside; 

 
6.12 61% of respondents stated that they would like to see Bridgend town centre as a 

place with more in-town living opportunities; 
 

6.13 44% of respondents selected partial reopening to traffic as the best option for 
access to Bridgend town centre, 35% selected for access to remain unchanged 
and 21% selected to reopen all roads to traffic; 

 
6.14 41% of respondents stated that the current provision for public transport to 

Bridgend town centre is adequate; 
 

6.15 75% of respondents stated that the town centre would benefit from improved active 
travel links; 

 
6.16 87% of respondents stated that they supported the creation of a new Town Square 

and more green space in the town centre; 
 

6.17 81% of respondents stated that they thought the town suffered from anti-social 
behaviour; 

 
6.18 60% of respondents felt that there were aspects of the masterplan that could help 

young people have a greater connection with their town centre; 
 

6.19 78% of respondents felt that the town would benefit from a heritage trail linking up 
all the historic assets of the town centre. 

 

7. Question and analysis - consultation survey 

The consultation contained 51 questions related to the Bridgend Town Centre masterplan 
project proposals.  All questions were optional, so participants could chose to answer all or 
some of the questions.  
 
This section details the responses to the survey (all survey types).  

Page 255

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


8 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
7.1 Bridgend Town Centre masterplan   
 
7.1.1  Do you agree with the vision for the town centre?    
 
825 respondents answered this question. 

 

 
 
84% of respondents stated that they agreed with the vision for the town centre. 16% of 
respondents stated that they did not agree with the vision.  
 
7.1.2  If you answered no, please tell us what changes you would make to the vision 
 
There were 118 comments from respondents who stated that they did not agree with the 
vision for the town centre. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below, 
some comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

There is too much housing in the proposals/ need more emphasis on retail 

rather than housing 23 

Build on what we have: reduce anti-social behaviour, support businesses 

and offer lower rates and rents 19 

Don't waste money/we have already spent enough on the town centre/it is 

unnecessary 17 

De-pedestrianise the whole of the town centre, improve transport links and 

parking facilities 14 

Needs more focus on creating a community feel and social space i.e. bring 

the library back to town, youth facilities, support groups, theatre, cinema 12 

I don't agree with all proposals/ I want more information and how it will be 

funded 10 

Do not relocate the police station and/or college 7 

697

128

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Yes (84%) No (16%)

Page 256

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


9 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Money could be better spent in other communities i.e. Porthcawl, Maesteg, 

get employment into Ogmore 6 

Still will not compete with out of town areas, such as McArthur Glen 5 

Alternative proposals: open up riverside to town square centre, more 

undercover areas, no development at Brackla street, town square at no18 

Wyndham street and police centre on YMCA site, don't move train 

entrance and keep the post office 4 

The town is inaccessible for elderly and disabled people: more disabled 

parking and all shops accessible with a mobility scooter 4 

There are more important things to think about/fund 2 

Do not trust BCBC 1 

Masterplan needs extending to include the Tesco at Brewery Lane , The 

Brewery Field and The Jolly Brewer (Riverside) pub 1 

Still not enough focus on residential, residential property is the only way of 

regenerating the town centre 1 

I agree that something needs to be done to improve Bridgend town 

however I do not agree with the timescale, it is too long 1 

 
The most common responses were there is too much housing in the proposals/ need more 
emphasis on retail rather than housing, followed by build on what we have: reduce anti-
social behaviour, support businesses and offer lower rates and rents and then don't waste 
money/we have already spent enough on the town centre/it is unnecessary.  
 
7.2 Proposed development zones   
 
7.2.1 Development zone A – the railway station area 
 
7.2.1.1 Do you agree with all the proposals in this area?  
 
828 respondents answered this question. 
 

 

627

94 107

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (76%) No (11%) Unsure (13%)

Page 257

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


10 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
76% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in this area. 11% of respondents did not 
agree with this proposals and 13% were unsure.  
 
7.2.1.2 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or 

proposals you have. 

 
174 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some 
comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Too much focus on housing, do not need social housing and there is no 

mention of infrastructure to support new housing 33 

Need to focus on regenerating the town i.e. de-pedestrianise, reduce anti-

social behaviour, more green areas and supporting business and retail 23 

This is not a priority/ seems a waste of money 22 

It will increase traffic and there is no mention of parking for residents or at 

the train station which is small and expensive 19 

Would like to see more information/how will this be funded? 18 

Disagree with the Tremains Business Park plan/ do not need more office 

space it will not be used 17 

Do not think the train station needs development 14 

Should aim to retain the historic and classic buildings  5 

Similar areas in Maesteg that could use development/include improving 

transport links from Maesteg to Bridgend 4 

Distance between the bus and train station is too far and needs to be 

addressed 3 

Need more easy access for disabled people and people with mobility 

issues including more parking 3 

Timescale is too long/ do not think it will happen 3 

Do not know the area/use trains so unable to comment 2 

Only agree with the railway station development 2 

Concern across the projects is for potential lack of acknowledgment and 

understanding of existing urban wildlife when seeking to introduce wildlife-

friendly planting 1 

I think the station hill/court road area should be targeted first 1 

Renovate Clos Joslin children’s park like the Coity Higher park 1 

Redevelopment might be a bonus but there is a majority property owner in 

the town centre who would benefit from his properties being renovated 1 

The old court site by Sunnyside has been developed against the wishes of 

the surrounding neighbours 1 

There needs to be free access to public toilets for rough sleepers, people 

with health issues, elderly and parents of small children 1 

 

Page 258

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


11 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

The most common responses were too much focus on housing, do not need social housing 

and there is no mention of infrastructure to support new housing, followed by need to focus 

on regenerating the town i.e. de-pedestrianise, reduce anti-social behaviour, more green 

areas and supporting business and retail and then this is not a priority/ seems a waste of 

money.  

 
7.2.1.3 Please select which two projects in this area would be your priority? 

 

 
 

The projects were selected to be prioritised in the following order: 

 New railway station entrance and Llynfi Lane (35%) 

 Station Hill and Court Road development (19%) 

 Station link (17%) 

 Tremains Business Park (10%) 

 Derwen Road residential (10%) 

 Station Court (9%) 
 

7.2.1.4 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 
7.2.1.4.1 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 
3 comments were received from respondents who chose Derwen Road Residential as one 
of their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:   
 
 

Theme  No. 

None - invest in Porthcawl for a change please 1 

I believe that having people live in the town centre will encourage a more 
vibrant atmosphere and stimulate local business. 1 

Only Derwen Road residential -  if houses are affordable and cheap 1 
 

7.2.1.4.2 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

502

142 135

245
277

153

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

New railway
station

entrance and
Llynfi Lane

(35%)

Tremains
Business Park

(10%)

Station Court
(9%)

Station link
(17%)

Station Hill
and Court

Road
development

(19%)

Derwen Road
residential

(10%)

Page 259

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


12 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 

13 comments were received from respondents who chose New Railway station entrance 
and Llynfi Lane as one of their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the 
table below:   
 
 

Theme  No. 

It is the first impression of Bridgend so should be accessible and attractive 4 

It would make the train station easier to walk to/more accessible 3 

Prevent traffic build up and taxis in the parking spaces 2 

It's the nearest station for the Garw Valley 1 

Must come with some kind of parking 1 

This will increase usage of the station 1 

Better entrance to the station 1 
 

The most common responses were it is the first impression of Bridgend so should be 
accessible and attractive, followed by it would make the train station easier to walk to/more 
accessible and then prevent traffic build up and taxis in the parking spaces.  
 

7.2.1.4.3 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

37 comments were received from respondents who chose new railway station entrance and 
Llynfi Lane and Derwen Road residential as their priorities. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Ease traffic/congestion and improve access to the train station 11 

More residential areas are important in the town 7 

Will make the area more attractive/improve first impression 7 

Most needed projects 6 

Would bring more trade/visitors to the town 2 

Increased housing would lower the amount of anti-social behaviour in the 
town 1 

Need better transport links and housing 1 

I have chosen these two because they increase jobs and reduce 
homelessness. 1 

Why should so much money be spent on Court road, it’s a nice road 
already  1 

 

The most common responses were ease traffic/congestion and improve access to the train 
station followed by more residential areas are important in the town and then will make the 
area more attractive/improve first impression.  
   

7.2.1.4.4 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

30 comments were received from respondents who chose new railway station entrance and 
Llynfi Lane and Station Court as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed 
in the table below:   

Page 260

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


13 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 

Theme  No. 

Improves access to the train station 9 

Will make the area more attractive/improve first impressions 9 

This would have the biggest impact 5 

Anything which improves the transport links 2 

Key gateways to the town 2 

Convenience 1 

Good use of empty buildings 1 
 

The most common responses were improves access to the train station followed by will 
make the area more attractive/improve first impressions and then this would have the 
biggest impact.  
 

7.2.1.4.5 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

77 comments were received from respondents who chose new railway station entrance and 
Llynfi Lane and Station Hill and Court Road development as their priorities. These have 
been themed and are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Will improve first impression/make the area more attractive 22 

Additional entrance will improve access 20 

These are the biggest priority/will have most impact 11 

Empty and/or character buildings should be utilised 10 

Increase footfall to the town for shopping and work 7 

Both in need of regeneration 5 

These changes could be done quickly 2 
 

The most common responses were will improve first impression/make the area more 
attractive followed by additional entrance will improve access and then these are the 
biggest priority/will have most impact.  
 

7.2.1.4.6 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

77 comments were received from respondents who chose new railway station entrance and 
Llynfi Lane and Station link as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in 
the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Will improve access to the station (including disabled access) and the town 
and encourage people to use trains more 26 

Will increase footfall and encourage/support businesses 10 

To develop infrastructure, address traffic issues and increase parking 9 

The area needs regenerating 8 

Will make the town more attractive to visit/ improve first impression 8 

These would have the most benefit 7 

Active travel links are important 5 

Page 261

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


14 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Cheapest waste of money. Already an entrance at Llynfi Lane. 1 

Easier to deliver 1 

I'm sure the money could be better spent, tackling crime in the area would 
be a good start 1 

Because I am unsure as to what exactly the proposals are for the other 
areas. 1 

 

The most common responses were will improve access to the station (including disabled 
access) and the town and encourage people to use trains more followed by will increase 
footfall and encourage/support businesses and then to develop infrastructure, address 
traffic issues and increase parking. 
 

7.2.1.4.7 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

27 comments were received from respondents who chose new railway station entrance and 
Llynfi Lane and Tremains Business Park as their priorities. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Improve access to the train station and encourage businesses 9 

Will improve access to the train station 4 

Extended railway will improve travel for people 3 

Supports businesses/economic growth 3 

These will have the biggest impact 2 

Will make the area more attractive/improve first impression 2 

Don't know much about the others 1 

Bus access to train station would be an advantage 1 

Out of town centre 1 

This would improve disabled access to the train station  1 
 

The most common responses were improve access to the train station and encourage 
businesses followed by will improve access to the train station and then extended railway 
will improve travel for people and supports businesses/economic growth.  
 

7.2.1.4.8 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

No comments were received from respondents who chose Station Court as one of their 
priorities.  
 

7.2.1.4.9 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

Four comments were received from respondents who chose Station Court and Derwen 
Road residential as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table 
below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Improves the look of the area, more residential use and concentrating retail 
in the retail centre 1 

Page 262

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


15 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Will attract more residents and attract more businesses, but will need 
supporting traffic infrastructure 1 

We need more affordable accommodation 1 

It would make more sense to revamp the existing train station entrance and 
Bridgend needs more affordable housing in the town centre 1 

 

7.2.1.4.10 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

16 comments were received from respondents who chose Station Court and Station Hill 
and Court Road development as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed 
in the table below:   
 
 

Theme  No. 

The first impressions when someone comes off the train 5 

Attract more businesses and visitors 3 

Best amenity value and readily achievable 3 

It will make it more attractive 2 

I'd choose any project to improve Bridgend which quite honestly has 
become a dump 1 

Needs upgrading 1 

Want to see empty buildings with beautiful architecture in use 1 
 

The most common responses were the first impressions when someone comes off the train 
followed by attract more businesses and visitors and best amenity value and readily 
achievable. 
 

7.2.1.4.11 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

12 comments were received from respondents who chose Station Court and Station link as 
their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Because they address the lack of greenery in Bridgend and walking and 
cycling will improve air quality 3 

To make it more attractive and welcoming 3 

Bring businesses and shops into town/make use of empty buildings 2 

These areas require development 2 

I picked these two because, as a closed question, it doesn't matter 1 

Needs more parking and a bus stop 1 
 

The most common responses were because they address the lack of greenery in Bridgend 
and walking and cycling will improve air quality followed by to make it more attractive and 
welcoming and then bring businesses and shops into town/make use of empty buildings 
and these areas require development.  
 

7.2.1.4.12 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

Page 263

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


16 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Three comments were received from respondents who chose Station Hill and Court Road 
development as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table 
below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Derelict buildings on the upper end of the station approach makes a poor 
impression. 1 

A link from the station into the heart of the town shopping complex 1 

The station has only recently had lots of money spent on it. Why develop 
Tremains Court when the town centre needs vast improvements? 1 

 

7.2.1.4.13 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

16 comments were received from respondents who chose Station Hill and Court Road 
development and Derwen Road residential as their priorities. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Introducing and reusing old buildings for residential areas will help the town 
thrive and should be a priority 6 

Would enhance this very run down area and give a better impression 4 

Business and residential improvements 3 

Does not include shops in this climate with so much closing down its 
madness to build more empty shops 1 

I believe they would have the most impact in the town centre 1 

I can visualise these better than the others 1 
 

The most common responses were introducing and reusing old buildings for residential 
areas will help the town thrive and should be a priority followed by would enhance this very 
run down area and give a better impression and then business and residential 
improvements.  
 

7.2.1.4.14 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

One comment was received from respondents who chose Station link as one of their 
priorities. This has been themed and detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Only chose one. Others waste of money. 1 

 

7.2.1.4.15 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

Seven comments were received from respondents who chose Station link and Derwen 
Road residential as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table 
below:   
 

Theme  No. 

The town needs housing and better transport links to increase footfall 5 

Highest priority to my mind 1 

Page 264

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


17 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Improves the scenery 1 

 

7.2.1.4.16 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

23 comments were received from respondents who chose Station link and Station Hill and 
Court Road development as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in 
the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Make the area more attractive and safer 4 

Will have most impact/ the area needs developing 4 

Active travel links are important 3 

Better access and integration between the train and bus 3 

Good use of vacant buildings/space 3 

Will be a quick visible improvement 2 

Will bring more trade/generate income 2 

I don't think these are particularly important 1 

Make new jobs 1 
 

The most common responses were make the area more attractive and safer followed by will 
have most impact/ the area needs developing and then active travel links are important, 
better access and integration between the train and bus and good use of vacant 
buildings/space.  
 

7.2.1.4.17 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

Two comments were received from respondents who chose Tremains Business Park as 
one of their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Place is an eyesore 1 

I see two key things for the development of the centre of Bridgend: an 
indoor venue suitable for performances and suitable accommodation for 
high value /high tech sustainable and future-oriented employment in the 
centre of town to attract, e.g. small/medium sized IT/software companies to 
Bridgend 1 

 

7.2.1.4.18 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

16 comments were received from respondents who chose Tremains Business Park and 
Derwen Road residential as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in 
the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

We need housing and to support businesses/job creation 11 

Lack of suitable alternatives 1 

Most accessible 1 

Page 265

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


18 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Bridgend has been suffering a long time since the closure of town centre 
road use, hopefully these new projects will bring more income to the area. 1 

Because they are the most needed 1 

Rejuvenate town centre 1 
 

The most common response was we need housing and to support businesses/job creation.  
 

7.2.1.4.19 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

Two comments were received from respondents who chose Tremains Business Park and 
Station Court as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table 
below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Make the area more presentable and with a good community centre 1 

Use of empty buildings, more employment, not wasting money making 
something look pretty. 1 

 

 

7.2.1.4.20 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

15 comments were received from respondents who chose Tremains Business Park and 
Station Hill and Court Road development as their priorities. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

Bridgend needs to attract and support businesses and job creation 9 

Gives scope for both residential and commercial with the use of vacant 
property 1 

I think they are more important than the others 1 

Access to services 1 

Encourage more people into Bridgend to create a larger footfall 1 

Needs regenerating 1 

Gives scope for both residential and commercial with the use of vacant 
property 1 

 

The most common response was Bridgend needs to attract and support businesses and job 
creation.  
 

7.2.1.4.21 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

Seven comments were received from respondents who chose Tremains Business Park and 
Station link as their priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

To support businesses and job opportunities 4 

Need to promote small business opportunities and integrate transport 
modes. 1 

Page 266

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


19 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

To make the areas more attractive 1 

I think these have a better chance of succeeding 1 
 

The most common response was to support businesses and job opportunities.  
 

7.2.1.4.22 Please tell us why you chose these projects 

 

28 comments were received from respondents who did not choose any projects as 
priorities. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:   
 

Theme  No. 

None of the above 16 

The whole of Bridgend/communities is a priority 3 

Unable to comment as I am not familiar with these areas 2 

Affordable housing should be the priority 1 

Need to be sympathetic to the architecture and culture of older buildings 
and make sure the history is not lost 1 

1 entrance Tremains Road 2 walking and cycling 1 

All are an equal priority for me 1 

Without free car parking, town centres are finished 1 

Public toilets should be a priority. And creation of recreational activities to 
improve mental health. 1 

Tremains business Walking and cycling routes 1 
 

The most common responses were none of the above followed by the whole of 
Bridgend/communities is a priority and then unable to comment as I am not familiar with 
these areas.  
 
7.2.1.5 Would you agree with making a new entrance to the station from Tremains 

Road? 

 

818 respondents answered this question. 

 

Page 267

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


20 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
 

83% of respondents agreed with the proposal to make a new entrance to the station from 

Tremains road. 9% of respondents disagreed with this proposal and 8% were unsure.  

 

7.2.1.6 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or 
proposals you have. 
 
103 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:  
 

Theme  No. 

It is unnecessary/the entrance is fine as it is 31 

Concerns about traffic and parking, the road is already busy 22 

It is a waste of money/ station was recently refurbished 14 

Would want more information and detail 7 

Access: too steep, if disabled you are not able to go over footbridge, not 

near the bus station 5 

I am unsure because I do not know the area 5 

Entrance is away from the town/ would it take business away from the 

town? 4 

This is not a priority/ money could be better spent elsewhere 4 

Concerns about station security and how this would be managed 3 

Unsure how an entrance would be successfully created in this space 2 

Do not trust BCBC to undertake the work 1 

McArthur Glen 1 

Need to invest in the town so people want to go here 1 

There should be one entrance as not to confuse and that entrance should 

be attractive 1 

Yes if the existing entrance is maintained also 1 

679

73 66

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Yes (83%) No (9%) Unsure (8%)

Page 268

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


21 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

There’s a reliance on the Train operator agreeing with this 1 

 
The most common responses were it is unnecessary/the entrance is fine as it is, followed 

by concerns about traffic and parking, the road is already busy and then it is a waste of 

money/ station was recently refurbished.  

 
7.2.2 Development zone B – Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle  
 
7.2.2.1 Do you agree with all the proposed projects in this area?  
 
807 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 
71% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in this area. 14% stated that they did not 
agree with all the proposals and a further 15% were unsure.   
 
7.2.2.3 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or proposals 
you have. 
 
169 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:  
 

Theme  No. 

Do not agree/ am unsure of the benefits of moving the college 39 

Should focus on regenerating the town centre i.e. more facilities, youth 

clubs, shops, green areas, cycle lanes 33 

Do not need any more houses and social housing will not improve 

Bridgend 24 

It is unnecessary/ waste of money 18 

There are enough empty shops and offices, we do not need more 10 

Traffic and parking issues 10 

Need more information on proposals 7 

573

116 118

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (71%) No (14%) Unsure (15%)

Page 269

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


22 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

This is all rhetoric and will probably not happen 5 

Unsure of the area so unable to comment 4 

Feasibility, space and financial restraints 3 

Implications for council tax 3 

Invest in other areas of the borough too 3 

I agree with the relocation of the college 2 

Unsure if it is the best use/have sufficient access to Nolton Club 2 

Bridgend needs a proper Police Station. 1 

Bridgend centre is dead 1 

Because you will mess it up - you are experts at this. 1 

Increased provision for educational use does not take into account future 

enlargement 1 

Involve locals who actually live there 1 

Shopmobility should be in the Rhiw car park 1 

 
The most common responses were do not agree/ am unsure of the benefits of moving the 
college followed by should focus on regenerating the town centre i.e. more facilities, youth 
clubs, shops, green areas, cycle lanes and then do not need any more houses and social 
housing will not improve Bridgend.  
 
7.2.2.4 Please select which two projects in this area would be your priority? 

 

 
 
The projects were selected to be prioritised in the following order: 

 Cheapside - Bridgend College relocation (31%) 

 The Nolton (20%) 

 Brackla Street (20%) 

 Nolton Club (17%) 

 Cheapside East (12%) 
 
 

276

428

165

280

226

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

The Nolton (20%) Cheapside -
Bridgend College
relocation (31%)

Cheapside East
(12%)

Brackla Street
(20%)

Nolton Club
(17%)

Page 270

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


23 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

7.2.2.5 Do you think moving part of the Bridgend College campus and other 

educational institutions to the town centre will help improve the towns centre footfall 

and support its growth?     

 

818 respondents answered this question. 

 

 
 
65% of respondents agreed that moving part of the Bridgend College Campus and other 
educational institutions to the town centre would help improve town centre footfall and 
improve its growth. 23% of respondents did not agree with this and 12% were unsure.  
 

7.2.2.6 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or 

proposals you have. 

 

218 comments were received from respondents who stated no or unsure. These have been 
themed and are detailed in the table below:  
 

Theme  No. 

It is fine where it is, it is not far from town and is a waste of money 47 

It will increase traffic, cause congestion and will need more parking for staff 

and students 35 

May increase anti-social behaviour, litter and put other people off going to 

town 35 

Students have little money to spend/it won’t bring prosperity/ students will 

only spend in takeaways 31 

It seems unnecessary/waste of money/ a high cost for a little or no gain 27 

Should focus on regenerating the town, supporting businesses and 

reducing anti-social behaviour 24 

Unsure, would need more information 6 

Concerned that college relocation will dominate town centre/ is too big for 

the area 3 

530

187

101

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Yes (65%) No (23%) Unsure (12%)

Page 271

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


24 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Create education hubs that are free to use/Stop making education 

resources massive, the depravation in wider communities needs smaller 

and more appropriate education support 3 

I believe that Bridgend College is expanding out of Pencoed, hence area at 

college could be used for light industry, parking and residential use 1 

Inconvenience for students 1 

No green space for students 1 

Only move college because the road it’s now on is a nightmare 1 

Timescales 1 

Town centre should consolidate with MacArthur Glen outlet. 1 

Too spread out 1 

 
The most common responses were it is fine where it is, it is not far from town and is a waste 
of money followed by it will increase traffic, cause congestion and will need more parking for 
staff and students and then may increase anti-social behaviour, litter and put other people 
off going to town.  
 
7.2.3 Development zone C – retail core   
 
7.2.3.1  Do you agree with all the proposed projects in this area?   
 
817 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 
 
75% of respondents stated that they agreed with all the proposed projects in this area. 14% 
stated that they did not and a further 11% were unsure.  
 
7.2.3.2  If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or 

proposals you have. 

 

610

114
93

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (75%) No (14%) Unsure (11%)

Page 272

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


25 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

156 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some 
comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Unsure the police centre needs relocating/it is fine where it is 31 

Should focus more on retail and town centre not housing/more housing 

which may bring more anti-social behaviour 28 

Need better vehicular access and parking/ de-pedestrianise the town 

centre 15 

Need more support for businesses and shops/charge less rates and rents 13 

There are too many retail outlets/ too much emphasis on retail/ town is no 

longer commercial 13 

Waste of money/ It is unnecessary 13 

Focus should be on regenerating the streets, empty buildings, providing 

community space and making the town more attractive 12 

Agree to the relocation of the police centre but needs to be a prominent 

feature 9 

The Rhiw should be for shops not residential 6 

Keep the town pedestrianised 5 

Unsure if money spent on heritage and street art is money well spent/ 

street art can be difficult to get right 4 

Concern about the time it will take to implement, if it is feasible or just 

rhetoric 3 

More environmental projects i.e. car charging points and sustain current 

urban wildlife 3 

Little is being said to enable disabled and elderly to access the area 2 

Unsure whether the spirit of the indoor market will survive all of this 2 

Where is the funding coming from? / what will be the implications for 

council tax? 2 

I agree that this is the most important area for development, is the plan to 

focused on eat drink premises, you are going to have a massive food drink 

culture 1 

I do not believe that college should be relocated to where existing police 

station is 1 

I don't quite understand all proposals 1 

Older, historic buildings must be protected to retain Bridgend's familiar 

traditional character. 1 

This should be a shared project, there are areas of unused land which 

could well be developed equally as well in the Maesteg area 1 

 
The most common responses were unsure the police centre needs relocating/it is fine 
where it is followed by should focus more on retail and town centre not housing/more 
housing which may bring more anti-social behaviour and then need better vehicular access 
and parking/ de-pedestrianise the town centre.  

Page 273

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


26 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
7.2.3.3  Please tell us how you think the new Masterplan can help achieve and 

support a healthy mix of independent and national retailers within the town’s core 

retail areas? 

 
384 comments were received in response to this question. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Need better shops in the town centre, national but also promote small 

independent shops 58 

Need incentives/support for businesses including cheaper rates and rents 46 

Regenerating the town and empty shops and making it an attractive town 

centre will attract retailers 42 

Need improved access to the town centre, active travel links, de-

pedestrianise and more and improved car parking 41 

Projects that will support this: retail core, riverside development, the Rhiw, 

heritage and historical sites, café culture, the indoor market and pop up 

shops/markets 37 

Relocating the police centre would make the town safer and address the 

issue of anti-social behaviour 36 

Increased housing will increase footfall/should not have social housing 33 

Having a mix of spaces that creates a community i.e. retail, leisure, 

outdoor eating and green spaces, will attract retailers 28 

It won’t/ it is too late/waste of money 27 

Agree with projects and think/hope it will bring economy back to Bridgend 20 

Make the town safer, less anti-social behaviour in town and at the bus 

station 13 

Relocating the college will mean the students will use town more 13 

People will still travel to McArthur Glen and retailers would go there 6 

Town needs improved foot fall 5 

Invest in all valley towns/ Porthcawl and it will naturally increase footfall in 

surrounding areas 3 

Maybe look for a shared facility between the police and council - like a one 

stop shop 1 

No need for masterplan, make good with current situation and improve on 

that 1 

Street art a waste of money and mostly looks awful 1 

Under current circumstances it’s going to be very difficult to justify any 

spending 1 

 
The most common responses were need better shops in the town centre, national but also 

promote small independent shops followed by need incentives/support for businesses 

including cheaper rates and rents and then regenerating the town and empty shops and 

making it an attractive town centre will attract retailers.  

Page 274

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


27 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
7.2.4 Development zone D – café and cultural quarter  
 
7.2.4.1 Do you agree with all the proposed projects in this area?   
 
804 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 

79% of respondents stated that they agreed with all the proposed projects in this area. 11% 
stated that they did not and a further 10% were unsure.  
 
7.2.4.2 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or proposals 
you have.   
 
111 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:  
 

Theme  No. 

It seems unnecessary when there are already a lot of eating places in 

town/waste of money 32 

Need to focus on regenerating the town i.e. increasing footfall, green 

spaces, retaining historical sites, knocking down old buildings and reducing 

anti-social behaviour 21 

Do not need any more housing, especially social housing 17 

Need to keep the town centre pedestrianised 10 

Would want more information/how will this be funded/implications for 

council tax 7 

Need to de-pedestrianise the town centre 6 

Town squares and open spaces may increase anti-social behaviour 6 

Do not think this will ever happen 3 

Not familiar with the area so unable to comment 2 

Open town square to river 2 

637

85 82

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (79%) No (11%) Unsure (10%)

Page 275

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


28 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Consolidation with MacArthur Glen outlet 1 

a town square should be created but not at the Cambrian house site but at 

no 18 Wyndham street site 1 

How about spending money in an area that is used- Porthcawl perhaps 1 

It is a brilliant idea, but carry out wind and light modelling when developing 1 

The plan for a cultural and events venue could be the one thing that gives 

genuine opportunity for growth in the town. This concept is good but there 

are no details about how to achieve this. 1 

 
The most popular responses were it seems unnecessary when there are already a lot of 
eating places in town/waste of money followed by need to focus on regenerating the town 
i.e. increasing footfall, green spaces, retaining historical sites, knocking down old buildings 
and reducing anti-social behaviour and then do not need any more housing, especially 
social housing.  
 
7.2.4.3 Please select which two projects in this area would be your priority? 

 

 
 
The projects were selected to be prioritised in the following order: 

 Town Square (49%) 

 Cultural Hub (39%) 

 Cambrian House site (12%) 
 
7.2.4.4 What cultural and leisure activities would you like to see in the town centre? 

 
432 comments were received in response to this question. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Events and workshops: food/farmers markets, festivals, Christmas events, 

local events, cultural events, pop-up events, street entertainers 80 

524

161

658

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Cultural Hub (39%) Cambrian House site (12%) Town Square (49%)

Page 276

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


29 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Music: buskers, live music, outdoor shows, concerts, indoor music venue, 

space for dancing troupes 73 

Activities that are accessible for all, bring the community together and let 

people socialise 41 

Theatre: street theatre, outdoor productions and theatre venue 39 

Market: weekly markets, street markets, outdoor markets 38 

Health and sports: gym, spa, swimming pool, crazy golf, football, kayaking, 

ice skating, ping pong, skate park etc. 33 

Art: street art, outdoor interactive art, gallery and exhibitions 32 

Library/ return the library to the town centre 31 

Café culture and independent artisan shops 26 

More for children and young people: youth club, playgrounds, places to 

socialise, activities 24 

Unsure but agree with proposal/anything that drives footfall to the town 23 

Need a space and indoor venue for events 21 

Cinema/small independent cinema 20 

Museum/heritage centre 19 

Unnecessary/waste of money 19 

More green spaces to sit and enjoy 15 

Bowling alley 13 

More open and outdoor space with covered areas for activities/seating 13 

Need to address anti-social behaviour 7 

Technological activities: retro arcade, gaming club, laser quest and 

'Techniquest' type of facility 6 

Cheaper/free car parking/electric chargers 5 

Cycle friendly areas and facilities for cyclists 5 

Buildings to develop: Cambrian house, Carnegie House, rebuild the façade 

of the town hall 4 

Comedy club 4 

Escape room 4 

More Welsh culture and history 4 

Events that cater for older residents 3 

Fan zones for sports events 3 

Tourist information centre 3 

Night life activities 3 

Pop up funfair 3 

Public toilets 3 

Water fountain 3 

Remove late night license for pubs and bars to discourage users of culture 

and entertainment whose sole reason for visiting the towns pubs is to get 

intoxicated 2 

Also the same for Maesteg 1 

Closed question once again, not allowing my opinion to be heard 1 

Page 277

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


30 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Do not allow cars into the centre of the town/need good transport links 1 

However this should be in Newbridge Fields 1 

 'Red Dragon' soapbox race down Park Street! 1 

The timescale for these ideas are ridiculous 1 

The churches & chapels in the centre could be utilised & supported to 

mount concerts as quite a few have large under used halls 1 

You’ve included residential as part of the cultural hub, how is this cultural!? 1 

 
The most popular responses were events and workshops: food/farmers markets, festivals, 
Christmas events, local events, cultural events, pop-up events, street entertainers followed 
by music: buskers, live music, outdoor shows, concerts, indoor music venue, space for 
dancing troupes and then activities that are accessible for all, bring the community together 
and let people socialise.  
 
7.2.5 Development zone E – Northern Gateway 
 
7.2.5.1 Do you agree with all the proposed projects in this area? 

 
801 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 
74% of respondents stated that they agreed with all the proposed projects in this area. 14% 
stated that they did not and a further 12% were unsure.  
 
7.2.5.2 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or 

proposals you have. 

 
125 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:  
 

Theme  No. 

Do not see a need for a hotel and concerned about who it will be aimed at 26 

593

110 98

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (74%) No (14%) Unsure (12%)

Page 278

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


31 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Do not need more housing, especially not social housing, and there is no 

infrastructure to support them 24 

Unnecessary/unrealistic/waste of money 19 

The Wyndham arms or Dunraven arms would be better renovated as a 

hotel 14 

Should concentrate on regenerating what is already there and keeping the 

character/history of the town 8 

Do not allow vehicles back into town and keep and improve the bus station 7 

Reconfiguring Weir 1 and alleviating flood risk is important as well as 

supporting wildlife and green areas 7 

Need more retail/ Consolidation with MacArthur Glen outlet 5 

Implications for council tax/ I think there could be money better spent 

elsewhere 3 

Concerned about street art/ Heritage trail 2 

Do not trust the council with big projects 2 

Feasibility 1 

How tall is the gateway hotel going to be? Keep it low rise 1 

Not an area I know well so unable to comment 1 

Only thing worth looking into is a decent hotel for Bridgend. 1 

The Angel housing site would be more appropriate for a hotel 1 

The York Hotel is part of this area and needs urgent attention. 1 

The Wyndham Street development would be better to demolish the 

existing buildings and create a town square area 1 

Why does Maesteg not have such proposals 1 

 
The most common responses were do not see a need for a hotel and concerned about who 
it will be aimed at followed by do not need more housing, especially not social housing, and 
there is no infrastructure to support them and then unnecessary/unrealistic/waste of money.  
 
7.2.5.3 Please select which two projects in this area would be your priority? 

 

Page 279

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


32 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
 

The projects were selected to be prioritised in the following order: 

 Wyndham Street (31%) 

 Dunraven Arms Apartments (26%) 

 Reconfiguration of Weir 1 in Ogmore River (26%) 

 Gateway Hotel (17%) 
 
 
7.2.5.4 Bridgend has a number of gateways into the town centre. How can the 

‘gateways’ be developed to create an easy and attractive entry into the centre?  

 
322 comments were received in response to this question. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Better and clearer signage that are easy to follow to the town 

centre/'Welcome to Bridgend' signage at each gateway 34 

Need to regenerate i.e. make them more attractive, clean and colourful 32 

Infrastructure needs to be improved/reconfigured i.e. it is difficult to get to 

town, roads are too narrow and there is too much traffic 31 

More greenery i.e. landscaping, trees, flowers, flower baskets and be 

environmentally friendly 29 

Could use public art and sculptures that incorporates the town's history: 

archways, reinstate the toll house, pillars, over-arching gantries, large 

letters (like Amsterdam) and striking facades 25 

Places that need regeneration: Dunraven Arms, Derwen Road, Wyndham 

House, Nolton Street, reopen the Embassy Bridge and take into account 

Angel Inn area 24 

Need improved active travel links and public transport 18 

Renovate the empty and rundown buildings 17 

A hotel and/or increased housing would improve the area 16 

353

428

347

232

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Reconfiguration of
Weir 1 in Ogmore

River (26%)

Wyndham Street
(31%)

Dunraven Arms
Apartments (26%)

Gateway Hotel
(17%)

Page 280

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


33 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Need to address the anti-social behaviour 15 

Unsure 15 

Need more incentives to go into town/improved outdoor seating areas for 

cafes and restaurants would be a welcoming sight 13 

Vehicles should have access to the town centre 11 

Agree with the need to regenerate these areas and they will need to be 

maintained 10 

Improved disabled access i.e. more wheelchair friendly, remove steep 

inclines and better disabled parking 9 

The Weir and river is an eyesore and flood defences are important 8 

Unnecessary/waste of money 8 

Improve the entrance to the bus station and make it more  attractive/ 

refurbish bus stops 7 

Do not agree with developing a river walkway or a hotel 5 

Ensure no traffic in the centre 1 

Limit the height of building projects, high rise would ruin the skyline 1 

 
The most common responses were better and clearer signage that are easy to follow to the 
town centre/'Welcome to Bridgend' signage at each gateway followed by need to 
regenerate i.e. make them more attractive, clean and colourful and then infrastructure 
needs to be improved/reconfigured i.e. it is difficult to get to town, roads are too narrow and 
there is too much traffic.  
 
7.2.6 Development zone F – Riverside  
 
7.2.6.1 Do you agree with all the proposed projects in this area? 

 
800 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 
69% of respondents stated that they agreed with all the proposed projects in this area. 15% 
stated that they did not and a further 16% were unsure.  
 
 

550

123 127

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Yes (69%) No (15%) Unsure (16%)

Page 281

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


34 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

7.2.6.2 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or 

proposals you have 

 
152 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below:  
 

Theme  No. 

Do not need any more housing/this area is not suitable for housing/ will 

need supporting infrastructure, and be affordable 69 

Unnecessary/unrealistic/waste of money 20 

The area would be better suited to green areas and leisure facilities i.e. 

cafes, restaurants, nature or heritage trail 18 

Council walkway is a waste and the council building is an eyesore 10 

Concerned about the impact on traffic and parking 5 

Need more retail not housing 5 

Utilise what is there already 5 

Do not agree it is a priority/ I have no alternative proposal 4 

Feasibility/Impact of Covid and Brexit 3 

I would like more information on proposals before commenting 3 

Proposals should be given to other areas of Bridgend County Borough 2 

Street art is a waste of money 2 

Concern about flooding risk 1 

angel housing (22) this should the site of the new police station 1 

Education and policing 1 

Implications for council tax 1 

Improvement to the walkway essential for aesthetics and security 1 

Not bold enough, you need to think bigger 1 

 
The most common responses were do not need any more housing/this area is not suitable 
for housing/ will need supporting infrastructure, and be affordable followed by 
unnecessary/unrealistic/waste of money and then the area would be better suited to green 
areas and leisure facilities i.e. cafes, restaurants, nature or heritage trail.  
 
7.2.6.3 How would you like to see the riverside area developed? 

 

364 comments were received in response to this question. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

With cafes, bars, restaurants, shops and undercover areas 61 

With improved access, links to the town and Newbridge Fields, 

pedestrianised river walkways, active travel links and leisure activities 52 

With a variety of residential spaces  47 

More attractive and cleaner i.e. remove litter, modernise, replace uneven 

pavements and add lighting 39 

Page 282

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


35 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

More green areas and spaces i.e. more trees, flowers, planting and wildlife 28 

Redevelop old buildings and buildings backing on to the riverside 26 

Unsure/agree with proposals to develop this area 22 

Other areas are more important/no need to develop the riverside 18 

Civic Offices and the Angel Walkway bridge are eyesores 14 

Nice seating areas along the river 14 

Do not think there should be any housing/there should be less housing 12 

The river is an important asset and is underutilised 12 

Retain the old bridge and keep new developments in keeping with the old 

bridge 10 

Could be used for water sports, boat trips, river dining and sporting 

activities 8 

Should be retained as a public space and not residential if houses are built 5 

Flood defences are important but could be made more attractive 3 

Unsure how this will be funded and if there is enough space 3 

Decide on one focus area so as to maximise its contribution and avoid 

confusion as to its purpose 1 

There is potential to utilise the river for green energy  1 

 

The most common responses were with cafes, bars, restaurants, shops and undercover 
areas followed by with improved access, links to the town and Newbridge Fields, 
pedestrianised river walkways, active travel links and leisure activities and then with a 
variety of residential spaces.  
 
7.2.7 Development zone G – Newcastle  
 
7.2.7.1 Do you agree with all the proposed projects in this area? 

 
800 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 

579

118 112

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (71%) No (15%) Unsure (14%)

Page 283

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


36 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

71% of respondents stated that they agreed with all the proposed projects in this area. 15% 
stated that they did not and a further 14% were unsure.  
 
7.2.7.2 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or 

proposals you have 

 
143 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some 
comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

There should not be social housing in this area/ it may cause anti-social 

behaviour 50 

Newcastle has great character and needs to be retained/Need to retain the 

historical buildings/places in this area 19 

This is not a priority/ unnecessary/waste of money 15 

Needs infrastructure: parking, drainage, travel links/pollution and traffic is 

already heavy in area and Park street 14 

Do not build more houses/ there are already too many vacant properties 8 

Empty/other buildings and the square could be used for other uses i.e. 

community projects, shops, restaurants, youth centre 8 

Not familiar with the area so can’t comment 7 

The area is too small to develop further 5 

Focus on the town centre, attracting businesses and creating jobs 4 

Proposal is too vague to comment 3 

Regardless of changes, the area needs a considerable amount more 

policing due to anti-social behaviour 2 

Street art is a waste of public money 2 

The improvement to the Victorian and Georgian terraces is much needed 

but the homes should be affordable 1 

The creation of more green space in the town centre is vital as is 

supporting existing ecology  1 

Feasibility 1 

Implications for council tax 1 

Finance 1 

Move everything out of Bridgend and give the area a chance 1 

Relocate homeless centre 1 

Street art seems like a good idea 1 

 
The most common responses were there should not be social housing in this area/ it may 
cause anti-social behaviour followed by Newcastle has great character and needs to be 
retained/Need to retain the historical buildings/places in this area and then this is not a 
priority/ unnecessary/waste of money.  
 
7.2.8 Development zone H – Sunnyside  
 

Page 284

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


37 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

7.2.8.1 Do you agree with all the proposed projects in this area? 

 
805 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 
77% of respondents stated that they agreed with all the proposed projects in this area. 11% 
stated that they did not and a further 12% were unsure.  
 
 
7.2.8.2 If no or unsure please tell us why and any alternative suggestions or 

proposals you have 

 
118 comments were received from respondents who did not agree with the proposals or 
who were unsure. These have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some 
comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Infrastructure: roads will not cope, congestion, there is no parking and 

increased air pollution near to Park Street 32 

Need to focus on green areas/ there is little provision for green space/ 

unnecessary cutting down of trees 13 

Unreasonable/ unnecessary/ waste of money 13 

Is there a need for more housing? Could renovate empty properties 12 

Why do we need a wellness centre when there is already an existing 

leisure centre: could improve the entrance, swimming pool, sports for 

children and promote this to residents 11 

The Wellness Village is already agreed and has began 7 

Need more information inc. is the housing affordable? Is it for the elderly? 6 

What do you mean by wellness? / What is a wellness centre? 6 

Seems a good place to build houses or a hotel 4 

Feasibility/ flood risks 3 

Low priority/need to focus on town and not housing 3 

621

88 96

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (77%) No (11%) Unsure (12%)

Page 285

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


38 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

We need an event space in Bridgend for events and concerts 3 

Forget the heat network, unsustainable and rarely work 2 

Overpopulation 2 

Should not have knocked down the court 2 

Implications for council tax 1 

I would like to see this delivered by a housing association not the council. 1 

Leisure area in Porthcawl should continue as Bridgend already benefits 

from one. Can’t we spread out funding between areas, rather than forces 

on a dying town. 1 

Never go to this area so unable to comment 1 

 
The most common responses were infrastructure: roads will not cope, congestion, there is 
no parking and increased air pollution near to Park Street followed by need to focus on 
green areas/ there is little provision for green space/ unnecessary cutting down of trees and 
then unreasonable/ unnecessary/ waste of money.  
 
7.3 Project priorities  
 
7.3.1 Please tell us which projects identified in the masterplan you think should be the 
priority for Bridgend Town Centre.   
 
520 comments were received in response to this question. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  
 
 

Theme  No. 

Retail core/improve the retail offer/support businesses and attract new 
shops/the Rhiw development 106 

The train station area: creating a new entrance, improving facilities, station 
hill and Tremains Road 97 

Town square: will give the town a central focus, bring people together, 
provide activities and an events space 87 

Relocation of the college/Cheapside 54 

Creation of green and social spaces: to make the town more attractive, and 
provide places for people to meet, socialise and take part in activities 53 

Residential housing/ utilising existing buildings for housing 52 

Improve infrastructure: access to town centre, transport, traffic, active 
travel links and provide free parking 47 

Café and cultural quarter/ cultural hub: to bring the town alive, increase 
footfall, promote independent food outlets 43 

Anything that improves/repurposes empty properties 34 

Sunnyside/wellbeing centre: wellbeing is important and will be needed after 
Covid 30 

Need to address anti-social behaviour 23 

Development of the riverside: use the river as a focal point, will attract 
people to the area, reconfigure Weir 1 20 

De-pedestrianise the town centre 16 

Northern gateway/gateways into the town: to attract visitors to the area 16 

Page 286

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


39 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

None/ have no confidence any of this will happen 15 

Relocation of the Police Centre 13 

The town centre needs to be regenerated 13 

Wyndham Street: is run down and development would make the area more 
attractive 13 

Build on what is already there and focus on improving that 12 

Unsure if projects are feasible or how they will be funded 12 

Agree with all projects 10 

The heritage trail/utilising the history and historical aspects of the town 10 

Dunraven arms/place: make the town more attractive and give a better 
impression 9 

Market Street: looks run down and needs redevelopment 7 

Other areas to include: Embassy hotel, Brewery Field, Town Hall façade, 
Park Place, The Angel Inn, Carnegie House 7 

Derwen Road: area needs redevelopment and it will make the area more 
attractive 6 

Focus on developments in the town centre 6 

Invest in other areas in the borough inc. Maesteg and Porthcawl 6 

Public toilets located throughout the town 6 

Brackla Street/Nolton Street: will make the town more attractive 5 

Tremains business park/ development of offices 5 

Newcastle Hill: has some great/historical  buildings that need renovation 5 

Nolton Street/Nolton club: needs redevelopment and suffers from lack of 
daytime footfall 5 

Projects should aim to be carbon neutral/environmentally aware/include 
electric car charging points 5 

Improve the bus station/ more bus stops undercover 4 

Keep the town centre pedestrianised 4 

Development of the Post Office site 3 

Hotel to attract visitors 3 

I think there should be a consideration of creating an additional train 
stations in Coychurch/Pencoed and Bryntirion 1 

Long term employment opportunities 1 

Not knocking down post office, it the one place in town convenient to all 1 

The residents of Bridgend would love to enhance their town centre and 
play a collaborative role in doing so, please consult more widely with local 
groups when we return to more normal times 1 

 

The most common responses were retail core/improve the retail offer/support businesses 
and attract new shops/the Rhiw development followed by the train station area: creating a 
new entrance, improving facilities, station hill and Tremains Road and then Town Square: 
will give the town a central focus, bring people together, provide activities and an events 
space.  
 
7.4 Town centre housing   

 

7.4.1 Would you like see Bridgend Town Centre as a place with more in-town living 

opportunities?  

Page 287

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


40 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 

805 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 
61% of respondents stated that they would like to see Bridgend town centre as a place with 
more in-town living opportunities. 21% of respondents did not agree with this proposal and 
a further 18% were unsure.   
 
7.4.2 Please give reasons for your answer   
 
277 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘yes’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple 
themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

It will benefit retailers i.e. increase footfall in town and support economic 
growth 85 

It will bring life to the town/make the town centre more vibrant, including at 
night 36 

It will make the town centre more attractive and create a community feel 26 

A good use of empty buildings, it is better to have people living in the town 
rather than derelict buildings 24 

It is a good idea, a lot of people would like to live in the town and is 
convenient for accessing shops and services 24 

It depends who the housing is aimed at, should have limited social housing 
and a mix of residential types 17 

Should cater for: older people, families, young people, people with limited 
mobility 17 

Good environmental benefits, less need for cars and active travel links 
should cut town traffic/no building on green sites 15 

It would make the town safe and discourage anti-social behaviour 14 

The new housing needs to be affordable 12 

The town is not commercial anymore so housing is a good idea 12 

497

173
143

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Yes (61%) No (21%) Unsure (18%)

Page 288

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


41 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

I am concerned about other parts of the infrastructure such as hospital 
capacity, dentists, surgeries, roads, bike lanes etc. to meet the increased 
population and housing. 3 

Too many people are homeless, having more housing would prevent this 2 

I would like to see it but am sceptical of investment 1 

Only if appropriate large green spaces are provided and appropriate public 
transport links are provided for these residents 1 

So too would other local towns which improves the look of an area 1 

The balance needs to be right. First and foremost it is supposed to be a 
retail facility. 1 

I would like to see it but am sceptical of investment 1 

Only if appropriate large green spaces are provided and appropriate public 
transport links are provided for these residents 1 

So too would other local towns which improves the look of an area 1 
 

The most common responses were it will benefit retailers i.e. increase footfall in town and 
support economic growth followed by it will bring life to the town/make the town centre more 
vibrant, including at night and then it will make the town centre more attractive and create a 
community feel.  
 
7.4.3 Please give reasons for your answer   
 
106 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘no’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple 
themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

We should focus on supporting businesses, shops, retail, green spaces 
and making the town a cultural hub and not housing 35 

This may result in increased anti-social behaviour 16 

Town centres are not for housing/too many houses will stop it being a town 
centre 11 

Need to focus on better access to the town, more housing would bring 
more traffic and parking issues 9 

There should no /little social housing in the town 8 

More housing would need additional services for residents and current 
service levels are inadequate 6 

Is this needed/will people want to live in town? 5 

There is plenty of housing Bridgend and the outskirts of town 5 

Do not build houses and save money 3 

It will be overcrowded 2 

Maybe some housing but need to retain the purpose of a 'town centre' 2 

Need to focus on making the town a residential area of shopping/cultural 
hub 2 

Consolidation with MacArthur Glen outlet 1 

I don’t believe the centre is large enough to accommodate it. 1 

Look what has happened already 1 

The council needs to address areas outside the town centre and Porthcawl 
that actually need funding/investment 1 

Page 289

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


42 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 

The most common responses were we should focus on supporting businesses, shops, 
retail, green spaces and making the town a cultural hub and not housing followed by this 
may result in increased anti-social behaviour and then town centres are not for housing/too 
many houses will stop it being a town centre.  
 
7.4.4 Please give reasons for your answer   
 
79 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘unsure’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple 
themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Maybe some housing but need to retain the purpose of a 'town centre' 17 

It should not be social housing as this may increase anti-social behaviour 
in the town 14 

Current infrastructure, services, roads, parking and transport may not 
support this 10 

It would depend on the type of accommodation and who the housing would 
be targeted at 9 

Making use of derelict/empty buildings is a good idea but not building new 
ones 8 

Need to focus on regenerating the town i.e. make it more attractive, more 
shops etc. before housing is considered 8 

Unsure if this is needed/wanted 7 

There is enough housing around the town centre 3 

Implications for council tax 1 

Retail premises may limit the entertainment opportunities and music 
licences for nearby night life 1 

Overcrowding 1 

This is not important for me personally. 1 

They would need to be accessible for disabled people in order for disabled 
people to live independently 1 

 

The most common responses were maybe some housing but need to retain the purpose of 
a 'town centre' followed by it should not be social housing as this may increase anti-social 
behaviour in the town and then current infrastructure, services, roads, parking and transport 
may not support this.  
 
7.5 Access within Bridgend C.B.C43e5555 town centre    
 
7.5.1 Which of the following statements do you think is the best option for access 

within Bridgend Town Centre? 

 

785 respondents answered this question. 
 

Page 290

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


43 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
 

44% of respondents selected partial reopening to traffic as the best option for access to 
Bridgend town centre, 35% selected for access to remain unchanged and 21% selected to 
reopen all roads to traffic.  
 
7.5.2 Do you have any further comments regarding vehicular accesses in the town 

centre?  

 

248 comments were received in response to this question. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Need improved, better and/or free car parking 50 

pedestrianise 45 

Need to de-pedestrianise the town centre and allow access 42 

Need to allow/improve access for disabled people and more disabled 
parking 28 

It needs to change/improve i.e. better roads, signage and business access 22 

Should have 'drop off' and 'pick up' points and access at certain times 20 

It needs to be a safe town centre, impose and enforce a speed limit and 
employ traffic wardens 12 

A partial reopening may work/have a pedestrianised area and open some 
roads up 9 

Unsure 7 

No mention of electric car access or charging points 5 

Improve active travel links and public transport 4 

Make sure the bus station has a police outpost to avoid anti-social 
behaviour and improve toilets 4 

Town centre vehicle access goes against the idea of a town square/café 
and cultural quarter 4 

One way system is difficult to navigate and traffic lights take too long to 
change 3 

278

161

346

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Access remains unchanged
(35%)

Reopen all roads to traffic
(21%)

Partial reopening to traffic
(44%)

Page 291

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


44 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

This will be dependent on any housing developments as residents would 
need access 2 

A more positive approach to encourage motorbike parking 1 

Golf cart system to bring people to town centre from car parks like they 
have at horse racing venues 1 

Please make it a more pleasing town centre to shop in, more flowers and 
greenery. 1 

Some way of increasing access to the railway station for the elderly who 
find the hill approaches extremely difficult. 1 

Small round town public transport using electric vehicles. Assisted fares or 
no cost. 1 

Waste of money 1 

 

The most common responses were need improved, better and/or free car parking followed 
by need to de-pedestrianise the town centre and allow access and then need to 
allow/improve access for disabled people and more disabled parking.  
 
7.5.3 Do you feel the current provision for public transport to travel to Bridgend Town 

Centre is adequate? 

 

805 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 
41% of respondents stated that the current provision for public transport to Bridgend town 
centre is adequate. 30% of respondents stated no to this question and 29% were unsure.   
   

7.5.4 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
94 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘yes’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below:  
 

Theme  No. 

There are regular bus service and trains 48 

There is adequate/plenty of provision 12 

329

246
230

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Yes (41%) No (30%) Unsure (29%)

Page 292

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


45 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Public transport is not fully utilised as it is now 6 

The bus station is good/modern/needs to stay 5 

It is adequate but it's a shame about the antisocial behaviour at the bus 
station 3 

Free parking would be beneficial 2 

Need a bus link from the railway station 2 

Bus fares need to be cheaper, no free bus passes! 1 

Except for bus route 75 which has been cancelled and missed by many 
retired people. 1 

Better bus and rail information, friendly staff. information inn braille and 
other languages 1 

I think later buses would help 1 

Improve rail access 1 

I would close all roads into town and make them pedestrian. 1 

It is adequate but could be much improved to unlock further economic 
opportunities 1 

It is adequate but people are just choosing not to go to town 1 

More trains on different lines would be an advantage 1 

pedestrians should be able to shop without the danger of cars 1 

provided that bus routes stay open 1 

Public transport is simply not convenient - people like to travel in their own 
vehicles, park up and head home when they want to. 1 

Some areas do not have public transport services 1 

What is lacking is transport from Bridgend to other places 1 

Some bus routes need to be upgraded 1 

The standards of bus could be higher or smaller and more frequent 1 
 

The most common responses were there are regular bus service and trains followed by 
there is adequate/plenty of provision and then public transport is not fully utilised as it is 
now.  
 
7.5.5 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
155 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘no’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple 
themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Bus services are inadequate, unreliable and unpleasant 32 

It is a bad service, it is very limited and needs improvement and more 
services 28 

Places identified for improvement: Maes Dewi Pritchard, Porthcawl, A4063, 
Coity, Parc Derwen, Litchard, hospital, Pen-y-Fai, Pencoed, Wildmill, valley 
communities 27 

There has been a lack of investment/too many cuts 18 

Train services are inadequate: it is not easily accessible from town, trains 
overcrowded, car park congested, inadequate 'drop off', expensive and the 
gap from the platform is frightening 12 

Page 293

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


46 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Do not want to go to the bus station, there is too much anti-social 
behaviour 9 

Bus station is too far away from the train station, need better connectivity 7 

It is expensive 6 

Do not use public transport 4 

Depends on where you live 3 

This transport should be electrified/we need more electric community 
minibuses/it will not meet future environmental standards 3 

Unnecessary and a waste of money 3 

Buses and trains are underutilised 2 

Not guaranteed a seat if traveling by bus in wheelchair/ need audio and 
visual announcements on buses 2 

Providing free parking spaces for cars could bring in more people to town 2 

There is a lack of safe cycle storage and cycle routes 2 

Too much congestion 2 

A metro system would provide adequate links through the borough 1 

Allow electric scooters To be driven to and in the town 1 

Move all fast food takeaways away from Waterton retail park and into town 
centre or Bridgend industrial estate. 1 

it’s very conglomerated! 1 

No public transport actually goes into the town centre because it cannot 
(Pedestrianisation) 1 

The lack of bus shelters in some areas is diabolical and discourages the 
use of public transport 1 

We should try and use public transport more 1 

 

The most common responses were bus services are inadequate, unreliable and unpleasant 
followed by it is a bad service, it is very limited and needs improvement and more services 
and then places identified for improvement: Maes Dewi Pritchard, Porthcawl, A4063, Coity, 
Parc Derwen, Litchard, hospital, Pen-y-Fai, Pencoed, Wildmill, valley communities.  
 
7.5.6 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
136 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘unsure’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

Unsure/I do not use public transport 112 

Always need more buses/more buses in the evening 3 

Bridgend bus station is unwelcoming and there is always anti social 
behaviour there 3 

Train facilities need upgrading 3 

The bus station is vital to be kept 2 

Need better links between bus and rail 2 

Access for those who rely on buses from outlying residential areas (Cefn 
Glas, Broadlands, Brackla) is insufficient 1 

Links to the industrial estate and the very limited bus routes through rural 
communities limits access and links to rural areas 1 

Page 294

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


47 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

More regular services between Porthcawl Broadlands and Bridgend 1 

I currently live in Pencoed and it is expensive to get the train into town for 
our family of 6. The train also runs once an hour which is a long time to 
wait for a family with young children. 1 

Do people from other places really travel to Bridgend? 1 

Shame there is no train to Porthcawl. 1 

Public transport can be hard to navigate 1 

No megabus stops 1 

Taxis need to have better access in and out of certain areas around the 
pedestrian areas  1 

You have stopped them doing unprofitable routes. The elderly are screwed 
who can't drive 1 

Would cycle if proper routes provided and secure lock up for bike. 1 
 

The most common responses were unsure/I do not use public transport followed by always 
need more buses/more buses in the evening and then Bridgend bus station is unwelcoming 
and there is always anti-social behaviour there and train facilities need upgrading.  
 
7.5.7 Do you believe the town centre would benefit from improved active travel links? 

 

806 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 

75% of respondents stated that the town centre would benefit from improved active travel 
links, 14% of respondents stated no and a further 11% were unsure.   
 
7.5.8 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
263 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘yes’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple 
themes: 
 

Theme  No. 

Better for the environment, less traffic and less pollution 57 

607

115
84

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (75%) No (14%) Unsure (11%)

Page 295

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


48 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Positive effects on health and wellbeing, good exercise and to address 
obesity 55 

More cycle routes and lanes needed and facilities i.e. bike storage/hire 37 

Have to ensure routes are safe i.e. well lit, not hindered by traffic and paths 
maintained 28 

Agree with proposal 27 

Areas that need links: schools, to Porthcawl, Cefn Glas, Laleston, Parc 
Derwen, Broadlands, Tremains Road, the hospital, Ogmore by Sea, 
Brackla, bus and train stations 17 

Improved links would benefit the town 16 

There are already some good links but they need improvements and with 
less bollards 16 

Great idea but facilities for older people and disabled people need to be 
considered too 10 

They need to be thought out and links properly joined up 10 

Walking and cycling should be encouraged 8 

I would be wary of mixing cyclists and pedestrians 3 

Active travel links can only be positive but car drivers and bus links need to 
be considered too 2 

A relocation of the train station to a more accessible area in Bridgend Town 
centre would help 1 

But more transport is needed at later times in the day 1 

Except for cycle lanes, no cycle lanes! 1 

Improving active travel infrastructure will be ineffective if you reopen the 
town centre to cars. 1 

The increase in dog ownership does not factor into this scheme at all. 1 

There are other places to have this consideration too (Maesteg) 1 
 

The most common responses were better for the environment, less traffic and less pollution 
followed by positive effects on health and wellbeing, good exercise and to address obesity 
and then more cycle routes and lanes needed and facilities i.e. bike storage/hire.  
 

7.5.9 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
59 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘no’ to this question. These have 
been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

There is already adequate provision/ it is unnecessary 20 

Not many people are using the Active travel links already in place 10 

Waste of money 7 

What about the elderly, disabled, young children and people who are 
unable to walk far or cycle? 7 

Cycle lanes do not work 5 

Need to focus on the town centre first 4 

Walking yes but cycling no 3 

Housing regeneration in the area would negate this. 1 

Page 296

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


49 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

There would be little or no benefit to the town centre but it would benefit 
public health 1 

You are not able to carry your shopping when walking/cycling 1 
 

The most common responses were there is already adequate provision/ it is unnecessary 
followed by not many people are using the active travel links already in place and then 
waste of money and what about the elderly, disabled, young children and people who are 
unable to walk far or cycle? 
 
7.5.10 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
35 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘unsure’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

There is already adequate provision/ it is unnecessary 14 

Not many people using the Active travel links already in place 5 

What about the elderly, disabled, young children and people who are 
unable to walk far or cycle? 5 

Agree with proposal but do not think this should be a priority 4 

Walking yes but cycling no 3 

Agree with proposal but unsure how it will be achieved 2 

It might encourage more people to walk 1 

Make walking routes more attractive - plant more trees, invest in more 
attractive town landscaping 1 

 

The most common responses were there is already adequate provision/ it is unnecessary 
followed by not many people using the active travel links already in place and then what 
about the elderly, disabled, young children and people who are unable to walk far or cycle? 
 
7.6 Placemaking     
 
7.6.1 What changes do you believe can be brought to the town centre that brings 

together its positive attributes in order to create public places for all to enjoy?  

 

467 comments were received in response to this question. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

More open and green areas and spaces  85 

Address the anti-social behaviour and have an increased police presence 
so people feel safe in town 69 

Regenerate the town centre and empty buildings, make it more attractive 
and clean 54 

Improve the retail offer, more and better shops, restaurants, bars and 
support businesses 53 

More leisure activities and events i.e. music, culture, art, theatre, cinema, 
food festivals, markets 38 

Page 297

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


50 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Create mixed areas and community spaces/hubs for everyone to enjoy and 
where people can sit and socialise 35 

Preserve historical buildings, celebrate the town's history/use more Welsh 30 

A town square as a focal point and café/outdoor eating areas 25 

Capitalise on the river, make river walkways  12 

De-pedestrianise the town centre, improve transport, gateways, active 
travel links improve parking 12 

Increased accessibility for disabled people i.e. flat pavement and kerbs, 
disabled parking and disabled friendly housing 10 

Nothing/Unnecessary/save money 9 

More housing in the town centre, empty buildings can be converted to 
housing 6 

Everything you have covered in the masterplan 4 

More undercover seating areas 4 

Not the main issue, solve the big problems first/increase footfall 4 

Unsure/do not think these plans will go ahead 4 

Child play area/park 3 

Fully serviced public toilets 3 

We do not have the weather for a café culture/have appropriate ideas for 
the season 3 

Change the planning process, put plans on display for those with no 
computers 2 

Get the market back up and running and use its facilities 2 

Involve interested groups you can and listen to what residents say 2 

It is areas on the outskirts of town and within the borough that need money 
and facilities 2 

No access for vehicles and no accommodation in the town centre 2 

Revert to old town centre in the past 2 

Change the labour led council 1 

Consolidation with MacArthur Glen outlet. 1 

Make the recreation centre and fields a place to be, NOT the town centre 1 
 

The most common responses were more open and green areas and spaces followed by 
address the anti-social behaviour and have an increased police presence so people feel 
safe in town and then regenerate the town centre and empty buildings, make it more 
attractive and clean.  
 
7.6.2 Do you support the creation of a new Town Square and more green space in the 

town centre?  

 

814 respondents answered this question. 
 

Page 298

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


51 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
 

87% of respondents stated that they supported the creation of a new Town Square and 
more green space in the town centre, 7% stated that they did not support this proposal and 
6% were unsure.  
 
7.6.3 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
314 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘yes’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

Will make the area more attractive, attract visitors and give the town a focal 
point 91 

People enjoy green areas and we need to create more 52 

It would provide a social space for families and people to meet, and bring 
life into the town 36 

Agree with proposal/ it is a great idea 34 

Will support health, wellbeing and mental health 25 

Will need to be maintained i.e. grass cut and effectively policed to limit anti-
social behaviour 22 

Will provide a good mixed/multi-use centre and provide a great venue for 
events 18 

Would provide a nice area to sit and relax/ must have seating 12 

Would create a community feel and pride in the town/ involve volunteers in 
planting etc. 11 

Better linkage and celebration of the town, war memorial needs to stay 4 

Far too many empty retail units, we need more and high quality shops 3 

I do not believe you have any intention of following through with this 
commitment 1 

If you build more flats there will be more problems with anti-social 
behaviour 1 

I support it but where is the space for this green space 1 

No town centre park 1 

Likewise for Maesteg 1 

710

58 46

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Yes (87%) No (7%) Unsure (6%)

Page 299

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


52 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Rebuild town hall facade 1 

 

The most common responses were will make the area more attractive, attract visitors and 
give the town a focal point followed by people enjoy green areas and we need to create 
more and then it would provide a social space for families and people to meet, and bring life 
into the town.  
 

7.6.4 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
34 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘no’ to this question. These have 
been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

Unnecessary/waste of money 18 

Will encourage/provide more space for anti-social behaviour 9 

Focus on having more green space 3 

There is not enough space 2 

need more disabled housing 1 

Playable spaces would be better  1 
 

The most common responses were unnecessary/waste of money followed by will 
encourage/provide more space for anti-social behaviour and then focus on having more 
green space.  
 

7.6.5 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
28 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘unsure’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

May encourage/provide more space for anti-social behaviour 7 

Unsure it is necessary/what benefit it would add 5 

Implications for council tax/costs 3 

Already have open/green spaces  2 

Needs to be kept tidy and safe (CCTV) 2 

Yes more green space but unsure of town square 2 

Not sure if the town square is big enough to make it greener 1 

Have not experienced a town square 1 

Only would be good if the post office remains more central 1 

Town square is part of the historic district so unsure about changing it. 1 

The existing cenotaph area is quite large. irony here, you want green 
space in town yet you want to permit development out of town on the 
playing fields of our communities 1 

We live in a fairly wet climate 1 

What the town needs up to date shops 1 
 

Page 300

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


53 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

The most common responses were may encourage/provide more space for anti-social 
behaviour followed by unsure it is necessary/what benefit it would add and then implications 
for council tax/costs.  
 
7.6.6 Do you think the town centre suffers from anti-social behaviour? 

 

818 respondents answered this question. 
 

 
 

81% of respondents stated that they thought the town suffered from anti-social behaviour, 
5% stated no to this question and 14% were unsure.  
 
7.6.7 If yes, what measures could help reduce anti-social behaviour?  

 

509 comments were received in response to this question. These have been themed and 
are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Increased police presence/more police and PCSOs patrolling the 
streets/police centre in town 205 

Regenerating the town, opening it up, good lighting and having mixed uses 
will discourage anti-social behaviour 59 

Enforce the laws, zero tolerance, implement fines and dispersal orders 49 

Provide more support for people with drug and alcohol issues and have 
more facilities for young people to engage in 48 

There is a lot of anti-social behaviour at the bus station and the job centre/ 
put the job centre out of town or by police station 29 

Less pubs in the town centre/ pubs given shorter opening hours 24 

Remove drug and alcohol services and hostels out of the town centre 21 

Need to remove groups of young people, drunk people and people on 
drugs from the town centre 17 

More and improved CCTV 16 

Stop visible drinking and drug taking on the streets 14 

Increased residential areas would discourage anti-social behaviour 13 

Consider the social housing around the town and do not build anymore 
houses in the town 11 

662

38

118

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (81%) No (5%) Unsure (14%)

Page 301

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


54 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Unsure but the perception of the town is that it is not safe 9 

Encourage more pride in the area 8 

Get homeless off streets get them somewhere to live 3 

Do not bring Bridgend College into the centre 1 

Keep the Police Station in town where it is 1 

Move the town centre and consolidate with MacArthur Glen outlet 1 
 

The most common responses were increased police presence/more police and PCSOs 
patrolling the streets/police centre in town followed by regenerating the town, opening it up, 
good lighting and having mixed uses will discourage anti-social behaviour and then enforce 
the laws, zero tolerance, implement fines and dispersal orders and provide more support for 
people with drug and alcohol issues and have more facilities for young people to engage in.  
 
7.6.8 Do you think there are aspects of the masterplan that can help young people 

have a greater connection with their town centre? 

 

800 respondents answered this question. 

 
 

60% of respondents felt that there were aspects of the masterplan that could help young 
people have a greater connection with their town centre, 13% stated no to this question and 
27% were unsure.   
 
7.6.9 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
244 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘yes’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple 
themes: 
 

Theme  No. 

Relocating the college 58 

The open and green spaces, places to socialise and the cultural and café 
space 43 

Need to consult with and involve young people in developments, will help 
create a sense of pride 31 

Community centre and attractions such as music, events, arts and 
activities will encourage young people 28 

482

104

214

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Yes (60%) No (13%) Unsure (27%)

Page 302

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


55 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

The regeneration and more attractive spaces will be good for young people 27 

Increase in affordable housing and job creation 19 

Improved retail offer 8 

Improved transport and active travel links 8 

Agree that the plan will help young people feel connected to the town 
centre 7 

The town square 7 

Should encourage all ages 6 

Anything that encourages appreciation of the towns history 3 

More police presence and less anti-social behaviour would help 2 

It may do but young people today in all honesty don't care what they have 1 

More opportunities to buy drugs 1 

Yes - cancellation 1 

Youngsters will love the 24/7 pubs & clubs but this will drive everyone else 
even further away from the town centre 1 

 

The most common responses were relocating the college followed by the open and green 
spaces, places to socialise and the cultural and café space and then need to consult with 
and involve young people in developments, will help create a sense of pride.  
 
7.6.10 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
51 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘no’ to this question. These have 
been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

Young people don't/won't care 11 

Unsure how the plan will benefit young people 10 

Need more for young people: sports, arts, employment, drop in centre, 
cinema, theatre, concerts, bowling, McDonalds, gaming centres 9 

You should ask/involve young people 5 

There is nowhere for young people to go/they don't feel safe in town 4 

You are not making the town centre better/the town centre is dead 3 

Depends on what age group you mean by young people 2 

Unnecessary 2 

Lack of Cycle and footpaths 1 

The only aspect of this plan for young people is the relocated college - their 
connection will remain with the college, not the town centre. 1 

Nothing will change unless you remove all the rehabilitation centres 1 

What about older people 1 

Young people would prefer a more modern and environmental approach to 
this like solar energy 1 

 

The most common responses were young people don't/won't care followed by unsure how 
the plan will benefit young people and then need more for young people: sports, arts, 
employment, drop in centre, cinema, theatre, concerts, bowling, McDonalds, gaming 
centres.  
 

Page 303

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


56 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

7.6.11 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
28 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘unsure’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

Young people need to be involved/consulted 11 

Unsure how the plan will benefit young people 7 

Too much antisocial behaviour/pub culture 6 

Need more for young people: bowling, youth clubs, skate parks, ice 
skating, after school clubs 5 

Aspects of the plan that appeal to young people: college relocation, 
riverside developments and Nolton club a good idea, but need to utilise the 
recreation centre too 4 

Unsure/feel unable to comment 4 

What about older people?/It is not just young people that need to connect 
to the town centre 4 

Young people don't/won't care 3 

Young people spend most time online/with their friends 3 

Did any of us connect with our town centres?/Everyone is different 2 

Do not like visiting/rarely visit the town centre 2 

I would like to think so 2 

Young people and families will be attracted to green, sustainable plans for 
Bridgend 2 

I see a vibrant cafe culture as a definite draw. This masterplan looks as if it 
will remove the tacky clubs that attract the worst kind of youth behaviour. 1 

More housing for young adults may encourage pride in the town centre as 
a place to live 1 

There is some consideration for young people, but not in the 
evenings/weekends 1 

Would not be a major priority 1 

Young people want to shop in ethical, sustainable places, want 
independent bars and have their town represent them 1 

 

The most common responses were young people need to be involved/consulted followed 
by unsure how the plan will benefit young people and then too much antisocial 
behaviour/pub culture.  
 
7.6.12 Bridgend Town Centre has an abundance of history and heritage associated 

with it. Do you think the town centre would benefit from a heritage trail, linking up all 

the historic assets of the town centre? 

 

802 respondents answered this question. 
 

Page 304

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


57 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
 

78% of respondents felt that the town would benefit from a heritage trail linking up all the 
historic assets of the town centre, 11% did not agree with this proposal and a further 11% 
were unsure.  
 
7.6.13 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
292 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘yes’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

Would be enjoyed by residents and attract tourism, it would be interesting 63 

It is important to remember and retain historical aspects and take 
advantage of our history 52 

Residents would have more pride in their town from learning about the 
heritage 48 

Agree with proposal/ it is a good idea/ link with historical societies 40 

Would raise awareness of Bridgend's history and historical sites 25 

It will give the town a new dimension, a new activity and reason to visit 19 

Will need good linkage, transport and link with other parts of the borough 11 

It could be linked to schools and taught to young people 10 

As long as there are enough sites, had good signage and promotion 5 

It won’t work if alter the town, add too much housing, need to preserve 
historic buildings 5 

It would also be good to have a museum 5 

The town needs to regenerated and social issues addressed first 3 

I would like to see some historical assets but I would like to see some 
modern assets 2 

Bridgend needs to forge a position on the M4 corridor. Stop trying to be like 
Cardiff and try to be more like Cowbridge 1 

But this would only appeal to a small demographic and would probably end 
up being vandalised anyway. 1 

It's something new but would the uptake be enough to justify the cost 1 

625

89 88

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Yes (78%) No (11%) Unsure (11%)

Page 305

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


58 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Rebuild town hall facade 1 

 

The most common responses were would be enjoyed by residents and attract tourism, it 
would be interesting followed by it is important to remember and retain historical aspects 
and take advantage of our history and then residents would have more pride in their town 
from learning about the heritage.  
 
7.6.14 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
43 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘no’ to this question. These have 
been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

I do not think there will be much/any interest 8 

All the heritage is gone/BCBC has got rid of most of the heritage 7 

Need to improve the rest of the town first 6 

Unnecessary/low priority 5 

Waste of money 5 

There is not enough places of interest 4 

A museum would attract more interest 2 

Because they still gather together 1 

Don't think it would attract any more visitors 1 

I think it would benefit from you leaving it alone. 1 

Leave the past behind and move towards the future. 1 

Kids will wreck it 1 

With all these grand plans probably all the history and heritage will be 
bulldozed 1 

 

The most common responses were I do not think there will be much/any interest followed 
by all the heritage is gone/BCBC has got rid of most of the heritage and then need to 
improve the rest of the town first. 
 
7.6.15 Please give reasons for your answer  

 
30 comments were received from respondents who stated ‘unsure’ to this question. These 
have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple 
themes: 
 

Theme  No. 

Agree with project but do not feel it is a priority 11 

Do not think there would be much/any interest 5 

Is there enough places of interest? 4 

Don't know/unable to comment 2 

Not sure about the benefit 2 

A museum/gallery in the town centre to showcase the town's history  1 

A website may be better 1 

Designated cycle or walking trails to improve air quality and encourage 
interest in heritage / history 1 

Page 306

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


59 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Have to see a proposal first 1 

It creates too much street clutter. Things like this are never maintained and 
become an eyesore. 1 

Need to improve the rest of the town first 1 

Not sure it’s the right location 1 
 

The most common responses were agree with project but do not feel it is a priority followed 
by do not think there would be much/any interest and then Is there enough places of 
interest? 
 
7.7 Do you have any other comments on the Bridgend Town Centre masterplan 

proposals? 

 
Finally, respondents were asked if they had anything else to say about the Bridgend Town 
centre masterplan. 380 comments were received and have been themed in the table below, 
some comments contained multiple themes: 
 

Theme  No. 

This all sounds very positive, agree with the proposals, it is overdue and 
can't wait to see the results 106 

No more housing, need to focus and support businesses, encourage 
more/better shops, bars and restaurants to the town 44 

Make it a town that brings the community together with more green spaces, 
activities, events, parks and a place for people to meet and socialise  39 

Would need more information i.e. how will this be funded, are the plans 
feasible and what impact will there be on the tax payer 37 

Improve access and infrastructure to the town centre i.e. improve roads, 
traffic, ease congestion, improve parking, active travel links and decide on 
vehicle access for the town centre 31 

Regeneration and redevelopment of empty properties is needed to make 
the town clean and attractive, any new developments need to be 
maintained 30 

Don't do it/stop wasting money 24 

Need to address anti-social behaviour in the town 24 

Preserve/repurpose old buildings as much as possible and highlight 
historical aspects 15 

Please invest in other areas and smaller communities too inc. Maesteg and 
Porthcawl 13 

Listen to residents and involve them in the process 11 

Agree with less focus on retail and more focus on residential 8 

Development priorities: Wyndham St/Market St., train station entrance, 
Dunraven Arms, the post office and college relocation 8 

Not convinced anything will happen 8 

This needs to be efficient and effective, work needs to be managed 
properly and include post Covid needs 8 

Improve disabled access i.e. make sure BSL is available, improve steep 
areas and consider housing for disabled people 4 

Other areas to consider: Brewery Field regeneration, please take down the 
'ranch' on Nolton street and Civic Offices are an eyesore 4 

Page 307

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


60 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Council could repurpose old buildings to provide services/have an 
information centre 3 

Develop the riverside further i.e. it is a focal point, develop south towards 
Merthyr Mawr and have water sports 3 

Install charging points for electric cars for the future 3 

Build on what you have and then develop ideas for development 2 

I did not see any reference to the availability of public toilets, surely these 
are important in any town centre. 2 

Incorporate more Welsh language into the town centre and provide 
opportunities for people to learn the language 2 

Keep the town centre pedestrianised 2 

Why didn’t you deliver the last master plan? 2 

De-pedestrianise the town centre 1 

Create a lorry park/caravan rest area near the motorway with a food outlet, 
toilets and shower facilities this would attract motor way commercial 
vehicles and foreign travellers 1 

Nothing in here about misuse of Cheltenham Terrace and Jenkin Street as 
cut through 1 

 

The most common responses were this all sounds very positive, agree with the proposals, it 
is overdue and can't wait to see the results followed by no more housing, need to focus and 
support businesses, encourage more/better shops, bars and restaurants to the town and 
then make it a town that brings the community together with more green spaces, activities, 
events, parks and a place for people to meet and socialise.  

8. Social media responses 

During the consultation period there were 410 interactions on our social media channels.  
 

The comments have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments 
contained multiple themes: 
 

Theme  No. 

Support for masterplan proposals  54 

Masterplan is not achievable  35 

Need bigger/better shops in the town centre 33 

Criticism of council and council services  25 

BCBC need to tackle anti-social behaviour in the town centre  23 

Don’t increase council tax 20 

How is this being funded 19 

Reduce rates and rents  16 

Support for de-pedestrianisation 15 

Need free town centre parking / better disabled parking facilities  15 

BCBC don’t listen to public views  13 

This is a waste of money  13 

Invest in other areas of county borough  13 

Not supportive of more in town housing  11 

How did BCBC perform in the last masterplan  11 

Page 308

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


61 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Empty properties should be let/sold  10 

BCBC need to prioritise road repairs  10 

Problems are due to out of town / online shopping  10 

Support for more affordable accommodation   8 

Need more public toilets and baby change facilities in the town centre  8 

Don’t support relocation of Bridgend College to the town centre 8 

Spend money on public services 6 

Support for more leisure and community facilities  6 

Spend money on health services 5 

This plan is because of elections  5 

Better cycling and walking routes needed  4 

More space is needed for young people  4 

Plans will cause more congestion in the town centre 4 

What will happen to the post office? 4 

Why do this following the impact of Covid-19 4 

What are the timescales and who will carry out the work 4 

Need more information on the Wellness Village  3 

More housing will generate more council tax  3 

Need to clean up the town centre and borough 3 

Improved environmental impact  2 

Need to improve night- time economy in the town centre  2 

Better maps directions and transport infrastructure needed  2 

Brexit has impacted on the town centre 1 

We don’t need more shops or offices 1 

Welsh Government have ruined economy  1 

Were consultants used to develop the masterplan  1 

Can we see feasibility report 1 

Encourage residents to shop local  1 

Housing developers will benefit 1 

In town businesses need more support  1 

Is this sustainable  1 

 
The most common comments were support for masterplan proposals, followed by 
masterplan is not achievable and then need bigger/better shops in the town centre 

9. Engagement with Bridgend Youth Council   

Members of the Regeneration Team and the Consultation and Engagement Team attended 
Bridgend Youth Council on 23 February 2021.  The Youth Council were given an overview of 
the proposals and were invited to make comments. We engaged with six young people in this 
session. Comments made during this session have been themed and are detailed in the table 
below: 
 

Theme  No. 

Need to improve the retail offer, attract and support businesses and 
increase footfall in the town centre 7 

Page 309

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


62 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

College has negative connotations/ an increased presence of young 
people may deter older people 3 

Need more for young people to do/places to socialise, somewhere cheap 
and under cover 3 

Police presence will make people feel safer but some may find them 
intimidating i.e. homeless and BAME people 3 

Develop performing spaces for theatre 2 

Do not know enough about the projects/some projects seem speculative 2 

Is there a need for more housing in the town centre and who will they be 
targeted at? 2 

Need to create more green/natural spaces in the town centre? 2 

Taxis park where they are not supposed to, it is important to have 
designated taxi ranks 2 

More public toilets should be created 1 

Need to make public transport more accessible and affordable 1 

We need more facilities for cycling i.e. bike storage 1 

We need to be giving people opportunities for proper jobs and a livelihood. 1 

What will happen if the general consensus if the public don’t want this 
plan? 1 

Need to know what will attract people to the town instead of travelling to 
the cities 1 

 
The most common comments were need to improve the retail offer, attract and support 
businesses and increase footfall in the town centre followed by college has negative 
connotations/ an increased presence of young people may deter older people and then need 
more for young people to do/places to socialise, somewhere cheap and under cover and 
police presence will make people feel safer but some may find them intimidating i.e. homeless 
and BAME people.  

10. Engagement with Town and Community Council Forum.    

Members of the Regeneration Team and the Consultation and Engagement Team attended 
the Town and Community Council Forum on 15 February 2021. Attendees were given an 
overview of the proposals and were invited to make comments. We engaged with 39 Town 
and Community Council members in this session. Comments made during this session have 
been themed and are detailed in the table below: 
 

Theme  No. 

The masterplan has good projects and joined up strategies that will 
improve the town 4 

Has the plan considered: public toilets/baby changing facilities, seating 
areas and recycling bins 3 

Funding: is there an idea of total costs and will it include funding through 
the Cardiff City Deal? 2 

Timescales of projects/start and end dates 2 

A town centre shuttle bus could enhance travel within the town and visit the 
car parks, Asda and Tesco 2 

What aspects of transport outside of the town so that residents from 
outside of the town can access the town centre are being considered? 2 

Page 310

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


63 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Will provide a central hub and green spaces to improve leisure facilities 
and health and wellbeing (will be needed post Covid) 2 

Have to work with stakeholders to implement the plan 1 

Having a masterplan built into our Local Delivery Plan will strengthen grant 
applications  1 

Positive to see improvements to active travel 1 

Preservation of historical and architectural features is important 1 

Relocating the college is a good idea 1 

Improvements to the train station would ensure we are a hub and develop 
us as a county town 1 

 
The most common comments were the masterplan has good projects and joined up 
strategies that will improve the town followed by has the plan considered: public toilets/baby 
changing facilities, seating areas and recycling bins and then funding: is there an idea of total 
costs and will it include funding through the Cardiff City Deal?, timescales of projects/start 
and end dates, a town centre shuttle bus could enhance travel within the town and visit the 
car parks, Asda and Tesco, what aspects of transport outside of the town so that residents 
from outside of the town can access the town centre are being considered? and will provide 
a central hub and green spaces to improve leisure facilities and health and wellbeing (will be 
needed post Covid).  

11. Letters and emails    

21 emails and two letters were received during the consultation. The details of the emails and 
letters have been themed and are detailed in the table below, some contained multiple 
themes:  
 

Theme  No. 

Request for survey/further information 8 

Agree with proposals/looking forward to the developments 4 

Need to support businesses in and to the town 4 

How will projects be funded/will grant funding be available  3 

Agree with relocating the college/where will the college be 
situated? 2 

De-pedestrianise the town centre 2 

Need more open and green spaces 2 

Is the train area development needed/Unsure where access 
would be available on Llynfi Lane 2 

Keep the town centre pedestrianised 1 

Keen to see cultural hub and events 1 

Letter submission 1 

Need to address anti-social behaviour 1 

Need to listen to the views of residents 1 

Unsure where the police station will go 1 

What buildings will be demolished 1 

Would like to see more plans on the cycle lanes proposed 1 

Is town centre housing needed and will parking be provided 1 

Will there be an increase in policing 1 

 

Page 311

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


64 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

The most common themes were requests for survey/further information followed by agree 
with proposals/looking forward to the developments and then need to support businesses in 
and to the town.  
 
One letter received from Bridgend College has been attached in Appendix one.  

12. Conclusion 

12.1 Summary 
 

Using statistical analysis, based on a confidence level of 95% a sample of 849 survey 
completions is considered to be robust to a maximum standard error of ±3.35%.  Therefore, 
we can be 95% confident that the responses are representative of those that would be 
given by the total adult population, to within ±3.35 % of the percentages reported.  
 
This means that if the total adult population of Bridgend had taken part in the survey and a 
statistic of 50% was observed, we can be 95% confident that the actual figure lies between 
46.65% and 53.35%. 
 
12.2 Equality Impact Assessment  
 
The Full Equality Impact Assessment will be completed to consider the impacts of the 
Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan proposals, and presented to Cabinet alongside the 
consultation report.  

13. Appendix one.  

13.1 Letter from Bridgend College  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 312

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


65 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Bridgend County Borough Council 

Civic Offices 

Angel Street 

Bridgend 

CF31 4WB 

By email: consultation@bridgend.gov.uk 

26 February 2021 

Dear Sir / Madam 

BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE MASTERPLAN 

Bridgend College is a Further Education College supporting over 6,000 students and employing over 

600 members of staff across its campuses in Bridgend, which includes its campus at Cowbridge Road 

which is located adjacent to, but outside of the study area for the masterplanning exercise. One of 

Bridgend College’s strategic priorities is to ‘be a catalyst for Economic Regeneration’ and this, 

combined with the aspiration to deliver a new campus within Bridgend town centre means that 

Bridgend College is a significant stakeholder with regards to the Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan 

(BTCM) and its delivery. 

The current consultation relates to the “Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan: Executive Summary” 

which sets out background to the masterplan, outlines its vision over the 10 year period that it will 

cover, identifies eight “Proposed Development Zones”, and, within the Proposed Development Zones, 

identifies 23 “Regeneration Projects”. We have not had sight of the complete document, but 

understand that the consultation process is focused on the Executive Summary document. 

Bridgend College has a number of generally positive comments to make on the BTCM which, given 

that the online forms provide limited opportunities for detailed commentary, are instead made in the 

form of this letter. We would welcome the opportunity to discuss our comments and next steps with 

BCBC and its consultant team who has prepared the BTCM. 

Students at the College have been made aware of the online questionnaire and have been 

encouraged to complete it. 

Masterplan Approach 

The preparation of a masterplan for Bridgend town centre is supported in principle, as a document 

which sets out the vision and aspirations for the town centre, and to ensure that its future development 

Page 313

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


66 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

is co-ordinated and comprehensive. It must, in practice, be used however as a means of securing 

future funding to deliver development, rather solely as a planning tool. Its proposed status as 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) is useful as it provides the certainty during the planning 

process. However, the masterplan’s critical role and where it can be most valuable is at the earliest 

stages of the development process in terms of attracting developer and investor interest in the town 

centre (as a whole, and specific sites), attracting funding and thus, bolstering confidence in investing 

in the town centre – from public, private and third sectors. 

Given Bridgend College’s interest in the town centre and specifically its aspirations to develop a new 

town centre campus, it therefore supports the preparation of the BTCM as a tool to encourage 

regeneration of certain sites within Bridgend and as a mechanism to deliver improvements to the 

existing urban environment. Used correctly, the BTCM should support funding applications to funding 

bodies to help deliver specific projects, including a new town centre campus for the College. 

Vision & Objectives 

The “Vision” set out in the BTCM is appropriate and the recognition of the role that learning and 

education can play in achieving this is welcomed by Bridgend College, as is the specific ‘growth’ 

objective relating to the creation of a “Learning Hub”. 

Having a presence within the town centre is an aspiration for Bridgend College and will not only be 

positive for our profile but would also result in the delivery of a high quality learning facility that is 

located in a sustainable and accessible location well served by complimentary services. 

There is significant focus and certainty provided in the BTCM and supporting FAQs about moving the 

college into the town centre by utilising the existing Police Station site (Cheapside) as the ‘location for 

education uses’. It recognises that this proposal can, and indeed would, act as a catalyst for town 

centre regeneration, increasing footfall and contributing to the creation of a mixed economy and 

demographic. For the reasons described in more detail below, the redevelopment of a new ‘Learning 

Hub’ is central to the realisation of the BTCM’s objectives for growth in the town centre. The role of 

Bridgend College as a key stakeholder and organisation in the delivery of this development, and thus 

this objective, is therefore vital and we look forward to continuing to work with the Council and other 

stakeholders to meeting the BTCM’s objectives. 

The regeneration benefits of education uses in town centres 

The challenges faced by high streets are well known, with the accelerated evolution of retail and 

consumer shifts in 2020 in response to Covid-19. However, it is clear that for high streets to recover, 

non-retail uses will play a vital role in the transformation of traditional shopping spaces to a more 

dynamic, rich and purposeful mix of uses. As such, what is increasingly recognised within the 

education sector is the need to reposition how both colleges and universities themselves operate their 

towns and cities. Furthermore, education is a major employer in many towns /cities – as is indeed the 

case for 

Bridgend College in Bridgend. As such, the college’s role in the local economy through greater 

interaction with businesses, commitments to business innovation schemes, greater collaboration with 

other public stakeholders, increased community participation and wider dialogue with other education 

Page 314

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


67 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

providers in the locality, is pivotal in development a reinvigorated and viable place and community 

within the town centre. 

In this context, Bridgend College’s estates strategy is looking at how it ensures that its facilities are fit 

for purpose, whilst how it can best break down the boundaries with its surrounding place (i.e. the wider 

potential, or not, of its current Cowbridge Road estate), increasing connectivity and also opportunities 

to re-purpose part of its existing estate. As explained further below, there is an exciting opportunity 

for part or all of the college’s Cowbridge Road facility to be relocated in a new building on the 

Cheapside site, in the town centre. This is clearly an attractive, emerging opportunity for greater 

collaboration between key town stakeholders to unlock a more sustainable future for Bridgend town 

centre. Indeed, many great interactions are already happening, but there is a substantial new 

opportunity to further unlock funding support, and subsequently regeneration of the town centre 

through the development of new education uses. 

The Cheapside Site 

As BCBC will know, South Wales Police are to re-locate from their existing site at Cheapside to a new 

purpose-built facility adjacent to their existing facility at Cowbridge Road following the grant of 

planning permission in 2019 (ref. P/19/140/FUL). Bridgend College intends to develop a facility within 

the town centre and has been in high level discussions with South Wales Police with regards to the 

acquisition of their site at Cheapside. 

The BTCM reflects this by identifying the South Wales Police site at Cheapside (Project 8) for a 

“Proposed Education and Civic Use” and for the delivery of education floorspace within the Brackla, 

Nolton & Oldcastle Proposed Development Zone. This reflects Bridgend College’s aspirations to 

develop a campus within this part of Bridgend Town Centre and therefore the approach taken in the 

BTCM is supported. 

At Page 20, the BTCM provides an overview of the form of development anticipated to be delivered 

at the Cheapside site, stating that a minimum of 10,000sqm of education floorspace is anticipated to 

be delivered over a one to six year time period. Bridgend College has undertaken a high level capacity 

exercise for the site but this remains very much at a preliminary stage. With that in mind, Bridgend 

College welcome the BTCM’s approach of not providing an illustration for this site (as is the case for 

some sites) and not being prescriptive about building heights, built form, and urban design. Given that 

the capacity exercise work is very much at an early stage, Bridgend College welcome that no 

maximum figure is provided for floorspace to be provided and suggest that the minimum figure of 

10,000sqm could also be removed to maintain maximum flexibility. The BTCM also identifies that 

pedestrian, cycle, and bus facilities and routing will be enhanced at Cheapside and this combined 

multi-modal approach is supported by Bridgend College. 

It is also noted that land directly to the north of the site, referred to as ‘Cheapside East’ (i.e. the Brackla 

One Multi-storey Car Park, Aldi and Brackla House) and land to the south, the Nolton (Bridgend 

Shopping Centre), are also included as regeneration projects, for mixed use development, in the 

BTCM. The immediate regeneration benefits of providing a new education campus on the Cheapside 

site will be that it anchors development around it, notably on the land immediately adjacent to it. This 

Page 315

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


68 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

could include ancillary uses to the College which would further enhance the viability and vitality of this 

part of the town centre. 

Summary 

Bridgend College is evidently a major stakeholder within Bridgend and has intentions to deliver a high 

quality educational development within the Town Centre. As such, the College’s role and significance 

in delivering the BTCM, which signals the clear importance of the regeneration of the Cheapside site 

for this use, cannot be underestimated. Bridgend College therefore intends to work closely with BCBC 

and other partners to ensure that the proposed objectives and ambitions set out in the BTCM can be 

delivered. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Simon Pirotte Principal/Chief Executive | Prif Weithredwr/Pennaeth 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 316

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


69 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Date of issue: 11 March 2021   
 

14. Appendix two.  

14.1 Penybont Primary School engagement report 
 

 

 

 

Bridgend County Borough Council 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

Appendix two  

Bridgend Town Centre 

Masterplan  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Penybont Primary School report        

 

Page 317

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


70 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Contents 
About this report ....................................................................................................... 71 

Survey responses ..................................................................................................... 71 

1. Which year group are you in? ............................................................................ 71 

3. Which of these projects do you think is the most important? ............................. 72 

4. Do you think moving Bridgend College into the town centre will make Bridgend better? 

Explain why or why not. ......................................................................................... 73 

5. Would you like to see improvements made to the shopping areas in Bridgend? Explain 

your answer. .......................................................................................................... 73 

6. Do you think the new shopping centre should be a mix of small shops and larger brand 

stores? Explain your answer. ................................................................................ 74 

7. What are your thoughts on a new town square in the heart of the town? This would be 

a multi-functional open space with movable street furniture for gatherings, events and 

food markets. ......................................................................................................... 75 

8. Do you think having the Police Station positioned at the front of the shopping area is a 

good idea?............................................................................................................. 75 

9. What cultural and leisure activities would you like to see in the town centre? ... 76 

10. Do you think the Sunnyside Wellness Village (a wellbeing building which will provide 

59 homes and a healthcare centre) is a good idea? .............................................. 76 

11. Would you like to see more housing in Bridgend Town Centre? ..................... 77 

12. What type of housing do you think would be best for Bridgend Town Centre? 77 

13. Which of the following do you think is the best option for access in Bridgend Town 

Centre? ................................................................................................................. 78 

14. Do you think that Bridgend Town Centre should have better walking and cycling 

paths? Give reasons for your answer. ................................................................... 78 

15. Bridgend Town Centre has lots of history. Do you think it would benefit from a 

Heritage Trail/Heritage Walk which links up all the historic sites? ......................... 79 

16. What other ideas do you have for improving Bridgend Town Centre? ............ 79 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 318

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


71 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

About this report 

Penybont Primary School adapted the questionnaire and shared it with their pupils via 

Google Forms. 75 learners engaged in the survey.  

There were 16 questions for respondents to answer. 

Survey responses 

1. Which year group are you in? 

75 respondents answered this question. 

 

 
 

31% of respondents are in year 6, 25% in year 4, 23% are in year 3 and 21% are in year 5. 

 

2. What do you think about the Bridgend Masterplan? 

 

74 comments were received from respondents. These have been themed and are detailed 

in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  

 

Theme 

Number of 

responses 

I think it is ok/good idea 44 

I think it will make the town and community better 8 

More green and open spaces will be good 5 

It needs tidying up and will look better 4 

Some ideas are good but I disagree with some 3 

Need more/better shops 3 

I would love to visit the cafes when they are built/ take 

advantage of the changes as I grow up 2 

The railway station idea is good 2 

I don't think the river needs improving 1 

I don't think it's a good idea 1 

I think It will work well but I don’t want the college to be moved 

because it may harm people who work there 1 

I think that it will bring more jobs to Bridgend and it will make 

Bridgend a better place 1 

In some ways I think it is a really good plan.  But I will miss 

things the way they are. 1 

17
19

16

23

0

5

10

15

20

25

Year 3 (23%) Year 4 (25%) Year 5 (21%) Year 6 (31%)

Page 319

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


72 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

It’s a great idea but I think cars should be able to drive through 

some of it 1 

Please don’t shut down any shops because people need their 

jobs and I love most of the shops around here 1 

The town is fine as it is 1 

There are some concerns about the cost 1 

Unsure 1 

Very interesting 1 

There shouldn't be more housing or green spaces (there is a 

lot in Newbridge Fields) 1 

 

The most common responses were I think it is ok/good idea followed by I think it will make 

the town and community better and then more green and open spaces will be good. 

 

3. Which of these projects do you think is the most important?  

This was a multiple choice question, respondents were able to choose multiple answers. 

 

 
 

The projects were selected to be prioritised in the following order: 

 Improve the shopping area (18%) 

 Create a culture hub / indoor events space (15%) 

 Create a new town square (15%) 

 Create more in town living (13%) 

 A new entrance to the railway station (10%) 

 Make improvements in and along the Ogmore River (10%) 

 Better access to the town centre (8%) 

 Move Bridgend College into the town centre (6%) 

 Improvements to the Northern Gateway (5%) 

 

21

9

13

31 30

26

17

37

20

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

A new
entrance to
the railway

station (10%)

Improvements
to the

Northern
Gateway (5%)

Move
Bridgend

College into
the town

centre (6%)

Create a
culture hub /
indoor events
space (15%)

Create a new
town square

(15%)

Create more in
town living

(13%)

Better access
to the town
centre (8%)

Improve the
shopping area

(18%)

Make
improvements

in and along
the Ogmore
River (10%)

Page 320

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


73 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

4. Do you think moving Bridgend College into the town centre will make Bridgend 

better? Explain why or why not. 

74 comments were received from respondents. These have been themed and are detailed 

in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  

 

Theme 

Number of 

responses 

People could get there quicker/easier 17 

There will be more people to use the shops and spend money 16 

No: where would people park, it will increase traffic and there is 

not enough space/won’t be enough space for other things 15 

It is okay where it is/it is not far from the town now 12 

Yes, it will mean more people in town/town will be busier 6 

Unsure 5 

It could cause more social problems and litter 3 

I'm not sure about it to be honest, it seems a weird place to put 

it/the town centre isn’t looking the best but if the council make it 

nice and bright it would be a great idea 2 

Yes, it will make the town centre look nice 2 

Because college is just to learn 1 

 

The most common responses were people could get there quicker/easier followed by there 

will be more people to use the shops and spend money and then no: where would people 

park, it will increase traffic and there is not enough space/won’t be enough space for other 

things. 

 

5. Would you like to see improvements made to the shopping areas in Bridgend? 

Explain your answer. 

74 comments were received from respondents. These have been themed and are detailed 

in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  

 

Theme 

Number of 

responses 

Yes, would like to see more/better shops as there aren't many in 

town, shops such as McDonalds, Blockbuster, Primark, M&S, 

children's shops and plant based food shops 38 

I would like to see the town looking better 9 

It would be good to see the area cleaned up and  the old buildings 

refurbished 5 

No, the shops are fine 5 

Yes, I would like to see improvements made to the shopping 

areas 5 

It would make shopping easier, better access for disabled people 

and would not have to travel to Cardiff 3 

Yes, it will attract more people to the town 2 

Page 321

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


74 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Yes I would like to see improvements especially with The Covid-

19 pandemic. 2 

I don’t think they need any improvements but it would be nice if 

they did. 1 

I think the new shopping centre should be in small sections like 

one area for food shops, one area for clothes shops, one area for 

toy shops etc. 1 

Unsure 1 

Yes I would like to see that. It would be a nice place to hang out. 

But there are more important things that should come before it. 1 

Yes I would because  people might not have enough food 1 

Yes I do but that is only because I don't, and kinda can't, do 

online shopping 1 

 

The most common responses were yes, would like to see more/better shops as there aren't 

many in town, shops such as McDonalds, Blockbuster, Primark, M&S, children's shops and 

plant based food shops followed by I would like to see the town looking better. 

 

6. Do you think the new shopping centre should be a mix of small shops and larger 

brand stores? Explain your answer. 

74 comments were received from respondents. These have been themed and are detailed 

in the table below:  

 

Theme 
Number of 
responses 

It would be good to have a mix of shops and larger stores 
will support smaller ones 27 

It will give people more choice 22 

It will bring more people to town 8 

I think we should have small shops/we should support our 
local businesses 7 

Yes, you will be able to shop quicker and not have to travel 
around to different places 5 

Yes 2 

I’m not sure 1 

No  1 

No, I think that they should be separated because if then 
you know if you’re going to a big brand store you know 
which end to go to 1 

 

The most common responses were it would be good to have a mix of shops and larger 

stores will support smaller ones followed by it will give people more choice and then it will 

bring more people to town. 

 

Page 322

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


75 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

7. What are your thoughts on a new town square in the heart of the town? This would 

be a multi-functional open space with movable street furniture for gatherings, events 

and food markets. 

74 comments were received from respondents. These have been themed and are detailed 

in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  

 

Theme 

Number of 

responses 

It sounds like a good/great idea 26 

Yes will let people meet up and socialise and bring the 

community together  12 

It would be good to have more markets and events such as 

parades, Christmas and Easter events, live music etc. 11 

It will encourage people to come to the town 5 

Unsure 5 

It will look nicer 3 

No, it is already a big open space and we have markets and 

events anyway 3 

I think there should be a variety of shops, sweet shops and 

some street food shops from all around the world 2 

No, it will be too busy in the streets 2 

Yes there will be room for people to sit down 2 

Could add a fountain 1 

It will be good for kids to play and have a park. Including 

parkour. 1 

Need a space just young people aged 10-16 1 

That sounds great and all but I don’t think you should change 

history 1 

 

The most common responses were it sounds like a good/great idea followed by yes will let 

people meet up and socialise and bring the community together and then it would be good 

to have more markets and events such as parades, Christmas and Easter events, live 

music etc. 

 

8. Do you think having the Police Station positioned at the front of the shopping area 

is a good idea? 

75 respondents answered this question. 

 

 

62

13

0

20

40

60

80

Yes (83%) No (17%)

Page 323

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


76 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 

83% of respondents answered yes they did think having the Police Station positioned at the 

front of the shopping area is a good idea and 17% of respondents said no. 

 

9. What cultural and leisure activities would you like to see in the town centre? 

74 comments were received from respondents. These have been themed and are detailed 

in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  

Theme 
Number of 
responses 

Sports: leisure centre, kickboxing, ice skating, rock 
climbing, swimming pool, basketball court, football, rugby, 
bowling, dance and gymnastics 21 

Parks, skate/bike parks, parkour and water park 11 

Music festivals, live bands and concerts 7 

Theatre: pantomimes, shows, outdoor performances 7 

More clubs and leisure activities to learn and make friends: 
baking, art, ballet, table tennis, drama, bird watching, 
making Welsh flags and youth club 6 

More markets/food markets 6 

Street art 6 

Unsure 6 

More shops and places to eat 5 

Museum/local history 5 

A small cinema/outdoor cinema 4 

Parades, festivals and events 4 

More things for children and families to do 3 

None 3 

A nature garden/more flowers 2 

Circus things like they had in the Bridgend Mash up 2 

Scooter, BMX and skateboard shows 2 

A BBQ area because we can eat food with other people 1 

A water fountain 1 

 

The most common responses were sports: leisure centre, kickboxing, ice skating, rock 

climbing, swimming pool, basketball court, football, rugby, bowling, dance and gymnastics 

followed by parks, skate/bike parks, parkour and water park and then music festivals, live 

bands and concerts and theatre: pantomimes, shows, outdoor performances. 

10. Do you think the Sunnyside Wellness Village (a wellbeing building which will 

provide 59 homes and a healthcare centre) is a good idea? 

75 respondents answered this question. 

 

Page 324

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


77 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 

92% of respondents said yes the Sunnyside Wellness Village is a good idea and 8% of 

respondents answered no.  

11. Would you like to see more housing in Bridgend Town Centre? 

75 respondents answered this question. 

 

 
 

44% of respondents said yes they would like to see more housing in Bridgend, 35% of 

respondents said unsure and 21% said no. 

 

12. What type of housing do you think would be best for Bridgend Town Centre? 

This was a multiple choice question, respondents were able to choose multiple answers. 

 

 
 

The projects were selected to be prioritised in the following order: 

 Apartments (46%) 

 Flats (20%) 

 Town houses (19%) 

 Other (15%) 

69

6

0

20

40

60

80

Yes (92%) No (8%)

33

16

26

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Yes (44%) No (21%) Unsure (35%)

17

40

16
13

0

10

20

30

40

50

Flats (20%) Apartments (46%) Town houses (19%) Other (15%)

Page 325

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


78 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

 

13. Which of the following do you think is the best option for access in Bridgend 

Town Centre? 

75 respondents answered this question. 

 

 
 

44% of respondents said to reopen some roads so vehicles have access some of the time 

only. 32% of respondents said access should stay the same and 24% of respondents said 

to reopen all of the roads so vehicles have access all the time. 

 

14. Do you think that Bridgend Town Centre should have better walking and cycling 

paths? Give reasons for your answer. 

74 comments were received from respondents. These have been themed and are detailed 

in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  

Theme 
Number of 
responses 

It will make it easier and safer i.e. won’t have to go on the 
roads or worry about cyclists 18 

To encourage people to walk and exercise 11 

Yes because the roads are old, bumpy, cracked and need 
repairing 10 

Yes 8 

Yes, we need wider paths 8 

No, it already has walking and cycling paths 7 

We need more cycle paths that are easy to access 6 

To help the environment/global warming 3 

Unsure 3 

It would make town more accessible 2 

I think Bridgend town centre should have lots of walking and 
cycle paths but not many car paths  1 

It will cause people to be more active and have more fun. 1 

 

24

33

18

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Access stays the same - no vehicles
allowed to enter between 10am

and 6pm (32%)

Reopen some roads so vehicles
have access some of the time only

(44%)

Reopen all the roads so vehicles
have access all the time (24%)

Page 326

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


79 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

The most common responses were it will make it easier and safer i.e. won’t have to go on 

the roads or worry about cyclists followed by to encourage people to walk and exercise and 

then yes because the roads are old, bumpy, cracked and need repairing. 

 

15. Bridgend Town Centre has lots of history. Do you think it would benefit from a 

Heritage Trail/Heritage Walk which links up all the historic sites? 

75 respondents answered this question. 

 

 

88% of respondents said yes Bridgend Town Centre would benefit from a heritage trail and 

12% of respondents said no. 

 

16. What other ideas do you have for improving Bridgend Town Centre? 

74 comments were received from respondents. These have been themed and are detailed 

in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:  

Theme 
Number of 
responses 

I have no ideas 15 

More shops and places to eat 12 

More fun things to do: playground, skate park, sports, 
outdoor gym and swimming pool 10 

More green spaces, greenery and space for nature trails, 
dog walking and bird watching 8 

Repair pavements and make town cleaner and brighter 
with colours/art 7 

Unsure 6 

Agree with the masterplan ideas 3 

Build a homeless shelter 3 

Knock down/renovate/repaint the empty buildings 3 

Make town safe and have more police patrols 3 

A fountain in the town centre 2 

We should be able to drive into the town centre. 2 

A shelter for homeless pets. 1 

Bigger buses 1 

Deal with drug problem stop people drinking in the street  1 

66

9

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Yes (88%) No (12%)

Page 327

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


80 

www.bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Just a comfy space for kids and teens to be alone at 
gatherings 1 

free parking 1 

Maybe larger houses 1 

Removing the council  1 

 

The most common responses were I have no ideas followed by more shops and places to 

eat and then more fun things to do: playground, Skate Park, sports, outdoor gym, and 

swimming pool. 

 

Page 328

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


Full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) form

This document is a multi-purpose tool ensuring the appropriate steps are taken to comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty Equality Impact Assessment 
legislation and to demonstrate that we have shown due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-economic disadvantage 
when taking strategic decisions under the Socio-economic Duty.  It also ensures consideration of the Welsh Language Standards. 
Click here to access more information and guidance to help you complete this EIA. 

 This assessment should be carried out before your policy or proposal commences but after your engagement or consultation activities.  
 Your EIA screening form should have informed your consultation or engagement activities. 
 If you are undertaking a full public consultation as part of your policy or proposal this form should be completed after the consultation has concluded. 
 The results of your consultation and engagement activities will have helped you to gain a better understanding of the needs of those who may be 

impacted by the policy or proposal. 
 All sections and all questions require a response and must not be left blank even if they are ‘not applicable’.

Name of project, policy, function, service or proposal being assessed: Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
Brief description and aim of policy or proposal: The Masterplan is a strategic document to provide a coherent direction for 

sustainable future growth for the town centre while meeting the 
requirements and aspirations of the private, public and third sectors. The 
document sets out a comprehensive range of economic and regeneration 
projects which could be delivered in the town, and provides a baseline from 
which to bring the projects to fruition. The document also supports the 
authority’s ability to secure future funding for the delivery of regeneration.

Who is responsible for delivery of the policy or proposal? Corporate Director Communities 
Date EIA screening completed: 06/04/2021

Evidence 

Record of other consultation/engagement with people from equality groups, people who represent these groups, staff who work with groups, 
including any sessions run as part of a public consultation.

Group or persons 
consulted

Date/venue and number of 
people

Feedback/areas of concern raised Action Points

Example: BSL Forum BSL Users meeting Date and 
venue

25 people in attendance.

Deaf people may be unaware of new 
service as information not available on 
BSL video.  

Ensure updated version of video is available 
and presented to BSL Forum 

P
age 329

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/gwynedd.urlsand.com/?u=https*3A*2F*2Fwww.equalityhumanrights.com*2Fen*2Fadvice-and-guidance*2Fguides-psed-wales&e=c56e375b&h=e8ea3887&f=y&p=n__;JSUlJSUl!!DewiEMc5gbOXUWA!H5xGZKCcPqTCM4BO0x6nDvZM3AEZ1bSufIjfemmqs5F169cpwWThkVzIyDBeHADn-s5xzhTJ$
https://gov.wales/socio-economic-duty-overview
https://law.gov.wales/culture/welsh-language/standards/?lang=en#/culture/welsh-language/standards/?tab=overview&lang=en
https://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Pages/Equality-Impact-Assessments.aspx


If you undertook a full public consultation please enter the 
details and a summary of the findings here:

A full public consultation exercise asking for views on the draft Bridgend Town centre 
masterplan was undertaken over a 12 week period from 7 December 2020 to 1 March 2021. 
The consultation received 1402 interactions from a combination of survey completions, social 
media engagements, emails and letters, engagement with the Town and Community Council 
forum, engagement with Bridgend Youth Council and engagement work that took place in 
Penybont Primary School. 

An explainer video was designed to ensure people understood what was being asked of 
them. The video was featured on the webpage for the consultation and also posted on the 
council’s social media channels, 10,673 views of the video were recorded

The consultation contained 51 questions related to the masterplan vision and project 
proposals. All questions were optional, and the response options were tailored to the 
questions asked. 

The headline responses are as follows:

• 84% of respondents agreed with the overall vision for the town centre;
• 76% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone A – the 
railway station area;
• 83% of respondents agreed with the proposal to make a new entrance to the station 
from Tremains road;
• 71% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone B – Brackla, 
Nolton and Oldcastle;
• 65% of respondents agreed that moving part of the Bridgend College Campus and 
other educational institutions to the town centre would help to improve town centre footfall 
and improve its growth;
• 75% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone C – the retail 
core;
• 79% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone D – the café 
and cultural quarter;
• 74% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone E – the 
Northern Gateway;
• 69% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone F – 
Riverside;

P
age 330



• 71% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone G – 
Newcastle;
• 77% of respondents agreed with all the proposals in Development zone H – 
Sunnyside;
• 61% of respondents stated that they would like to see Bridgend town centre as a 
place with more in-town living opportunities;
• 44% of respondents selected partial reopening to traffic as the best option for access 
to Bridgend town centre, 35% selected for access to remain unchanged and 21% selected to 
reopen all roads to traffic;
• 41% of respondents stated that the current provision for public transport to Bridgend 
town centre is adequate;
• 75% of respondents stated that the town centre would benefit from improved active 
travel links;
• 87% of respondents stated that they supported the creation of a new Town Square 
and more green space in the town centre;
• 81% of respondents stated that they thought the town suffered from anti-social 
behaviour;
• 60% of respondents felt that there were aspects of the masterplan that could help 
young people have a greater connection with their town centre;
• 78% of respondents felt that the town would benefit from a heritage trail linking up all 
the historic assets of the town centre.

The most common themes from additional correspondence were requests for survey/further 
information followed by agree with proposals/looking forward to the developments and then 
need to support businesses in and to the town.

Based on the finding above and additional detail received, the responses indicate a positive 
view on the projects and information within the Masterplan. 

Based on statistical analysis of the sample of responses, we can be 95% confident that the 
responses are representative of those that would be given by the total adult population.

Please list any existing documents, reports, evidence from 
previous engagement, previous EIAs, service user 
information etc. which have been used to inform this 
assessment. 

No documented work prior to the public engagement has been used to complete this 
assessment. 

P
age 331



If you have identified any data gaps then you MUST undertake more consultation/engagement/research.

Assessment of Impact

It is important that you record the mitigating actions you will take when developing your final policy or proposal.  Record here what measures or changes you 
will introduce to the policy or proposal in the final draft which could:

 Reduce or remove any unlawful or negative impact or disadvantage;
 Improve equality of opportunity;
 Introduce positive change;
 Reduce inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-economic disadvantage;
 Provide opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language;
 Ensure that the Welsh Language is treated no less favourably that the English Language. 

Protected characteristics

Based on the data you have analysed, and the results of consultation or engagement, consider what the potential impact will be upon people with protected 
characteristics (negative or positive). Include any examples of how the policy or proposal helps to promote equality. If you do identify any adverse impact you 
must seek legal advice as to whether, based on the evidence provided, an adverse impact is or is potentially discriminatory, and identify steps to 
mitigate any adverse impact – these actions will need to be included in your action plan. 

What are the impacts of your policy or 
proposal?

Please place an X in the relevant box

Positive 
impact(s)

Negative 
impact(s)

No impact

Why have you come to this 
decision? Please provide an 
explanation and any supporting 
evidence.

Considerations to mitigate 
negative impact(s) and/or secure 
positive impact(s)

Gender x There will be no adverse impact on 
this group as a result of the adoption 
and development of the Masterplan. 

Disability x All projects where they are known to 
require a physical change to 
environment have been highlighted 
to ensure they are designed in line 
with the Equality Act 2010. 

Race x There will be no adverse impact on 

P
age 332



Socio-economic impact

Does the evidence gathered suggest that your policy or proposal will have a disproportionate impact on people living in socio-economic disadvantage? This 
could include communities of place or communities of interest (i.e., where stakeholders, service users, staff, representative bodies, etc. are grouped together 
because of specific characteristics or where they live).

this group as a result of the adoption 
and development of the Masterplan.

Religion and belief x There will be no adverse impact on 
this group as a result of the adoption 
and development of the Masterplan.

Sexual Orientation x There will be no adverse impact on 
this group as a result of the adoption 
and development of the Masterplan.

Age x For the first time the Masterplan has 
engaged with children and young 
people in its development, and will 
ensure that projects positively 
encourage their engagement in the 
detail development and design.

Pregnancy & Maternity x There will be no adverse impact on 
this group as a result of the adoption 
and development of the Masterplan.

Transgender x There will be no adverse impact on 
this group as a result of the adoption 
and development of the Masterplan.

Marriage and Civil partnership x There will be no adverse impact on 
this group as a result of the adoption 
and development of the Masterplan.

What are the impacts of your policy 
or proposal?

Why have you come to this 
decision? Please provide an 

Considerations to mitigate negative 
impact(s) and/or secure positive 

P
age 333



Welsh language

Consider how your policy or proposal ensures that you are working in line with the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards (Welsh Language Measure 
(Wales) 2011), to ensure the Welsh Language is not treated less favourably than the English Language, and that every opportunity is taken to promote the 
Welsh Language (beyond providing services bilingually) and increase opportunities to use and learn the language in the community. 

What are the impacts of your policy or proposal 
for persons to use the Welsh language and in 

Why have you come to 
this decision? Please 
provide an explanation 

Record of mitigation in order to:
 secure positive or more positive 

Please place an X in the relevant box

Positive 
impact(s)

Negative 
impact(s)

No 
impact

explanation and any 
supporting evidence.

impact(s)

Socio-economic 
disadvantage

x Key objectives within the 
masterplan are to;

Develop In-town living that caters 
to different age and income 
groups and increases social 
housing through the 
redevelopment of strategic 
vacant sites and repurposing of 
vacant buildings.

Create Space for business and 
enterprise close to home and 
with robust transport links.

Utilising education as a catalyst 
for town centre regeneration to 
spur on the development of a 
mixed economy that caters for all 
demographics.

Ensure that we develop safe and 
accessible public spaces

P
age 334



treating the Welsh language less favourably than 
the English language? 
Please place an X in the relevant box
Positive 
impact(s)

Negative 
impact(s)

No impact

and any supporting 
evidence. 

effects
 avoid adverse effects or secure 

less adverse effects

Will the policy or 
proposal impact on  
opportunities for 
people to use the 
Welsh language

X All projects emerging from 
the masterplan will ensure 
that the Welsh Language 
is intrinsic in their 
development

Will the policy or 
proposal treat the 
Welsh language no 
less favourably than 
the English language

X All projects emerging from 
the masterplan will ensure 
that the Welsh Language 
is intrinsic in their 
development.

Wider impact

Cumulative impact

What is the cumulative impact of this policy or proposal on different protected groups when considering other key decisions affecting these 
groups made by the organisation?  (You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this proposal will 
affect certain groups more adversely because of other decisions the organisation is making, eg, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, eg, disabled people, older people, single parents (who are mainly women), etc)  

There are no objectives or projects within the Masterplan which when considered cumulatively alongside other key policies and decisions made by the 
authority would have a negative impact on any protected group. The Masterplan may present opportunities to enhance and strengthen other policies or 
projects which already have positive impacts on these groups. 

Public Sector Equality Duty

The Public Sector Equality Duty consists of a general equality duty and specific duties, which help authorities to meet the general duty.

The aim of the general equality duty is to integrate considerations of the advancement of equality into the day-to-day business of public authorities.  In 
summary, those subject to the equality duty, must in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct that is prohibited by the Act. 
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a characteristic and those who don't
 Foster good relations between people who share a characteristic and those who don't

P
age 335



How does this policy or proposal demonstrate you have given due regard to the general equality duty?

Consideration has been given to the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty throughout the development of the plan. Where future projects 
impact on or advocate for changes in the physical environment, the need to demonstrate that proposals follow the requirements of the Equality Act 
2010 have been highlighted within the plan.   

Procurement and partnerships

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires all public authorities to consider the needs of protected characteristics when designing and delivering public 
services, including where this is done in partnership with other organisations or through procurement of services.  The Welsh Language Standards also 
require all public authorities to consider the effects of any policy decision, or change in service delivery, on the Welsh language, which includes any work done 
in partnership or by third parties. We must also ensure we consider the Socio-economic Duty when planning major procurement and commissioning decisions 
to consider how such arrangements can reduce inequalities of outcome caused by socio-economic disadvantage.

Will this policy or proposal be carried out wholly or partly by contractors or partners?

Please place an X in the relevant box:
Yes x
No

If yes what steps will you take to comply with the General Equality Duty, Welsh Language Legislation and the Socio-Economic Duty in regard to procurement 
and/or partnerships?

Steps taken to ensure compliance:

General Equality Duty Any proposals should follow the requirements of the Equality Act 2010, which flow through the entire design, construction, 
operation and maintenance process relating to development; and further take into consideration the Covid-19 Secure: 
Safer Public Places – Urban Centres and Green Spaces Guidance, Active Travel Guidance, Wales and Well-being of 
Future Generations Act 2015.

Welsh Language legislation All public sector partners are required to comply with Welsh Language legislation in the delivery and promotion of their 
activities. Where public sector finance is utilised there will be supplementary requirements for private sector 
organisations.  

Socio-economic duty All project partners will be expected to discharge their duty in respect of ensuring that no project design or delivery as 
promoted within the plan will have a negative impact on those who suffer socio-economic disadvantage.

P
age 336



Record of recommendation and decision

What is the recommendation for the policy or proposal based on assessment of impact on protected characteristics, Welsh Language and socio-economic 
impact?

If you chose to continue with the policy or proposal in its current form even though negative impacts have been identified a full justification should be provided 
and actions should be identified with the aim to reduce negative impacts. 

Please place an X 
in the relevant box

Please explain fully the reasons for this 
judgement.

Continue with the policy or proposal in its current form as no negative impacts 
have been identified 

X This assessment has not highlighted any adverse 
or negative impacts on protected or 
disadvantaged groups through the implementation 
of the Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan.  

Continue with the policy or proposal in its current form even though negative 
impacts have been identified
Do not continue with this policy or proposal as it is not possible to address the 
negative impacts. 

Monitoring action plan and review

Equality Impact assessment Action Plan 

It is essential that you now complete the action plan. Include any considerations you have identified to mitigate negative impact(s) and/or secure positive 
impact(s) on protected characteristics, socio-economic impact and Welsh Language. Once your action plan is complete, please ensure that the actions are 
mainstreamed into the relevant Service Development Plan. 

Action Lead Person Target for completion Resources needed Service Development plan for 
this action

The final Masterplan by 
published in Welsh 

Group manager Strategic 
Regeneration 

By March 2022 Communities Directorate 
Business Plan 2021 – 22

The final Masterplan be 
published on the 
authority’s Website. 

Group manager Strategic 
Regeneration 

By March 2022 Communities Directorate 
Business Plan 2021 – 22

P
age 337



Please outline how and when this EIA will be monitored in the future and when a review will take place:

Monitoring arrangements: Date of Review:

The EIA will be monitored in line with the performance indicators of the Directorate Business Plan. March 2022

Approval

Date Full EIA completed: 16/04/2021

Name of the person completing the 
Full EIA:

Delyth Webb

Position of the person completing 
the Full EIA:

Group Manager Strategic Regeneration 

Approved by (Head of Service or 
Corporate Director):

Date Full EIA approved: 

Publication of EIA and feedback to consultation groups

It is important that the results of this impact assessment are published in a user friendly accessible format.

It is also important that you feedback to your consultation groups with the actions that you are taking to address their concerns and to mitigate against any 
potential adverse impact.

When complete, this form must be signed off and retained by the service and a copy should also be sent to equalities@bridgend.gov.uk 

Where a full EIA has been completed this should be included as an appendix with the relevant cabinet report and therefore will become available 
publically on the website.

If you have queries in relation to the use of this toolkit please contact the Equalities Team on 01656 643664 or equalities@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 338

mailto:equalities@bridgend.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/johne1/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/GZKF5DZL/equalities@bridgend.gov.uk


Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 ASSESSMENT

Project Description (key aims):

Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
The Masterplan is a strategic document to provide a coherent direction for sustainable future growth for the town centre while 
meeting the requirements and aspirations of the private, public and third sectors. The document sets out a comprehensive range of 
economic and regeneration projects which could be delivered in the town, and provides a baseline from which to bring the projects 
to fruition. The document also supports the authority’s ability to secure future funding for the delivery of regeneration.

Section 1 Complete the table below to assess how well you have applied the 5 ways of working.

1. How does your project / activity balance short-term need with the long-term and planning for the 
future?

Long-term

(The importance of 
balancing short term 
needs with the need 
to safeguard the 
ability to also meet 
long term needs)

The masterplan provides a framework as to what opportunities there are to deliver meaningful short, medium 
and long term projects in the Town Centre. There is an imperative to support town centre activity in the short 
term as it has suffered significantly over the last few years from the loss of major retailers and the rise of 
vacant retail units, the rise of internet shopping and more recently the effects of imposed lockdown on the 
economy. However, when investing significant time and money in the infrastructure and redevelopment of 
sites and premises it has to be done with a long term vision and in collaboration with partners to ensure the 
investment is supporting future needs of those, living in, working in, and visiting the town. The Masterplan has 
been developed to take account of the emerging LDP review for the authority and supports the direction of 
national Planning Policy. 

2. How does your project / activity put resources into preventing problems occurring or getting 
worse?

Prevention

(How acting to 
prevent problems 
occurring or getting 
worse may help 
public bodies meet 
their objectives)

To not act on the need to repurpose and redefine Bridgend Town Centre would be a dereliction of duty on the 
part of the authority. Bridgend Town Centre has an economic, administrative and social role to play for the 
residents of Bridgend. It is the authority’s role to ensure that services, buildings and public realm within the 
town are fit for purpose and inspiring. The decline in both the offer and fabric of the infrastructure will continue 
to deteriorate if the authority doesn’t intervene by setting out its ambitions and intentions for how to invest and 
revive the Town.  

P
age 339



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

3. How does your project / activity deliver economic, social, environmental & cultural outcomes 
together?

Integration

(Considering how 
the public body’s 
well-being objectives 
may impact upon 
each of the 
wellbeing goals, on 
their objectives, or 
on the objectives of 
other public bodies)

The Key themes for the Masterplan have been set out as;

 Growth, resilience, well-being, identity

Within which the Masterplan brings together 10 key objectives; 
 Urban Living and Intergenerational Communities: Creating in-town living that caters to different age and 

income groups and increases social housing through the redevelopment of strategic vacant sites and 
repurposing of vacant buildings.

 Enterprise Space: Creating a satellite hub for businesses with room for office spaces, co-working hubs 
and light industrial units connecting South Wales and the Cardiff Capital Region through robust 
transport links.

 Learning Hub: Utilising education as a catalyst for town centre regeneration to spur on the development 
of a mixed economy that caters for all demographics.

 Energy and Renewables: To progress towards a low carbon economy through low energy buildings, 
combined energy networks, sustainable waste strategies and the strategic use of available land.

 Mixed Economy: Fostering a mixed economy to ensure a thriving town centre in the ever-changing 
economic climate through a combination of business, education, retail, leisure and cultural uses.

 Integrated and Sustainable Mobility: A robust transport strategy that creates a cohesive, accessible and 
legible network of pedestrian, cycle, public and private transport routes.

 Green Blue Infrastructure: Creating a robust network of streets and spaces that are clearly defined, 
accessible to all, safe and resilient, incorporating greening measures and sustainable drainage.

 Open Space and Community Hotspots: Encouraging positive social interaction through the creation of 
open spaces and areas of activity that demonstrate transformative placemaking to enable inclusive 
communities in Bridgend.

 Heritage-based Placemaking: Highlighting and reinforcing the existing heritage of Bridgend and utilising 
it to create a legible town centre with a strong sense of place.

 Events and Culture: Diversification of the town centre offer to provide a wider cultural, social and civic 
experience that brings added vitality and vibrancy.

P
age 340



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

4. How does your project / activity involve working together with partners (internal and external) to 
deliver well-being objectives?

Collaboration

(Acting in 
collaboration with 
any other person (or 
different parts of the 
body itself) that 
could help the body 
meet its well-being 
objectives)

The Masterplan was instigated by the Town Centre Collaboration group, made up of strategic partners 
operating within the town. Including Police, Bridgend College, social landlords and major landowners. The 
Masterplan will need to be delivered in partnership and will need private and public partners to deliver 
housing, cultural and social opportunities and educational services; and the private sector to invest in and 
create jobs in the town. 

The first stage in the development of the plan was to consult with numerous key stakeholders internal and 
external to understand the needs and aspirations of partners and local organisations. It was then developed in 
conjunction with many of those key stakeholders operating within the town to ensure that the projects would 
meet future needs and were deliverable.  

The final draft of the Masterplan has been consulted on during a three month public consultation period. 
Allowing the public to read and comment on its contents and direction. The consultation period has also 
included stakeholder meetings and targeted engagement. The final consultation report has been reviewed 
and incorporated within the document.   

 
5. How does your project / activity involve stakeholders with an interest in achieving the well-being 

goals? How do those stakeholders reflect the diversity of the area?
Involvement

(The importance of 
involving people with 
an interest in 
achieving the well-
being goals, and 
ensuring that those 
people reflect the 
diversity of the area 
which the body 
serves)

The nature of the collaborative process of developing the plan and the thorough consultation process has 
ensured that a diverse cross section of the population have been involved in putting it together and have  
considered the impact and outcomes promoted.

The Town Centre serves an economic and social purpose for all, and as such involvement of stakeholders in 
how it is shaped is vital to ensure that no one is unable to engage with or access the environment or services 
and that it continues to be able to be fit for purpose.   

To deliver against the various projects within the masterplan, the authority will require the leadership and 
engagement of partners and stakeholders to deliver different projects through effective partnership working, 
communication and collaboration. Appropriate links will be made with current and future end users of town 

P
age 341



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

centre services and the environment to ensure that long term changes are made with the interests of all users 
in mind.   

P
age 342



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

Section 2 Assess how well your project / activity will result in multiple benefits for our communities and contribute 
to the national well-being goals (use Appendix 1 to help you).

Description of the Well-being goals How will your project / activity deliver 
benefits to our communities under the 
national well-being goals?

Is there any way to maximise the 
benefits or minimise any negative 
impacts to our communities (and the 
contribution to the national well-being 
goals)?

A prosperous Wales
An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); and 
which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing 
people to take advantage of the wealth 
generated through securing decent work.

As a guiding document, the masterplan is 
designed to enable us to deliver our vision 
of a vibrant town centre community, which 
reflects throughout its aims and projects 
the goals of developing a prosperous 
centre to drive the economy of Bridgend. 

The project and ideas within the plan aim 
to be innovative, productive and 
sustainable, with a basis in developing 
education and employment opportunities 
within the town. 

The Masterplan is a framework and 
baseline for development over the next 10 
years. As individual projects develop over 
that time they will seek to maximise 
benefits available. 

A resilient Wales
A nation which maintains and enhances 
a biodiverse natural environment with 
healthy functioning ecosystems that 
support social, economic and ecological 
resilience and the capacity to adapt to 
change (for example climate change).

The plan looks at how we can create a  
robust network of streets and spaces that 
are clearly defined, accessible to all, safe 
and resilient which incorporate greening 
measures and sustainable drainage. 

The Plan ties future development in the 
town into the Bridgend County Borough 
Council Biodiversity and Ecosystems 
Resilience Forward Plan 2018-2022, and 
Bridgend 2030 agenda. 

As the Masterplan is a framework and 
baseline for development over the next 10 
years. As individual projects develop over 
that time they will be further shaped by 
new and enhanced relevant policy. 

P
age 343



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

A healthier Wales
A society in which people’s physical and 
mental well-being is maximised and in 
which choices and behaviours that 
benefit future health are understood.

Throughout the projects identified within 
the plan the aim is to develop healthy 
streets and more inspiring environment. 

Engaging with the town centre on any level 
should not feel a challenge. 

In the future project emerging from the 
Masterplan can be tied in to new Health 
and well-being opportunities.

The Masterplan can be tied into the Active 
Travel Plan for Bridgend which has 
recently completed its public consolation 
process. 

A more equal Wales
A society that enables people to fulfil 
their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances (including 
their socio economic background and 
circumstances).

The cross section of projects and ideas 
within the masterplan should encourage 
and promote equity among users and a 
range of opportunities. 
 
The plan ensures project ideas are tied 
into the Equality Act 2010. 

Individual projects emerging from the 
masterplan will be developed in with the 
authority’s Socio Economic Duty. 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Attractive, viable, safe and well-
connected communities.

The key objectives of the Masterplan are 

 Urban Living and Intergenerational 
Communities

 Enterprise Space: 
 Learning Hub: 
 Energy and Renewables:
 Mixed Economy: 
 Integrated and Sustainable Mobility: 
 Green Blue Infrastructure: 
 Open Space and Community 

Hotspots: 
 Heritage-based Placemaking: 
 Events and Culture:

The Objectives all contribute to the 
creation of a strong and cohesive 
community around the Town Centre. 

To ensure that there is positive promotion 
of the safe and vibrant community being 
invested in in the town centre.  

P
age 344



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language
A society that promotes and protects 
culture, heritage and the Welsh 
language, and which encourages people 
to participate in the arts, and sports and 
recreation.

Heritage-based Placemaking is a key 
objective within the Masterplan, 
encouraged by the consultation and 
engagement which took place with 
stakeholders. There are a number of 
projects which promote the inclusion of 
arts and heritage.

Compliance of projects emerging from the 
Masterplan with the Welsh Language Act 
will be monitored. 

A globally responsible Wales
A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, takes account of whether doing 
such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being.

As the administrative centre for the County 
Borough, the masterplan promotes 
investment in the economic and social 
value of the town to the residents of 
Bridgend. Delivery the objectives of the 
masterplan will also enhance the 
contribution Bridgend makes to the 
regional economy.   

The promotion of investment and change 
within Bridgend Town Centre does not 
impede the ability to invest in and deliver 
regeneration activity in other areas across 
the County Borough. 

P
age 345



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

Section 3 Will your project / activity affect people or groups of people with protected characteristics? Explain what 
will be done to maximise any positive impacts or minimise any negative impacts

Protected characteristics Will your project / activity have 
any positive impacts on those 

with a protected characteristic?

Will your project / activity have 
any negative impacts on those 
with a protected characteristic?

Is there any way to maximise 
any positive impacts or 
minimise any negative 

impacts?
Age: Yes No For the first time the Masterplan 

has engaged with children and 
young people in its development, 
and will ensure that projects 
positively encourage their 
engagement in their development 
and design. 

Gender reassignment: No No No project emerging from the 
masterplan will have an adverse 
effect of this group of people.

Marriage or civil partnership: No No No project emerging from the 
masterplan will have an adverse 
effect of this group of people.

Pregnancy or maternity: No No No project emerging from the 
masterplan will have an adverse 
effect of this group of people.

Race: No No No project emerging from the 
masterplan will have an adverse 
effect of this group of people.

Religion or Belief: No No No project emerging from the 
masterplan will have an adverse 
effect of this group of people.

Race: No No No project emerging from the 
masterplan will have an adverse 
effect of this group of people.

Sex: No No No project emerging from the 
masterplan will have an adverse 
effect of this group of people.

P
age 346



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

Welsh Language: No No All projects emerging from the 
masterplan will ensure that the 
Welsh Language is intrinsic in its 
development.

P
age 347



Version 1.0 dated 12 June 2017

Section 4 Identify decision meeting for Project/activity e.g. Cabinet, Council or delegated decision taken by 
Executive Members and/or Chief Officers

Delegated decision taken by Executive members and/or Chief Officers

Compiling Officers Name: D Webb

Compiling Officers Job Title: Group Manager Strategic Regeneration 

Date Completed: 16/04/2021

P
age 348



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES

PROPOSED PURCHASE OF BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE POLICE STATION 

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on the progress that has been made 
on a potential purchase of Bridgend Town Centre Police Station at Cheapside with a 
view to support the aspirations of Bridgend College to relocate their main campus to 
the Town Centre, and to seek approval to progress with a grant funding application 
to Welsh Government (WG) to support the proposed  acquisition and future 
demolition of the Police Station building.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 *Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

 *Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient  - 
Working with our partners, including the people who use our services to take 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services. We will support individuals and communities to 
build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy 
and independent lives.

3. Background

3.1 BCBC have recently undertaken a comprehensive masterplanning exercise for 
Bridgend Town Centre.  The Regeneration Masterplan identifies a series of ambitious 
and deliverable projects for the next 10 years that will support future economic growth 
and secure greater benefits and opportunities for Bridgend Town and the County 
Borough. 

Page 349

Agenda Item 12



3.2 BCBC has been working collaboratively with key public and private stakeholders to 
ensure that we have a suit of deliverable projects which have a transformational 
impact on the Town. 

3.3 Officers have been working alongside Bridgend College to support their aspirations 
to transform their learning environment which began with their Strategic Outline 
Programme identifying the need for modernisation of the College’s Cowbridge Road 
main campus through WG’s 21st Century Schools programme. After an extensive 
consultation, the consensus was reached that to enhance the deliverability of 
educational outcomes for the College it was essential that Cowbridge Road be 
effectively split into two schemes, a new STEAM academy (centre for Science, 
Technology, Engineering, the Arts and Mathematics) at the Pencoed Campus which 
in turn created on opportunity to review their Cowbridge Road  campus for the 
purposes of their learning and skills programme.

3.4 Over the last two years Bridgend College have engaged land and development 
consultants to consider their options for further development.

  
3.5 In considering this, one option explored was to relocate the provision to the Town 

Centre, following the principles of WG’s town centre first policy, to consider relocating  
and investment in services and buildings within town centres wherever possible, 
before the consideration of out of town sites. 

3.6 In tandem, discussions with South Wales Police (SWP) surrounding their decision to 
consolidate their offices at their Cowbridge Road site, indicated that the Police Station 
at Cheapside would potentially become vacant from March 2022. 

3.7 Through the Masterplanning exercise, the re-development of the Police Station site 
has therefore been identified as one of the key deliverable regeneration sites. At just 
just 0.2 miles from Pen-y-Bont Train Station, there are considerable opportunities to 
promote active travel and the use of public transport to the site. 

3.8 A significant amount of massing and feasibility work has been carried out by Bridgend 
College to ensure that the scale of aspirations and requirements for a relocation of 
the College to this site could be met, should the financial case be successful to 
support the project. 

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 This is a proposed joint regeneration scheme between Bridgend County Borough 
Council (BCBC) and Bridgend College to redevelop a strategically located site within 
Bridgend Town Centre.

4.2 The relocation of Bridgend College’s Learning and Skills Campus to the Town Centre 
would act as an anchor project, creating a new and modern environment for study 
within the Town. It would contribute significantly to the economy, from daily student 
and staff footfall bringing increased spend for local businesses and demand for 
additional services and infrastructure. 

Page 350



4.3 The project forms an integral part of the wider BCBC ambition for the regeneration of 
the Town Centre and is the result of an extensive period of discussion with both 
BCBC, Bridgend College and SWP.

4.4 In April this year Bridgend College took a Strategic Outline Proposal (SOP) to Welsh 
Government’s 21st Century Schools and Colleges Programme Investment Panel for 
consideration to be elevated into its current Band B programme. This was successful, 
and the College are now progressing discussions with their governing body to invest 
in the detailed development and design stage for a Town Centre campus.  

4.5 In addition to the required space to deliver their teaching programme, the key 
elements of the College scheme will provide; 

 Spaces for studios and compact campus rooms as of part of Bridgend College 
Learning and Skills campus;

 Proposed enterprise action hub;
 Flexible space for performing arts and culture  connected to the public plaza at 

Cheapside.

4.6 The project has been programmed to be undertaken in two phases with the first 
phase proposed for later this year. 

4.7 The proposal is for BCBC to acquire the current Police Station site at Cheapside and 
to demolish the existing building, with the aim of leasing the site to Bridgend College 
via a long term lease. This will enable the relocation of the remaining education 
provision at Bridgend College’s Cowbridge Road campus to the Town Centre. 

4.8 BCBC will take the lead of the first phase of works (site acquisition and demolition) 
with Bridgend College leading on phase 2 (site development). 

4.9 In discussion with WG  a purchase by  BCBC in the first instance is a preferred option 
in order to secure the site and to retain its ownership within the public sector with a 
view to direct regeneration and investment opportunities and to avoid developer-led 
land banking. Whilst its clear intent is to deliver a site for the College, the proposed 
acquisition  of the site by BCBC would ensure that should the College redevelopment 
not be forthcoming for any specific reason that the site remains within public 
ownership and viable for regeneration purposes.  

4.10 Officers have progressed tripartite discussions with Bridgend College and SWP in 
respect of the sale and purchase of the site.  In order to progress the acquisition the 
parties required a market valuation of the property in accordance with the Land 
Transfer Protocol and jointly commissioned a District Valuation.  Such report has 
provided a land value of £650,000 and therefore sets the purchase price at this level. 
All parties concur with the value reported.

4.11 To progress the first phase of the work, a grant from WG’s Transforming Towns 
programme is being sought. The grant will support the proposed acquisition of the 
freehold title, to regenerate an urban vacant site, to demolish the building and to 
secure and make good the site. 

Page 351



Next steps

4.12 Subject to Cabinet authorisation officers will continue to engage with WG alongside 
a submission of a grant funding application to their Regeneration Capital Investment 
Panel. 

4.13 Subject to the approval of the grant application, work will be progressed in order to 
finalise the heads of terms and associated legal agreements to progress the proposed 
acquisition of the site from SWP. 

4.14 SWP have a target date for vacating the Cheapside premises as at March 2022, 
however have indicated that a further period of occupation may be required in order 
to facilitate the smooth transfer of operations to their newly developed offices at their 
Headquarters site.  Subject to Cabinet authorisation a purchase of the site would be 
undertaken linked to the SWP timescale in order to secure, with provision made to 
provide a lease back to SWP should a short period of additional occupation be 
required.

4.15 In tandem with pursuing the legal arrangements for the proposed acquisition of the 
site it has been agreed to begin drafting a long term lease arrangement with the 
College to secure the site for their redevelopmentand satisfy conditions around the 
same relating to their 21st Centry Schools funding.  

4.16 Officers are continuing to work with SWP to identify and progress a smaller satellite 
office within the Town Centre  to accommodate a day to day police presence. 

4.17 It is the intention that officers will report back to Cabinet in due course to provide a 
progress update and to seek any further authorisation that may be necessary as 
matters progress.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 The proposals will not have an impact on the BCBC’s policies or procedures.

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

6.1 An initial EIA screening has identified that there would be no negative impact on those 
with one or more of the protected characteristics, no socio-economic disadvantage 
or negative impact on the promotion of the Welsh language. It is therefore not 
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment based on the 5 
ways of working has been considered and there are no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives. 

• Long term – Investment in a modern and inspiring learning campus for higher and 
further education in Bridgend will support the aspirations of young people for 
many years to come. As a strategically located development site within the tTown 

Page 352



Centre the development in an investment in the transformation on the Town’s 
economy. 

• Prevention – Following SWP’s intended vacation of their site in March 2022, 
BCBC’s responsibility is to ensure that this large brownfield site does not remain 
vacant and is brought forward for the right development which contributes to the 
economy of the Town.

• Integration – This project will ensure that the new College is accessible to all its 
students and community. It will make its vocational offer and training an 
intergrated and accessible part of the Town Centre’s community and service 
provision. The proposed development will ensure easy access to active travel 
and public transport is a key element of the site configuration.

• Collaboration – BCBC has collaborated extensively on the development of its 
new Masterplan for the Town Centre, within which this is the transformative 
anchor project. This opportunity is being developed collaboratively with Bridgend 
College and SWP. 

• Involvement – A development of this nature and scale will require the ongoing 
involvement of the Town Centre community, both business and public to ensure 
its success. The  College Campus will be designed with the involvement of 
students, staff and public to ensure it is fully integrated into the Town Centre and 
only enhances current Town Centre provision.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 The financial implications for BCBC are in respect of supporting the first phase of this 
major project. This includes seeking the appropriate external funding for the proposed 
acquisition of freehold property, demolition of the existing building and making good 
and securing the site in readiness for development. 

8.2 Acquisition costs are supported by a District Valuation which provided a land cost 
estimate report dated 22nd March 2021. The total land cost estimate for the 
acquisition element is £650,000 (capital). Based on previous experience we 
anticipate that the cost of demolition and costs associated with securing the site 
(revenue) will not exceed £650,000

8.3 This project is currently highlighted within BCBC’s regionally endorsed pipeline 
projects for support from WG’s Transforming Town’s programme, (formally Targeted 
Regeneration Investment (TRI) programme). The Transforming Towns programme 
can provide grant support up to an intervention rate of 70% or eligible costs. It is on 
this basis that we propose to make the application.  

8.4 The grant funding package being proposed to WG relating the acquisition and 
demolition is; 

Funder £
BCBC £390,000
Transforming Towns £910,000

Totals £1,300,000

The BCBC funding is broken down as follows:
 

Page 353



BCBC Match Funding £
Acquisition £195,000 Sum is currently ring-fenced within the 

Regeneration SRF budget to match fund the 
TT programme. The SRF finance is 
approved within the authority’s capital 
programme. 

Demolition and 
associated costs 

£150,000 This sum has been ring-fenced to this project 
within the Corporate Landlord Demolition 
budget for 2021 

£45,000 Sum is currently ring-fenced within the 
Regeneration Projects SRF budget to match 
fund the TT programme.

Total Match Funding £390,000

8.5 At present it is not envisaged that there are any further financial implications to the 
authority in relation to the proposed project. However, should the grant application be 
successful and the proposed acquisition goes ahead, the acquisition costs of the 
scheme will be built into the capital programme in line with financial procedure rules, 
at the earliest opportunity.

9. Recommendation(s)

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

• Note the progress that has been made in connection with the proposed 
acquisition of the current Bridgend Town Centre Police Station at Cheapside and  
the regeneration proposals to create a new Bridgend College Campus at the site. 

• To authorise officers to pursue discussions with SWP on the acquisition of the 
current Bridgend Town Centre Police Station with WG Estate Co-location & Land 
Transfer Protocol 

  Authorise officers to engage with WG on an application for grant funding to 
support the initial acquisition and future demolition of the current Police Station 
building, 

• To receive a future report on progress of regeneration plans for the site in 
conjunction with Bridgend College.  

• If recommended for approval to delegate the acceptance of a grant towards the 
proposed redevelopment of site to the Director of Communities and Section 151 
Officer.

Janine Nightingale
CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES

Contact officer: Delyth Webb 
Group Manager Strategic Regeneration 

Page 354



Telephone: 01656 815207

Email: delyth.webb@bridgend.gov.uk
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 3WB

Background documents:   None

Page 355



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
            

REPORT TO CABINET 

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES

OBJECTION AND REPRESENTATION TO PROPOSED ACTIVE TRAVEL ROUTE – 
COWBRIDGE ROAD ACTIVE TRAVEL ROUTE

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval  to proceed with the active travel route 
in view of the formal observations received in respect of the proposed improvements to the 
active travel route along a stretch of Cowbridge Road, in Bridgend, which forms part of the 
wider strategic Bridgend to Pencoed active travel route.

1.2 The proposal is to create a permanent active travel facility, including improved crossing 
facilities, the widening of footways to become a shared walking and cycle route, as well as a 
reduction of the current speed limit along Cowbridge Road. This scheme is being funded by 
the Welsh Government under its Active Travel Fund programme.

1.3 Observations to the proposals were received from local residents/adjoining landowners and 
local Councillors. This document reports the observations for Cabinet to determine.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities.

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objective/objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have 
active, healthy and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

Page 357

Agenda Item 13



 

2.2 The introduction of the proposed active travel route contributes to the Council’s Corporate 
Wellbeing Objective of ‘Supporting a successful sustainable economy’ under the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 by reducing the carbon footprint though the method 
of encouraging active travel. Additionally, the new opportunity for an active travel route 
contributes to ‘Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient’ through both 
connecting local neighbourhoods and thus making active travel a more convenient option for 
all. Therefore this project directly relates to the Welsh government ‘Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act (2015)’ through the long term effects both on the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing of this area, though an overall ‘Smarter use of 
Resources’.  

3. Background

3.1 The proposed scheme comprises a package of improvements between Pencoed and Bridgend 
town centre (i.e. specifically along a section of Cowbridge Road) which currently is a missing 
link along this key active travel route. The active travel route between Bridgend town centre 
and Pencoed forms a key part of the active travel network in Bridgend County Borough. At its 
western link, this route joins with National Cycle Network (NCN) Route 885. When completed, 
Bridgend will benefit from a seamless link from the NCN 885 to Pencoed with the enhanced 
potential to improve active travel access to employment locations, links to local schools and 
colleges, the existing railway station at Bridgend, and to the proposed Brackla railway station 
at Bridgend Industrial Estate.

3.2 The proposed active travel route is one of many elements of the Bridgend town centre to 
Pencoed active travel scheme that is identified in the Council’s approved Integrated Network 
Map (INM), which includes consultation with local residents and stakeholders.

3.3 A formal statutory consultation that identified the route along Cowbridge Road as part of the 
Bridgend to Pencoed active travel route was undertaken in 2015 in respect of the approved 
network map. This map is currently being revised for which a county-wide consultation 
exercise is being undertaken, with a programme for final approval and adoption in December 
2021. Specifically, a further engagement on the missing link along Cowbridge Road was 
undertaken between 12th March and 12th April of 2021, which involved letters and plans being 
issued to Bridgend Town Council, local Members, and other relevant bodies and residents 
that would be affected by the proposals. This engagement was conducted to inform residents 
of the drawings for the proposal.

3.4 Further statutory consultation will be held to amend the Traffic Regulation Orders relating to 
speed reduction and double yellow lines along Cowbridge Road.

3.5 Letters and emails issued as part of the latest engagement requested that observations in 
objection to, or in support of, the proposal be submitted by the 31st March 2021. This was 
extended to 12th April 2021, to cover the school Easter holiday period. The engagement letter 
and plan that were issued are contained in Appendix 1 of this report.

3.6 During the engagement period, the two local Members and 19 local residents registered 
objections to the proposal, which have been summarised and included in Appendix 2. Also 
included in Appendix 2 are before and after photographs of similar schemes that have been 
implemented in Pencoed.

3.7 Subsequent to the completion of the engagement process that ended in April 2021, the 
proposal has been further considered by officers and the proposed active travel route is 
considered vital as it is the final major link in the Pencoed to Bridgend active travel network 
which, in turn, connects to the existing active travel network into Brackla, as well as NCN 885 

Page 358



 

which links the town centre with Bridgend Railway Station, Broadlands and Tondu. Delaying 
of the scheme, therefore, would adversely affect network connectivity.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 Officers have considered all the observations regarding the proposals and, on the basis of 
them, arrived at final drawings for the proposed scheme. In post engagement discussions with 
local Members, it was agreed to exhibit the final drawings at Civic Offices subject to Covid 
restrictions. This is to enable local residents on Cowbridge Road and other members of the 
public to view the proposals that will finally be implemented. Cabinet is therefore required to 
consider the officers’ comments in response to the observations, and give approval for the 
final drawings to be exhibited. The engagement report and the final drawings are attached in 
Appendix 1.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 

5.1 There is no effect on Policy Framework or Procedure Rules.

6. Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would be no 
negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-
economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. It is therefore not necessary to 
carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. The screening form is shown within Appendix 
3.

7.   Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template has been 
completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five ways 
of working is below:

Long-term: The proposed active travel route is identified as a high priority within the Council’s 
long-term LTP programme, and has been identified as one of the key strategic active travel 
routes as a key route identified in the INM for the county borough. It will allow for greater 
opportunities of active travel with resulting environmental benefits associated with reductions 
in noise and air pollution; reduction in congestion and other associated economic benefits, 
promoting greater social inclusion, supporting the boroughs aims of a successful sustainable 
economy. 

Prevention: The proposed active travel route helps reduce congestion with the increased 
developments in the local area by allowing for more opportunities of active travel, resulting in 
a positive impact on the surrounding commercial areas and local residential streets.

Integration: The proposed active travel route will encourage the use of active travel, which 
can provide health benefits associated with increased physical activity; environmental benefits 
associated with reductions in noise and air pollution; reduction in congestion and other 
associated economic benefits, promoting greater social inclusion. Connecting communities 
and providing infrastructure that facilitates low cost modes of transportation, ensuring equity 
of opportunity for those without access to a car or who wish to use more sustainable modes. 
The promotion of active travel supports the work of other public bodies such as the local health 
board to encourage healthier lifestyles.

Page 359



 

Collaboration: The strategic transportation section work with various sections of the council 
including local town councils, Regeneration, Traffic Management, and Planning in considering 
wellbeing objectives.

Involvement: As part of the consultation and engagement a statutory process must be 
followed that prescribes the form of consultation and stakeholders, which includes statutory 
bodies and local residents directly impacted by the proposals.

8. Financial Implications

8.1 There is no financial implication for the authority as this scheme has been approved as part of 
the Bridgend to Pencoed active travel route and funded under Welsh Government Active 
Travel Grant programme for the 2021-2022 financial year at a total cost of £1,841,000.

9. Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Considers the objections received and responses made to the proposed Cowbridge 
Road active travel route. 

2. Dismiss the objections and authorises the implementation of the Cowbridge Road 
active travel route that will complete the final major link in the Pencoed to Bridgend 
active travel network. 

3. Approves the final drawing.

4. Approves that the final drawing be placed on public exhibition for a specific period.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director - Communities
7 June 2021

Contact officer: Hywel Purchase
Transport Planning & Policy Officer

Telephone: (01656) 642777

Email: hywel.purchase@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal address: Planning & Development Services
Communities Directorate 
Civic Offices, Angel Street 
Bridgend
CF31 4WB 

Background documents: None

Page 360

mailto:hywel.purchase@bridgend.gov.uk


 Page 361



 

Appendix 1

Page 362



 Page 363



 Page 364



 Page 365



 

P
age 366



 

Appendix 2

Page 367



 Page 368



 Page 369



 Page 370



 Page 371



 Page 372



 Page 373



 Page 374



 Page 375



 Page 376



 

Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening Form
This document is a multi-purpose tool ensuring the appropriate steps are taken to comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty Equality Impact 
Assessment legislation and to demonstrate that we have shown due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-
economic disadvantage when taking strategic decisions under the Socio-economic Duty.  It also ensures consideration of the Welsh Language 
Standards. 
Click here to access more information and guidance to help you complete this EIA. 

 This assessment should be carried out during the formation stage of your policy or proposal. Any negative impact identified 
will support you to devise engagement strategies for further evidence gathering.  

 If you are undertaking a full public consultation as part of your policy or proposal this form should be completed before the 
consultation begins and used as a tool to inform your consultation questions and engagement activities.

 All sections and all questions require a response and must not be left blank even if they are ‘not applicable’ or ‘subject to 
further consultation’.

Name of project, policy, function, service or proposal being 

assessed:

Cabinet Report to seek approval to proceed with the active travel 
route in view of the formal observations received in respect of the 
proposed improvements to the proposed active travel route along a 
stretch of Cowbridge Road, in Bridgend, which forms part of the 
wider strategic Bridgend to Pencoed active travel route. Cabinet 
report for consideration on 22-06-2021.

Brief description and aim of policy or proposal: The proposal is to create a permanent active travel facility, 
including improved crossing facilities, the widening of footways 
to become a shared walking and cycle route, as well as a 
reduction of the current speed limit along Cowbridge Road. This 
scheme is being funded by the Welsh Government under its 
Active Travel Fund programme.

Appendix 3

P
age 377

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/gwynedd.urlsand.com/?u=https*3A*2F*2Fwww.equalityhumanrights.com*2Fen*2Fadvice-and-guidance*2Fguides-psed-wales&e=c56e375b&h=e8ea3887&f=y&p=n__;JSUlJSUl!!DewiEMc5gbOXUWA!H5xGZKCcPqTCM4BO0x6nDvZM3AEZ1bSufIjfemmqs5F169cpwWThkVzIyDBeHADn-s5xzhTJ$
https://gov.wales/socio-economic-duty-overview
https://law.gov.wales/culture/welsh-language/standards/?lang=en#/culture/welsh-language/standards/?tab=overview&lang=en
https://law.gov.wales/culture/welsh-language/standards/?lang=en#/culture/welsh-language/standards/?tab=overview&lang=en
https://www.bridgenders.net/humanresources/Pages/Equality-Impact-Assessments.aspx


 

Who is responsible for delivery of the policy or proposal? Planning and Development Services

Date EIA screening completed: 10-03-2021

Does this policy or proposal relate to any other policies? 

(please state)

LDP, Future Wales 2040 – The National Plan, Planning Policy Wales 
11, Welsh Government Active Travel Guidance

Who is affected by this policy (e.g. Staff, residents, disabled 

people, women only?) 

Residents, adjoining landowners, any user of the proposed active 
travel scheme 

Is the policy related to, influenced by, or affected by other 

policies or areas of work (internal or external)? Note: Consider 

this in terms of statutory requirements, local policies, regional 

(partnership) decisions, national policies, welfare reforms.

No

If this is a review or amendment of an existing policy, has an 

EIA been carried out? Please include date of completion:

No

If an EIA exists, what new data has been collected since its 

completion?

N/A

Assessment of Impact
Protected characteristics
Is it possible that any aspect of the policy or proposal will have a positive or negative impact on people from different groups in 
different ways?
*Please note: If you identify a negative impact for any protected characteristics you will need to undertake further 
evidence gathering to complete a full EIA.

Please place an X in the relevant box
Positive 
impact(s)

Negative 
impact(s)

No impact
Explanation of impact

P
age 378



 

Gender x
Disability x The proposed active travel route will be a 

betterment over the existing situation, 
providing greater ease of use for those with 
a disability

Race x
Religion and belief x
Sexual Orientation x
Age x The proposed active travel route will be a 

betterment over the existing situation, 
providing greater ease of use and increased 
mobility, benefiting those of all ages. 

Pregnancy & Maternity x
Transgender x
Marriage and Civil 
partnership

x

P
age 379



 

Socio-economic impact
Is it possible that any aspect of the policy or proposal will have a positive or negative impact on people or communities 
experiencing socio-economic disadvantage?
*Please note: If you identify a negative socio-economic impact you will need to undertake further evidence gathering to 
complete a full EIA.

Please place an X in the relevant box

Positive 
impact(s)

Negative 
impact(s)

No impact

Explanation of impact

Socio-economic 
disadvantage 

x As part of the wider statutory planning process 
the effective management of land and its change 
seeks to help to eliminate inequality and 
disadvantage in people’s lives.  This has been 
reflected in the recently published Planning 
Policy Wales 11 (PPW11), which aligns the 
planning system with other key Welsh 
Government strategies including the Welling of 
Future Generations Act 2015 and the Socio-
Economic Duty.
The proposed active travel route develops and 
maintains places that support healthy, active 
lifestyles across all age and socio-economic 
groups, and recognises that investment in 
walking and cycling infrastructure can be an 
effective preventative measure which reduces 
financial pressures on public services in the 
longer term.

P
age 380



 

Welsh Language
Is it possible that any aspect of the policy or proposal will have a positive or negative impact for persons to use the Welsh language 
and in treating the Welsh language less favourably than the English language?
*Please note: If you identify a negative impact for persons to use the Welsh language and in treating the Welsh language 
less favourably than the English language you will need to undertake further evidence gathering to complete a full EIA.

Please place an X in the relevant box
Explanation of impact

Positive 
impact)s) 

Negative 
impact(s)

No impact 

Will the policy or proposal 
impact on  opportunities for 
people to use the Welsh 
language

x

Will the policy or proposal 
treat the Welsh language no 
less favourably than the 
English language

x

Public Sector Equality Duty
The Public Sector Equality Duty consists of a general equality duty and specific duties, which help authorities to meet the general 
duty.
The aim of the general equality duty is to integrate considerations of the advancement of equality into the day-to-day business of 
public authorities.  In summary, those subject to the equality duty, must in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the 
need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct that is prohibited by the Act. 
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a characteristic and those who don't
 Foster good relations between people who share a characteristic and those who don't

P
age 381



 

How does this policy or proposal demonstrate you have given due regard to the general equality duty?

Procurement and partnerships
The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires all public authorities to consider the needs of protected characteristics when 
designing and delivering public services, including where this is done in partnership with other organisations or through 
procurement of services.  The Welsh Language Standards also require all public authorities to consider the effects of any policy 
decision, or change in service delivery, on the Welsh language, which includes any work done in partnership or by third parties. We 
must also ensure we consider the Socio-economic Duty when planning major procurement and commissioning decisions to 
consider how such arrangements can reduce inequalities of outcome caused by socio-economic disadvantage.
Will this policy or proposal be carried out wholly or partly by contractors or partners?

Please place an X in the relevant box:
Yes
No x

If yes what steps will you take to comply with the General Equality Duty, Welsh Language Legislation and the Socio-Economic Duty 
in regard to procurement and/or partnerships?

What have you decided to do?

Steps taken to ensure compliance:

General Equality Duty N/A
Welsh Language legislation N/A
Socio-economic duty N/A

As part of the wider statutory planning process the effective management of land and its change seeks to help to eliminate inequality 
and disadvantage in people’s lives.  This has been reflected in the recently published Planning Policy Wales 11 (PPW11), which aligns 
the planning system with other key Welsh Government strategies including the Welling of Future Generations Act 2015 and the Socio-
Economic Duty

P
age 382



 

Record of decision based on assessment of impact on protected characteristics, socioeconomic impact and Welsh Language. 
Please place an X in the relevant box.
If you identify negative impact on one, some or all protected characteristics, socioeconomic duty or Welsh Language you 
will MUST complete a full EIA.
Impact identified Next steps: Please place an X in the 

relevant box:
No negative impact identified Screen out: carry on with the policy or proposal x

One or more negative impact 
identified 

Complete full EIA to gather more evidence on potential 
negative impacts

Please explain the reasons for this decision. If you have ‘screened out’ you must include information and evidence to 
justify your decision.  

The impact of this proposal does not impact differently on any specific characteristic.

Approval: 
Date EIA screening 
completed:

10-03-2021

Approved by (Head of 
Service):

Date of approval by HoS: 

If this screening has identified 
that a full EIA is needed, who 
will carry out the full EIA?

N/A

If this screening has identified 
that a full EIA is needed when 

N/A

P
age 383



 

will the Full EIA be completed 
by (Date):

When complete, this form must be retained by the service, a copy should also be sent to equalities@bridgend.gov.uk 
The EIA screening should be referenced and summarised in the relevant cabinet report for this policy. Where a full EIA is needed 
this should be included as an appendix with the cabinet report and therefore available publically on the website.

P
age 384

mailto:equalities@bridgend.gov.uk


 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
22 JUNE 2021 

 
REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 

CHANGE 
 

REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2020-21 
 

1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on the Council’s 

revenue financial performance for the year ended 31st March 2021.  
 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
2.2 The allocation of budget determines the extent to which the Council’s well-being 

objectives can be delivered.  
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 On 26th February 2020, Council approved a net revenue budget of £286.885 million 

for 2020-21.  As part of the Performance Management Framework, budget 
projections are reviewed regularly and reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  
The delivery of agreed budget reductions is also kept under review and reported to 
Cabinet as part of this process.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 385

Agenda Item 14



4.  Current situation/proposal 
 

4.1 Summary financial position at 31st March 2021 
 
4.1.1 The 2020-21 financial year has been a unique and complex year in managing the 

financial position of the Council primarily as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Significant changes have occurred throughout the year as circumstances altered 
and services were supported in different ways to deliver outcomes in the best way 
possible. 

 
A Covid-19 Hardship fund was set up at an early stage by the Welsh Government to 
the tune of £188.5 million which the Council was able to draw on for financial 
support. The process for drawing down the money was by the submission of 
complex claims, covering a wide range of costs and loss of income without knowing 
with any certainty whether those claims would be successful. 

 
As a consequence, it would not have been prudent to expect all the claims to be 
successful, but as the year progressed the Council was extremely successful at 
securing support for many of the additional costs incurred along with loss of income 
claims. 

 
Some of the results of this success have materialised in the last quarter of the 
financial year giving the Council a more favourable end of year position than 
anticipated. Our claims against the WG Hardship fund totalled £21.5 million of 
which only £882,000 were disallowed. 

 
Additional to the assistance and support from the WG Hardship fund were specific 
grants received to help cushion the effects of COVID on the delivery of services. 
These included ICT for digitally excluded learners, concessionary fare 
reimbursement and local authority cyber security along with specific support for 
schools in for school counselling services, face masks and support for additional 
cleaning costs. 

 
Furthermore, significant grants were received in the last quarter of the financial year 
(£3.5 million directorate and council wide grants and £5.4 million for schools) 
resulting in a change in the financial position between quarter 3 and quarter 4. 
These will be spent in accordance with the conditions applied to the grants and will 
be closely monitored to ensure their effective use. 

 
The other significant change between quarter 3 and quarter 4 is the £1.261 million 
contribution from WG in February 2021 in recognition of the reduced council tax 
collection rates experienced by Councils in 2020-21 as a consequence of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
Given the changes that have occurred which have resulted in a better financial 
position at the end of 2020-21, the Council is able to apply some of this funding to 
investments to help accelerate the recovery of the County Borough from COVID 
and to support its residents.  The key areas of investment are outlined below, and 
more detail is provided in Appendix 1. 
 
  

 

Page 386



Category Description 

 Wellbeing 
Social Services & Well-being schemes for adult, children, young 
people and leisure services  

 Initiatives to support the well-being of staff 

 Investment in Social Care Premises 

 Accessibility works – Leisure and Cultural Services 

People & Jobs Secondment scheme for Social Workers 

 Apprentice and Graduate Schemes 

Environment Decarbonisation Strategy 

 Highway Revenue Maintenance Schemes 

Local Economy & 
Tourism Active Travel Strategy 

 Grants to support local businesses with improvements 

 Wider regeneration investment 

 Covid recovery/Brexit 

Transformation Digital Transformation Programme 

 Replacement CCTV System 

Future capital 
schemes 

Feasibility is underway on a number of capital schemes.  This 
allocation will support the delivery of new capital projects 

Revenue 
Maintenance  

Deliver projects delayed by the Covid-19 pandemic and meet 
projected maintenance pressures. 

 

A report will be taken to Cabinet and Council on 22nd and 23rd June, respectively, 
to seek approval for a range of schemes to be funded from this year’s under spend. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 387



4.1.2 The Council’s net revenue budget and final outturn for 2020-21 is shown in Table 1 
below. 

 
Table 1- Comparison of budget against actual outturn at 31st March 2021 
 

Directorate/Budget Area 
Original 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

Final 
Outturn Q4 

Final Over / 
(Under) 
Spend  

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend 
  2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 Qtr 3 2020-21 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Directorate           
            
Education and Family Support 120,931 123,512 122,094 (1,418) 1,327 
Social Services and Wellbeing 70,894 73,263 72,289 (974) 812 
Communities  27,790 28,493 26,502 (1,991) (752) 

Chief Executive's 18,228 18,774 17,678 (1,096) (200) 

Total Directorate Budgets 237,843 244,042 238,563 (5,479) 1,187 

Council Wide Budgets           

            

Capital Financing  7,329 7,329 6,632 (697) (200) 

Levies 7,459 7,460 7,472 12 12 

Apprenticeship Levy 650 650 654 4 5 

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 

 
15,254 

 
15,254 

 
14,974 (280) 

 
0 

Insurance Premiums 1,438 1,438 124 (1,314) (62) 

Repairs & Maintenance 870 615 131 (484) 0 

Pension Related Costs 430 430 430 0 5 

Other Council Wide Budgets 15,612 9,167 200 (8,967) (6,937) 

Total Council Wide Budgets 49,042 42,343 30,617 (11,726) (7,177) 

            

Accrued Council Tax Income     (1,702) (1,702) 0 

            

Appropriation to Earmarked 
Reserves 0 500 18,975 18,475 5,299 

            

Transfer to Council Fund     432 432   

            

Total 286,885 286,885 286,885 0 (691) 

 
 
4.1.3 The overall outturn at 31st March 2021 is a net under spend of £432,000 which 

has been transferred to the Council Fund, bringing the total Fund balance to 
£9.771 million in line with Principle 9 of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). Total Directorate budgets provided a net under spend of £5.479 million, 
and Council Wide budgets a net under spend of £11.726 million.  As a result of 
effective financial management across the Council through the pandemic along 
with ensuring that eligible monies have been claimed from the WG Hardship and 
Loss of Income funds, the Council is in a position to utilise the related monies for 
2020-21 to fund a range of initiatives to enable the Council to mitigate current 
and future risks and expenditure commitments to meet specific costs (see 
paragraph 4.1.1 and Appendix 1). The net position also takes into account a net 
under spend of £1.702 million on council tax income during the financial year 
(see paragraph 4.1.7 for detail).  

 

Page 388



4.1.4  Table 1 highlights the changes referred to above of £6.6 million since quarter 3 
on total Directorate Budgets, and a change of £4.549 million on total Council 
Wide budgets.  Table 2 below highlights the main reasons for the change and 
additional funding received by the Council since quarter 3 that support the 
changed outturn position.  A combination of the uncertainty over available 
funding, along with the length of time and coverage of the support that has been 
made available by Welsh Government throughout 2020-21, has meant that the 
budgetary position has been prudently reported and only upon successful 
payment of claims from the WG Hardship and Loss of Income fund has been 
brought into the financial position. Since quarter 3, the authority has successfully 
claimed £2.144 million of Hardship funding along with £1.066 million to support 
loss of income experienced by the authority as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic.   

 
Table 2 – Movements since quarter 3 2020-21 
 

Directorate/ Budget Area  

Rebates 
from 

Regional 
Service/ 

Reduction 
in 

Insurance 
Liability 

£'000 

WG 
Hardship 
Claims       
£'000 

WG Loss 
of 

income 
claims 
£'000 

Reallocation 
of existing  

Grants    
£'000 

Additional  
Grants       
£'000 

TOTAL      
£'000 

        

Education and Family Support 0 1,109 0 454 585 2,148 

Social Services and Wellbeing 250 450 72 839 0 1,611 

Communities 0 132 412 0 483 1,027 

Chief Executive's 0 453 582 0 0 1,035 

Total Directorate Budgets 250 2,144 1,066 1,293 1,068 5,821 

        

Council Wide Budgets 1,237 0 0 0 2,393 3,630 

        

Council Tax  0 0 0 0 1,261 1,261 

 
 
4.1.5 The outturn position has also been impacted by unexpected grant funding and 

maximisation of grant funding streams since quarter 3 in Directorate budgets of 
over £2.361 million and £2.393 million in Council Wide Budgets - £4.754 million 
in total. It is important to note that the Authority would not have been aware of 
these funding streams when setting and approving its 2020-21 budget and the 
majority of the additional grants are one-off as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

 
4.1.6 Further detail is provided on the movements since quarter 3 at individual 

directorate level and on Council wide budgets in section 4.3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 389



 
4.1.7 The net position also takes into account the net under spend on council tax 

income of £1.702 million during the financial year. The end of year position on 
council tax comprises £441,000 of additional council tax income along with a 
contribution from the WG Hardship Fund of £1.261 million in February 2021 in 
recognition of the reduced collection rates experienced by Councils in 2020-21 
as a consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
4.1.8 The under spend on the Council budget significantly masks the underlying 

budget pressures in some service budgets which were reported during the year 
and still persist.  The main financial pressures are in the service areas of Home 
to School Transport and Adult Social Care.  These two alone have an underlying 
pressure of £1.864 million.  It should be noted that these budget areas can be 
volatile and small changes in demand can result in relatively high costs being 
incurred. 

 
4.1.9 In addition, given the potential for significant funding being required to meet pay 

and price costs in 2021-22, along with any ongoing budget pressures arising as 
a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, uncertainties around the end of the Brexit 
transition period and inflationary levels for 2021-22 any uncommitted funding in 
2020-21 will be required to meet these pressures in the new financial year. 
There are also potential pressures on council tax collection and an increase in 
eligibility for council tax support through the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (see 
paragraph 4.3.5).  Therefore any uncommitted funding from other council wide 
budgets will be carried forward to meet those pressures in the new financial 
year.  

 
4.1.10 There have been no budget virements since the quarter 3 forecast was reported 

to Cabinet in January 2021.  However, as part of the closing of accounts 
process, there have been a number of technical adjustments in respect of 
outstanding pay and price inflation and allocations of corporately held funding for 
feasibility work and revenue minor works in line with spend. 

 
4.1.11 The net budget for the financial year was set assuming full implementation of the 

current year budget reduction requirements across the Council’s budget, which 
amount to £2.413 million. Where proposals to meet this requirement have been 
delayed or are not achievable directorates have been tasked with identifying 
alternative proposals to meet their requirements such as vacancy management, 
or bringing forward alternative budget reduction proposals.  These are set out in 
paragraph 4.2.4.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 390



 Covid-19 
 
4.1.12 During 2020-21 the Covid-19 pandemic has had an inevitable impact on the 

Council’s financial position in a number of ways: 
 

Additional cost 
pressures  

Some have been one-off and some recurrent. The 
majority of one-off cost pressures in 2020-21 have 
been funded by the WG Hardship Fund, e.g. PPE, 
social care voids etc with a 50% contribution towards 
additional ICT costs to support homeworking.  
 

Lost income Again, some have been one-off losses, and others 
could be permanent recurrent losses. Claims were 
submitted to WG covering loss of income in 2020-21 
with main areas of support being car parking, school 
meals and a contribution to the Council’s leisure 
service provider. 
 

MTFS savings 
not met 

Impact on deliverability of MTFS savings which may 
not be achieved (e.g. staffing restructures, 
remodelling of services, income generation) or which 
may be achieved fortuitously due to circumstances, 
but will require decisions going forward on whether or 
not to proceed or revisit.  WG provided support for 
Local Authorities to mitigate this impact in 2020-21 – 
the contribution for Bridgend was £1.121m. 

Unanticipated 
savings 

For areas where service provision has reduced or 
stopped and subsequent savings have been made 
e.g. home to school transport, premises and fuel.  
 

Council tax WG provided £1.261 million in funding towards the 
impact on council tax collection and £325,469 
towards the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) 
in 2020-21 particularly due to the delay in starting 
recovery and an increase in council tax benefits.  
 

 
  4.1.13 As reported to Cabinet on 30th June 2020, a Covid Earmarked Reserve of £3 

million was created at the end of 2019-20.  Also on 30th June Cabinet agreed a 
proposed approach to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic to allow the Council to 
re-start, recover and renew its service provision.  A Recovery Panel to help 
shape, inform and advise Cabinet on the Council’s recovery planning was also 
established in 2020-21.   

 
4.1.14 Cabinet and Corporate Management Board (CCMB) agreed to establish a Covid-

19 Recovery Fund for 2020-21 on a ‘one off’ basis to provide funding for 
conscious and proactive decisions aimed at boosting recovery that were unlikely 
to be paid for by WG, with £500,000 being utilised from the 2020-21 Public 
Realm fund and a further £500,000 being ring-fenced from the Covid Earmarked 
Reserve to create a fund of £1 million.  The recovery fund was utilised in 2020-
21 to support the free car parking offer for town centres, a phased rental income 
increase for BCBC owned premises and Covid-19 awareness training for Town 
Centre businesses.  The balance of £619,000 on the Covid-19 Recovery Fund 

Page 391



will be carried into 2021-22 with further proposals to boost recovery considered 
by CCMB. 

 
Cost of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic 

 
4.1.15 In response to the pandemic, the Council, alongside other organisations, has 

provided direct support to its community / residents in a number of ways.  Welsh 
Government provided specific eligibility criteria for each of its funding streams, and 
all directorates were made aware of them, and captured costs accordingly.  Covid-
19 costs which were not reimbursed by WG have been funded from the normal 
service budgets.  WG Hardship Expenditure claims submitted to WG in 2020-21, 
and the outcome of these claims are shown in Table 3. 
 
Table 3 – Covid-19 expenditure claims 2020-2021 
 

 2019-20   2020-21  

Specific Hardship Fund 
Claimed 

and 
Paid 

  Claimed Paid Disallowed 
Movement 

since Qtr 3 – 
paid claims 

  £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

General 263   1,979 1,345 633 568 

Homelessness 0   2,082 2,082 0 517 

Free School Meals 0   2,832 2,720 112 1,676 

Schools (including HUB costs) 0   2,433 2,418 15 1,473 

Adult Social Services 9   5,694 5,675 18 2,737 

Self Isolation Payments (SIP)/ 
Statutory Sick Pay Enhancements 
(SSP) 

0   501 501 0 501 

Total 271   15,520 14,742 778 7,472 

 
 
4.1.16 The majority of the disallowed expenditure (£476,000) related to ICT costs incurred 

by the Council primarily to establish home working arrangements.  The WG 
hardship panel agreed that these costs may be additional and not within the 
Council’s financial plans, however they also felt that having such assets in place 
provides longer term benefits to local authorities.  A contribution of 50% was 
therefore agreed with the majority of the balance being funded from the annual 
corporate capital budget.  The majority of the £112,000 disallowed expenditure 
under the Free School Meals category relates to the delivery costs of the food 
parcels which took the cost of the provision over the funding threshold set by Welsh 
Government.  

 
4.1.17 The overall increase in claims paid since quarter 3 of £7.472 million does not all 

relate to reimbursement of expenditure incurred by the local authority, and therefore 
does not fully match the figures in Table 2. For example claims from schools will 
impact directly on the schools balances position (see section 4.3.1), and adult social 
services mostly represents claims made by independent and third sector providers 
to meet the additional costs of providing care and support for voids.  In addition, 
unanticipated costs would also have been incurred and reimbursed in the final 
quarter of 2020-21, for example to cover the ongoing lock down of schools after 
Christmas. 
 

Page 392



4.1.18 The Council has also submitted claims for loss of income to Welsh Government in 
2020-21 totalling £5.679 million as shown in Table 4. £2.016 million of the claims 
were paid in quarter 4. 

 
Table 4 – Covid-19 loss of income claims 2020-21 
 
 

Directorate 
Claims 
2020-21 Paid Disallowed Main areas funded 

 £'000 £'000 £'000  

Education and 
Family Support 1,493 1,493 0 

£1.445m - School meal income, £45k - 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) 

Schools 635 635 0 

£239k - school meal income, £395k - 
loss of income from hire of school 
premises 

Social Services 
& Wellbeing 1,429 1,429 0 

£1.175m - contribution to Council's 
leisure service provider, £130k - 
Residential and non-residential client 
contribution income, £124k - dual use 
sites where facilities are managed for 
community use outside of school hours 

Communities 1,476 1,371 104 

£521k - Car Park Income, £264k - rental 
income from properties due to 3 month 
rent holiday, £81k – reduced occupancy 
of properties, £173k – civil enforcement 
income, £156k Green/Bulky/Trade waste 
income, £107k -Pitch and Pavilion hire, 
£65k - Fleet Services, £27k - Bus station 

Chief 
Executives 646 646 0 

£107k – legal, democratic and regulatory 
services, £136k - registration fees, £98k 
housing, £299K finance (includes £284k 
court income) 

Total 5,679 5,574 104  
 
4.1.19 Of the £5.679 million claimed, only £104,000 was disallowed.  This related to loss of 

rental income from properties in quarter 2 due to the continuing rental holiday 
agreed in quarter 1.  WG disallowed this claim on the basis that this was a local 
authority and not a national decision.  This was subsequently agreed by Cabinet to 
be funded from the Covid-19 Recovery Fund. (See paragraph 4.1.14). 

 
Ongoing impact of Covid-19 pandemic in 2021-22 

 
4.1.20 Going forward, the Welsh Government has allocated £206.6m in its budget to the 

Hardship Fund to support local government for the first six months of 2021-22. No 
commitment for support from WG beyond this period has been given at present.   

 
4.1.21 A reduced collection rate for council tax and additional calls on the CTRS are both 

likely in 2021-22 reflecting the current economic circumstances surrounding the 
Covid-19 pandemic and the higher number of citizens facing economic hardship.  

 
4.1.22 The Authority will continue to claim from the Hardship fund against the eligible 

criteria and directorates will continue to capture costs incurred as a result of the 
ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  Any Covid-19 costs which are not 

Page 393



identified and claimed will need to be funded from the normal service budgets or 
established earmarked reserves.  Updates will continue to be provided to Cabinet 
through the quarterly revenue budget monitoring reports throughout 2021-22. 

 
4.2 Monitoring of Budget Reduction Proposals  
 
 Prior Year Budget Reductions 
 
4.2.1 As outlined in previous monitoring reports during the year there were still £2.501 

million of outstanding prior year budget reduction proposals that had not been met 
in full.  Directors have been working to realise these savings during the 2020-21 
financial year.  A summary of the latest position is attached as Appendix 2 with a 
summary per directorate provided in Table 5.  Of the £2.501 million of prior year 
budget proposals outstanding, £1.792 million has been realised, leaving a balance 
of £709,000. 

 
 Table 5 – Outstanding Prior Year Budget Reductions  
 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET 
REDUCTION AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 269 0 269 

Social Services and Wellbeing 452 452 0 

Communities 1,750 1,310 440 

Chief Executive’s 30 30 0 

TOTAL 2,501 1,792 709 

 
4.2.2 Proposals still not achieved include: 
 

o Learner Transport Policy and Transport Route efficiencies (£194,000) and 
Review of Special Schools Home to School Transport (£75,000).  As 
reported to Cabinet on 21st July 2020 the shortfall has been funded from the 
Council’s contingency budget in 2020-21.  A Budget Pressure was approved 
by Council as part of the MTFS 2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 2021. This is 
a one-off pressure whilst a review of Home to School Transport is 
undertaken. 

o Permitting Scheme for Road Works (£100,000).  The Streetworks review is 
reaching completion and will then be submitted to Welsh Government for 
final consideration. 

o Reductions to the budget for the MREC (£1.3 million).  As reported to 
Cabinet on 21st July 2020 the shortfall has been funded from the Council’s 
contingency budget in 2020-21.  A recurrent Budget Pressure of £300,000 
was approved by Council as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 2021. 

 
 All outstanding proposals will continue to be monitored during 2021-22. 

Page 394



 
   
4.2.3 As outlined in the MTFS reports to Cabinet and Council, MTFS Principle 7 states 

that “Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 
prior to inclusion in the annual budget.  An MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency 
Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays”. An MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve was established in 2016-17. This reserve 
has been used to meet specific budget reduction proposals in previous years on a 
one-off basis pending alternative measures. It has not been used in 2020-21 to 
mitigate on-going shortfalls as WG provided a Hardship Grant of £1.121 million to 
address the Covid impact on plans for service savings and changes when budgets 
for 2020-21 were originally set. 

 
 Budget Reductions 2020-21 
 
4.2.4 The budget approved for 2020-21 included budget reduction proposals totalling 

£2.413 million, which is broken down in Appendix 3 and summarised in Table 6 
below.  The end of year position is a shortfall on the savings target of £342,000, or 
14.2% of the overall reduction target. This figure is an improvement of £148,000 on 
the shortfall reported at quarter 3. 

 
 Table 6 – Monitoring of Budget Reductions 2020-21 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET REDUCTION 
AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 239 164 75 

Schools 0 0 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 820 635 185 

Communities 646 564 82 

Chief Executive's 508 508 0 

Council Wide Budgets 200 200 0 

TOTAL 2,413 2,071 342 

 
4.2.4 The most significant budget reduction proposals not achieved in full, and the action 

required to achieve them in 2021-22 are outlined in Table 7 below.  In the 2021-22 
financial year these proposals must be realised or must be met through alternative 
budget reduction proposals in order to deliver a balanced budget position. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 395



 
 
 Table 7 – Outstanding Budget Reductions 2020-21 
 

MTFS Ref Budget Reduction 
Proposal 

Shortfall 
£’000 

Mitigating Action 2021-22 

EFS 1 Phased Implementation of 
Learner Transport Policy 

75 A Budget Pressure was 
approved by Council as 
part of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2021-22 
to 2024-25 in February 
2021.  This is a one-off 
pressure whilst a review is 
undertaken 

SSW20 Further savings from 
leisure centres and 
swimming pools 

70 Close monitoring of the 
Leisure Services budgets 
will be required in 2021-22 
to determine the potential 
for the Covid-19 pandemic 
to continue to impact on 
income levels achieved.  
Under spends will be held 
across service areas to 
mitigate any shortfalls in 
the short term. 

SSW27 Increase income 
generation from mobile 
response and telecare 
charging 

75 Service area will continue 
to identify efficiencies to 
meet the shortfall in 2021-
22. 

 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 396



 
 
4.3 Commentary on the Financial Position at 31st March 2021 
 

A summary of the financial position for each main service area is attached as 
Appendix 4 to this report and comments on the most significant variances are 
provided below. 

 
4.3.1 Education and Family Support Directorate 
 

The net budget for the Directorate for 2020-21 was £123.512 million and the actual 
outturn was £122.094 million, following draw down of £475,000 from earmarked 
reserves resulting in an under spend of £1.418 million. The outturn has improved 
since the projected over spend at quarter 3 of £1.327 million due primarily to:- 
 

 Successful WG Hardship Fund claims - (FSM - £1.109 million) 

 New grant funding - £481,102 

 Top-ups to established grant funding streams - £104,074 

 Reallocation of existing grants – £454,066 
 
The most significant variances were: 

 

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT 
DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Inclusion 1,949 2,338 389 20.0% 

Pre School Provision 999 796 (203) -20.3% 

Youth Service 465 260 (205) -44.1% 

Emotional Health & Behaviour 2,281 2,111 (170) -7.5% 

Educational Psychology Service 374 297 (77) -20.6% 

Adult Learning 158 -16 (174) -110.1% 

Home to School Transport 5,856 6,021 165 2.8% 

Pupil Support 253 180 (73) -28.9% 

Catering Services 1,033 854 (179) -17.3% 

Integrated Working 1,478 1,288 (190) -12.9% 

Youth Offending Service 346 274 (72) -20.8% 

Health & Safety 388 293 (95) -24.5% 

 
Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
 
Total funding allocated to schools in 2020-21 was £107.322 million (including post-
16 funding). 
 
The schools’ delegated budget is reported as balanced in any one year as any 
under or over spend is automatically carried forward, in line with legislation, into the 
new financial year before being considered by the Corporate Director - Education 
and Family Support in line with the ‘Guidance and Procedures on Managing Surplus 
School Balances’, as set out in the Financial Scheme for Schools.  
 
The year-end position for 2020-21 was:- 
 

Page 397



 Net overall school balances totalled £108,000 at the start of the financial year.  
During 2020-21 school balances increased by £8.382 million to £8.490 million at the 
end of the financial year, representing 7.9% of the total funding allocated in 2020-21 

 Out of a total of 59 schools, there are 4 primary schools with deficit budgets and 46 
schools (35 primary, 9 secondary, 2 special) with balances in excess of the 
statutory limits (£50,000 primary, £100,000 secondary and special schools) in line 
with the School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010.  These balances will be 
analysed in line with the agreed ‘Guidance and Procedures on Managing Surplus 
School Balances’. 

 A summary of the position for each sector and overall is provided below:- 
 

 Balance 
brought 
forward 

Funding 
allocated in 

2020-21  

Total 
Funding 
available 

Actual 
Spend 

Balance at 
year end 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Primary (543) 49,445 48,902 44,352 4,550 

Secondary 92 47,981 48,073 45,095 2,978 

Special 559 9,896 10,455 9,493 962 

Total 108 107,322 107,430 98,940 8,490 

 
It must be noted that there has been a significant improvement from the projected 
deficit position for schools of £82,945 at quarter 3.  The main reason for this is 
additional schools revenue funding announced late in 2020-21 through the following 
grants:- 
 

Name of grant 

Additional 
Value 

£’000 

Accelerated Learning Programme – recruit and deploy additional capacity to 
support learners in addressing their needs following the initial Covid-19 crisis 
and period of school closure and further support for learners in exam years 

924 

Recruit, Recover, Raise Standards – to further support learning recovery and 
progression in schools 

1,390 

School Revenue Maintenance Grant - purpose of this funding is to cover 
school revenue maintenance costs 

2,151 

WLGA grant – help ensure mitigations are in place to ensure the school 
learning environment remains as Covid-safe as possible 

246 

Transition support for learners in Year 11, and Learners in Years 12 and 13 
studying AS /A2 level qualifications who are transitioning to the next steps in 
their educational journey 

290 

Allocation of funding to schools from the Central South Consortium (CSC) for 
claims paid in quarter 4 - e.g cluster funding and professional learning 

416 

Total 5,417 

Page 398



 
 
The year-end balances have also improved due to the following:- 
 

Other Movements 
 

£’000 

Additional funding distributed to schools to cover costs of increased numbers 
of free school meals during 2020-21 

228 

Successful claims from Covid Loss of Income Fund since Qtr 3 (Table 4) 337 

Successful claims from the Covid Hardship Expenditure Fund since Qtr 3 - 
staff costs (£487K), non-staffing costs (£232K) to ensure social distancing 
and support learning, and ICT costs (£256K) (Table 3) 

975 

 Total 1,540 

 
In March 2021 Welsh Government advised the Corporate Director of Education and 
Family Support that many schools were predicting an increase in school reserves at 
the end of 2020-21 as many of the resources and activities schools had planned 
into their budgets in 2020-21 had changed, or been put on hold.  It is understood 
that many of these activities will need to be progressed or even increased in the 
year ahead and the Corporate Director of Education and Family Support will be 
working closely with the schools to manage their surplus balances in accordance 
with the ‘Guidance and Procedures on Managing Surplus School Balances’. 

 
 Central Education and Family Support budgets 

 
Inclusion 

 The over spend of £389,000 is mainly due to the fact that there are currently only 14 
out-of-county placements at Heronsbridge School and Ysgol Bryn Castell compared 
with 20 in the Summer Term 2020, impacting on the level of income received.  It 
should be noted that some places can result in income in excess of £100,000.  The 
position has improved from the £593,000 over spend projected at quarter 3 due to 
receipt of additional ALN Covid Grant of £379,612 and ALN Grant of £51,226.  
Without these, the underlying pressure on the Recoupment budget would have 
been £819,838.  A Budget Pressure of £500,000 was approved by Council as part 
of the MTFS to address the underlying recoupment income shortfall therefore the 
budget will require close monitoring in 2021-22. 

 
Pre-school provision 

 The under spend of £203,000 relates primarily to reduced costs during the period 
when non-LA nurseries were closed during the first Covid-19 lockdown period in 
2020-21. The position has improved since the £103,000 under spend projected at 
quarter 3 primarily due to additional Early Childhood Education and Care grant 
income - £40,321, and reduced staffing costs due to a secondment of a member of 
staff to WG - £25,615.  It is anticipated that the budget will be fully allocated in 
2021-22. 

 
 

Page 399



Youth Service 

 The under spend of £205,000 relates primarily to maximisation of Families First 
grant funding - £231,138 and is therefore not a recurring under spend for 2021-22. 

 
 Emotional Health & Behaviour 

 The under spend of £170,000 is primarily due to staff vacancy management 
(£92,000) and maximisation of grant funding - PDG £112,623, and ALN Covid 
£36,581. The position also improved from the projected £28,000 under spend at 
quarter 3 due to successful claims of £53,380 from the WG Hardship fund.  The 
service area are looking to recruit and fill the vacancies in 2021-22 therefore this 
saving will not be recurring in 2021-22. 

 
 Educational Psychology Service 

 The under spend of £77,000 is primarily due to maximisation of Flying Start grant 
funding - £110,305 and is therefore not a recurring under spend for 2021-22.  

 
Adult Learning 

 The £174,000 under spend against Adult Learning is primarily due to staff 
vacancies within the service (£121,000).  The position has improved from the 
projected under spend at quarter 3 of £78,000 due to ongoing restrictions increasing 
the staff vacancy savings along with additional grant funding received – Adult 
Community Learning Grant (£35,598) and Legacy Funding (£16,321).  Recruitment 
exercises are planned for 2021-22 in order to fill vacant posts, therefore the saving 
will not recur in 2021-22. 

 
Home to School Transport (HTST) 

 There is an over spend on Home to School Transport of £165,000 in 2020-21.  The 
position has improved since the projected over spend of £548,000 at quarter 3.  A 
further saving of £78,000 was achieved due to paying 75% of the contract value for 
school and other contracted local passenger services in order for them to remain 
viable as school closures continued in the final quarter of 2020-21.  This was in 
addition to the £337,000 reported as being saved in the first quarter of 2020-21.  
£100,000 was also successfully claimed from the WG Hardship Fund to support 
costs of delivery of FSMs.  In addition, as college learners continued to be taught 
remotely for the final quarter, the HTST budget saw a further reduction in costs of 
£234,000.  

 In September 2015, Cabinet agreed changes to the local authority’s Home to 
School/College Transport Policy in order to meet MTFS savings identified from 
2016-17 to 2019-20.  The policy change was implemented in September 2016 and 
Cabinet resolved to protect the entitlement of all pupils currently benefitting from 
home to school transport at the former distances until they moved schools or moved 
from one phase of education to another.  Furthermore protection was provided for 
siblings of children already in receipt at the former distances, where they too would 
benefit from free transport at the same distance.  Parents who were aggrieved that 
their child was at detriment in comparison with their peers challenged the safety of 
walked routes to schools.  Therefore, the local authority agreed in August 2017 to 
progress the formal assessments of walking routes to schools. It was then proposed 
to seek the views of the public on a number of policy proposals, not least the 
implementation of available walked route assessments.  In July 2019, Cabinet 
agreed to undertake a full 12-week public consultation on a new set of proposals 
that would provide sufficient savings to support the MTFS. 

Page 400



 On 15 September 2020 Cabinet were updated on the outcomes of the consultation 
exercise and resolved to defer the decision to amend the Local Authority’s Learner 
Travel Policy until after the review of the current statutory distances by Welsh 
Government in March 2021.  Whilst we await the outcome of the review it is unlikely 
that any change to the statutory distances by Welsh Government will follow until 
2022 at the earliest and therefore even if the statutory distances reduce as a result 
of this review, the RSG would unlikely reflect this until 2022-23 at the earliest.   

 In the meantime there are ongoing historic pressures associated with budget 
reductions that have not been supported by a policy change of £269,000 and an in 
year MTFS savings target of £75,000 which remains undeliverable.  For 2020-21 
the overall shortfall of £344,000 on the HTST savings was funded from the 
Council’s contingency budget. 

 In addition, there is a significant additional costs associated with the provision of 
some specialist transport, for example, for looked-after children.  The individual 
needs of these children, particularly those who are placed out-of-county, means that 
dedicated school transport is increasingly costly as options for their transport are 
limited. 

 By combining the £415,000 in-year saving from paying 75% of the contract value, 
the one-off £234,000 saving on home to college transport, the £344,000 funding 
from the Council’s contingency budget, with the final over spend of £165,000, the 
underlying budget pressure on the HTST budget amounts to £1.158 million.  An 
MTFS Budget pressure of £1.210 million was approved by Council in February 2021 
to support the increased costs of HTST and the increased provision of taxis and 
minibuses for those pupils with additional learning needs.  This is a one-off pressure 
for 2021-22 while a review of HTST is undertaken. 

 
Pupil Support 

 The under spend of £73,000 is primarily due to staff vacancy management due to a 
delay in the implementation of a restructure.  The restructure has now been 
undertaken hence the saving will not be recurring in 2021-22. 

 
Catering Services  

 The under spend of £179,000 in Catering Services has primarily arisen as a result 
of a £123,000 under spend on the Free Breakfast Club core budget due directly to 
Covid-19 restrictions and school lockdowns limiting the ability to provide the service 
at full capacity in 2020-21. 

 The position has improved from the projected over spend of £777,000 at quarter 3 
primarily due to successful WG Hardship Fund claims of £956,000.  As noted in 
Table 3, whilst the authority received an additional £1.676 million from the WG 
Hardship Fund claims since quarter 3, the movement since quarter 3 has not 
improved to this level as additional FSM costs were incurred over and above that 
anticipated at quarter 3 due to continued lockdown of schools after Christmas. 

 WG have confirmed that funding is available in the WG Hardship Fund to cover free 
school meal provision within school holidays up to Easter 2022.    

 Close monitoring of the Catering Services budget will be required in 2021-22 to 
assess whether there is a continuing impact that the pandemic on the take up of 
school meals - a reduction was seen upon the return to school in September 2020.  

 
Integrated Working and Family Support 

 The £190,000 under spend within the Integrated Working and Family Support 
service is primarily due to maximisation of grant funding and is therefore not a 
recurring under spend for 2021-22.  

Page 401



 
Youth Offending Service 

 The under spend of £72,000 within the Youth Offending Service is primarily due to 
staff vacancies experienced within the service.  A planned re-structure this calendar 
year will result in the full budget being committed moving forward, therefore this 
saving will not be recurring in 2021-22. 

 
Corporate Health & Safety 

 The £95,000 under spend within the Corporate Health and Safety Unit is due to staff 
vacancy management.  The vacant posts are expected to be filled in 2021-22 
therefore this saving will not be recurring in 2021-22. 

 
4.3.2 Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate  
 

The net budget for the Directorate for 2020-21 was £73.263 million and the actual 
outturn was £72.289 million following draw down of £95,000 from earmarked 
reserves, resulting in an under spend of £974,000.  The outturn has improved since 
the projected over spend at quarter 3 of £812,000 due primarily to:- 
 

 Reallocation of existing grants - £839,000 

 Additional contributions from Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB towards placements - 
£38,000 

 Successful WG Covid Loss of income claims - £72,000 

 Successful WG Hardship claims - £450,000 

 Rebate from the Regional Adoption Service - £249,000 

 Reduced placement costs - £158,000 
 

The most significant variances are: 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Adult Social Care 48,838 48,190 (648) -1.3% 

Prevention and Wellbeing 5,200 5,038 (162) -3.1% 

Childrens Social Care 19,225 19,061 (164) -0.9% 

 
Adult Social Care 

 
There is a net under spend of £648,000 on the Adult Social Care budget.  The most 
significant variances contributing to this under spend were:- 

 

 Older People Residential Care – the over spend of £458,000 is due to increased 
placement costs and a reduction in personal contributions.  The position has 
improved by £412,000 since quarter 3 primarily due to successful Covid Hardship 
claims of £301,000, and Winter Pressure income of £140,000. 

 

 Care at Home for Older People - this includes domiciliary care services, local 
authority homecare services and the provision of direct payments.  The under 
spend of £1.021 million is a combination of an over spend on the Direct Payments 
budget (£204,000) due to an increase in the number of cases, offset by an under 

Page 402



spend on the homecare budget primarily due to staffing vacancies and delays in 
implementing a restructure due to Covid-19.  The restructure is progressing in 
2021-22.  The position improved since quarter 3 due to additional ICF funding of 
£53,000, COVID Hardship claims of £40,000, Winter Pressure funding of £119,000, 
Supporting People grant of £12,000, reduced placement costs of £121,000 and an 
overall reduction in staffing costs of £106,000. 
 

 Assessment and Care Management – there is an under spend of £188,000 due to a 
challenging recruitment environment and maximisation of grant income to offset 
staffing costs. The position improved from quarter 3 due to additional ICF funding of 
£32,000, Winter Pressures funding of £156,000 and successful WG Hardship 
claims of £9,000.  
 

 Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment – there is a net over spend of £68,000 
within this service area. There is an under spend on the Residential Care budget 
due to reduction in placements (£122,000) and on Assessment & Care 
Management due to staff vacancy management (£114,000).  Care at Home has 
over spent mainly due to an increase in demand in both Direct Payments (£33,000) 
and on equipment and adaptations (£222,000), despite ICF funding of £50,000 
being secured in the final quarter of 2020-21.  Covid-19 led to a marked and 
measurable increase in demand on the equipment and adaptations budget with 
more service users receiving care at home rather than in a hospital setting, 
individuals requiring support after having contracted Covid-19 and people 
expressing the wish to be more independent to reduce the number of carers visiting 
to minimise risking infection. 

 

 Adult Learning Disabilities – there is an over spend of £65,000 which is mainly due 
to increased external homecare costs due to a high cost transition placement from 
Children’s Social Care.  Maximisation of the Supporting People grant in quarter 4 
offset this over spend by £17,000. 
 

 Mental Health – there is an over spend of £34,000 which is mainly due to increased 
homecare costs due to additional placements relating to independent domiciliary 
care and high cost supported living placements.  The position improved by 
£293,000 from quarter 3 due to additional grant funding of £109,000 (Supporting 
people - £42,000 and Winter Pressure - £67,000), along with additional 
contributions from Health (£38,000) with the balance from staff vacancy 
management. 
 

 Management and Central Services – there is an under spend of £139,000 primarily 
due to staff vacancy management and under spends on training costs.  This 
position improved from quarter 3 due to receipt of an additional DOLS grant - 
£45,000. 

 
 

Prevention and Wellbeing  
 

 The Council received WG funding of £1.175 million in 2020-21 to compensate for 
the loss of income to contribute to the net loss of running the leisure services due to 
Covid-19.  Since 3rd May 2021, there has been a phased reopening for leisure 
centres and swimming pools across the authority.  The financial impact of this will 
have to be closely monitored in the first quarter of 2021-22. 

Page 403



 

 There is an under spend of £162,000 in 2020-21 which has improved by £101,000 
since quarter 3.  This is primarily due to £72,000 being successfully claimed from 
the Covid loss of income fund since quarter 3 for dual use sites where facilities are 
managed for community use outside of school hours along with £43,000 from 
various grants (Discovery Days £21,000, Young Carers ID £12,000 and Big Lottery 
£10,000).  

 
Childrens Social Care 

 
There is a net under spend of £164,000 on Children’s Social Care.  The most 
significant variances contributing to this under spend were:- 

 

 An over spend on the Care Experienced Children budget of £363,000.  There is an 
under spend of £373,000 on the Out of County budget largely due to high cost 
packages of care ending or more cost effective alternatives being found.  This was 
offset by an over spend of £525,000 on Independent fostering due to a combination 
of an increase in demand and complexity of cases.  Average Care Experienced 
Children numbers were 376 in 2018-19, 384 in 2019-20 and 393 in 2020-21.   A key 
piece of Bridgend’s Care Experienced Children’s strategy action plan is to increase 
the revocation of care orders for children placed with relatives/ friends or parents, 
increase the number of care order discharges, and increase the use of alternative 
orders such as Special Guardianship Orders. The service will continue with the 
initiatives and actions incorporated in the Care Experienced Children expectation 
plan in order to reduce the number of children placed in line with BCBC’s corporate 
strategy during 2021-22. Successful claims of £100,000 from the WG Covid-19 
Hardship fund have been made since quarter 3 along with additional Supporting 
People Grant of £62,000. 
 

 Family Support Services – an over spend of £80,000 primarily due to Direct 
Payments.  Whilst there were 114 Direct Payment clients at the end of both 2019-20 
and 2020-21 the over spend is primarily because of increased costs due to 
complexity of cases. 
 

 Other Child & Family Support Services – there is an under spend of £236,000 which 
is primarily due to a refund received in quarter 4 of £249,000 from the Regional 
Adoption service due to their overall budget being under spent and the number of 
children from Bridgend continuing to be proportionately lower than the previous 
years. 

 

 Commissioning and Social Work – there is an under spend of £377,000 mainly due 
to staffing vacancies due to a challenging recruitment environment and 
maximisation of grant income to offset staffing costs. The Directorate is actively 
recruiting to vacancies, however challenges still remain, therefore an element of the 
under spend may continue short-term into 2021-22.  

 

 An overall Budget Pressure of £479,000 was approved by Council as part of the 
MTFS to mitigate the increase in number of families accessing Direct Payments 
along with the complexity of cases across all areas, including Children’s Services. 

 
 
 

Page 404



4.3.3 Communities Directorate 
 
The net budget for the Directorate for 2020-21 was £28.493 million and the actual 
outturn was £26.502 million following draw down of £2.057 million from earmarked 
reserves, resulting in an under spend of £1.991 million.  The outturn has improved 
since the projected under spend at quarter 3 of £752,000 due primarily to:- 
 

 Successful WG Covid Loss of income claims - £412,000 

 Successful WG Hardship claims - £132,000 

 Additional WG - Local Government Roads Maintenance Revenue Grant in quarter 4 
of £483K 
 
The main variances are: 
 

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE 
Net  

Budget 
Actual 

Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Highways Maintenance 2,802 2,448 (354) -12.6% 

Highways Services (DSO) 2,786 2,542 (244) -8.8% 

Street Lighting 1,691 1,458 (233) -13.8% 

Fleet Services 14 252 238 1700.0% 

Traffic & Transport 722 459 (263) -36.4% 

Engineering 84 -53 (137) -163.1% 

Bereavement Services 43 -111 (154) -358.1% 

Grounds Maintenance 1,683 1,266 (417) -24.8% 

Public Realm 2,000 1,759 (241) -12.1% 

 
Highways Maintenance 

 The under spend in Highways Maintenance of £354,000 is primarily due to an 
additional Local Government Roads Maintenance Revenue Grant of £483,000 
received from WG in quarter 4.  An earmarked reserve has been created (see 
Appendix 1) to enable Highways Maintenance projects to be delivered in 2021-22. 

 
Highways Services (DSO) 

 The under spend of £244,000 within the Highways Services (DSO) is primarily due 
to members of staff working on, and hence charging their time to, the ongoing 
SALIX capital scheme to enable the replacement of street lighting with new energy 
efficient LED units.  This is not a recurring saving as it is limited to the timeframe of 
the capital programme. 

  
Street Lighting 

 The LED replacement programme has generated an under spend on energy 
consumption of £233,000 in 2020-21.  £48,000 of this is a one-off under spend due 
to the financial profiling of the annual loan repayments.  £75,000 will be utilised 
towards the 2021-22 MTFS Budget Reduction Proposal – COM8 – ‘Reduction to 
energy budget for Street Lighting’. 
 
 
 
 

Page 405



Fleet Services 

 There is a £238,000 over spend on Fleet services.  Whilst the service underwent a 
review in 2019-20 which resulted in an increase to charge out rates to recover fixed 
costs, the pandemic impacted on productivity rates, primarily due to social 
distancing requirements in the workplace.  Whilst the outturn for Fleet Services 
includes £65,000 claimed for Fleet Services from the WG Loss of Income fund due 
to loss of external income, internal re-charges impacted by Covid were not eligible 
to be claimed from the WG Hardship fund.  Reduced spend will have been incurred 
on Hire and Servicing budgets across the service departments and included in the 
year end positions for service areas. 

 
Traffic and Transport 

 There is an under spend of £263,000 within Traffic and Transport Services. Parking 
Services is showing an under spend of £155,000.  This is primarily due to better 
than forecast levels of income received in some car parks.  This additional income 
is contributing to running parking services and pressures within the overall transport 
budget, e.g. Fleet services, shop mobility, and School Crossing Patrols. 

 In addition, a successful claim was made in quarter 3 to the Covid Hardship fund of 
£24,332 for additional costs incurred for maintaining social distancing at Bridgend 
Bus Station.  
 
Engineering Services 

 The under spend of £137,000 within Engineering Services is primarily due to an 
increase in the level of fee earning jobs (balance of EU/non EU funded projects) 
and the differing chargeable rates allowed. 
 
Bereavement Services 

 The under spend of £154,000 within bereavement services is primarily due to an 
increase in income compared with both historic income levels and budgeted income 
levels.  2020-21 saw an increase in burials of 34%, largely driven by the pandemic.  
It is anticipated that income levels will return to normal levels in 2021-22. 
 
Grounds Maintenance 

 The under spend of £417,000 on the grounds maintenance budget is primarily due 
to a reduction in the use of seasonal staff due directly to Covid-19 along with a 
corresponding lower re-charge on non-staffing budgets – e.g hire of vehicles, 
equipment and machinery. 

 
 Public Realm Infrastructure 

 Council approved a £2 million public realm budget as part of the MTFS in February 
2020.  CCMB agreed to use £500,000 of this in 2020-21 towards the Covid-19 
Recovery Fund, leaving a balance of £1.5 million for public realm works. CCMB 
approved a list of schemes to be funded from this budget in 2020-21, with the 
majority of schemes being completed.  A small number of schemes were impacted 
by the pandemic, either through an unanticipated delay to the commencement date 
or having to go to out to re-tender.  These projects have been re-profiled to be 
completed in 2021-22. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 406



4.3.4 Chief Executive’s  
  

The net budget for the Directorate for 2020-21 was £18.774 million and the actual 
outturn was £17.678 million following draw down of £950,000 from earmarked 
reserves, resulting in an under spend of £1.096 million.  The projected under spend 
at quarter 3 was an under spend of £200,000, however as indicated in Table 2 the 
Directorate has been successful in claiming £582,000 from the WG Covid loss of 
income claim and £453,000 from the WG Hardship Fund since quarter 3, improving 
the year end position by £1.035 million. 
 
The most significant variances are: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S  
Net  

Budget 
Actual 

Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Housing & Homelessness 1,162 990 (172) -14.8% 

Finance 3,700 3,181 (519) -14.0% 

HR and Organisational Development 1,836 1,588 (248) -13.5% 

ICT 3,472 3,778 306 8.8% 

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 4,929 4,705 (224) -4.5% 

Customer Services & Engagement 1,625 1,457 (168) -10.3% 

 
Housing & Homelessness 

 The under spend of £172,000 is primarily due to staffing vacancies in respect of the 
core funded housing team.  The service are actively recruiting to fill the vacant posts 
therefore this saving will not be recurring in 2021-22. 

 Successful claims to the WG Hardship fund of £2.082 million significantly supported 
these services throughout 2020-21.  Budget growth of £2.192 million was approved 
by Council as part of the MTFS Budget setting process in February 2021 to 
continue the commitment to focus support for homeless individuals providing them 
with accommodation.  

 
Finance 

 The improvement from the quarter 3 projected year-end position of an under spend 
of £89,000 is due to a contribution from WG in March 2021 of £363,000 towards 
loss of court cost and debt recovery income in quarter 4.  £240,000 of the under 
spend mainly relates to staffing vacancies across the service.  Part of this under 
spend will be utilised towards the MTFS staffing budget saving proposal for finance 
of £65,000 in 2021-22 with other vacancies being populated further to the Finance 
restructure being implemented in 2021-22. 

 In addition to the under spend on staffing, there was a rebate of £86,167 from the 
Regional Internal Audit Service (RIAS) in respect of a reduced number of audit days 
received in the 2020-21 financial year as a result of staff vacancies within the 
service.  The proposed restructure is almost ready for consultation with Trade 
Unions and staff, so it is anticipated that this saving will not be recurring in 2021-22.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 407



HR and Organisational Development 

 The under spend of £248,000 mainly relates to staffing vacancies (£166,000) 
across the service.  Part of this under spend will be utilised towards the MTFS 
staffing budget saving proposal for HR of £24,000 in 2021-22. HR are either actively 
recruiting to fill, or have already filled, the remaining vacancies therefore the 
remaining under spend will not be recurring in 2021-22.  In addition, whilst Council 
approved a £200,000 Council Wide Apprenticeship Programme budget pressure for 
2020-21 as part of the MTFS in February 2020, the pandemic impacted on the 
ability to appoint to the apprenticeship posts resulting in a £133,000 under spend.  
All apprenticeship posts are anticipated to be filled shortly.  

 
ICT 

 There is a net over spend of £306,000 across ICT budgets.  Due to reduced printing 
activity ICT have been unable to cover the fixed costs of printers and photocopiers 
through the recharge to service departments, resulting in an over spend of 
£144,000 against the ICT print budget.  Consequently, reduced spend will have 
been incurred on printing budgets across the service departments and included in 
the year end positions for service areas.   

 In addition to the shortfall in the print budget, additional costs of £30,000 were 
incurred on postage budgets and £86,000 on software budgets, both of which are 
as a consequence of providing support for staff working from home during the 
pandemic (net of WG Hardship claim contributions). 

 A budget pressure of £418,000 was approved by Council in February 2021 to 
mitigate further increased costs in relation to ICT Digital Strategy Licences, in 
particular migration to Cloud based delivery model to support faster and more 
secure ICT services. 

 
Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 

 The under spend of £224,000 has mainly arisen from staffing vacancies in legal, 
Member Services and procurement. These departments are looking to recruit and 
fill these vacancies in 2021-22 therefore this saving will not be recurring in 2021-22. 

 The position has improved from the projected under spend of £93,000 at quarter 3 
due to successful Covid-19 loss of income claims of £73,000 and a rebate of 
£72,000 relating to Shared Regulatory Services as anticipated service level delivery 
was impacted by the pandemic resulting in an under spend.  This arose due to a 
refund of charges relating to the previous years which remained unspent.  
 
Customer Services & Engagement 

 The under spend of £168,000 mainly relates to staffing vacancies.  Various 
recruitment activities were actioned throughout 2020-21 in order to fill vacant posts 
but appointments were delayed due to the impact of Covid-19. Recruitment is 
planned to continue in 2021-22 therefore this saving will not be recurring in 2021-
22. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 408



4.3.5 Council Wide budgets 
  
 This section includes budgets, provisions and services which are Council wide, and 

not managed by an individual directorate. The budget for 2020-21 was £42.343 
million and the actual outturn was £30.617 million, resulting in an under spend of 
£11.726 million. As explained in detail earlier in the report, the outturn has changed 
since the projected under spend at quarter 3 of £7.177 million due primarily to:- 

 

 WG Hardship Grant of £1.121 million to address the Covid impact on plans for 
service savings and changes when budgets for 2020-21 were originally set 

 WG Hardship Grant of £1.121 million to support costs in modern ways of working 
and digital transformation 

 WG Hardship Grant of £151,178 in quarter 4 towards council tax support under the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

 A £1.252 million improvement on Insurance Premium costs 
 

The most significant variances were: 
 

COUNCIL WIDE BUDGETS 
Net  

Budget 
Actual 

Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Capital Financing 7,329 6,632 (697) -9.5% 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 15,254 14,975 (279) -1.8% 

Insurance Premiums 1,438 124 (1,314) -91.4% 

Repairs and Maintenance 615 131 (484) -78.7% 

Other Council Wide Budgets 9,167 200 (8,967) -97.8% 

 
 Capital Financing 

 The under spend of £697,000 arose on interest paid/received due to a combination 
of lower borrowing than anticipated as capital schemes have delayed and the 
Council uses its own internal resources to finance schemes, and additional interest 
from current investments. 

 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 There is an under spend of £279,000 on the Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  This is a 
demand led budget and take-up is difficult to predict.  Support of £325,469 from WG 
was provided in 2020-21 towards the increased demand due to the impact of Covid-19 
on personal financial circumstances.  It is likely that there will be an additional call on 
the council tax reduction scheme in view of the inevitable economic impact of the 

pandemic as we see the impact of the cessation of the furlough scheme/newly 
unemployed and a likely increase in the number of benefits claimants. 

 
Insurance Premiums 

 There is an under spend of £1.314 million on the insurance premium budget.  This 
primarily relates to a £1.039 million reduction in the overall fund liability following 
successful claims repudiated and settled at a lower amount or claims won.  In addition, 
as part of the Maesteg School Partnership PFI, the annual Insurance Review has 
resulted in a one-off exceptional saving of £198,000 which has been refunded to the 
Council.  The outturn for 2020-21 is considered to be a one-off under spend, however 
there is a £75,000 reduction to the Insurance budget in 2021-22 as part of the MTFS 

Page 409



approved by Council in February 2021. The budget will continue to be reviewed going 
forward to determine if there are any further permanent budget reduction opportunities.  

 
Repairs and Maintenance 

 There is an under spend of £484,000 is as a result of slippage on some minor works 
schemes and feasibility studies, which will now be completed in 2021-22.  An 
earmarked reserve has been established to meet these costs. 

 

Other Council Wide Budgets 

 Other Council Wide budgets includes funding for pay, price and pension increases 
along with funding to deal with unexpected costs unforeseen when the budget was 
set.  There is a net under spend of £8.967 million on other council wide budgets.  
The main areas contributing to this under spend are:- 
 

 When the MTFS was approved in February 2020, the pay increases for NJC 
employees and teachers had not been finalised, but a claim for NJC staff had been 
submitted for an increase of 10%.  Provision was made in the budget based on 
previous years’ increases with an element of contingency built in.  The agreed NJC 
pay award was 2.75%.  Even a variance of 1% on the pay settlement for NJC staff 
alone can result in a swing of required funding of over £1 million per annum. 

 

 Inflation rates have fluctuated since the budget was set (CPI was 1.7% in February 
2020 reducing to a low of 0.3% by November 2020).  The majority of the budget 
estimated for price inflation is retained centrally within Council wide budgets and 
allocated to directorates/schools as further information is known about specific 
contractual price increases e.g. for energy.  Therefore, a significant part of the 
projected under spend (£1.5 million) relates to the movement on inflation rates since 
budget setting, and the reduced requirement to allocate budget to service areas in-
year. 
 

 Welsh Government advised local authorities during quarter 3 of additional grant 
funding being made available during 2020-21 to contribute towards the increased 
cost of teachers’ pay increases which were originally funded in full through the 
MTFS (£291,980).  WG also provided additional funding during quarter 4 of £1.121 
million to address the Covid impact on plans for service savings and changes when 
budgets for 2020-21 were originally set and £1.121 million to support costs in 
modern ways of working and digital transformation.  Given the late notification of 
this additional funding, earmarked reserves have been established to meet one-off 
pressures that have been identified for the 2021-22 financial year along with an 
earmarked reserve to support the corporate and digital transformation programme. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 410



4.4 Review of Earmarked Reserves 
 
4.4.1 The Council is required to maintain adequate financial reserves to meet the needs 

of the organisation. The MTFS includes the Council’s Reserves and Balances 
Protocol which sets out how the Council will determine and review the level of its 
Council Fund balance and earmarked reserves. During 2020-21 Directorates drew 
down funding from specific earmarked reserves and these were reported to Cabinet 
through the quarterly monitoring reports.  The final draw down from reserves was 
£4.104 million and is summarised in Table 8 below.  A more detailed review of 
draw-down of reserves is outlined in Appendix 5. 

 
Table 8 – Draw Down from Earmarked Reserves during 2020-21 

 

  

Draw down from Earmarked 
Reserves 2020-21                      

 £'000 

Education & Family Support 475 

Social Services & Wellbeing 95 

Communities 2,057 

Chief Executives 950 

Corporate/Equalisation 527 

Total 4,104 

 
4.4.2 The year end review also examined:- 
 

 commitments against existing reserves and whether these were still valid; 

 earmarked reserve requests from Directorates as a result of emerging issues and; 

 emerging risks for the Council as a whole. 
 
Table 9 below details the creation of new earmarked reserves, increases to existing 
earmarked reserves and amounts that have been unwound from reserves.  The net 
additions to reserves for the whole of 2020-21 is £32 million which includes the 
£8.382 million increase to School Balances set out in paragraph 4.3.1, along with 
£8.7 million to fund new capital projects.  The final column shows that there have 
been net additions of £25.632 million in the last quarter of the financial year.  
Appendix 1 outlines the main additions in the final quarter.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 411



Table 9 – Net appropriation to/from Earmarked Reserves 2020-21 
 
 

  
Unwound          
2020-21 

New/ 
Additions 

to 
Reserves 
2020-21 

Total 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 
Qtr 4 Only 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

          

Corporate Reserves:-         

Capital Programme Reserve 0 8,530 8,530 5,880 

Digital Transformation, ICT & Finance 
Systems 

0 675 675 674 

Asset Management Reserve -90 295 205 245 

Building Maintenance Reserve 0 820 820 320 

Central feasibility 0 224 224 224 

Property Disposal Strategy 0 0 0 0 

Capital Asset Management Fund 0 173 173 173 

Major Claims Reserve 0 500 500 0 

Change Management Fund 0 0 0 0 

Total Corporate Reserves -90 11,217 11,127 7,516 

Directorate Reserves:-         

Directorate Issues -462 6,069 5,607 4,403 

City Deal Financing Reserve 0 2,899 2,899 1,899 

Total Directorate Reserves -462 8,968 8,506 6,301 

Equalisation & Grant Reserves:-         

ED&FSS Grants 0 1,272 1,272 1,272 

Civil Parking Enforcement 0 17 17 17 

LDP 0 20 20 20 

Building Control 0 3 3 3 

Communities Grants -14 753 739 753 

SRF 0 169 169 169 

Chief Execs Grant   680 680 680 

SSWB Grants 0 519 519 519 

Total Equalisation & Grant Reserves   -14 3,433 3,419 3,433 

          

School Balances 0 8,382 8,382 8,382 

          

TOTAL RESERVES -566 32,000 31,434 25,632 

 
 
4.4.3 A full breakdown of the total movement on earmarked reserves at 31st March 2021 

is provided in Appendix 5.  Table 10 below summarises the final position on all 
useable reserves for the year. 

 
 
 

Page 412



Table 10 – Summary of Movement on Earmarked Reserves 2020-21 
 

Opening 
Balance               

01-Apr-20                 
£'000 

Reserve 

Movement at Quarter 4 Closing 
Balance          
31-Mar-

21            
£'000 

Additions/ 
Reclassification 

£'000 

Drawdown 
£'000 

          

9,340 Council Fund Balance 432 0 9,772 

          

43,488 Corporate Reserves 11,217 -2,085 52,620 

7,930 Directorate Reserves 8,968 -1,475 15,423 

3,696 
Equalisation & Grant 
Reserves 

3,433 -1,110 6,019 

108 School Balances 8,382 0 8,490 

55,222 Total Earmarked Reserve 32,000 -4,670 82,552 

          

64,562 Total Useable Reserves 32,432 -4,670 92,324 

 
4.4.4 In terms of financial reserves, the Council Fund balance represents 3.41% of the net 

revenue budget for 2020-21, or 5.27% of the net revenue budget, excluding schools.  
This aligns with MTFS Principle 9 which states that:- 

 
The Council Fund balance should be set at a prudent but not excessive level.  This 
will normally be maintained at a level of 5% of the Council’s net budget, excluding 
schools. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by section 3 (budgetary control) of the Financial Procedure Rules; Chief 

Officers in consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member are expected to 
manage their services within the approved cash limited budget and to provide the 
Chief Finance Officer with such information as is required to facilitate and monitor 
budgetary control. 

 
6. Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality 
impacts as a result of this report.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. As the report is for information it is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a 
result of this report. 

Page 413



 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 These are reflected in the body of the report. 
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 Cabinet is requested to: 
 

 note the revenue outturn position for 2020-21 
 

 
 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
June 2021 
  
Contact Officer: Joanne Norman 
   Interim Group Manager – Financial Planning and Budget Management 
 
Telephone:  01656 643645 
 
Email:  joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address : Raven’s Court 
   Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 

 
 
Background documents:  Individual Directorate Monitoring Reports 
     MTFS Report to Council – 24 February 2021 

      

Page 414

mailto:joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk


Revenue

£000

Capital

£000

Wellbeing

Coordinate, develop and oversee implementation of service development 

priorities in adult, children and young people’s and leisure services 210 2021-22 to 2022-23

Initiatives to support Well-being of staff 115 2021-22

Accessibility Works - Leisure and Cultural Services 150 2021-22 to 2022-23

Children's Residential Accommodation Hub 350 2021-22

Redecoration and upgrade works in social care premises 250 2021-22 to 2022-23

People & Jobs Social Work - 3 year secondment scheme for trainee social workers 360 2021-22 to 2023-24

Apprentice and Graduate Scheme 330 2021-22 to 2023-24

Environment Implementing Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy 220 2021-22 to 2022-23

Highways Revenue Maintenance Schemes 483 2021-22

Local Economy & Tourism

Targeted transport initiatives - Active Travel Strategy, Charging Infrastructure, 

Feasibility on Transport Interchanges, WG 20MPH Speed limit 520 2021-22

Development of Cosy Corner, Porthcawl 500 2021-22 to 2022-23

Commercial Property Enhancement Fund 150 2021-22

Wider regeneration investment 2,300 2021-22 to 2023-24

COVID-19 Recovery Fund 500 2021-22

Contribution to Brexit Reserve 800 2021-22 to 2022-23

Transformation Corporate and Digital Transformation Programme 800 2021-22 to 2022-23

ICT Equipment for School Kitchens 40 2021-22

Depot rationalisation 300 2021-22

Replacement CCTV System 595 2021-22

Capital Projects

Feasibility is underway on a number of capital schemes. These will be brought 

back to Cabinet and Council at a future date once the full scheme costs are 

known with more certainty. As the potential to generate capital receipts from 

the sale of assets diminishes, this has become an important source of funding 

for the capital programme and enables major capital schemes to progress 

without the need for borrowing which would put additional pressure on the 

revenue budget. 6,500

Revenue Maintenance Projects

To enable Minor Works schemes and Feasibility Schemes delayed due to 

COVID-19 to be completed in future years along with a £500,000 allocation to 

be utilised against projected maintenance pressures. 1,045 2021-22

TOTAL 5,633 10,885

Budget    
Category Description Period Covered

Page 415



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving 

achieved in 

2020-21          

£000

Reason why not achieved
Proposed Action in 2021-22 to 

achieve

RAG STATUS KEY

RED Not likely to be achieved at all in this financial year or less than 25%.

AMBER Reduction not likely to be achieved in full in financial year but greater than 25%

GREEN Reduction likely to be achieved in full

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1      

(2017-18)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
20 0

On 15 September 2020 Cabinet resolved to defer 

the decision to amend the Local Authority's 

Learner Travel Policy until after the review of the 

current statutory distances by Welsh Government 

in March 2021.  Whilst we await the outcome of 

the review it is unlikely that any change to the 

statutory distances by Welsh Government will 

follow until 2022 at the earliest and therefore even 

if the statutory distances reduce as a result of this 

review, the RSG would unlikely reflect this until 

2022/23 at the earliest.  The shortfall in savings 

identified were funded from corporate contingency 

in 2020-21.

A Budget Pressure was approved by Council 

as part of the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 

2021.  This is a one-off pressure whilst a 

review is undertaken.

EFS2     

(2017-18)
School transport route efficiencies. 40 0

On 15 September 2020 Cabinet resolved to defer 

the decision to amend the Local Authority's 

Learner Travel Policy until after the review of the 

current statutory distances by Welsh Government 

in March 2021.  Whilst we await the outcome of 

the review it is unlikely that any change to the 

statutory distances by Welsh Government will 

follow until 2022 at the earliest and therefore even 

if the statutory distances reduce as a result of this 

review, the RSG would unlikely reflect this until 

2022/23 at the earliest.  The shortfall in savings 

identified were funded from corporate contingency 

in 2020-21.

A Budget Pressure was approved by Council 

as part of the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 

2021.  This is a one-off pressure whilst a 

review is undertaken.

EFS1      

(2018-19)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
67 0

On 15 September 2020 Cabinet resolved to defer 

the decision to amend the Local Authority's 

Learner Travel Policy until after the review of the 

current statutory distances by Welsh Government 

in March 2021.  Whilst we await the outcome of 

the review it is unlikely that any change to the 

statutory distances by Welsh Government will 

follow until 2022 at the earliest and therefore even 

if the statutory distances reduce as a result of this 

review, the RSG would unlikely reflect this until 

2022/23 at the earliest.  The shortfall in savings 

identified were funded from corporate contingency 

in 2020-21.

A Budget Pressure was approved by Council 

as part of the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 

2021.  This is a one-off pressure whilst a 

review is undertaken.

EFS27      

(2018-19)

Review arrangements for Special Schools Home to School 

Transport with a view to achieving efficiency savings
75 0

On 15 September 2020 Cabinet resolved to defer 

the decision to amend the Local Authority's 

Learner Travel Policy until after the review of the 

current statutory distances by Welsh Government 

in March 2021.  Whilst we await the outcome of 

the review it is unlikely that any change to the 

statutory distances by Welsh Government will 

follow until 2022 at the earliest and therefore even 

if the statutory distances reduce as a result of this 

review, the RSG would unlikely reflect this until 

2022/23 at the earliest.  The shortfall in savings 

identified were funded from corporate contingency 

in 2020-21.

A Budget Pressure was approved by Council 

as part of the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 

2021.  This is a one-off pressure whilst a 

review is undertaken.

EFS 1      

(2019-20)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
67 0

On 15 September 2020 Cabinet resolved to defer 

the decision to amend the Local Authority's 

Learner Travel Policy until after the review of the 

current statutory distances by Welsh Government 

in March 2021.  Whilst we await the outcome of 

the review it is unlikely that any change to the 

statutory distances by Welsh Government will 

follow until 2022 at the earliest and therefore even 

if the statutory distances reduce as a result of this 

review, the RSG would unlikely reflect this until 

2022/23 at the earliest.  The shortfall in savings 

identified were funded from corporate contingency 

in 2020-21.

A Budget Pressure was approved by Council 

as part of the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 

2021.  This is a one-off pressure whilst a 

review is undertaken.

Total Education & Family Support Directorate 269 0

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

SSW010     

(2018-19)
Increase in-house fostering provision 392 392 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21.

None required - saving made in full in 2020-

21

SSW22 

(2019-20)

Identify further savings from library and cultural facilities and  

related services including reviewing  the numbers of facilities 

(libraries, community centres) and also reductions in services 

or opening hours.

60 60 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21.
None required - saving made in full in 2020-

21

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate 452 452

PRIOR YEAR BUDGET REDUCTIONS CARRIED FORWARD INTO 2020-21

Page 417



APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving 

achieved in 

2020-21          

£000

Reason why not achieved
Proposed Action in 2021-22 to 

achieve

COMMUNITIES

COM19     

(2017-18)

Permitting Scheme road works net of existing income of 

£95,000
100 0

Timeline not in the direct control of BCBC officers 

as the business case is going through multiple 

steps in an approval process with WG. However 

ultimately a positive response is expected, and 

this is being lead by the Group Manager to ensure 

it is followed through. 

The Streetworks review is reaching 

completion and will be submitted to WG for 

consideration.  The responsible highways 

network budget area is committed to stay 

within budget irrespective of the delivery of 

the scheme. 

COM 4    

(2019-20)

Review of School Crossing Patrol service in line with GB 

standards
10 0

The level of service need is currently in excess of 

the available budget, hence saving is not likely to 

be fully achieved in 2020-21.

The provision of the service and the MTFS is 

predicated on sites meeting certain 

guidance.  Assessment of sites continue to 

be reviewed in line with the Council protocol 

and if sites do not meet the criteria they 

could be considered for dis-establishment.  

COM 20 

(2019-20)
Highways Dept Management Structural Savings Target 100 100 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21.

None required - saving made in full in 2020-

21

COM 26 

(2019-20)

Investigate the introduction of charging to users of the 

Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town Centre to 

reduce/remove the current level of subsidy

5 0

Cabinet considered a report in January 2020 and 

approved the introduction of new hire fees and 

alteration to opening times to enable this saving to 

be achieved.  However, whilst the new charges 

have been implemented in 2020-21,  COVID-19 

has impacted on the ability to fully achieve the 

savings proposal.  

No further action required as shortfall is 

COVID-19 related.  Full saving should be 

achieved in 2021-22.

COM 44 

(2019-20)

Bridgend Bus Station - alternative measures to explore full 

cost recovery and external support will be pursued but, failing 

this, the likely required step to deliver this saving is closure.

45 45
Budget re-alignment from Public Realm budget 

actioned in 2020-21.

None required - saving made in full in 2020-

21

COM 46 

(2019-20)
Removal of budget for Subsidised Bus Routes 148 148 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21.

None required - saving made in full in 2020-

21

COM 52 

(2019-20)

Reductions to the budget for the Materials Recovery and 

Energy Centre (MREC) to be achieved through the current 

procurement being undertaken with Neath Port Talbot CBC 

for the provision of new operator arrangements for the MREC 

facility at Crumlyn Burrows

1,300 1,000

Shortfall in savings identified of £300,000 -  

funded from corporate contingency in 2020-

21.

A Budget Pressure of £300,000 was 

approved by Council as part of the Medium 

Term Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25 

in February 2021. 

COM 55 

(2019-20)

Increase charge for Green Waste Service from £28.30 per 

household to £38.30
25 0

Whilst the new charges have been implemented, 

closure of the green waste processing facility and 

hence cessation of the green waste service for the 

first part of 2020-21 due to COVID-19 has 

impacted on the ability to fully achieve the savings 

proposal

No further action required as shortfall is 

COVID-19 related.  Full saving should be 

achieved in 2021-22.

COM 59 

(2019-20)

 Reduction to the opening hours of the Community Recycling 

Centres by 1 hour, per day. 
17 17 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21.

None required - saving made in full in 2020-

21

Total Communities Directorate 1,750 1,310

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

CEX10     

(2019-20)
Review CCTV function with aim to create efficiencies 30 30 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21.

None required - saving made in full in 2020-

21

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 30 30

GRAND TOTAL OUTSTANDING REDUCTIONS 2,501 1,792

REDUCTIONS SHORTFALL 709

Page 418



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 3

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Savings 

Target   2020-

21 £'000

Value of 

Saving 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2021-22 to achieve

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1

Phased implementation of Learner Transport 

Policy regarding statutory distances for free 

travel

• Savings should occur naturally as a result of the policy application 

year on year, however dispersed learners and contractual pressure 

from operators as routes become more untenable may mean it 

becomes increasingly difficult to find the identified savings.

• Risk of price increases from Contractors.

75 0

On 15 September 2020 Cabinet resolved to defer the 

decision to amend the Local Authority's Learner Travel 

Policy until after the review of the current statutory 

distances by Welsh Government in March 2021.  

Whilst we await the outcome of the review it is unlikely 

that any change to the statutory distances by Welsh 

Government will follow until 2022 at the earliest and 

therefore even if the statutory distances reduce as a 

result of this review, the RSG would unlikely reflect this 

until 2022/23 at the earliest.  The shortfall in savings 

identified were funded from corporate contingency in 

2020-21.

A Budget Pressure was approved by Council as part 

of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 

2024-25 in February 2021.  This is a one-off pressure 

whilst a review is undertaken.

EFS44 Review of Childcare Team

Review existing staffing structure within the Childcare Team with a 

view to moving core funded staff to grant, where this option is eligible 

under grant conditions. In addition a review of the service demand 

placed on the Development Officers in supporting the private nursery 

settings throughout the county borough, ensuring a streamlined 

service that meets minimum statutory requirements. There are 

however, significant risks in making further reductions in this budget 

line (RSG) given Welsh Government's policy linked with both the 

national statutory Childcare Offer and Child Sufficiency requirements. 

In addition, this budget line has been reduced in previous years and 

existing demand (to fund placements) is exceeding budget.

10 10 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

EFS48

Efficiency saving targeting supplies and services 

budgets across the Education and Family 

Support Directorate

Limited impact as review has identified small historic underspends 

against this budget category.
87 87 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

EFS54
Further reduction to contribution to the Central 

South Consortium (CSC)

This would need to be agreed with other partners within the 

Consortium.
17 17 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

EFS57
Further review of staffing structures across the 

Education and Family Support Directorate 
Potential delays in service delivery. 50 50 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

Total Education and Family Support 239 164

P
age 419



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 3

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Savings 

Target   2020-

21 £'000

Value of 

Saving 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2021-22 to achieve

SSW19

Further review of HALO partnership contract, 

including the Council taking over the 

management and payment of utility bills 

currently incurred by HALO.  This will result in 

VAT efficiencies for HALO and contribute 

towards the reduction in the management fee

Previous negotiations have proved successful.  No adverse impact 

identified.
40 0

Detailed discussions and advice received from 

VAT consultants resulted in this budget reduction 

proposal not being able to be progressed.  

Underspends were held across the service area in 

2020-21 to mitigate the shortfall in the short term.

Alternative savings proposal are being 

developed and will be reported as part of the 

Budget Monitoring 2021-22 Quarter 1 Revenue 

Forecast report to Cabinet.

SSW20

Identify further savings from leisure centres and 

swimming pools including reviewing the number 

of facilities and also reductions in services or 

opening hours. 

Reduced availability of services and accessibility to the public.  

Negative impact on healthier wales wellbeing goals.
70 0

COVID-19 has impacted on the delivery of this 

saving in 2020-21.  Underspends were held 

across the service area to mitigate the shortfall in 

the short term.

Close monitoring of the Leisure Services 

budgets will be required in 2021-22 to determine 

the potential for the COVID-19 pandemic to 

continue to impact on income levels achieved.  

Underspends will be held across the service 

area to mitigate any shortfalls in the short term.

SSW22

Identify further savings from library and cultural 

facilities and related services including reviewing  

the numbers of facilities (libraries, community 

centres) and also reductions in services or 

opening hours.

Reduced availability of services and accessibility to the public.  

Negative impact on healthier wales wellbeing goals.
20 20 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

SSW26
Remodelling day service provision for older 

people and learning disability services

Full review of services which could mean alternative methods of 

service delivery
90 90 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

SSW27
Increase income generation from mobile 

response and telecare charging

Limited impact on current services but would require commercial 

expertise to assist with the proposal
75 0

Income levels in 2020-21 did not increase to meet 

the required budget pressure proposal.

Service area will continue to identify efficiencies 

to meet the shortfall in 2021-22.

SSW28

Increase non-residential charging limits from 

£90 to £100 per week.  This is totally reliant on 

Welsh Government changing the limits within 

their non-residential charging policy in 2020/21

Limited impact on services 200 200 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

P
age 420



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 3

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Savings 

Target   2020-

21 £'000

Value of 

Saving 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2021-22 to achieve

SSW29

Further review of staffing structures across 

Adults and Children Services including:-

• The management structures in the direct 

provider services as well as reviewing the 

demands on the service and the direct care 

hours needed to meet those demands. 

• The overall management structure across 

Adults, Children and Wellbeing services

• The service will be reviewing its overall 

professional staff to ensure the levels of the staff 

meet current demands whilst being aware that 

the service need to ensure that the caseloads of 

qualified staff are in line with acceptable 

standard because if they are not it would impact 

on practice and performance and increase risk 

in the service as well as impacting on 

recruitment and retention and the Authority's 

ability to attractive suitably experienced and 

qualified staff . 

This will mean reducing staff numbers, which will incur redundancy 

costs.  There will also be reduced capacity within teams across the 

directorate

175 175

£77k achieved in staff savings in 2020-21.  

Additional savings of £98k achieved from care 

package review savings over and above the 

required £150k SSW30 budget reduction proposal 

which have been utilised to offset the shortfall in 

the staffing budget reduction proposal on a 

permanent basis.  

None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

SSW30

Further review of care packages linked to the 

assessment framework to include consideration 

of transport

It is envisaged that the number of care hours will reduce for service 

users across the directorate
150 150 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

820 635

COMMUNITIES

COM26

Investigate the introduction of charging to users 

of the Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town 

Centre to reduce/remove the current level of 

subsidy otherwise closure of the facility will be 

necessary 

The popularity of the service is generally declining with a significantly 

reduced number of users. Changes in technology have meant that 

lightweight, affordable scooters have now greatly increased in private 

ownership, compared to when the facility was introduced. The 

provision is non statutory and not one provided in other town centres 

in the County Borough or in many town centres of neighbouring 

authorities. On this basis in order to make the service viable it is 

proposed to introduce charging but if this does not present a realistic 

option to make the full required saving closure of the facility would be 

necessary. There is a risk that some members of the community  with 

mobility issues may struggle to pay the necessary charges and 

therefore maybe unable to gain access to the town centre. It is 

proposed to engage with users of the facility to inform the way 

forward. 

18 0

Cabinet considered a report in January 2020 and 

approved the introduction of new hire fees and 

alteration to opening times to enable this saving to 

be achieved.  However, whilst the new charges 

have been implemented in 2020-21, the lockdown 

of the town centre early in 2020-21 due to COVID-

19 has impacted on the ability to fully achieve the 

savings proposal.  

No further action required as shortfall is COVID-

19 related.  Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM42

Review of parks and playing fields service split 

over two financial years - 19/20 and 20/21:-  

15% reduction to seasonal operatives budget 

(£75K).  Corresponding reduction to large and 

small plant (£29k).  Removal of bowls club grant 

(£34K). 

The cut identified for both 2019-20  and 2020-21 will mean that there 

are reduced levels of maintenance and slower reaction times which 

will mean a degradation over time which will result in higher future 

capital costs i.e. maintenance of remaining pavilions.    

69 69 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate

P
age 421



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 3

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Savings 

Target   2020-

21 £'000

Value of 

Saving 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2021-22 to achieve

COM43

End of management of Kenfig National Nature 

Reserve

The agreement between BCBC and Kenfig Corporation Trust (KCT) 

ends in December 2019.  It is currently proposed that BCBC does not 

enter into any new agreement.  KCT are underway with a process, 

supported by their agent HRT, to identify a new tenant.  This process 

is being conducted in partnership with NRW.  There is a risk that the 

level of management may be affected, however there is also the 

opportunity that the new tenant may be able to draw on resources that 

BCBC cannot. 

35 35 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

COM51
Ongoing implementation of Corporate Landlord 

model

The savings will be delivered in a number of ways including 

operational efficiencies, streamlined business processes, IT 

investment, improved procurement and contract management, and 

some deletions of vacant posts.

350 325 Level of savings identified as at 31 March 2021.  
Service area will continue to identify efficiencies 

to meet the shortfall in 2021-22.

COM55
Increase charge for Green Waste Service from 

£28.30 per household to £38.30

The new waste contract related items would require both Contract 

Variation negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels proposed 

and public consultation regarding the charge changes and reduced 

levels of service.

25 0

Whilst the new charges have been implemented, 

closure of the green waste processing facility and 

hence cessation of the green waste service for 

the first part of 2020-21 due to COVID-19 has 

impacted on the ability to fully achieve the savings 

proposal

No further action required as shortfall is COVID-

19 related.  Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM56
Increase charge for collection of 3 bulky waste 

items from £15.50 to £20.
10 10 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

COM59

 Reduction to the opening hours of the 

Community Recycling Centres by 1 hour, per 

day. 

17 17 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

COM73
BCBC to save the annual BID funding now BID 

no longer functions

No impact that is within the control of BCBC following a unsuccessful 

BID ballot.
15 15 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

COM76

Review of Porthcawl Marina with a view to it 

running on a full cost recovery basis. This will 

involve a review of the berth fees.

This would involve a review of the berth fees and other operational 

costs.  Any approach to outsourcing management would likely require 

financial support and therefore negate any savings.

25 25 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

COM77

Direct Services Organisation (DSO) staffing 

restructure - the front line staffing for highways 

which deal with a range of highway issues such 

as Winter gritting, Traffic collisions clear up, 

Flooding, Gully maintenance, Maintenance of 

Traffic signs, streetlights and traffic signals.  The 

team have a major role within the Borough in the 

maintenance and repair of the highway.  Since 

the loss of work the team undertook on behalf of 

the South Wales Trunk Road Agency (SWTRA) 

there is the potential to make a saving in the 

DSO staffing structure.

This would be potentially focused at a managerial level with the 

implication on the ability to deal with service requests in regard of 

local construction projects. It would also increase the single point 

failure in regard of sickness absence for remaining members of team. 

50 50 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

The waste contract items would require both Contract Variation 

negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels proposed and 

public consultation regarding the charge changes and reduced levels 

of service. 

P
age 422



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 3

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Savings 

Target   2020-

21 £'000

Value of 

Saving 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2021-22 to achieve

COM79

Investigate reducing costs and increasing 

charging for running the Bridgend Business 

Forum for specific events to reduce/remove the 

current level of subsidy otherwise reduction in 

the service level will be necessary.

If reduced costs and increased charges are accepted impact should 

be minimal, there is a risk that the level of support / number of events  

may need to be reduced to support the saving.

18 18 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

COM96

WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital 

contribution from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle 

to collect AHP recycling

This would require Contract Variation negotiations with Kier to confirm 

the saving levels proposed based on a reduction in costs in relation to 

the current AHP vehicle that is leased 

14 0

It took significantly longer than expected to work 

through the detail of the variation order required to 

action this saving, due to other pressing time 

demands, including dealing with the pandemic 

response.  The variation order has now been 

completed and the saving will now be delivered in 

full in 2021-22.

Saving will be made in full in 2021-22.

Total Communities Directorate 646 564

CHIEF EXECUTIVES

CEX1 Efficiencies from Shared Regulatory Service

May require restructuring within service and impact on response 

times, but will be managed across the 3 participating Councils and will 

aim to minimise impact.

37 37 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

CEX11

The expansion of the shared internal audit 

service has created efficiencies resulting in 

reduced contribution for BCBC

No impact on service provision 40 40 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

CEX12 Reduction of HR staffing budgets Potential reduction of posts and redundancy costs 44 44 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

CEX13

Reduction of Partnerships Services budgets - 

savings achieved through software 

rationalisation and removal of vacancies within 

the ICT service unit

Minimal service impact as savings a result of vacancies and 

efficiencies
200 200 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

CEX15 Reduction of Legal fees budgets Minimal impact 80 80 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

CEX16 Reduce Members' training budget Less training opportunities for elected members.  7 7 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

CEX17 Reduction of Business Support staffing budgets Potential reduction of posts and redundancy costs 100 100 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 508 508

P
age 423



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 3

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Savings 

Target   2020-

21 £'000

Value of 

Saving 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2021-22 to achieve

CORPORATE / COUNCIL WIDE

CWD6
Reduction in funding required for Apprenticeship 

Levy
No impact as budget historically been higher than required. 50 50 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

CWD11

Reduction in the budget to cover the cost to the 

Council of the outstanding liability for Employers 

Liability, Public Liability and Property following 

favourable insurance contract renewals in 

previous years.  

No impact as favourable insurance contract renewals have been 

achieved, however no mitigation available for potential increases to 

premiums in future years.

150 150 Saving achieved in full in 2020-21 None required - saving made in full in 2020-21

Total Corporate / Council Wide 200 200

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 2,413 2,071

2,413 2,413

REDUCTION SHORTFALL 0 342

1,023 1,746

996 350

394 317

2,413 2,413

TOTAL BUDGET REDUCTION REQUIREMENT (MOST LIKELY)

P
age 424



REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING TO 31ST MARCH 2021 - YEAR END OUTTURN

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Expenditure 

Budget
Income 

Budget 

Net 

Budget 

Actual 

Outturn 

Actual 

Variance

Over/(under)

budget 

% 

Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

School Delegated Budgets 122,751         (21,302)     101,449   101,449        -                  0.0%

Learning 9,899            (3,060)       6,839       6,382           (457)                 -6.7%

Strategic Partnerships & Comm 25,298           (10,462)     14,836     13,970         (866)                 -5.8%

Health and Safety 390               (2)              388          293             (95)                   -24.4%

TOTAL EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 158,338         (34,826)     123,512   122,094       (1,418)              -1.1%

SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

Adult Social Care 66,955           (18,117)     48,838     48,190         (648)                 -1.3%

Prevention and Wellbeing 5,993            (793)          5,200       5,038           (162)                 -3.1%

Childrens Social Care 20,111           (886)          19,225     19,061         (164)                 -0.9%

TOTAL SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 93,059           (19,796)     73,263     72,289         (974)                 -1.3%

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE

Planning & Development Services 1,809            (1,257)       552          399             (153)                 -27.7%

Strategic Regeneration 1,911            (201)          1,710       1,624           (86)                   -5.0%

Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 2,998            (1,892)       1,106       912             (194)                 -17.5%

Cleaner Streets and Waste Management 12,502           (1,865)       10,637     10,745         108                  1.0%

Highways and Green Spaces 22,146           (10,956)     11,190     9,538           (1,652)              -14.8%

Director and Head of Operations - Communities 268                -           268          268              -                  0.0%

Corporate Landlord 13,613           (10,583)     3,030       3,016           (14)                   -0.5%

TOTAL COMMUNITIES 55,247           (26,754)     28,493     26,502         (1,991)              -7.0%

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

Chief Executive  514                -           514          518             4                      0.8%

Finance 46,528           (42,828)     3,700       3,181           (519)                 -14.0%

HR/OD 2,199            (363)          1,836       1,589           (247)                 -13.5%

Partnerships 3,089            (1,037)       2,052       1,816           (236)                 -11.5%

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 5,917            (988)          4,929       4,705           (224)                 -4.5%

Elections 164               (60)            104          102             (2)                     -1.9%

ICT 4,802            (1,330)       3,472       3,778           306                  8.8%

Housing & Homelessness 8,651            (7,489)       1,162       990             (172)                 -14.8%

Business Support 1,116            (111)          1,005       999             (6)                     -0.6%

 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 72,980           (54,206)     18,774     17,678         (1,096)              -5.8%

 TOTAL DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 379,624         (135,582)   244,042   238,563       (5,479)              -2.2%

Council Wide Budgets 43,313           (970)          42,343     30,617         (11,726)            -27.7%

Accrued Council Tax Income (1,702)         (1,702)              0.0%

Appropriations to Earmarked Reserves 500                -           500          18,975         18,475             0.0%

Transfer to Council Fund 432             432                  0.0%

 NET BRIDGEND CBC          423,437    (136,552)    286,885        286,885                       0 0.0%

NB: Differences due to rounding of £000's

APPENDIX 4

Budget 2020-21

Page 425



This page is intentionally left blank



           APPENDIX 5 

TOTAL MOVEMENT ON EARMARKED RESERVES AS AT 31ST MARCH 2021 

    
Movement as at 

Quarter 4 
  

  
Opening 
Balance 

Reserve 
Net Additions 

/Reclassification 
Draw-
down 

Closing 
Balance 

01-Apr-
20 

      
31-Mar-

21 

£'000   £'000 £'000 £'000 

  Corporate Reserves:       

1,344 Asset Management Plan 295 -350 1,289 

2,023 Building Maintenance Reserve 820 -6 2,837 

1,100 Capital Asset Management & Asbestos Fund 173 0 1,273 

571 Capital Feasibility Fund 224 -128 667 

21,078 Capital Programme Contribution 8,530 -688 28,920 

1,565 Change Management 0 -140 1,425 

1,320 
Digital Transformation, ICT & Finance 
Systems 

675 -369 1,626 

800 Economic and Future Resilience Fund 0 0 800 

2,161 Insurance Reserve 0 0 2,161 

5,276 Major Claims Reserve 500 -381 5,395 

906 MTFS Budget Contingency 0 0 906 

52 Property Disposal Strategy 0 -17 35 

4,992 Service Reconfiguration 0 0 4,992 

300 Welfare Reform Bill 0 -6 294 

43,488 Total Corporate Reserves 11,217 -2,085 52,620 

  Directorate Reserves:       

2,489 City Deal Reserve 2,899 -188 5,200 

2,421 Directorate Issues 5,807 -859 7,369 

1,011 Highways Asset Management Reserve 0 -78 933 

928 Looked After Children 0 -350 578 

102 Porthcawl Regeneration 0 0 102 

184 Property Reserve 12 0 196 

11 Safe Routes to Schools 0 0 11 

115 School Projects Reserve 250 0 365 

669 Wellbeing Projects 0 0 669 

7,930 Total Directorate Reserves 8,968 -1,475 15,423 

  Equalisation & Grant Reserves:       

43 Building Control Reserve 2 0 45 

65 Civil Parking Enforcement 17 0 82 

68 Election Costs 0 0 68 

0 HWB Schools Infrastructure 404 0 404 

2,398 IFRS Grants 2,821 -817 4,402 

248 Legal Fees 0 -95 153 

153 Local Development Plan 20 0 173 

721 Special Regeneration Fund 169 -198 692 

3,696 Equalisation & Grant Reserves: 3,433 -1,110 6,019 

108 School Balances 8,382 0 8,490 

55,222 TOTAL RESERVES 32,000 -4,670 82,552 

Page 427



 

Page 428



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
    

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

22 JUNE 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek agreement from Cabinet to present a report 
to Council for approval for a revised capital programme for 2020-21 to 2030-31 
(Appendix A). 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   

 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make 

the county a good place to do business, for people to live, work, study and 
visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 

physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and 
efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
2.2 Capital investment in the Council’s assets is a key factor in meeting the 

Council’s well-being objectives as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

3. Background  
 

3.1 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 
2003 as amended, contain detailed provisions for the capital finance and 
accounting controls, including the rules on the use of capital receipts and what 
is to be treated as capital expenditure. They modify accounting practice in 
various ways to prevent adverse impacts on authorities’ revenue resources. 

 
3.2      As well as the legislation, the Council manages its Treasury Management and 

Capital activities in accordance with the following associated guidance:- 

Page 429

Agenda Item 15



 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice  

 CIPFA’s The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  

 Welsh Government (WG) revised Guidance on Local Authority Investments 
 
3.3 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires Local 

Authorities to have in place a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that the 
Authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service 
objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, 
prudence, sustainability and affordability. To demonstrate that the Council has 
fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out a number of Indicators 
that must be set and monitored each year. The Council’s Capital Strategy, 
incorporating the Prudential Indicators for 2021-22, was approved by Council 
on 24 February 2021. 

3.4 On 24 February 2021, Council also approved a capital programme covering the 
period 2020-21 to 2030-31 as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). Since then a review has been undertaken of available capital 
resources, taking into consideration uncommitted funding in the capital 
programme, the anticipated year end revenue position for 2020-21, the position 
on earmarked reserves and revenue budgets available for 2021-22.  

3.5 As a result, a number of new capital schemes have been proposed by 
Directorates, which have undergone rigorous review and challenge by 
members of Corporate Management Board and Cabinet, before being 
submitted for inclusion in the capital programme.  

3.6 This report is only seeking approval for the inclusion of new schemes within the 
capital programme that was approved by Council in February 2021. In July 2021 
a report will be presented to Cabinet and Council outlining the 2020-21 year 
end capital position, showing slippage between the 2020-21 and 2021-22 
financial years, the updated capital programme for 2021-22 onwards and the 
outturn position on the Prudential and Other Indicators.  

4. Current situation/proposal 

4.1 The capital programme approved by Council in February 2021 for the period 
2020-21 to 2030-31 totalled £205.732 million, of which £116.147 million is to be 
met from Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, including 
capital receipts and revenue contributions from earmarked reserves, with the 
remaining £89.585 million coming from external resources, including General 
Capital Grant.  

 
4.2 As mentioned above, a number of proposals for new capital schemes have 

been received, and these have been considered and prioritised by Cabinet and 
Corporate Management Board, in line with the Council’s Capital Strategy. 
Funding for these schemes has been set aside through new earmarked 
reserves, established during the 2020-21 year end process, from unallocated 
general capital funding received through the 2021-22 Local Government 
Settlement and from public realm fund revenue funding for the 2021-22 financial 
year. In addition, there is one school scheme that also needs inclusion in the 

Page 430



capital programme which is part funded from school delegated budgets and 
partly via a Salix interest free loan, to be repaid by the school. 

 
4.3 The total cost of the new schemes is £4,552,271 and this is broken down in 

Table 1, with Table 2 showing the breakdown of funding for the proposed 
schemes: 

 

 Table 1: Proposed new capital schemes 

 

Directorate Description £ 

Education ICT Equipment for school kitchens 40,000 

Education Litchard Primary School solar panels 42,656 

Social Services  HALO and AWEN Accessibility Works 150,000 

Communities Pyle Community Recycling Centre (CRC)  200,000 

Communities Cosy Corner 1,884,615 

Communities Gully Sucking equipment 140,000 

Communities Traffic Signal Replacement  250,000 

Communities Playground Refurbishment 460,000 

Communities Footpaths Refurbishment 200,000 

Communities Bryncethin Depot 300,000 

Communities Commercial Property Enhancement Fund 150,000 

Communities Fire Suppression System Tondu Waste Depot 140,000 

Chief Executive Replacement CCTV System 595,000 

TOTAL  4,552,271 

 

Table 2: Funding of new capital schemes 

 

Funding Source £ 

Welsh European Funding Office (WEFO) Grant 1,000,000 

Capital Earmarked Reserves 1,875,000 

General Capital Funding 974,615 

Public Realm Revenue Contribution 660,000 

School Revenue Contributions 20,367 

SALIX Interest Free Loan 22,289 

TOTAL 4,552,271 

 

 

4.4 More detail on each of these schemes is set out below.  

 

ICT Equipment for School Kitchens (£40,000) 
 
Funding of £40,000 is requested to provide the 61 kitchens in schools with a 

basic laptop to enable staff to have access to electronic systems which will 

ensure communication is efficient with other services e.g. HR, Finance, 

suppliers and the central Catering Services management team. 

Page 431



The laptops would enable cooks to send wage return information, meal 
numbers and food stock information directly to the catering office.  This would 
provide administrative efficiencies as this information is currently all paper 
based and sent to the catering office via post.  There are currently no electronic 
forms of communication in place in school kitchens. 
 
Litchard Primary School Solar Panels (£42,656) 
 
Litchard Primary School has been working with the Council’s Energy Manager 
and Corporate Landlord Section on a project to install solar panels on the roof 
of the school, in order to help to reduce the school energy bills and enable it to 
become more self-sufficient. Approval was sought via delegated power to incur 
the capital spend, which will be funded partly from the school’s delegated 
budget and partly through an interest free Salix loan.  Interest repayments will 
also be repaid from the school’s delegated budget. The school is estimated to 
recoup the investment within four years.   
 
HALO and AWEN Accessibility Works (£150,000) 
 
The Council continues to work in partnership with both Halo Leisure and Awen 
to enhance the accessibility of the venues that remain Council assets and, 
beyond maintenance requirements, to develop those assets to support larger 
numbers of people with a protected characteristic.  The scope of these works 
includes improving the basic infrastructure so that more people with additional 
needs and access requirements can make use of the facilities and then also 
engage in a broader range of services and opportunities, through the creation 
of disability access ramps and disabled parking improvements in Awen venues, 
such as Bryngarw House and the Grand Pavilion, and improving accessibility 
to swimming pools at Pyle and Pencoed through improvements to changing 
spaces and pool access. 

 
Pyle Community Recycling Centre (£200,000) 
 
The capital programme already includes a total budget of £1.594 million for the 
relocation of the community recycling centre from Tythegston to Pyle. An 
additional £200,000 of capital funding is required for the relocation and 
development of the Pyle CRC due to unforeseen costs on site, most notably 
finding contaminated ground at the Pyle site that had to be remediated to enable 
construction to proceed.   
 
Cosy Corner (£1,884,615) 
 
A report was presented to Cabinet on 9 March 2021 outlining progress on 
securing funding to take forward a project on Cosy Corner, Porthcawl, as part 
of the Tourism Attractor Destination Programme. The report outlined that a 
proposal had been submitted to Visit Wales and WEFO based on a total project 
value of £1,538,461, comprising £1 million grant and a proposed match funding 
requirement of £538,461 from BCBC, of which £384,615 was direct match 
funding, and the balance land match funding. The capital programme scheme 
cost of £1,884,615 comprises the original proposed direct match funding of 

Page 432



£384,615 plus an additional £500,000 to ensure that a comprehensive scheme 
can be delivered to maximise the use of the site to attract footfall and contribute 
to the economic recovery, in addition to the proposed £1 million grant. The 
scheme will help to support the local economy, tourism offer and local 
community groups and residents.  The scheme will aim to deliver the following: 
 

 Improvements for use by community organisations, in particular the Sea 
Cadets. 

 Improvements to the local economy and tourism offer, in particular small 
retail / start up spaces. 

 Improvements for marina users, in particular storage and changing facilities. 

 Improvements for use by the wider community, in particular a Changing 
Places facility, children's free play area, public seating, public 
realm/landscaping and an outdoor event space. 

 
These options are based on information known at the current time and are 
therefore subject to change and final agreement by Visit Wales and WEFO.  It 
is anticipated that a decision will be made by September 2021, following RIBA 
3 submission and re-profile at the end of August 2021.  The scheme will be 
unable to deliver the commitments above without the £1 million grant from 
WEFO. 
 
The proposed match funding will aim to lever an external grant of £1 million 
towards an overall scheme value, including land value match, of £2,038,461.  
This additional funding will be delivered through the overall Porthcawl Resort 
Investment Focus Programme (PRIF). 
 
Gully Sucking Equipment (£140,000) 
 
Funding of £140,000 is requested for the purchase of equipment to assist with 
maintenance of highway gullies to improve the authority’s response to climate 
change in dealing with blockages on highway drainage systems. 
 
Traffic Signal Replacement (£250,000)  
 
Maintaining traffic management controls and lights on key routes within the 
County Borough is critical to ensuring the efficient running of the highway 
network, especially during peak traffic flows. A capital budget of £250,000 is 
required to purchase and install new signal controllers and associated signal 
heads including pedestrian phases, and replacing aged expired equipment on 
two key sites in the County Borough. 
 
Playground Refurbishment (£460,000) 
 
The Council recognises that the pandemic has had a detrimental impact on the 
children and young people who live in the County Borough, through ongoing 
restrictions on play and activities. This proposed allocation of £460,000 is 
integral to the new Children's Play Strategy which is seeking to address this 
issue. It is to be used for the design, purchase and installation of children’s play 
equipment at over 30 authority-run play areas across the County Borough.  This 

Page 433



allocation will enable sites assessed as requiring partial or full upgrades in play 
equipment and surfacing to be significantly improved and provide safe 
opportunities for outdoor play. 
 
Footpath Refurbishment (£200,000) 
 
A capital budget of £200,000 is required for refurbishment of the targeted and 
prioritised high usage footpaths that have been identified in the County 
Borough.  These have been assessed as either Level 5 structurally impaired or 
Level 4 functionally impaired and need urgent attention to ensure they remain 
accessible and safe to use. 
 
Bryncethin Depot (£300,000) 
 
Various works have been undertaken at Bryncethin Depot over recent years, 
as part of the overall depot rationalisation scheme, to enable the transfer of 
some of the parks operations and other services from Waterton Depot to this 
location, in order to reduce the footprint on Waterton Depot, as part of the Parc 
Afon Ewenni programme. A further £300,000 of capital funding is now required 
to continue with essential repairs and physical enhancement of the Depot in 
order to provide an expanded fit for purpose and low carbon facility.  In addition 
to the existing Capital Minor Works budget commitment for 2021-22 for a 
significant roof replacement, additional works are required in respect of , 
groundworks, drainage repairs, yard resurfacing, exterior lighting, additional 
storage/workshop areas, plus key electrical infrastructure upgrading in order to 
facilitate low carbon technologies and electric vehicle charging infrastructure to 
be installed. 
 
Commercial Property Enhancement Fund (£150,000) 
 
The Commercial Property Enhancement fund has concentrated on providing 
grants of up to £10,000 to support businesses in developing their premises and 
outdoor space to operate effectively in the current climate. It has been funded 
to date via a combination of grant funding – TRI Thematic Projects - and BCBC 
funding via the Economic Futures Fund.  Under the existing scheme 62 
properties have been supported (with a further 9 being assessed) with total 
grant support of £472,295. £130,000 of private sector funds have been levered 
into the scheme as it is a condition of the grant that applicants have to contribute 
a minimum of 20% per project. The grant is currently on hold with over 30  
further applicants requesting to be considered if further funding becomes 
available. In the current climate this is an invaluable source of support to 
businesses and, in particular, the retail and hospitality sector who have been 
hit hard during the pandemic and continue to be regulated in terms of their 
permitted operations. 
 
Fire Suppression System Tondu Waste Depot (£140,000) 
 
The Council-owned waste depot in Tondu, operated currently by Kier in 
providing the County Borough’s waste collection service, requires a fire 
suppression system to be put in place as specified by the Council’s insurers.  

Page 434



The responsibility for the installation cost of this system contractually sits with 
the Council.   
 
Replacement Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) System (£595,000) 
 
A report was presented to Cabinet in May 2021 outlining the proposal for a 
Smarter Borough based on the replacement of the existing CCTV estate. The 
recommendation to Cabinet was to recommend that Council includes a budget 
of £595,000 in the capital programme to enable installation of new Internet 
Protocol (IP) cameras, replacing the legacy equipment, to aid the day and night 
time economies. The advantages of upgrading to IP cameras were outlined in 
the report, including portability, future-proofing, ease of integration and 
resilience. The opportunity to leverage “Smart” technology through the CCTV 
infrastructure provides the Council with the possibility of maximising its 
investment and increasing the return on investment, and fits with the theme of 
a “Digital Place” within the Council’s Digital Strategy 2020-2024.     

  
4.5 A revised Capital Programme, incorporating the schemes outlined above, is 

included as Appendix A. 
 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 3.5.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

“The Chief Finance Officer shall report quarterly to Cabinet an update on the 
Capital Strategy and the Prudential Indicators.” 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered 
in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must 
consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. Projects within the capital 
programme will be subject to the preparation of Equality Impact Assessments 
before proceeding.  However, it is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives as a result of this 
report. Specifically the development of a 10 year capital programme, which 
reflects the Council’s affordability in terms of capital receipts and borrowing, 
supports the principle of sustainability over the long term. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 The financial implications are outlined in the body of the report. 
 

Page 435



9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet agrees that the revised Capital Programme 

(Appendix A) be submitted to Council for approval. 
 
 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change  
June 2021 
 

Contact Officer:   Deborah Exton 
     Interim Deputy Head of Finance 
 
Telephone:    01656 643604 
 
E-mail:    Deborah.Exton@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address:   Bridgend County Borough Council 
     Chief Executive’s - Finance 
     Raven’s Court 

Brewery Lane 
     Bridgend 
     CF31 4AP 
 
Background documents:   None 

Page 436

mailto:Deborah.Exton@bridgend.gov.uk


CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-2031 APPENDIX A

CUMULATIVE

Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council 

February 2021

Council 

February 

2021

New 

Approvals

Revised 

2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 Total 2020 - 2031

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support

Highways Schemes Band B Schools 3,400        3,400         -         -                3,400 3,400 3,400                          

21st Century Schools Band B 49,505      15,654      33,851    -                625           625 1,798        6,531        25,087      14,932      532 49,505                        

Ysgol Bryn Castell Special School 150           150            -                150           150 150                             

Brynmenyn Primary School 44             44              -                44             44 44                               

Land Purchase Band B 4,910        4,910         -                4,910        4,910 4,910                          

Gateway to the Valleys C C Y D Comprehensive School 141           141            -        1                    140           140                                                                                            141                             

Garw Valley South Primary Provision 160           160            -                160           160 160                             

Pencoed Primary School 62             62             7                    55             55 62                               

Garw Valley Primary Highways Works 30             30              -         -                30             30 30                               

Pencoed School Highways Works 56             56              -         -                56             56 56                               

Brymenyn Primary Highways Works 15             15              -        3                    12             12 15                               

Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Bro Ogwr 70              -           70          70                  70                               

Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Croesty 149            -           149        149                149                             

Schools Minor Works 397           397            -        397                397                             

Schools Traffic Safety 208           208            -         -                208           208 208                             

School Modernisation 598           598            -         -                598           598 598                             

Cefn Cribwr Primary School ALN 438           438            -        438                438                             

Education S106 Schemes 202            -           202         -                202           202 202                             

Complex and Medical Needs Works in Schools 74             74              -        74                  74                               

Mynydd Cynffig Primary School Mobiles 1,200        1,200         -        1,200             1,200                          

School's Capital Maintenance Grant 1,462        1,462         -        1,462             1,462                          

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bettws 695            -           695        578                117           117 695                             

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bridgend 550            -           550         -                53             53 497           550                             

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Ogmore 725            -           725        128                597           597              725                             

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Porthcawl 550            -           550         -                53             53 497           550                             

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Highways Schemes 100           100         -                100           100 100                             

WLGA - Additional funding for ICT in Schools 81              -           81          81                  81                               
Brynteg Comp - East Hub 1,010         -           1,010     971                39             39 1,010                          
ICT for School Kitchens 40             40              -        40             40 40                               
Litchard Primary School Solar Panels 43             43              -        43             43 43                               
Total Education and Family Support 67,065      29,082      37,983   5,559             11,549      83             11,632      2,792        6,531        25,087      14,932      532            -            -            -            -           67,065                        

Social Services and Well-being

Social Care

Bridgend Recreation 150           150           80                  70 70 150                             

Bryngarw Park- Access 35             35             35                  35                               

Bryn Y Cae 40             40              -                40             40 40                               

Trem Y Mor 435           35             400        435                435                             

Wellbeing Minor Works 121           121           121                121                             

Ty Penybont 1               1                -        1                                                                                                                            1                                 

Bakers Way 10             10              -        10                  10                               

Glan Yr Afon Care Home 51             51              -        51                  51                               

Children's Residential Accommodation Hub 2,214        1,314        900        300                1,914        1,914 2,214                          

Hartshorn House 50             50             50                  50                               

ICF Capital Funding 35             35          35                  35                               

Extra Care Facilities 120           120            -        120                                                                                                                        120                             

Culture  -                             

Bryngarw House 30             30             30                  30                               

Community Centres 360           360           100                260           260 360                             

Pencoed Library 20             20             20                  20                               
HALO and AWEN Accessibility 150           150            -                150           150 150                             
Total Social Services and Well-being 3,822        2,487        1,335     1,388             2,284        150           2,434         -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -           3,822                          

Communities

Street Scene

Community Play Areas 336           336            -         -                336 336 336                             

Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT 748           748            -        748                748                             

Aber Playing Fields 11             11             11                  11                               

FUTURE YEARS2021-2022
Total 2020-2031

2020-2021

P
age 437



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council 

February 2021

Council 

February 

2021

New 

Approvals

Revised 

2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 Total 2020 - 2031

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS2021-2022
Total 2020-2031

2020-2021

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 7,951        7,951         -        396                2,495        2,495 4,989        71                                                                              7,951                          

Town Beach Revetment Sea Defence, Porthcawl 52             28             24          52                                                                                                                          52                               

Coychurch Crem Works 835            -           835        20                  815           815 835                             

Remedial Measures - Car Parks 135           135            -        30                  105           105 135                             

Civil Parking Enforcement 38             38              -         -                38             38 38                               

Road Safety 384           384            -        64                  320           320 384                             

Active travel Pencoed Technology Park 1,716         -           1,716     1,716             1,716                          

Highways Structural Works 3,600        3,600         -        200                340           340 340           340           340           340           340           340           340           340           340           3,600                          

Carriageway Capital Works 2,750        2,750         -        250                250           250 250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           2,750                          

Road Safety Improvements - Heol Mostyn 577           577            -        37                  540           540 577                             

Prow Capital Improvement Programme 253           203           50          253                253                             

Highways Refurbishment Grant 957            -           957        957                             957                             

Carriageway Resurfacing & Renewal of Footways 3,003        3,003         -        1,700             1,303        1,303 3,003                          

Replacement of Street Lighting Columns 4,280        4,280         -        280                400           400 400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           4,280                          

Bridge Strengthening - A4061 Ogmore Valley 1,285        1,285         -        1,285             1,285                          

Communities Minor Works 468           468            -        468                468                             

River Bridge Protection Measures 138           138            -        138                138                             

Retaining Wall Replacement, Bettws 51             11             40          51                  51                               

Pyle Park and Ride Metro 120           120        120                120                             

Local Transport Fund - Penprysg Road Bridge 130            -           130        130                130                             

Safe Routes - Coity Higher 222            -           222        222                222                             

SustainableTransport Covid Response 350           350        350                350                             

Residents Parking Bridgend Town Centre 128           128            -         -                128           128                                                                                            128                             

Fleet Vehicles 2,585        2,585         -        1,861             724           724                                                                                            2,585                          

Re-locate Household Waste Recycling Centre - West 1,794        1,794         -        1,494             100           200           300                                                                                            1,794                          

AHP Waste 238           238            -        238                238                             

Extension to Cornelly Cemetery 314           314            -        13                  301           301                                                                                            314                             

Extension to Porthcawl Cemetery 216           216            -        17                  199           199 216                             

Street Lighting Energy Efficiency 1,305        1,305         -        1,305             1,305                          

S106 Highways Small Schemes 63              -           63          63                                                                                                                          63                               

Gully Sucking Equipment 140           140            -        140           140 140                             

Traffic Signal Replacement 250           250            -        250           250 250                             

Playground Refurbishment 460           460            -        460           460 460                             

Footpath Refurbishment 200           200            -        200           200 200                             

Fire Suppression System Tondu Waste Depot 140           140            -        140           140 140                             

Regeneration & Development

Business Support Framework 128           128            -        128                128                             

Porthcawl Resort Investment Focus 173           50             123        158                15             15                                                                                            173                             

Cosy Corner (PRIF)    1,885        885           1,000      -                1,885        1,885 1,885                          

Special Regeneration Funding 990           990            -        990                990                             

VRP- Bryngarw Country Park 386            -           386        386                386                             

VRP - Parc Slip 163            -           163        134                29             29 163                             

TRI Thematic Projects (UCPE and UCLG ) 820            -           820        820                820                             

TRI Standalone projects 299            -           299        299                299                             

Porthcawl Regeneration 2,607        2,607         -        66                  2,541        2,541 2,607                          

Berwyn Centre and Ogmore Vale Washeries 186           186        186                186                             

Covid recovery for town centres 360           360        360                360                             

Economic Stimulus Grant 887           887            -        100                787           787 887                             

Coastal Risk Management Program - Porthcawl 6,459        6,459         -        750                5,559        5,559 150           6,459                          

Llynfi Valley Development Programme 2,260        2,260         -         -                2,260        2,260 2,260                          

Bridgend Heat Scheme 500           500            -         -                500           500                                                                                            500                             

Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub 7,183        2,604        4,579     2,048             5,135        5,135 7,183                          

Town & Community Council Fund 749           749            -        249                50             50 50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             749                             

Caerau Heat Network 6,293        1,168        5,125      -                4,373        4,373 1,531        389           6,293                          

Porthcawl Townscape Heritage Initiative 134           134            -        15                  119           119                                                                                            134                             

Commercial Property Enhancement Fund  150           150            -         -                150           150 150                             

Corporate Landlord  

Capital Asset Management Fund 820           820            -        820                820                             

Corporate Landlord - Energy Savings Strategy 1,299        1,299         -        12                  1,287        1,287                                                                                            1,299                          

P
age 438



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council 

February 2021

Council 

February 

2021

New 

Approvals

Revised 

2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 Total 2020 - 2031

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS2021-2022
Total 2020-2031

2020-2021

Enterprise Hub - Innovation Centre 2,060        589           1,471     153                1,872        1,872 35             2,060                          

Raven's Court 454           454           12                  442           442 454                             

Electrical vehicle charging points Ravens Court 25             25              -        25                  25                               

Relocation of Registrars 59             59              -        59                  59                               

Bridgend Market 25             25              -        25                  25                               

DDA Works 286           286            -        286                286                             

Minor Works 11,558      11,558       -        258                1,130        1,130 1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        11,558                        

Fire Precautions 191           191            -        100                91             91 191                             

Bryncethin Depot Facilities     451           451            -        151                300           300 451                             

Non-Operational Assets 480           480            -         -                480           480 480                             

Waterton Upgrade 8,144        8,144         -         -                8,144        8,144 8,144                          

Evergreen Hall 40             40              -        40                  40                               
Investing in Communities 189           189            -        189                189                             

Total Communities 96,916      77,897      19,019   23,288           43,208      3,725        46,933      8,875        2,630        2,170        2,170        2,170        2,170        2,170        2,170        2,170        96,916                        

Chief Executive's

Housing / Homelessness

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 19,320      19,320       -        1,820             1,750        1,750 1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        19,320                        

Discretionary Housing Grants 2,000        2,000         -                200           200 200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,000                          

Housing Renewal / Empty Properties 1,100        1,100         -        100                100           100 100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           1,100                          

Valleys Taskforce Empty Properties Grant 300           105           195        300                300                             

Comfort Safe & Security Grants 8               8               8                    8                                 

Western Valley Empty Homes Pilot 260           91             169         -                260           260 260                             

Emergency Repair Lifetime Grant 122           122            -        122                                                                                                                        122                             

Enable Grant 180            -           180        180                                                                                                                        180                             

ICT

Digital Meeting Spaces 26             26              -        26                  26                               

Investment in ICT 4,651        4,411        240        651                400           400 400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           4,651                          

ICT for Digitally Excluded Learners 225           225           225                225                             

WCCIS Hardware Refresh 1,931        1,931     1,768             163           163 1,931                          

Digital Transformation 520           520            -         -                520           520                                                                                            520                             

Data Centre 5               5               5                    5                                 
Replacement CCTV 595           595           595           595 595                             
Total Chief Executive's 31,243      28,528      2,715     5,205             3,393        595           3,988        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        2,450        31,243                        

Council Wide Capital Budgets

Corporate Capital Fund 2,000        2,000         -                200           200 200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,000                          
Unallocated 9,239        9,239         -         -                1,729        1,729 167                                                  1,283        1,515        1,515        1,515        1,515        9,239                          
Total Council Wide Capital budgets 11,239      11,239       -         -                1,929         -           1,929        367           200           200           200           1,483        1,715        1,715        1,715        1,715        11,239                        
Total  Expenditure 210,285    149,233    61,052   35,440           62,363      4,553        66,916      14,484      11,811      29,907      19,752      6,635        6,335        6,335        6,335        6,335        210,285                      

Expected Capital Resources

General Capital Funding

General Capital Funding - General Capital Grant 30,508      30,508       -        3,997             3,963        975           4,938 2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        30,508                        

General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 43,381      43,381       -        3,986             3,953        3,953 3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        43,381                        

Capital Receipts - Schools 2,835        2,835         -        541                674           674              540           540           540                                                  2,835                          

Capital Receipts - General 19,448      19,448       -        4,126             14,801      14,801                                        521                                                  19,448                        

Earmarked Reserves 34,830      34,830       -        5,500             15,426      1,875        17,301 5,046        1,347        4,932        704                                                  34,830                        

Revenue Contribution 787           787            -        68                  38             681           719                                                                                            787                             

Prudential Borrowing (Directorate Funded) 4,298        4,298         -        1,871             2,427        2,427                                                                                            4,298                          
Prudential Borrowing (Corporately Funded) 4,069        4,069         -        313                3,756        3,756                                                                                            4,069                          

Local Govt Borrowing Initiative (Coastal defence) 5,490        5,490         -        637                4,725        4,725 128                                                                                         5,490                          

SALIX Interest Free Loan - WG 1,327        1,327         -        1,305                          22             22                                                                                            1,327                          
Llynfi Development Site Loan - WG 2,260        2,260         -         -                2,260        2,260 2,260                          
Sub-Total General Capital Funding 149,233    149,233     -        22,344           52,023 3,553 55,576 11,509 8,222 11,807 8,100 6,335 6,335 6,335 6,335 6,335 149,233                      

External Funding Approvals

WG - Highways Grant 957            -           957        957                                                                                              957                             

WG - Other 4,275        4,275     2,943             332           1,000        1,332                                                                               4,275                          
WG - 21st Century Schools 34,812       -           34,812   971                139           139 450           3,200        18,100      11,652      300                                     34,812                        
WG - Enable Grant 180            -           180        180                                                                                                                        180                             

WG - Safe Routes in Communities 222            -           222        222                                                                                                                        222                             

WG - Porthcawl Revetment 24              -           24          24                                                                                                                          24                               

P
age 439



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council 

February 2021

Council 

February 

2021

New 

Approvals

Revised 

2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 Total 2020 - 2031

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS2021-2022
Total 2020-2031

2020-2021

WG - Coastal Risk Management Program - Porthcawl  -            -            -         -                                           -                             

WG - Integrated Care Fund (ICF) 1,335         -           1,335     735                600           600                                                                                            1,335                          

WG - Welsh Medium Capital Grant 2,701         -           2,701     787                920           920 994                                                                                         2,701                          

WG - Infant Class Size Grant 219            -           219        219                                                                                                                        219                             

WG- VRP 1,095         -           1,095     1,066             29             29 1,095                          

WG - TRI 1,119         -           1,119     1,119             1,119                          

S106 314            -           314        63                  251           251                                                                                            314                             

Transport Grant 2,316         -           2,316     2,316                                                                                                                     2,316                          

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) 682            -           682        16                  666           666                                                                                            682                             

EU  9,349         -           9,349     1,158             6,271        6,271 1,531        389                                                                            9,349                          
Other 1,452         -           1,452     320                1,132        1,132                                                                                            1,452                          

Sub-Total External Funding Approvals 61,052       -           61,052   13,096           10,340      1,000        11,340      2,975        3,589        18,100      11,652      300            -            -            -            -           61,052                        
Total Funding Available 210,285    149,233    61,052   35,440           62,363      4,553        66,916      14,484      11,811      29,907      19,752      6,635        6,335        6,335        6,335        6,335        210,285                      
Funding Shortfall/(Surplus)  -            -            -         -                 -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -                             

P
age 440



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE

SUSPENSION OF COUNCIL’S CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES AND AWARD OF 
CONTRACT FOR FINANCIAL ADVICE AND SUPPORT SERVICE

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval to:

 continue delivery of the existing Financial Advice and Support Service, to allow 
time for a fully complaint tender process to take place, including an adequate 
mobilisation period.  

 suspend the relevant parts of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) with 
regards to the requirement to re-tender the contracts detailed in this report.

 authorise the Head of Partnership Services to enter into a short term (4 month) 
contract with the current provider to ensure continuity of service.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

Page 441

Agenda Item 16



3. Background

3.1 Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC), through the Children and Communities 
Grant (CCG) and from an earmarked reserve, currently commissions a Financial 
Advice and Support Service (FASS), the details of which are set out below.

3.2 Following a tender exercise in 2018 BCBC entered into a contract with Citizens 
Advice Bureau (CAB) for the provision of FASS. The contract was commissioned 
from 1st October 2018 for an initial 18 month period, with the option to extend for a 
further period of up to 12 months, should funding remain available. The service 
includes the provision of support in the following areas:

 Debt problems
 Financial difficulty
 Unemployment (claiming benefits, including Universal Credit (UC))
 Inability to budget or manage finances effectively
 Those experiencing ‘in work poverty’
 Those requiring information and support to undertake employment better off 

calculations.

3.3 The contract commenced on 1st October 2018 and was due to expire on the 31st 
March 2021. The contract was modified twice, initially to extend it by a two month 
period to 31st May 2021 and then extended for a further month to 30th June 2021. 
Those modifications were authorised by delegated power as a waiver under CPR 
3.2.9.6 which allows for minor modification of contracts up to a value of the lesser of 
10% of the initial contract value and the relevant applicable financial thresholds 
contained in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. There are no further options to 
extend the contract in accordance with the Council’s CPRs. 

3.4 Extenuating circumstances, including the impact of the Covid pandemic on workloads 
and workforce capacity, have resulted in a delay in engaging in a compliant tender 
process allowing for sufficient time for an adequate period of contract mobilisation.

3.5 The current annual contract value is £100,000. This contract is primarily funded by 
Welsh Government Children and Communities Grant (CCG) with Benefits and 
Financial Assessments Department (Chief Execs) contributing 30%. 

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The existing contract in relation to the FASS programme will end on 30th June 
2021. The Council is required under the CPRs and Public Contract Regulations 
2015 to re-tender for replacement service provision via a competitive procurement 
exercise. 

4.2 The current service provision has been reviewed, with extensive performance 
monitoring undertaken to gather both qualitative and quantative data around client 
need, demand for service and outcomes achieved. The positive impact on clients’ 
financial situation, along with mental health and well-being can be clearly 
demonstrated. Regular meetings and communication has taken place between 

Page 442



BCBC and the current contract holder to ensure the service remains fit for purpose 
and can adequately meet the needs of clients, with a particular focus on impact of 
the pandemic.

4.3 It is proposed that a re-tender exercise be undertaken in accordance with the 
Procurement Milestones set out in Appendix 1 to this report which will allow for the 
commencement of a re-procured service in November 2021. Cessation of the 
contract in June 2021 would pose a risk to the on-going delivery of essential 
services to individuals and families. The pandemic has seen a sharp rise in 
referrals to the service, particularly from individuals and families who have lost 
employment or those accessing the furlough scheme and can no longer adequately 
manage their finances. 

4.4 To ensure service continuity and ensure that staffing disruptions likely to arise from 
the ending of contract is minimised, it is proposed that Cabinet suspends the relevant 
parts of the Council’s CPRs requiring a competitive procurement exercise in 
accordance with the requirements of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and 
agrees to the awarding of a short term contract to the current service provider based 
on the current contractual arrangements until 31st October 2021.   

4.5 Cabinet needs to be aware that in awarding this contract to CAB, the Council is     
exposed to the risk of potential challenge from other providers of such services. The 
Council’s CPRs ensure that procurement exercises are lawful and carried out in 
compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 to satisfy principles of 
transparency, non-discrimination and equal treatment. This report proposes entering 
into a contract with CAB without any competition. This proposal breaches the 
requirements of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and requires Cabinet’s 
approval to set aside the Council’s CPRs. 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 This report is requesting a suspension of the Council’s CPRs.

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 
be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on 
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. It is therefore not 
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The report contributes to the following goals within the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 
 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A globally responsive Wales

Page 443



7.2      The five ways of working have been considered in the preparation of this report and 
are summarised below:

 Long term – Continued provision will allow for short term needs to be met, whilst 
the tender process is undertaken to provide long term provision. 

 Prevention – Financial Advice and Support services are preventative in nature 
and are designed to reduce the risk of families experiencing debt and financial 
related issues. 

 Integration – Provision supports economic, social and cultural outcomes, both at 
an individual level and in wider communities.

 Collaboration – Approval will allow time for BCBC to effectively engage with 
internal and external partners in a meaningful way. 

 Involvement – decisions around commissioning activity and the tender process, 
will be achieved through effective partnership working, communication and 
collaboration. 

8. Financial implications

8.1 The current funding, set out in the existing contractual arrangements will continue. 
The current annual value of the Financial Advice and Support Service contract is 
£100,000. 70% of the contract value is met through the Children and Communities 
Grant (CCG) with the remaining 30% being met from an earmarked reserve.

8.2 The funding provided by the CCG will continue, with the earmarked reserve remaining 
in place. It should be noted that any grant funding over and above the 70% that is 
available can be can be used to displace the earmarked reserve.

9. Recommendation(s)

9.1      It is recommended that Cabinet:

 approve the continuation of the existing Financial Advice and Support Service, to 
allow time for a fully complaint tender process to take place.   

 suspend the relevant parts of the Council’s CPRs in respect of the requirement to 
re-tender the proposed contract;

 authorise the Head of Partnership Services to enter into a contract for the provision 
of the Financial Advice and Support Service with the CAB until 31st October 2021.

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
9th June 2021

Contact officer: Martin Morgans
Head of Partnership Services

Telephone: (01656) 642154

Page 444



Email: Martin.Morgans@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Level 4, Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Appendix 1: Procurement Milestones – Tender Process

Page 445



This page is intentionally left blank



Tender Process – Domestic Abuse
Estimated Date

Authorisation to tender – Delegated Powers ASAP
Send documents to procurement 14th June 2021
Place Notice 25th June 2021
Return of tenders 23rd July 2021
Accounts to finance 23rd July 2021
Evaluate qualification envelope 26th July 2021

Opening of tenders (Cabinet & Committee) 28th July 2021

Desktop evaluation of technical envelope (Method Statements) 29th/30th July 2021

Evaluations as a panel 2nd August 2021

Final Evaluation and Sign Off by Project Team 2nd August 2021
Delegated Powers to award 4th August 2021
Issue unsuccessful letters and intention to award letter (start of 
voluntary standstill)

5th August 2021

End of standstill 15th  August 2021
Issue award letter 16th August 2021 
Sealing of the contract with legal N/A
Contract mobilisation 17/08/2021 – 31/10/2021

Contract commence 01/11/2021

Contract Award Notice – Sell2Wales November 2021

Contract Award Notice - Bravo November 2021

Page 447



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

 22 JUNE 2021

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 

REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES & JOINT COMMITTEES

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval for the appointment of 
Members to joint committees and the nomination of Members to outside bodies.  A 
list of the joint committees and outside bodies concerned is appended to this report 
at Appendix 1. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

2.2 The Authority’s continuing partnership, working with a wide range of organisations 
within the County Borough, contributes to the achievement of the corporate well-
being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 Outside bodies are external organisations and partnerships which have requested 
that the Council appoint a representative to them. Outside bodies have separate
governance structures to the Council. Appointments to outside bodies can be
an important mechanism within the County Borough for: community leadership, 
partnership and joint working and knowledge and information sharing.  The 
appointment of County Borough Councillors to serve on outside bodies is intended 
to be a mutually beneficial act for both the Council and the bodies listed. The 
implications associated with the appointments are considered to be positive.

Page 449

Agenda Item 17



3.2 A review has been undertaken of the appointments of Councillors on various 
outside bodies and joint committees to ensure relevance and appropriateness of 
membership.  With regard to making appointments, the Cabinet should first 
consider whether it is appropriate for an appointment to be of a specific office holder 
either by reference to the constitution of the outside body concerned or in the light 
of any other circumstances as Cabinet may determine.

3.3 Consultation was undertaken with external organisations as part of the review 
process for outside bodies as appropriate. Officers were also consulted regarding 
future / on-going representation on the committees/bodies listed. Feedback has 
been fed into the proposals for Member representation on outside bodies for the 
2021/22 municipal year as listed at Appendix 1.  

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 It is proposed that Members be appointed for a term of one year except where 
earlier revocation of appointment is appropriate. 

4.2 It is proposed that where Cabinet nominates on the basis of a Member’s role within 
the Authority the appointment be attached to the role and not to the individual 
Member, e.g. Scrutiny Chair, Cabinet Member.

4.3 All appointments are made with the assumption that appointees represent Bridgend 
County Borough Council.  Should any appointee cease to be a Bridgend County 
Borough Councillor, they will cease to represent this Authority and are expected to 
relinquish their appointments as necessary.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There will be no effect on the policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equalities Act 2010 Implications

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. 
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The following is a summary of the implications to show how the 5 ways of working 
have been used to formulate the recommendation:

 Long-term - The approval of this report will assist in the long term
planning of the business of the Council by the continuation of 
effective relationships with other organisations.    

 Prevention - Continued and relevant representation supports the Council by 
enhancing its current and future relationships. 

 Integration - The report supports all the well-being objectives.  

Page 450



 Collaboration - This report supports partnership working with other 
organisations both locally and regionally.

 Involvement   - This report will maintain a relationship with other organisations
through effective partnership working.

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications associated with these appointments.

9. Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to: -

Appoint the requisite number of Members to the joint committees and other outside 
bodies as listed in Appendix 1.

K Watson
CHIEF OFFICER- LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES

4th June 2021

Contact Officer: Ruth Ronan
Senior Democratic Services Officer 

Telephone: (01656) 643250

E-mail: Ruth.Ronan@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal Address Democratic Services
Chief Executives Directorate
Level 4
Civic Offices

Background documents
None.

Page 451



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

JOINT COMMITTEES -CABINET

SERIAL ORGANISATION
REQUIRED REPRESENTATION CURRENT/PROPOSED REPRESENTATION

a. Coychurch Crematorium Joint 
Committee

One Cabinet Member and five other County 
Borough Councillors

1. Cabinet Member – Communities 
2. Councillor A Pucella
3. Councillor E Venables
4. Councillor J Williams
5. Councillor J C Spanswick
6. Councillor J P Blundell

b. Glamorgan Archives Joint Committee One Cabinet Member and one other County 
Borough Councillor

1. Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration 
2. Cllr Nicole Burnett

c. Capita Glamorgan Ltd. Joint Venture 
Committee

Two Cabinet Members and three other County 
Borough Councillors

1. Cabinet Member – Communities 
2. Deputy Leader
3. Chairperson – Scrutiny Subject Committee 3 
4. Councillor – Cllr P A Davies
5. Councillor – Cllr G Thomas

d. Central South Consortium Joint 
Education Committee

Cabinet Member – Education, and Regeneration 1. Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration

e. Margam Crematorium Joint Committee Two County Borough Councillors 1. Councillor S Smith
2. Councillor A Pucella

f. Shared Regulatory Services Joint 
Committee

One Cabinet Member and one other County 
Borough Councillor

1. Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future Generations
2. Councillor DRW Lewis

P
age 453



OUTSIDE BODIES -CABINET

SERIAL ORGANISATION
REQUIRED REPRESENTATION PROPOSED REPRESENTATION

1. Adoption Panel 1 Member Cabinet Member – Social Services and Early Help 
2. South Wales Aggregates Working 

Party
1 Member Cabinet Member - Communities

3. The Alliance (formerly Coalfields 
Communities Campaign)

2 Members 1. Cabinet Member – Communities
2. Councillor DBF White

4. Bridgend Care Partnership 4 Members 1. Leader 
2. Deputy Leader
3. Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future Generations
4. Cabinet Member – Social Services and Early Help

5. Bridgend Care and Repair 2 Members 1. Cllr M Kearn
2. Cllr Amanda Williams

6. Bridgend & Maesteg Citizens Advice 
Bureau

2 Members 1. Cllr PA Davies
2. Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future Generations

7. Awen Cultural Trust 2 Members (cross party) 1. Councillor J R McCarthy
2. Councillor J H Tildesley, MBE

8. Bridgend County Tourism Destination 
Management Group

1 Member Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration

9. Bridgend Public Service Board 1 Member (plus 1 substitute) Leader 
Deputy Leader

10. Bridgend Town Hall Trust 4 Members 1. Councillor S Baldwin
2. Councillor N Burnett
3. Councillor C Smith
4. Councillor DBF White

11. Bridgend Youth Justice Management 
Board

3 Members 1 Cabinet Member – Communities
2 Cabinet Member – Social Services and Early Help
3 Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future Generations

12. Cardiff International Airport 
Consultative Committee

2 Members Cabinet Member – Communities 
Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration

13. C.L.A.W. (Consortium of Local 
Authorities in Wales)

1 (or 2) Member(s) (Most Councils have 1) Deputy Leader

14. Coity Wallia Board of Conservators 2 Members 1. Councillor DRW Lewis
2. Councillor G Thomas

P
age 454



SERIAL ORGANISATION
REQUIRED REPRESENTATION PROPOSED REPRESENTATION

15. Community Safety Partnership One Member Cllr R E Young

16. Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Council 3 Members 1.Councillor Amanda Williams
2. Councillor A Hussain
3. Councillor Gareth Howells

17. Cwm Taf Regional Partnership Board Leader and two other members 1 Leader
2 Cabinet Member – Social Services and Early Help
3 Councillor Phil White

18. Fostering Panel 1 Member Cabinet Member – Social Services and Early Help

19. Four Counties Youth Music Steering 
Group

1 Member  Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration

20. Glamorgan Heritage Coast Advisory 
Panel

1 Member Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration

21. Local Access Forum 1 Member Councillor R Granville
22. PATROL - Adjudication Joint 

Committee
1 Member Cabinet Member – Communities

23. Joint Council For Wales 1 Members Deputy Leader

24. Coastal Partnership 1 Member Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration 

25. SACRE 5 Members 1. Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration 
2. Councillor CA Green
3. Councillor JH Tildesley MBE
4. Councillor C Webster
5. Councillor J R McCarthy

P
age 455



SERIAL ORGANISATION REQUIRED REPRESENTATION PROPOSED REPRESENTATION

26. South Wales Fire Service 2 Members Councillor DBF White
Councillor R Shaw

27. South West Wales Regional Waste 
Management Committee

2 Members Deputy Leader
Councillor G Thomas

28. South West Wales Regional Waste 
Plan Forum

1 Member Deputy Leader

29. Swansea/Carmarthen Bay Coastal 
Engineering Group

2 Members 1. Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration 
2. Councillor G Thomas

30. Swansea Bay Port Health Authority 2 Members 1. Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration 
2. Councillor G Thomas

31. Territorial Auxiliary and Volunteer 
Reserve Association

1 Member Councillor R Shaw

32. University of Swansea Court of 
Governors 

1 Member Cllr Nicole Burnett

 32. South Wales Valuation Tribunal -
Appointments Committee

2 Members Councillor R Collins
Councillor S Baldwin

33. WLGA Council 3 Members (two substitutions) Leader                          
Deputy Leader
(One substitution for above from same political group)
Councillor C Green
(One substitution for above from same political group)
Voting – En Bloc

34. WLGA Executive Board 1 Member Leader 

P
age 456



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JUNE 2021 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMMES 

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval for items to be included on 
the Forward Work Programme for the period 1 July to 31 October 2021 and for 
Cabinet to note the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes 
for the same period.

2  2.        Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities.

2.1      This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being  
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Forward Work Programme will be 
prepared by the Monitoring Officer to cover a period of four months except when 
ordinary elections of councillors occur, in which case the Forward Work Programme 
will cover the period up to the date of the elections.  

3.2 The Forward Work Programme will contain matters which the Cabinet, Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees and full Council are likely to consider. It will contain 
information on:

Page 457

Agenda Item 18



(a) the timetable for considering the Budget and any plans, policies or strategies 
forming part of the Policy Framework and requiring Council approval, and 
which body is to consider them;

(b) the timetable for considering any plans, policies or strategies which are the 
responsibility of the Cabinet;

(c) any individual matters on which the Cabinet intends to consult in advance of 
taking a decision, and the timetable for consultation and decision;

(d) the work programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, to the extent 
that it is known.

3.3 The Forward Work Programme will be published at least 14 days before the start of 
the period covered.  The Authority is required to publish once a year a notice in at 
least one newspaper circulating in the area, stating that a Forward Work 
Programme will be published and giving the publication dates for that year.

4. Current situation / proposal 

4.1 The proposed Forward Work Programmes are described below:

 Cabinet 1 July to 31 October 2021 - Appendix 1
 Council 1 July to 31 October 2021 - Appendix 2
 Overview and Scrutiny 1 July to 31 October 2021 - Appendix 3

4.2 Following consideration by Cabinet, the Forward Work Programmes will be 
published on the Council’s website.  

5. Effect upon Policy Framework and Procedure Rules

5.1 There are no implications relating to the Policy Framework and Procedure Rules.

6. Equality Impact 2010 Implications

6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 
and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 
7. Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts 
upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8. Financial Implications

8.1 There will be a translation cost of approximately £60 for each quarterly update of 

Page 458



the Forward Work programme when it is published on the Bridgend County Borough 
Council Website. These will be met from within existing budgets. 

9. Recommendations

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to:

 Approve the Cabinet Forward Work Programme for the period 1 July to 31 
October 2021 at Appendix 1;

 Note the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes for the 
same period as above, shown at Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 of the report, 
respectively. 

Kelly Watson
Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
June 2021      

Contact Officer: Mark Anthony Galvin

Postal Address:       Democratic Services
Chief Executives Directorate
Level 4
Civic Offices

  
Telephone: (01656) 643148
Email: mark.galvin@bridgend.gov.uk

Background documents:  None 

Page 459

mailto:mark.galvin@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2021 TO 31 OCTOBER 2021

Date Title of Report Contact officer

July 21 Transforming Towns Update Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities
Tel: 01656 643241
Email: Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21                      Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme – Proposed CPO Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities
Tel: 01656 643241
Email: Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21                                Pencoed road bridge and Pencoed level crossing Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities
Tel: 01656 643241
Email: Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21 Local Authority Governor vacancies Lindsay Harvey 
Corporate Director – Education and Family 
Support
Tel: 01656 642612
Email: Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21 Re-Commissioning Domiciliary Care and Short Breaks Service Claire Marchant 
Corporate Director Social Services & Wellbeing 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21 Human Resources Policies Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 461

mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk


2

July 21 Amendment to Contract Procedure Rules Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21 Capital Programme Outturn 2020-21 Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21 Budget Monitoring 2021-22 Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21 Review of Corporate Plan targets for 2021-22, following the impact of Covid-19 Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

July 21 Complaints Monitoring Report Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

Oct 21 Capital Programme Update Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

Oct 21 Annual Report 2020-21 Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 462

mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520
Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520
Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520
Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520


3

Oct 21 Treasury Management Half Year Report 2021-22 Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 463

Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520


T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

COUNCIL FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2021 TO 31 OCTOBER 2021

Date Title of Report Contact Officer

Jul 21 Quarterly Debate Item – Post-Covid Education and Family 
Support Priorities

Lindsay Harvey 
Corporate Director – Education and Family 
Support
Tel: 01656 642612
Email: Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk

Jul 21 Elected Member Learning And Development Strategy Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

Jul 21 Amendment to Contract Procedure Rules Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

Jul 21 Diversity in Democracy Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

Jul 21 Standards Committee Annual Report Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 465

mailto:Lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk


Date Title of Report Contact Officer

Jul 21 Budget Monitoring 2021-22 – Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

Jul 21 Capital Programme Update – Quarter 2 2020-21 Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

Jul 21 Review of Corporate Plan targets for 2021-22 following the 
Impact of Covid 19

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

Jul 21 Budget Monitoring 2021-22
Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
EmaiI: Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

Sep 21 Re-appointment to the Standards Committee Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
Email: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 466

Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520
Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520
Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520
Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk%2520%2520
mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk


1

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME – 1 JULY TO 31 OCTOBER 2021

Date Title of Report Scrutiny 
Committee Contact Officer

5 Jul Revenue Budget Outturn 2020-21 Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

 

Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer - 
Finance, Performance and Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

5 Jul Council’s Performance against its Wellbeing Objectives for 2020 -21 (Year 
End Performance)

Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

 

Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer - 
Finance, Performance and Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

12 Jul Additional Learning Needs Overview Subject 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 1

 

Lindsay Harvey, Corporate Director 
Education and Family Support Tel: 
01656 642612 
lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk

15 Jul Social Services and Wellbeing Strategic Programme(followed by  
Thematic reports based upon the principles of the Social Service and 
Wellbeing Wales Act, one to each meeting via a rolling programme as 
23 Sep below)

Subject 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 2

 

Claire Marchant, Corporate Director 
Social Services & Wellbeing 
Tel: 01656 643248
claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk

19 Jul Progress of the Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy (Ultra Low 
Emission Vehicles)

Update on the Waste Service Contract 2024

Subject 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 3

 

Janine Nightingale, Corporate Director 
Communities
Tel: 01656 643241
janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

1 Sept Budget Monitoring 2021-22 – Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer - 
Finance, Performance and Change 
Tel: 01656 643302
gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 467

mailto:gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk


Date Title and Description of Report Scrutiny 
Committee Contact Officer

2

1 Sept Director of Social Services Annual report Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

Claire Marchant, Corporate Director 
Social Services & Wellbeing 
Tel: 01656 643248
claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk

1 Sept Annual Safeguarding Report Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

Claire Marchant, Corporate Director 
Social Services & Wellbeing 
Tel: 01656 643248
claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk

1 Sept Accommodation Project Board (high level principles) Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

Janine Nightingale, Corporate Director 
Communities
Tel: 01656 643241
janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

16 Sept Central South Consortium - how schools are supported at each level and 
how they balance support

Subject 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 1

Lindsay Harvey, Corporate Director 
Education and Family Support Tel: 
01656 642612 
lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk

23 Sept First Theme – Wellbeing (including Partnerships)
- Commissioning care at home services
- Early help and permanence strategy

Subject 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 2

Claire Marchant, Corporate Director 
Social Services & Wellbeing 
Tel: 01656 643248
claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk

29 Sept Changes in External Economic Funding – Economic Development Subject 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 3

Janine Nightingale, Corporate Director 
Communities
Tel: 01656 643241
janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 468



Date Title and Description of Report Scrutiny 
Committee Contact Officer

3

7 Oct Shared Regulatory Service Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

Kelly Watson, Chief Officer, Legal, HR 
and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01656 643248
kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

18 Oct New Curriculum for Wales Subject 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 1

Lindsay Harvey, Corporate Director 
Education and Family Support Tel: 
01656 642612 
lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk

18 Oct School Governing Bodies Subject 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 1

Lindsay Harvey, Corporate Director 
Education and Family Support Tel: 
01656 642612 
lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 469



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Cross-Party Recovery Panel - Recommendations
	Appendix A - CPR Panel Recs

	4 School Modernisation Programme : Bridgend West Schools Modernisation Proposal - Draft Objections Report
	5 Corporate Safeguarding Policy
	Appendix 1  - Corporate Safeguarding Policy April 2021

	6 Development of Brynmenyn Childrens Hub
	7 Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy
	Appendix 1 SGO Policy
	Appendix 2 - SGO Financial Policy
	SPG Appendix 3

	8 Welsh Public Library Standards 2019-2020
	Appendix 1 - Welsh Library Service - Awen Cultural Trust (Bridgend)- Assessment report - FINAL - 2019-2020 (002)

	9 Caerau Heat Scheme
	10 Traffic Signals Management
	11 Bridgend Town Centre Regeneration Masterplan and Consultation Bridgend County Borough Council
	Appendix A Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan-Executive Summary_low res
	Appendix B masterplan Proposed Development Zones
	Appendix C Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan consultation report
	Appendix D Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
	Appendix E Wellbeing and Future Generations Assessment - Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan

	12 Proposed Purchase of Bridgend Town Centre Police Station
	13 Objection and Representation to Proposed Active Travel Route - Cowbridge Road Active Travel Route
	14 Revenue Budget Outturn 2020-21
	Revenue Appendix 1 - Investment 2021-22 onwards
	Revenue Appendix 2 - Prior Year Budget Reductions Monitoring
	Revenue Appendix 3 - 2020-21 Risk Tracker Budget Reduction Proposals March 2021
	Revenue Appendix 4 - Revenue Budget Monitoring 2020-21
	Revenue Appendix 5 - Earmarked Reserves Quarter 4

	15 Capital Programme Update
	Appendix A Capital Programme

	16 Suspension of Contract Procedure Rules and Award of Contract for Financial Advice and Support Service
	Milestones 2021v3

	17 Representation on Outside Bodies and Joint Committees
	Representation on Outside Bodies Appendix

	18 Forward Work Programmes
	210622 Cabinet Forward Work Programme.docx Appendix 1
	210622 Cabinet Forward Work Programme.docx Appendix 2
	210622 Cabinet Forward Work Programme.docx Appendix 3


